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THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF
NORTH CAROLINA

Chief Judge
GERALD ARNOLD
Judges
SIDNEY S. EAGLES, JR. JOSEPH R. JOHN, SR.
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Former Judges
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J. PHIL CARLTON ALLYSON K. DUNCAN
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* Appointed by Governor James B. Hunt, Jr. and sworn in 21 February 1997.
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DISTRICT

3B

4A
4B

6A
6B
TA
7B
7BC
8A
8B

9A
10

11A
11B
12

TRIAL JUDGES OF THE GENERAL
COURT OF JUSTICE

SUPERIOR COURT DIVISION

First Division

JUDGES

J. RICHARD PARKER
JERRY R. TILLETT
WiLLIAM C. GRIFFIN, JR.
W. RUSSELL DUKE, JR.
CLIFTON W, EVERETT, JR.
JaMES E. Ragan 111

GEORGE L. WAINWRIGHT, JR.

RUSSELL J. LANIER, JR.
JAMES R. STRICKLAND
ERNEST B. FULLWOOD
W. ALLEN COBB, JR.
Jay D. HOCKENBURY
RICHARD B. ALLSBROOK
CY A. GRANT, SR.
QUENTIN T. SUMNER

G. K. BUTTERFIELD, JR.
FrANK R. BROWN
JAMES D. LLEWELLYN
PauL M. WRIGHT

Second Division

RoBERT H. HOBGOOD
Henry W. HIGHT, JR.
W. OsMOND SMITH 1T
ROBERT L. FARMER
HENRY V. BARNETTE, JR.
DoNaLp W. STEPHENS
NARLEY L. CASHWELL
STAFFORD G. BULLOCK
ABRAHAM P. JONES
WILEY F. BOWEN
Knox V. JENKINS, JR.
Coy E. BREWER, JR.

ADDRESS

Manteo
Manteo
Williamston
Greenville
Greenville
Oriental
Morehead City
Kenansville
Jacksonville
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Halifax
Windsor
Rocky Mount
Wilson
Tarboro
Kinston
Goldsboro

Louisburg
Henderson
Yanceyville
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Dunn
Smithfield
Fayetteville



DISTRICT

13

14

15A

15B

16A
16B

17A

17B

18

19A
19B

19C
20A
20B

21

22

23

JUDGES

E. LYNN JOHNSON
GREGORY A. WEEKS
JAacK A. THOMPSON
WiLLiam C. GORE, JR.
D. Jack Hooks, Jr.
ORLANDO F. HUDSON, JR.
A. LEON STANBACK, JR.
DavID Q. LABARRE
RONALD L. STEPHENS

J. B. ALLEN, JR.

JAMES CLIFFORD SPENCER, JR.

F. GORDON BATTLE
B. CraiG ELLIS
DeXTER BROOKS
RoBERT F. FLOYD, JR.

Third Division

MELZER A. MORGAN, JR.
PETER M. McHuGH
CLARENCE W. CARTER
JERRY CASH MARTIN

W. DOUGLAS ALBRIGHT
THoMAS W. Ross
HowarD R. GREESON, JR.
CATHERINE C. EAGLES
HEeNRY E. FrYE, Jr.
James C. Davis
RuUSSELL G. WALKER, JR.
James M. WEBB
THOMAS W. SEAY, JR.
MICHAEL EARLE BEALE
Wiuiam H. HELMs

SANFORD L. STEELMAN, JR.

JupsoN D. DERAMUS, Jr.
WiLuiam H. FREEMAN
WILLIAM Z. WooD, Jr.

L. TobD BURKE

C. PRESTON CORNELIUS
H. W. ZIMMERMAN, JR.
JuLius A. RoUssEAU, JR.

viii

ADDRESS

Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Whiteville
Whiteville
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Burlington
Burlington
Hillsborough
Laurinburg
Pembroke
Lumberton

Wentworth
Reidsville
King

Mount Airy
Greensboro
Greensboro
High Point
Greensboro
Greensboro
Concord
Asheboro
Carthage
Spencer
Wadesboro
Monroe
Weddington
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Mooresville
Lexington
North Wilkesboro



DISTRICT

24

25A

25B

26

27A

27B

28

29

30A
30B

JUDGES ADDRESS
Fourth Division
JAMES L. BAKER, JR. Marshall
CLAUDE S. SITTON Morganton
BevERLY T. BEAL Lenoir
FORREST A. FERRELL Hickory
RONALD E. BOGLE Hickory
CHASE B. SAUNDERs! Charlotte
SHIRLEY L. FULTON Charlotte
ROBERT P. JOHNSTON Charlotte
JULIA V. JONES Charlotte
MaRcUS L. JOHNSON Charlotte
RAYMOND A. WARREN Charlotte
JesSE B. CaLpwELL ITT Gastonia
TIMOTHY L. PATTI Gastonia
JOHN MULL GARDNER Shelby
FORREST DONALD BRIDGES Shelby
DENNIS JaYy WINNER Asheville
RoONALD K. PAYNE Asheville
ZORO J. GUICE, JR. Rutherfordton
LOTO GREENLEE CAVINESS Marion
JamEes U. DowNs Franklin
JANET MARLENE HYATT Waynesville
SPECIAL JUDGES
STEVE A. BaLog? Burlington
RicHARD L. DotgHTONS Sparta
MARVIN K. GRAY Charlotte
CHARLES C. LaMm, JR. Boone
Howarp E. MANNING, JR. Raleigh
Louis B. MEYER Wilson
CARL L. TILGHMANY Beaufort
BEN F. TENNILLE Greensboro
JAMES R. VOSBURGH? Washington
EMERGENCY JUDGES
C. WALTER ALLEN Fairview
NAPOLEON B. BAREFOOT, SR. Wilmington
ANTHONY M. BRANNON Durham
ROBERT M. BURROUGHS Charlotte



GiLES R. CLARK

Elizabethtown

ROBERT E. GAINES Gastonia

D. B. Herring, Jr. Fayetteville
ROBERT W. KIRBY Cherryville
RoBERT D. LEWIS Asheville

F. FETZER MILLS Wadesboro
HERBERT O. PHiLLIpPs [T Morehead City
J. MiLtoN READ, JR. Durham

J. HERBERT SMALL Elizabeth City

RETIRED/RECALLED JUDGES
HARVEY A. LUPTON Winston-Salem
LESTER P. MARTIN, JR. Mocksville
HENRY A, MCKINNON, JR. Lumberton
D. MARSH MCLELLAND Burlington
Howruis M. OWENS, JR. Rutherfordton
HEeNRY L. STEVENS III Warsaw
L. BRADFORD TILLERY Wilmington
EDWARD K. WASHINGTONS High Point

SPECIAL EMERGENCY JUDGES

E. MAURICE BRASWELL
DonaLp L. SMitH?

Fayetteville
Raleigh

=N O U N

. Retired 31 August 1997.

. Appointed and sworn in 8 August 1997.

. Appointed and sworn in 22 August 1997.

. Appointed and sworn in 22 August 1997.

. Appointed and sworn in 27 August 1997.

. Deceased 22 April 1997.

. Recalled to the Court of Appeals 1 Septeraber 1995.
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DISTRICT

1

3A

3B

6A

6B

DISTRICT COURT DIVISION

JUDGES

GRAFTON G. BEAMAN (Chief)
C. CHRISTOPHER BEAN

J. CARLTON COLE

EbDGAR L. BARNES

JamES W, HARDISON (Chief)
SAMUEL G. GRIMES

MICHAEL A. PauL

E. BURT AYCOCK, JR. (Chief)
JaMES E. MARTIN

DaviD A. LEECH

PaTRICIA GWYNETTE HILBURN
JerrY F. WADDELL (Chief)
CHERYL LYNN SPENCER
KeNNETH F. CROW

PauL M. QUINN

STEPHEN M. WiLLIAMSON (Chief)
WAYNE G. KIMBLE, JR.
LEONARD W. THAGARD

PavL A. HARDISON

WiLLIAM M. CAMERON III
Louss F. Foy, Jr.

JouN W. SMITH (Chief)
ELTON G. TUCKER

J. H. CORPENING II

SHELLY S. HoLr

REBECCA W. BLACKMORE
JoHN J. CARROLL III

HaroLp PatL McCoy, Jr. (Chief)
DWwIGHT L. CRANFORD
ALFRED W. Kwasikpul (Chief)
THOMAS R. J. NEWBERN
WiLLIaM ROBERT LEwIS 1T
ALBERT S. THOMAS, JR. (Chief)
SARAH F. PATTERSON

JosePH JOHN HARPER, JR.

M. ALEXANDER BIGGS, JR.
JOHN L. WHITLEY

JOHN M, BrITT

J. Patrick ExuMm (Chief)
ArNoLD O. JONES

RODNEY R. GOODMAN

xi

ADDRESS

Elizabeth City
Edenton
Hertford
Manteo
Williamston
Washington
Washington
Greenvilie
Greenville
Greenville
Greenville
New Bern
New Bern
New Bern
New Bern
Kenansville
Jacksonville
Clinton
Jacksonville
Richlands
Pollocksville
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Halifax
Halifax
Jackson
Aulander
Winton
Wilson
Rocky Mount
Tarboro
Rocky Mount
Wilson
Tarboro
Kinston
Goldsboro
Kinston



DISTRICT

9A

10

11

12

13

14

JUDGES

JosepPH E. SETZER, JR.

PAUL L. JONES

Davip B. BRANTLEY
CHARLES W. WILKINSON, JR. (Chief)
J. LARRY SENTER

H. WELDON LLoYD, JR.
DaNIEL FREDERICK FINCH

J. HENRY BaNKs

Parrie S. HARRISON (Chief)
MarK E. GALLOWAY
RUSSELL SHERRILL III (Chief)
L. W. PAYNE, JR.

JOYCE A. HAMILTON

FRED M. MORELOCK

JaMmes R. FuLiwoobp

ANNE B. SALISBURY
WiLLiam C. LAWTON
MicHAEL R. MORGAN
ROBERT BLACKWELL RADER
PauL G. GESSNER

ANN MARIE CALABRIA
WiLLIAM A. CHRISTIAN (Chief)
Epwarp H. McCORMICK
SAMUEL S. STEPHENSON

T. YATES DOBSON, JR.
ALBERT A. CORBETT, JR.
FraNK F. LANIER

A. ELizaBeTH KEEVER (Chief)
JoHN S. HaIR, JR.

JAMES F. AMMONS, JR.
RoBERT J. STIEHL IIT
EDpwARD A. PONE

C. EDWARD DONALDSON
KimBrELL KELLY TUCKER!
JOHN W. DICKSONZ

JERRY A. JoLLy (Chief)
NAPOLEON B. BAREFOOT, JR.
OLA LEWIS Bray

THOMAS V. ALDRIDGE, JR.
KENNETH C. TiTus (Chief)
RICHARD G. CHANEY
CAROLYN D. JOHNSON

ADDRESS

Goldsboro
Kinston
Goldsboro
Oxford
Franklinton
Henderson
Oxford
Henderson
Roxboro
Roxboro
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Sanford
Lillington
Angier
Smithfield
Smithfield
Buies Creek
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Tabor City
Supply
Southport
Whiteville
Durham
Durham
Durham



DISTRICT

15A

158

16A

16B

17A

17B

18

19A

19B

19C

JUDGES

ELAINE M. O’'NEAL

CRrAIG B. BROWN

J. KENT WASHBURN (Chief)
SPENCER B. ENNIS

ERNEST J. HARVIEL

JosEpPH M. BUCKNER (Chief)
ALONZO BROWN COLEMAN, JR.
CHARLES T. L. ANDERSON
WARREN L. PaTE (Chief)
WiLLiam G. McILwaiN
RICHARD T. BROWN3
HERBERT L. RICHARDSON (Chief)
GARY L. LOCKLEAR

J. STANLEY CARMICAL

JOHN B. CARTER, JR.

WiLLIaM JEFFREY MOORE
JANEICE B. TiNDaAL (Chief)
RICHARD W. STONE

Otis M. OLIVER (Chief)
AARON MOSES MASSEY
CHARLES MITCHELL NEAVES II
LAWRENCE McSwaIN (Chief)
WiLLiam L. Dasy

SHERRY FOWLER ALLOWAY
THOMAS G. FOSTER, JR.
JosePH E. TURNER

DoNALD L. BOooNE

CHARLES L. WHITE

WENDY M. ENOCHS

ERNEST RAYMOND ALEXANDER, JR.

SusaN ELizaBETH BraY
PaTRICIA A. HINNANT

ApaM C. GRANT, Jr. (Chief)
CLARENCE E. HORTON, JR.
WiLLIAM G. HaMmBy, JR.
WiLLiaM M. NEELY (Chief)
VANCE B. LoNg

MICHAEL A. SABISTON
JAYRENE R. MANESS

LiLLiaN B. O'BRIANT

ANNA MILLs WAGONER (Chief)
TED A. BLANTON

xiii

ADDRESS

Durham
Durham
Graham
Graham
Graham
Cary
Hillsborough
Hillsborough
Raeford
Wagram
Laurinburg
Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Pembroke
Wentworth
Wentworth
Dobson
Dobson
Elkin
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
High Point
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Concord
Kannapolis
Concord
Asheboro
Asheboro
Troy
Carthage
Asheboro
Salisbury
Salisbury



DISTRICT

20

22

23

24

25

26

JUDGES

DaviD B. WiLsoN

RonaLp W. Bugris (Chief)
Tanya T. WALLACE

SusaN C. TavLoR

JosepH J. WiLLiams
CHRISTOPHER W, BRAGG
KEVIN M. BRIDGES
RoLanp H. Haves (Chief)
WiLLIAM B. REINGOLD
CHESTER C. Davis
RonaLD E. SPIVEY

WILLIAM THOMAS GRAHAM, JR.

VICTORIA LANE ROEMER
LAURIE L. HUTCHINS
ROBERT W. JOHNSON (Chief)
SAMUEL CATHEY

GEORGE FULLER

KiMBERLY S. TAYLOR

JAMES M. HONEYCUTT
JiMMy L. MYERS

Jack E. Krass

EDGAR B. GREGORY (Chief)
MicHaEL E. HELMS

Davip V. BYRD

JEANIE REAVIS HOUSTON
ALEXANDER LYERLY (Chief)
WILLIAM A. LEAVELL III
KYLE D. AUSTIN

L. OLIVER NOBLE, Jr. (Chief)
TiMoTHY S. KINCAID
JONATHAN L. JONES

NaNcY L. EINSTEIN

RoserT E. HODGES
RoBERT M. BrapY
GREGORY R. HAYES

JaMmes E. LANNING (Chief)
WiLLiaM G. JONES

Resa L. HARRIS

RicHARD D. BONER

H. WiLL1aM CONSTANGY
JANE V., HARPER

Fritz Y. MERCER, JR.
PaiLLIP F. HOWERTON, JR.

Xiv

ADDRESS

Salisbury
Albemarle
Rockingham
Albemarle
Monroe
Monroe
Albemarle
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Statesville
Statesville
Lexington
Hiddenite
Lexington
Mocksville
Lexington
Wilkesboro
Wilkesboro
Wilkesboro
Wilkesboro
Banner Elk
Bakersville
Pineola
Hickory
Newton
Valdese

Lenoir

Nebo

Lenoir
Hickory
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte



DISTRICT

27A

27B

28

29

30

JUDGES ADDRESS
YVONNE M. Evans Charlotte
Davip S. CAYER Charlotte
C. JEROME LEONARD, JR. Charlotte
CECIL WAYNE HEASLEY Charlotte
ERIC L. LEVINSON Charlotte
ELIZABETH D. MILLER Charlotte
HARLEY B. Gastox, Jr. (Chief) Gastonia
CATHERINE C. STEVENS Gastonia
JOYCE A. BROWN Belmont
MELISSA A. MAGEE Gastonia
RavLpPH C. GINGLES, JR. Gastonia
J. KEATON FONVIELLE (Chief) Shelby
JAMES THOMAS BOwEN III Lincolnton
JAMES W, MORGAN Shelby
LARRY JAMES WILSON Shelby
EARL JusTicE FOWLER, JR. (Chief) Asheville
PETER L. Ropa Asheville
GARY S. CASH Asheville
SHIRLEY H. BROWN Asheville
REBECCA B. KNIGHT Asheville
ROBERT S. CILLEY (Chief) Pisgah Forest
DEBORAH M. BURGIN Rutherfordton
Magrk E. POWELL Hendersonville
THomas N. Hix Mills Spring
Davip KENNEDY Fox Hendersonville
Jonn J. Snow, Jr. (Chief) Murphy
DanNy E. Davis Waynesville
STEVEN J. BRYANT Bryson City
RicHLyN D. HoLT Waynesville
EMERGENCY JUDGES
ABNER ALEXANDER Winston-Salem
BEN U. ALLEN Henderson
CLAUDE W. ALLEN, JR. Oxford
PuiLip W. ALLEN Reidsville
Lowry M. BETTS Pittsboro
ROBERT R. BLACKWELL Yanceyville
GEORGE M. BRITT Tarboro
WiLLiaM M. CAMERON, JR. Jacksonville
DAPHENE L. CANTRELL Charlotte
SoL G. CHERRY Fayetteville
WILLIaM A. CREECH Raleigh



DISTRICT JUDGES ADDRESS
STEPHEN F. FRANKS Hendersonville
ROBERT L. HARRELL Asheville

JAMES A. HARRILL, JR.
WALTER P. HENDERSON
ROBERT K. KEIGER

Winston-Salem
Trenton
Winston-Salem

ROBERT H. LACEY Newland

EpMUND LOWE High Point

J. BRUCE MORTON Greensboro

STANLEY PEELE Chapel Hill

MARGARET L. SHARPE Winston-Salem

KENNETH W. TURNER Rose Hill
RETIRED/RECALLED JUDGES

ROBERT T. GASH Brevard

ALLEN W. HARRELL Wilson

NICHOLAS LONG

Roanoke Rapids

ErtoN C. PRIDGEN Smithfield
H. HORTON ROUNTREE Greenville
SAMUEL M. TATE Morganton
LIVINGSTON VERNON Morganton
JOHN M. WALKER Wilmington

1. Appointed and sworn in 29 May 1997 to replace Patricia A. Timmons-Goodson who
was appointed to the Court of Appeals.

2. Appointed and sworn in 12 August 1997.
3. Appointed to a new position and sworn in 31 January 1997.

4. Appointed and sworn in 12 August 1997.
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ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NORTH CAROLINA

Attorney General

MICHAEL F. EASLEY

Deputy Attorney General
Jor Administration
StsaN RABON

WiLLiaM N. FARRELL, JR.
ANN REED DUNN

HAROLD F. ASKINS
Isaac T. Avery III
DaviD R. BLACKWELL
ROBERT J. BLUM
Harorp D. BOowMAN
GEORGE W. BOYLAN
CHRISTOPHER P. BREWER
JUDITH R. BULLOCK
MABEL Y. BULLOCK
ELisHa H. BUNTING, JR.
HiLDA BURNETT-BAKER
KATHRYN J. COOPER
JOHN R. CORNE

T. BUIE COSTEN
Francis W. CRAWLEY
JAMES P. ERWIN, JR.
NORMA S. HARRELL

DaNIEL D. ADDISON
JoHN J. ALDRIDGE III
CHRISTOPHER E. ALLEN
JAMES P. ALLEN

BRUCE AMBROSE
ARCHIE W. ANDERS
GEORGE B. AUTRY
JONATHAN P. BABB
KATHLEEN U. BALDWIN

GRADY L. BALENTINE, JR.

ELIZABETH R. BARE
JOHN P. BARKLEY

JOHN G. BARNWELL, JR.
VALERIE L. BATEMAN
BryaN E. BEATTY
DaviD W. BERRY

Deputy Attorney General for

Policy and Planning
JANE P. GRAY

Chief Deputy Attorney General

ANDREW A. VANORE, JR.

Senior Deputy Attorneys General

EDWIN M. SPEAS, JR.
REGINALD L. WATKINS

WiLLIAM P. HART
RoBERT T. HARGETT
RALF F. HASKELL
THOMAS S. HICKS
ALAN S. HIRSCH

J. ALLEN JERNIGAN
DouGLAS A. JOHNSTON
LORINZO L. JOYNER
GRAYSON G. KELLY
DANIEL F. MCLAWHORN
BARRY S. MCNEILL
GAYL M. MANTHEI
RoNALD M. MARQUETTE
Tromas R. MILLER
THOMAS F. MOFFITT

G. PATRICK MURPHY
CHARLES J. MURRAY

Assistant Attorneys General

WiLLiaM H. BORDEN

S. MICHELLE BRADSHAW
ANNE J. BROWN

JILL LEDFORD CHEEK
LAUREN M. CLEMMONS
ReBECCA K. CLEVELAND
Lisa G. CORBETT
ROBERT O. CRAWFORD III
WiLLIaM B. CRUMPLER
ROBERT M. CURRAN

NEIL C. DALTON
CLARENCE J. DELFORGE II1
FRANCIS DIPASQUANTONIO
Joan H. ERWIN

JUNE S. FERRELL

BERTHA L. FIELDS

xvii

Special Counsel to the
Attorney General
HampTON DELLINGER

WANDA G. BRYANT
DaNIEL C. OAKLEY

Special Deputy Attorneys General

Lars F. NANCE

PERRY Y. NEWSON
SusaN K. NICHOLS
ROBIN P. PENDERGRAFT
ALEXANDER M. PETERS
ELLEN B. SCOUTEN
TIARE B. SMILEY
EUGENE A. SMITH
JAMES PEELER SMITH
W. DALE TALBERT
PHILIP A. TELFER
JOHN H. WATTERS
JAMES A. WELLONS
THOMAS J. ZIXKO
THOMAS D. ZWEIGART

WILLIAM W. FINLATOR, JR.
MARGARET A. FORCE
JANE T. FRIEDENSEN
VIRGINIA L. FULLER
JANE R. GARVEY

EpwiN L. Gavin I
ROBERT R. GELBLUM
VIRGINIA G. GIBBONS
Roy A. GILES, JR.

AMY R. GILLESPIE

JANE A. GILCHRIST
MICHAEL DAVID GORDON
DEBRA C. GRAVES
JEFFREY P. GRAY

JOHN A. GREENLEE
PatrICIA BLy HaLL



Assistant Attorneys General—continued

E. BURKE HaYwWoOD
EMMETT B. HAYWoOD
Davip G. HEETER

JiLL B. HICKEY

Kay L. MILLER HOBART
CHARLES H. HOBGOOD
Davip F. Hoke

JuLia R. HOKE

JaMEs C. HoLLowAy
FELicIA HOOVER
JoaNN HULL

ELAINE A. HUMPHREYS
GEORGE K. HURST
CELIA G. JONES

LinDa J. KIMBELL
Davib N. KIRKMAN
BRrENT D. KiziaH
DoNALD W. LATON
THOMAS O. Lawton IIT
PHILIP A. LEHMAN
ANITA LEVEAUX-QUIGLESS
FLoyD M. LEwIs

SUE Y. LITTLE

KareN E. LonG

JAMES P. LONGEST
JoHN F. MADDREY
JAMES E. MAGNER, JR.
JENNIE W, MAU

BRIAN J. MCGINN

J. BRUCE MCKINNEY
SARAH Y. MEACHAM
THOMAS G. MEACHAM, JR.
DAVID SIGSBEE MILLER
DIaNE G. MILLER
WILLIAM R. MILLER
Davip R. MINGES
MARILYN R. MUDGE
DENNIS P. MYERS

BarT NJjoku-OB1

JANE L. OLIVER

JAY L. OSBORNE
EL1ZABETH L. OXLEY
ELizaBETH F. PARSONS
J. MARK PayNE
Howarp A. PELL
CHERYL A. PERRY
ELIZABETH C. PETERSON
MARK J. PLETZKE

DIaNE M. POMPER

NEWTON G. PRITCHETT, JR.

JULIE A. RISHER

RANEE S. SANDY

Nancy E. Scott
BARBARA A. SHAW

RoOBIN W. SMITH

JANETTE M. SOLES
RICHARD G. SOWERBY, JR.
VALERIE B. SPALDING

xviii

D. DaviD STEINBOCK, JR.
ELIZABETH N. STRICKLAND
Kip D. STURGIS
SUEANNA P. SUMPTER
GWYNN T. SWINSON
MELissA H. TAYLOR
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OF
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RICHARD E. WALKER, ET AL, AND ORIENTAL YACHT CLUB, JOSEPH H. COX, ET AL,
PETITIONERS V. NORTH CAROLINA COASTAL RESOURCES COMMISSION,
RESPONDENT-APPELLANT, AND ORIENTAL HARBOR DEVELOPMENT COMPANY,
INC., INTERVENOR-RESPONDENT

No. COA95-1037
(Filed 1 October 1996)

1. Costs § 37 (NCI4th)— contested issnance of CAMA permit
for marina—counsel fees—agency position not substan-
tially justified

The trial court did not err in an action in which counsel fees
were awarded under N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 by concluding that the
position of the Coastal Resources Commission (CRC) in issuing
a development permit without an easement for use of public trust
waters and submerged lands was not substantially justified. The
fact that the superior court upheld the Commission does not
show that CRC’s decision was reasonable; the law clearly indi-
cates that a project of this magnitude requires a Department of
Administration easement; although the exclusive power to grant
easements is that of DOA, the ultimate responsibility for compli-
ance with the law in issuance of a development permit rested
with CRC; the record supports the trial court’s findings indicating
that the position advanced by CRC was contrary to CRC,
Department of Environment, Health and Natural Resources and
DOA internal study findings and internal policies; a later amend-
ment requiring that an applicant for an easement first obtain the
CAMA permit is not a basis for substantial justification because

1



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

WALKER v. N. C. COASTAL RESOURCES COMM.
(124 N.C. App. 1 (1996)]

the focus is on the law known or reasonably believed at the time
the claim was pressed and, in view of the clarity of the applicable
law and regulations, CRC cannot be said to have reasonably
believed otherwise, the later amendment notwithstanding; and
Rusher v. Tomlinson, 119 N.C. App. 458, cited by CRC for the
proposition that an easement is not prerequisite to issuance of a
CAMA permit, involved a determination that that project fell
within the exception to the general rules requiring easements.

Am Jur 2d, Administrative Law §§ 411, 413; Costs § 63.

What constitutes substantial justification of govern-
ment’s position so as to prohibit awards of attorneys’ fees
against government under Equal Access to Justice Act (28
USCS § 2412(d)(1)(A)). 69 ALR Fed. 130.

. Costs § 37 (NCI4th)— contested issuance of CAMA permit
for marina—counsel fees—no special circumstances mak-
ing award unjust

The trial court did not err in an action in which attorney fees
were awarded under N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 arising from the granting of
a development permit by the Coastal Resources Commission
(CRC) without an easement from the Department of Administra-
tion for the use of public trust waters by ruling that there were no
special circumstances that would make the award of counsel fees
unjust. Although CRC contended that it had relied in good faith
on DOA’s interpretation of DOA’s rules that an easement was not
necessary, the sole responsibility for granting CAMA permits was
that of CRC.

Am Jur 2d, Administrative Law §§ 411, 413.

What constitutes substantial justification of govern-
ment’s position so as to prohibit awards of attorneys’ fees
against government under Equal Access to Justice Act (28
USCS § 2412(d)(1)(A)). 69 ALR Fed. 130.

. Costs § 37 (NCI4th)— contested issuance of CAMA permit
for marina—counsel fees for administrative review—not
allowed

An administrative hearing under N.C.G.S. § 150B-22 et seq. is
not a civil action and the award for counsel fees and costs appli-
cable to the administrative review portion of a case involving the
issuance of a CAMA development permit without an easement for
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WALKER v. N. C. COASTAL RESOURCES COMM.
[124 N.C. App. 1 (1996)]

use of public trust waters was reversed. An action is defined as an
ordinary proceeding in a court of justice and an administrative
agency is not a part of the general court of justice. Additionally,
there has been a consistent clear distinction between allowance
of counsel fees under N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 for fees expended during
judicial review of agency rulings and provisions of other statutes
for counsel fees accumulated up to an agency’s final decision.

Am Jur 2d, Administrative Law §§ 233, 413.

Appeal by respondent North Carolina Coastal Resources
Commission from order filed 14 June 1995 by Judge Frank R. Brown
in Pamlico County Superior Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 20
May 1996.

Manning, Fulton & Skinner, PA., by Howard E. Manning, Sr.
and David T. Pryzwansky, for petitioners.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Assistant Attorney
General, Robin W. Smith, for the State.

JOHN, Judge.

This case is before us for the second time. See Walker v. N.C.
Dept. of EEHN.R., 111 N.C. App. 851, 433 S.E.2d 767, disc. rev.
denied, 335 N.C. 243, 439 S.E.2d 164 (1993). Respondent North
Carolina Coastal Resources Commission (CRC) contends the trial
court erred by awarding counsel fees to petitioners pursuant to
N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 (1986). We agree in part and vacate that portion of
the award assigned by the trial court to the “ ‘administrative review’
portion of the case.”

Pertinent facts and procedural information are as follows: On 26
September 1989, respondent-intervenor Oriental Harbor Develop-
ment Company, Inc. (Oriental), applied to respondent CRC for a per-
mit under the former Coastal Area Management Act (CAMA), N.C.
G.S. § 113A-100, et seq., to build a commercial marina on Smith Creek
in Oriental, North Carolina. Following representation to CRC by the
Department of Administration (DOA) that no easement was required
for the project, CRC issued a permit to Oriental authorizing construc-
tion of a marina encircling 5.9 acres of public trust waters. Walker,
111 N.C. App. at 852-53, 433 S.E.2d at 768.

Petitioners consequently commenced this action 9 May 1990 by
filing two Petitions for Contested Case Hearings with the Office of



4 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

WALKER v. N. C. COASTAL RESOURCES COMM.
(124 N.C. App. 1 (1996)]

Administrative Hearings pursuant to the former N.C.G.S. § 150B-22 et.
seq. Id. at 853, 433 S.E.2d at 768. Petitioners objected to the permit on
grounds, inter alia, that issuance was contrary to existing law and
regulations because Oriental had not first obtained an easement from
the State to use public trust waters and submerged lands. Id.

Following a full evidentiary hearing, Administrative Law Judge
Fred G. Morrison agreed with petitioners and recommended the per-
mit be revoked and that no CAMA permit be issued to Oriental. Id.
However, by order dated 19 April 1991, CRC rejected the recom-
mended decision, finding the permit had been properly authorized.
Id.

Pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 150B-43 et. seq., petitioners sought judicial
review in Pamlico County Superior Court. Following a hearing, the
trial court entered a 20 December 1991 order upholding issuance of
the permit. From this order petitioners appealed to this Court, which
reversed. Id. at 853-54, 433 S.E.2d at 768.

Specifically, in Walker we stated “[o]ur reading of the statute and
the regulations leads us to the conclusion that the proposed develop-
ment required an easement from the DOA,” id. at 855, 433 S.E.2d at
769, and thus “CRC erred in issuing [the CAMA permit] allowing con-
struction of the marina without the prior granting of an easement by
the [DOA], subject to approval by the Governor and the Council of
State.” Id. at 856, 433 S.E.2d at 770. The matter was remanded for
resubmission to DOA and “any other proceedings as become neces-
sary.” Id. at 856, 433 S.E.2d at 770. CRC’s motion for discretionary
review to the North Carolina Supreme Court was denied. Walker v.
N.C. Dept. of EEHN.R., 335 N.C. 243, 439 S.E.2d 164 (1993).

Thereafter, on 30 December 1993, petitioners filed in Pamlico
Superior Court the instant petition for counsel fees pursuant to G.S.
§ 6-19.1 [Attorney’s fees to parties appealing or defending against
agency decision]. The statute provides in relevant part as follows:

In any civil action . . . brought by the State or brought by a
party who is contesting State action pursuant to G.S. 150A-43
[now 150B-43] or any other appropriate provisions of law, unless
the prevailing party is the State, the court may, in its discretion,
allow the prevailing party to recover reasonable attorney’s fees to
be taxed as court costs against the appropriate agency if:

(1) The court finds that the agency acted without substantial
Jjustification in pressing its claim against the party; and



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 5

WALKER v. N. C. COASTAL RESOURCES COMM.
[124 N.C. App. 1 (1996)]

(2) The court finds that there are no special circumstances
that would make the award of attorney’s fees unjust.

G.S. § 6-19.1. By order dated 14 June 1995, the trial court awarded
counsel fees to petitioners in the amounts of $10,500.00 and
$33,041.50 for the “administrative review” and “judicial review” por-
tions of the case respectively, and expenses of $450.88 and $2,091.70
likewise applicable to the two phases of the proceedings. From this
order, CRC appeals.

CRC attacks the award of counsel fees on grounds the trial
court erred in concluding that: (1) CRC’s position was not substan-
tially justified; (2) there were no special circumstances which would
make an award of counsel fees unjust; and (3) administrative con-
tested case proceedings qualify as civil actions within the purview of
G.S. § 6-19.1. We discuss each contention in turn below.

In the case sub judice, CRC, the party against whom counsel fees
were sought, had the burden of proving substantial justification for
its actions in issuing the permit, Tay v. Flaherty, 100 N.C. App. 51, 55,
394 S.E.2d 217, 219 (1990), and further of showing the presence of cir-
cumstances which would make an award of counsel fees unjust.
Crowell Constructors, Inc. v. State ex rel. Cobey, 114 N.C. App. 75,
80-81, 440 S.E.2d 848, 851 (1994) (Crowell I), reversed on other
grounds, 342 N.C. 838, 467 S.E.2d 675 (1996) (Crowell II). For pur-
poses of our review, “[t]he trial court’s findings of fact are binding on
appeal if there is evidence to support them, even though evidence
might sustain findings to the contrary.” Tay, 100 N.C. App. at 56, 394
S.E.2d at 220.

L

[1]1 Our Supreme Court recently construed the meaning of “substan-
tial justification” under G.S. § 6-19.1 as “ ‘justified in substance or in
the main’—that is, justified to a degree that could satisfy a reasonable
person.” Crowell II, 342 N.C. at 844, 467 S.E.2d at 679, citing Pierce
v. Underwood, 487 U.S. 552, 565, 101 L. Ed. 2d 490, 504 (1988).
Continuing, the Court explained

[t]his standard should not be so strictly interpreted as to
require the agency to demonstrate the infallibility of each suit it
initiates. Similarly, this standard should not be so loosely inter-
preted as to require the agency to demonstrate only that the suit
is not frivolous, for “that is assuredly not the standard for
Government litigation of which a reasonable person would
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approve.” [citing Pierce, 487 U.S. at 566, 101 L. Ed. 2d at 505.]
Rather, we adopt a middle-ground objective standard to require
the agency to demonstrate that its position, at and from the time
of its initial action, was rational and legitimate to such degree
that a reasonable person could find it satisfactory or justifiable in
light of the circumstances then known to the agency.

Id.

CRC asserts several bases for its contention the trial court erred
in determining CRC

acted without substantial justification in granting the permit
without the prior grant of an easement from the DOA and subse-
quently pursuing enforcement of its position through the North
Carolina Court of Appeals, contrary to established case law,
statutes and regulations providing that an easement is required
before a permit may be issued, and contrary to CRC, [DEHNR]
and DOA internal study findings and internal policies.

CRC first contends “[t]he fact that the superior court upheld the
Commission on every issue on judicial review” shows CRC’s “decision
to be not only reasonable, but correct.” We disagree.

In Tay, 100 N.C. App. at 52-53, 394 S.E.2d at 217-18, petitioner
sought judicial review of respondent-agency’s termination of food
stamp benefits. Following the trial court’s order affirming respond-
ent’s decision, petitioner appealed to this Court, which held the
termination wrongful and reversed. The agency later appealed the
trial court’s subsequent award of counsel fees to petitioner pursuant
to G.S. § 6-19.1. This Court held the evidence before the trial court
was

sufficient to allow the court to find that respondent lacked sub-
stantial justification in pressing its claim throughout this action
regardless of respondent’s evidence that the superior court judge
. . . agreed that respondent rightfully terminated the benefits.

Id. at 57, 394 S.E.2d at 220. See also Pierce, 487 U.S. at 569, 101
L. Ed. 2d at 507 (“fact that one other court agreed or disagreed with
the Government does not establish whether its position was substan-
tially justified”); United States v. Paisley, 957 F.2d 1161, 1166
(4th Cir.), cert. dented, Crandon v. United States, — U.S. —, 121
L. Ed. 2d 38 (1992) (“[c]ompletely unfounded claims sometimes, for a
variety of reasons, survive beyond their just desserts”); and
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Community Heating & Plumbing v. Garrett, 2 F.3d 1143, 1145-46
(Fed. Cir. 1993) (position of government “is not shown to be substan-
tially justified merely because the government prevailed before a
lower tribunal”).

CRC next maintains its grant to Oriental of a CAMA permit with-
out an easement was substantially justified because “the proper inter-
pretation and application of [statutes] and rules” outlining the cir-
cumstance under which easements are required came within the
purview of DOA and “was outside [CRC’s] quasi-judicial authority.”
Therefore, CRC continues, it “had no ability to overrule a decision by
the [DOA],” and petitioner should have attacked DOA’s decision
instead of challenging CRC’s issuance of the permit. We remain
unpersuaded.

In Walker, this court thoroughly discussed the common law,
statutes and regulations relevant to the easement issue in the case
sub judice, and ultimately determined that the law, which excepts
only “minor structures” from the easement prerequisite for use of
public trust waters and submerged lands, “clearly indicate[s] that a
project of the magnitude of [Oriental’s proposed marina] requires af[]
[DOA] easement prior to the issuance of a CAMA and dredge/fill per-
mit.” Walker, 111 N.C. App. at 854-55, 433 S.E.2d at 769 (emphasis
added). It is unnecessary to duplicate herein that discussion high-
lighting the lack of ambiguity in the applicable law.

Moreover, the ultimate responsibility for compliance with the law
in issuance of a development permit under CAMA rested with CRC,
which in fact issued the instant permit. Thus, although CRC correctly
maintains the exclusive power to grant easements is that of DOA, see
Walker, 111 N.C. App. at 854, 433 S.E.2d at 769, petitioners convinc-
ingly retort that

CRC’s attempt to ‘pass the buck’ to DOA makes its actions . . .
inexcusable . . .. DOA’s failure to grant the easement was one mis-
apprehension of law, but CRC’s issuance of the permit com-
pounded DOA’s error and [CRC] should be held responsible.

Moreover, CRC’s reliance on petitioners’ decision to forego a chal-
lenge to DOA’s decision is untenable. The absence of such action on
the part of petitioners is irrelevant to the question of CRC’s ultimate
responsibility.

Further, we note the record supports the trial court’s findings
indicating the position advanced by CRC, i.e., that no easement was
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mandatory for protection of public trust lands, was “contrary to CRC,
Department of Environment, Health and Natural Resources and DOA
internal study findings and internal policies.” See Tay, 100 N.C. App.
at 56, 394 S.E.2d at 220 (“trial court’s findings of fact are binding on
appeal if there is evidence to support them, even though there is evi-
dence which might sustain findings to the contrary”). Indeed, in its
current appellate brief, CRC implicitly acknowledges its awareness of
the necessity of an easement (CRC “historically has encouraged
[DOA] to require easements for marina projects™).

We also reject CRC’s assertion of substantial justification based
upon subsequent amendment of N.C.G.S. § 146-12 by the General
Assembly mandating that an applicant for an easement in submerged
lands first obtain any necessary CAMA permit. N.C.G.S. § 146-12(f)
(effective 1 October 1995). This amendment, contends CRC, rein-
forces its stance that an easement previously was not obligatory prior
to issuance of a permit. This argument is unavailing.

In Crowell II, 342 N.C. at 845, 467 S.E.2d at 680, our Supreme
Court held without qualification that

in deciding whether a State agency has pressed a claim against a
party ‘without substantial justification,’ the law and facts known
to, or reasonably believed by, the State agency at the time the
claim is pressed must be evaluated.

See also Pierce, 487 U.S. at 561, 101 L. Ed. 2d at 502 (issue is “not what
the law now is, but what the government was substantially justified in
believing it to have been”). Accordingly, the focus is upon the law
“known or reasonably believed” by CRC to be applicable at the time
“the claim [was] pressed,” Crowell 11, 342 N.C. at 845, 467 S.E.2d at
680, and not upon some subsequent change in the procedural order a
developer or other applicant must take to obtain necessary ease-
ments and permits. In view of the clarity of the applicable law and
regulations noted by this Court in Walker, 111 N.C. App. at 854, 433
S.E.2d at 768-69, CRC cannot be said to have “reasonably believed”
otherwise, later amendment to G.S. § 146-12 notwithstanding.

In addition, we take note that CRC, with the foregoing argument,
is in the unenviable position of asserting that the statutory amend-
ment establishes that no easement was required prior fo issuance of
a permit, and attempting to reconcile this contention with its princi-
pal argument that it simply relied in the instance at issue upon DOA’s
determination that no easement whatsoever was required.
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Finally, Rusher v. Tomlinson, 119 N.C. App. 458, 459 S.E.2d 285
(1995) affirmed, 343 N.C. 119, 468 S.E.2d 65 (1996), cited by CRC, is
inapposite. CRC insists Rusher stands for the proposition that grant
of an easement is not prerequisite to issuance of a CAMA permit. To
the contrary, the question resolved in Rusher was the necessity of an
easement concerning the specific project involved. Id. at 463-64, 459
S.E.2d at 288. Determining the project fell “squarely within the excep-
tion [to the general rules requiring easements] set forth in Rule
6B.0605(a),” this Court distinguished Walker, 111 N.C. App. 851, 433
S.E.d 767, on the factual basis that the Walker project, including “the
size of the public trust waters covered,” was not covered by any such
exception. Id. at 464, 459 S.E.2d at 288-89.

We therefore hold CRC failed to carry its burden to

demonstrate that its position, at and from the time of its initial
action, was rational and legitimate to such degree that a reason-
able person could find it satisfactory or justifiable in light of the
circumstances then known to the agency,

Crowell II, 342 N.C. at 844, 467 S.E.2d at 679, and that the trial
court did not err in concluding that CRC “acted without substantial
justification.”

II.

[2] CRC next maintains the trial court erred by ruling “there [were]
no special circumstances that would make an award of counsel fees
unjust.” Specifically, CRC contends that

[i]n issuing the subject CAMA permit, [CRC] relied in good faith
on [DOA’s] interpretation of [DOA’s] rules. It would be unjust to
award attorney’s fees against [CRC] based on this Court’s deter-
mination that [DOA] has misapplied its rules. This . . . is particu-
larly unfair since . . . [CRC] had no authority to compel [DOA] to
change its easement policies.

As with CRC’s argument regarding “substantial justification,” this
contention likewise cannot be sustained.

Again, although CRC may have lacked authority to compel DOA
to change an easement decision, the sole responsibility for granting
CAMA permits following fulfillment by an applicant of all necessary
prerequisites, including obtaining an easement, was that of CRC.
Rather than refusing a permit absent Oriental’s obtaining a DOA ease-
ment, CRC granted same notwithstanding law and regulations which
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“clearly indicate[d],” Walker, 111 N.C. App. at 854, 433 S.E.2d at 769,
the contrary. The trial court therefore did not err in determining there
were no circumstances which would make an award of counsel fees
unfair.

III.
[3] Finally, CRC argues

[tlhe trial court erred in holding that administrative contested
case proceedings are civil actions for purposes of N.C.G.S.
§ 6-19.1 and that petitioners are entitled to attorneys fees and
costs for the contested case proceedings.

Specifically, the trial court found “[t]he ‘administrative review’ por-
tion of the case was essential to protect petitioners [sic] rights and to
preserve a judicial review.” The court then calculated that $10,500.00
in counsel fees and $450.88 in expenses

were incurred by petitioners in the ‘administrative review’ por-
tion of the case. These attorney fees [and expenses] were
incurred in a civil action within the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 6-19.1 and are reasonable.

At the outset, we commend as greatly facilitating our review the
trial court’s separate calculation and award of counsel fees for the
“administrative review” and “judicial review portion[s} of the case.”
However, although petitioners make a compelling argument that
awarding counsel fees for the mandatory administrative origins of the
instant controversy would be fair and just, we are constrained to
agree with CRC that the award of counsel fees and expenses pursuant
to G.S. § 6-19.1 “for the ‘administrative review’ portion of the case”
was error.

G.S. § 6-19.1 allows for an award of counsel fees “[i]n any civil
action . . . brought . . . by a party who is contesting State action pur-
suant to G.S. 150A-43 [now 150B-43].” G.S. § 150B-43 [Right to Judicial
Review] provides as follows:

Any person who is aggrieved by the final decision in a con-
tested case, and who has exhausted all administrative remedies
made available to him by statute or agency rule, is entitled to judi-
cial review of the decision under this Article, unless adequate
procedure for judicial review is provided by another statute.

G.S. § 150B-43 (1995).
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The plain language of G.S. § 6-19.1, see Burgess v. Your House of
Raleigh, 326 N.C. 205, 209, 388 S.E.2d 134, 136 (1990) (“[w]here the
language of a statute is clear and unambiguous, there is no room for
judicial construction and the courts must construe the statute using
its plain meaning”), limits the award of counsel fees solely to “a civil
action.”

An “action” is defined in N.C.G.S. § 1-2 (1983) as “an ordinary pro-
ceeding in a court of justice” (emphasis added). Although an admin-
istrative agency may be accorded discretionary authority, that agency
is not part of the “general court of justice.” Ocean Hill Joint Venture
v. N.C. Dept. of E.H.N.R., 333 N.C. 318, 321, 426 S.E.2d 274, 276
(1993). Further, there “cannot be an action or proceeding” until a
cause of action accrues, that is, when the “right to institute and main-
tain a suit arises.” Id. at 323, 426 S.E.2d at 277 (citation omitted)
(assessment of civil penalty pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 113A-64(a) of
Pollution and Sedimentation Control Act not an “action or proceed-
ing” under N.C. G.S. § 1-564).

In addition, this Court has consistently drawn a distinction
between allowance under G.S. § 6-19.1 for counsel fees expended
during judicial review of agency rulings and the provisions of other
statutes for counsel fees accumulated up to an agency'’s final
decision.

In N.C. Dept. of Correction v. Harding, 120 N.C. App. 451, 462
S.E.2d 671 (1995) cert. granted 343 N.C. 124, 468 S.E.2d 785 (1996),
for example, this Court stated

[t}he award of attorney fees in back pay matters involving the
State Personnel Commission is covered by two complementary
statutory sections. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 126-4(11) allows the
Commission to award attorney fees for services rendered up
to the Commission’s final decision. . . . ([However,] [fJor attor-
ney services rendered on judicial review of the commission’s
decision, . . .. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 6-19.1 grants a trial court discre-
tionary authority to award attorney fees . . . in a Section 150B-43
appeal . ...

Id. at 454-55, 462 S.E.2d at 674. Although remanding that case “for a
determination of . . . how many hours were spent in the judicial
review portion in Harding I to facilitate an appropriate award of
fees under G.S. § 6-19.1, we concluded plaintiff was not entitled to
counsel fees under G.S. § 6-19.1 for judicial review in Harding II or



12 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

WALKER v. N. C. COASTAL RESOURCES COMM.
[124 N.C. App. 1 (1996)]

Harding III as she was not the prevailing party. Id. at 456, 462 S.E.2d
at 674-75. However, our decision was rendered “without prejudice to
the plaintiff to seek complementary attorney’s fees under N.C.G.S.
§ 126-4(11) for services rendered before the Commission throughout
this entire proceeding.” Id. at 456, 462 S.E.2d at 675. Accord N.C.
Dept. of Correction v. Myers, 120 N.C. App. 437, 442-43, 462 S.E.2d
824, 828 (1995), cert. granted, 343 N.C. 307, 469 S.E.2d 556 (1996)
(award of attorney’s fees “earned on judicial review under N.C.G.S.
§ 6-19.1” (emphasis added) is without prejudice to plaintiff “to seek
complementary attorney’s fees from the Commission under its dis-
cretionary authority under N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11)"); see also
Employment Security Comm. v. Peace, 115 N.C. App. 486, 488, 445
S.E.2d 84, 86 (1994), rev'd on other grounds, 341 N.C. 716, 462 S.E.2d
222 (1995) (“In an action for judicial review of a decision made by
an administrative agency, the court may award the prevailing
party reasonable attorney’s fees against the agency only under
N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1.") (emphasis added).

Consistent with the clear implication of the above-cited cases and
the plain language of G.S. § 6-19.1, therefore, we hold that an ad-
ministrative hearing under G.S. § 1560B-22 et seq. is not a “civil action
. . . brought . . . pursuant to G.S. 150A-43 [now 150B-43].” See G.S.
§ 6-19.1.

Based on the foregoing, the trial court’s award of $12,5691.70 to
petitioners for counsel fees and costs applicable to the “administra-
tive review” portion of the case is reversed; the award of counsel fees
and costs for the “judicial review” portion of the case is affirmed.

Affirmed in part; reversed in part.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge McGEE concur.
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CORINNE CHAPMAN, KELLY CHAPMAN, BY AND THROUGH HER PARENT AND GUARDIAN,
DONNIE CHAPMAN, HISAE MILES, CAROL GOINS, ROSITA ENGLAND, DONNA
McNALLY, STACY OLIPHANT, DOUGLAS FERGUSON, anp TERRY LUDLUM,
PLAINTIFFS, v. MITCHELL BYRD, INDIVIDUALLY AND IN HIS CAPACITY AS DIRECTOR OF
Hoke COUNTY EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES; DJUANA REAVES, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS
ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF HOKE COUNTY EMERGENCY MEDICAL SERVICES; AND HOKE
COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA, DEFENDANTS

No. COA95-996

(Filed 1 October 1996)

1. Libel and Slander § 12 (NCI4th)— statement that “some-
one” in building has AIDS—group members not defamed

Defendants’ alleged statements that “someone” in a certain
commercial building has AIDS were not statements “of or con-
cerning” the nine employees of businesses in the building and
could not provide the basis for a defamation action by those
employees.

Am Jur 2d, Libel and Slander § 444.

Class or group defamation as actionable by individual
member. 52 ALR4th 618.

Imputation of criminal, abnormal, or otherwise offen-
sive sexual attitude or behavior as defamation—post-New
York Times cases. 57 ALR4th 404,

2. Constitutional Law § 98 (NCI4th)— statement that “some-
one” in building has AIDS—insufficient to support civil
rights action

Alleged statements by county employees that “someone” who
works in a commercial building has AIDS were insufficient to
support 42 U.S.C. § 1983 claims by employees of businesses in the
building for a violation of their federal due process rights because
aliegations of damage to business expectations deriving solely
from harm to reputation do not establish harm to a protected
property or liberty interest,

Am Jur 2d, Libel and Slander § 351.

Proof of injury to reputation as prerequisite to recov-
ery of damages in defamation action. 36 ALR4th 807.
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3. Intentional Infliction of Mental Distress § 2 (NCI4th)—
statements by EMS officials—sufficiency of complaint

Allegations by nine employees of businesses in a commercial
building that defendant county EMS officials repeated false
rumors that “someone” in the commercial building has AIDS
without investigating the truthfulness of the rumors, and that
plaintiffs suffered severe emotional distress, mental anguish,
humiliation and ridicule as a proximate result of defendants’
statements, were sufficient to state a claim for the intentional
infliction of emotional distress against the officials and the
county.

Am Jur 2d, Fright, Shock, and Mental Disturbance
§§ 37, 38.

Modern status of intentional infliction of mental dis-
tress as independent tort. 38 ALR4th 998.

4. Negligence § 6 (NCI4th)— negligent infliction of emotional
distress—sufficiency of complaint

Allegations by employees of businesses in a commercial
building that defendant county EMS officials falsely stated that
someone working in the commercial building has AIDS, that
defendants breached a duty to take reasonable steps to ascertain
the truth of the statements, that injury to plaintiffs was foresee-
able, and that plaintiffs suffered severe emotional distress, men-
tal anguish, and ridicule as a proximate result of the statements
were sufficient to state a claim for negligent infliction of emo-
tional distress. Plaintiffs were not precluded from bringing such a
claim because their emotional distress arose from alleged harm
to themselves rather than from plaintiffs’ concern for others.

Am Jur 2d, Fright, Shock, and Mental Disturbance § 3.

Appeal by plaintiffs from order entered 13 July 1995 by Judge B.
Craig Ellis in Hoke County Superior Court. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 24 April 1996.

Beaver, Holt, Richardson, Sternlicht, Burge & Glazier, PA., by
Richard B. Glazier and Rebecca J. Britton; and Mark T
Jernigan; for plaintiffs-appellants.

Womble Carlyle Sandridge & Rice, PL.L.C., by Tyrus V. Dahl, Jr.
and Ursula M. Henninger, for defendants-appellees.



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 15

CHAPMAN v. BYRD
[124 N.C. App. 13 (1996)]

LEWIS, Judge.

Plaintiffs appeal the N.C.R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) dismissal of their
claims for defamation, intentional and negligent infliction of emo-
tional distress, and their 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (“Section 1983”) claims for
violation of their federal due process rights.

On 1 December 1994, these nine plaintiffs filed complaints
against defendants. Upon defendants’ motion and by order entered 13
July 1995, Judge B. Craig Ellis dismissed all of the claims. Plaintiffs
appeal.

In reviewing a N.C.R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) dismissal, we must take
plaintiffs’ allegations as true. Forbis v. Honeycutt, 301 N.C. 699, 701,
273 S.E.2d 240, 241 (1981). Plaintiffs allege the following: Plaintiff
Douglas Ferguson owns and operates two businesses, The Colonial
Florist and the Sub Station Deli, located in a commercial building
which he owns called the Colonial House. He also leases space in the
building to five other businesses, Corrine’s Hair Salon, Corrine’s
Tanning and Toning, Hava Java Coffee Shop, Nail Dynamics, and the
Frame Gallery. The plaintiffs are either employees or owners and
operators of these various businesses.

Plaintiffs further allege: On 29 April 1994, several employees of
defendant Hoke County, including Deb Walden, Richard Sousa, and
Ronald Blackburn, made plans to go to the Sub Station Deli for lunch.
Prior to their departure, defendant Mitchell Byrd, the director of the
Hoke County Emergency Medical Services (“EMS”), told them “You
don’t need to be there.” When asked why, he replied, “I heard some-
one over there has AIDs.” Reports of this statement subsequently
appeared in the Fayetteville Observer-Times, in the Raeford News
Journal, and on a WIVD 11 News Report. As reported in an article
published on 1 June 1994, defendant Djuana Reaves, assistant direc-
tor of the Hoke County EMS, told the Raeford News Journal that
“Mr. Byrd told Mr. Blackburn, ‘there’s a rumor going around that
someone at the Colonial House has HIV,” as a professional courtesy in
case they had to go pick them up or something.” A total of nine per-
sons, the plaintiffs here, owned, operated, or were employed at the
Colonial House when these statements were made. Plaintiffs allege
that, at the time of these events, none of them had been diagnosed
with the AIDS virus, i.e., HIV positive.

Defamation Claims

[1] Plaintiffs first assign error to the dismissal of their defamation
claims. In these claims, plaintiffs specifically allege that defendants
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Byrd’s and Reaves’ published statements were defamatory per se,
false, made with malice, and the proximate cause of significant harm
to them and that the County is also liable for their defamatory state-
ments on a theory of respondeat superior.

One of the essential elements of a defamation claim is the allega-
tion that a defendant’s statements are “of or concerning” the plaintiff.
Tyson v. L'eggs Products, Inc., 84 N.C. App. 1, 10-11, 351 S.E.2d 834,
840 (1987). In Arnold v. Sharpe, 296 N.C. 533, 251 S.E.2d 452 (1979),
our Supreme Court defined this element by stating: “In order for
defamatory words to be actionable, they must refer to some ascer-
tained or ascertainable person and that person must be the plaintiff.
If the words used contain no reflection on any particular individual,
no averment can make them dafamatory [sic].” Id. at 539, 251 S.E.2d
at 456.

Citing Carter v. King, 174 N.C. 549, 94 S.E. 4 (1917), plaintiffs
assert that this element is satisfied here because their complaints
show that they were defamed as a group. In Carter, the plaintiff was
a juror who served in a previous trial that resulted in a vote of eleven
to one. Id. at 551, 94 S.E. at 5. The plaintiff, one of the eleven jurors
who voted against an institute for which the defendant was a trustee,
alleged that he was defamed when the defendant stated that “there
was one man on the jury that was not bribed” and “I note what you
say about the jury standing eleven to one; this was due entirely to
whiskey and the appeal made to their prejudice.” Id. at 551-52, 94 S.E.
at 5. The Supreme Court concluded that the plaintiff could maintain
his cause of action even though the defendant’s defamatory state-
ments did not make direct reference to. him because all eleven jurors
(including the plaintiff) were implicated in the statements. Id. at
552-53, 94 S.E. at 6.

In Carter, eleven of the jurors were accused of misconduct; so all
of them had potential causes of action. In contrast, here the state-
ments concern only one person in a group of nine, 7.e., the statements
referred to “someone.” Plaintiffs have not cited nor have we found
any North Carolina case holding that any one person of a group of
nine may bring a defamation action based on statements made about
a single unidentified member of the group.

Plaintiffs also rely on cases from other states and on the
Restatement (Second) of Torts section 564A (1976). These cases rec-
ognize group defamation claims: (1) where some or most members of
a group are defamed, e.g., Farrell v. Triangle Publications, Inc., 159
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A.2d 734 (Pa. 1960), Neiman-Marcus v. Lait, 13 F.R.D. 311 (S.D.N.Y.
1952); (2) where all members of a group are defamed, e.g., Brady v.
Ottaway Newspapers, Inc., 445 N.Y.5.2d 786 (N.Y. App. Div. 1981),
Montgomery Ward & Co. v. Skinner, 25 So. 2d 572 (Miss. 1946); and
(3) where one of a group of two are defamed, e.g., American
Broadcasting-Paramount Theaters, Inc. v. Simpson, 126 S.E.2d 873
(Ga. Ct. App. 1962) (“Simpson”).

We find none of these cases on point. Since the alleged state-
ments referred only to “someone” in a group of nine, they clearly do
not refer to some, most or all of the group. Plaintiffs’ allegations also
do not involve defamation of one of two as in the Simpson case.

Plaintiffs further rely on Ball v. White, 143 N.W.2d 188 (Mich. Ct.
App. 1966) and Columbia Sussex Corp. Inc. v. Hay, 627 S.W.2d 270
(Ky. Ct. App. 1981). In Ball, “someone” of a group of six workers was
accused in a letter of stealing a watch. Id. at 189. The letter also
stated that “there is no question about the disappearance [of the
watch] occurring through some of your workmen.” Id. In allowing the
claim, the Michigan Court stated that the libel was directed “at one or
more” of the workers. Id. at 190. In addition, since all the workers
were working together at one location when the purported theft
occurred, see id. at 190, they were all implicated by the accusations.
Given these factual distinctions, we find Ball to be most akin to the
“some or most” group defamation cases and inapplicable to the case
at bar. For similar reasons, we also find Columbia Sussex Corp. Inc.
distinguishable.

In a case strikingly like this one, the First Circuit Court of
Appeals held, as a matter of law, that a defamatory statement refer-
ring to one unidentified member of a group of twenty-one police offi-
cers did not give rise to a cause of action in favor of members of the
group. Arcand v. Evening Call Publishing Co., 567 F.2d 1163, 1165
(1st Cir. 1977).

We note that section 564A of the Restatement (Second) of Torts
does not provide persuasive authority for plaintiffs’ position. In
Section 564A, comment C, a hypothetical with facts similar to those
stated in plaintiffs’ claims is cited as an example that warrants dis-
missal. See Restatement (Second) of Torts section 564A, cmt. c.
(1976) (stating that “the assertion that one man out of a group of 25
has stolen an automobile may not sufficiently defame any member of
the group”).
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We find no controlling or persuasive precedent to support plain-
tiffs’ contentions. We conclude that plaintiffs have failed to state
claims for defamation because their allegations, as a matter of law,
fail to allege facts sufficient to show that the alleged defamatory
statements were made “of or concerning” them.

Section 1983 Claims

[2] In their second assignment of error, plaintiffs assert that the trial
court erred by dismissing their Section 1983 due process claims. In
these claims, plaintiffs allege that defendants Byrds’ and Reaves’
defamatory statements, made individually and as agents for the
County, deprived them of constitutionally protected property and
liberty interests in their businesses and reputation without due
process of law.

Statements by public officials that result only in injuries to per-
sonal reputation do not support a Section 1983 claim for violation of
due process. Paul v. Davis, 424 U.S. 693, 712, 47 L. Ed. 2d 405, 420
(1976). In Paul, the U.S. Supreme Court stated that previous case-
law did not establish that “ . . . reputation alone, apart from some
more tangible interests such as employment, is either ‘liberty’ or
‘property’ by itself sufficient to invoke the procedural protection of
the Due Process Clause.” Paul, 424 U.S. at 701, 47 L. Ed. 2d at 414
(emphasis added).

Plaintiffs acknowledge this limitation. However, they assert that
statements, by government officials, that inflict harm to a plaintiff’s
reputation are sufficient to support a Section 1983 due process claim
when the statements result in tangible injury to business goodwill.
Under the facts alleged, we disagree.

We conclude that plaintiffs have not alleged harm to a protected
property or liberty interest. Allegations of damage to business expec-
tations deriving solely from harm to reputation do not suffice. A
plaintiff “must have more than a ‘unilateral expectation’ of a property
interest; he must have a ‘legitimate claim of entitlement to it.’”
Gentile v. Town of Kure Beach, 91 N.C. App. 236, 241, 371 S.E.2d
302, 306 (1988) (quoting Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 577,
33 L. Ed. 2d 548, 561 (1972)).

In a similar Section 1983 due process claim based on defamation,
the D.C. Circuit Court stated:
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. .. that financial harm is caused by government imposed stigma
does not transform an interest in reputation into a liberty inter-
est . ... the Court {in Paul v. Davis] held that defamation alone
is not enough to give rise to a due process right; “other govern-
mental action” is required. Proof of damages caused by a defama-
tion does not meet that requirement. The Court was well aware of
the “frequently drastic effect of the ‘stigma’ which may result

from defamation by the government,” . . .; it was also aware that
actual monetary damages are often proved . . . in defamation
actions . ...

Mosrie v. Barry, 718 F.2d 1151, 1158 (D.C. Cir. 1983) (internal cita-
tions omitted).

This approach has recently been reinforced by the U.S. Supreme
Court in Stegert v. Gilley, 500 U.S. 226, 114 L. Ed. 2d 277 (1991). In
Siegert, the Court held that a former employee of a federal hospital
had failed to state a 1983 due process claim where he alleged that his
reputation and future employment prospects were damaged as a
result of statements made by his former supervisor. Id. at 234, 114
L. Ed. 2d at 288. The Court stated:

The facts alleged by Siegert cannot, in the light of our decision in
Paul v. Davis, be held to state a claim for denial of a constitutional
right. . . . Most defamation plaintiffs attempt to show some sort of
special damage and out-of-pocket loss which flows from the
injury to their reputation. But so long as such damage flows from
injury caused by the defendant to a plaintiff’s reputation, it
may be recoverable under state tort law . . . .

Id.

In accord with Paul and Siegert, we hold that plaintiffs have not
stated Section 1983 claims based on their federal due process rights.
Given our disposition of this issue, we do not address defendants’
assertion that they are entitled to qualified immunity on these claims.

Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress Claims

[3] To state a claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress
(“IIED”), a plaintiff must allege facts showing that the defendant
engaged in “(1) extreme and outrageous conduct, (2) which is
intended to cause and does cause (3) severe emotional distress to
another.” Dickens v. Puryear, 302 N.C. 437, 452, 276 S.E.2d 325, 335
(1981). The second element may also be stated by allegations that the
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defendant acted with “reckless indifference to the likelihood” that his
or her acts “will cause severe emotional distress.” Id.

In their IIED claims, plaintiffs allege that defendants Byrd and
Reaves, individually and as agents for the County, displayed extreme
and outrageous behavior by repeating rumors that someone at the
Colonial House had AIDS and/or was HIV positive and by failing
to investigate the truth and falsity of the alleged rumors prior to
repeating them and that they did so with reckless indifference to the
likelihood of causing plaintiffs severe emotional distress, and that
plaintiffs suffered severe emotional distress, mental anguish, humili-
ation and ridicule as a proximate result of the statements.

The determination of what constitutes extreme and outrageous
conduct is a question of law. Shillington v. K-Mart Corp., 102 N.C.
App. 187, 198, 402 S.E.2d 155, 161 (1991). Here, the statements were
allegedly made by the Director and Assistant Director of the Hoke
County EMS, persons whose statements would be highly credible in
the eyes of the citizens of the area, particularly in matters of public
health. Given this credibility, the likelihood of harm caused by false
assertions by EMS officials that “someone” has the AIDs virus was
extremely high. Given these circumstances, we hold that the state-
ments made by defendants Byrd and Reaves can, as a matter of law,
constitute extreme and outrageous conduct.

On review of plaintiffs’ allegations, we conclude that the com-
plaints do not reveal an insurmountable bar to recovery. Although
their allegations regarding severe emotional distress are somewhat
conclusory, our courts have not required detailed fact pleading on
this element. E.g., Dixon v. Stewart, 85 N.C. App. 338, 340-41, 354
S.E.2d 757, 758-59 (1987). The trial court erred by dismissing this
claim.

Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress Claims

[4] In Johnson v. Ruark Obstetrics, 327 N.C. 283, 395 S.E.2d 85
(1990), we stated that a plaintiff, in order to state a claim for negligent
infliction of emotional distress (“NIED”), must allege that: “(1) the
defendant negligently engaged in conduct, (2) it was reasonably fore-
seeable that such conduct would cause the plaintiff severe emotional
distress (often referred to as “mental anguish”), and (3) the conduct
did in fact cause the plaintiff severe emotional distress.” Id. at 304,
395 S.E.2d at 97.



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 21

CHAPMAN v. BYRD
[124 N.C. App. 13 (1996)]

Citing Gardner v. Gardner, 334 N.C. 662, 665, 435 S.E.2d 324, 327
(1993), defendants assert that plaintiffs’ claims for NIED were prop-
erly dismissed because plaintiffs allege harm to themselves and that
this cause of action only lies for emotional distress that arises from a
plaintiff’s concern for others, not for his own welfare. In Gardner, our
Supreme Court stated the following:

In Johnson v. Ruark Obstetrics, 327 N.C. 283, 395 S.E.2d 85, we
concluded that an action for negligent infliction of emotional dis-
tress had its roots in one hundred years of North Carolina
Jjurisprudence, beginning with Young v. Telegraph Co., 107 N.C.
370, 11 S.E. 1044 (1890). We noted that Young and, subsequently,
Bailey v. Long, 172 N.C. 661, 90 S.E. 809 (1916), permitted a
cause of action for emotional distress arising not from a plain-
tiff’s concern for his own welfare, but from his concern for that
of another.

Id. at 665, 435 S.E.2d at 327. Defendants cite the above italicized lan-
guage in Gardner as the sole authority for their position.

We disagree with defendants’ reading of Gardner. After reviewing
Gardner and the cases cited in the portion of the opinion quoted
above, we conclude that the Court in Gardner did not, by this lan-
guage, preclude a plaintiff from bringing a NIED claim when the emo-
tional distress arises from concern for his or her own welfare. Rather,
we read Gardner as simply clarifying that concern for one’s own wel-
fare is not essential to a claim for NIED when the emotional distress
arises from concern for the welfare of another.

Defendants also contend that plaintiffs have failed to allege facts
showing that it was reasonably foreseeable that their conduct would
cause plaintiffs severe emotional distress. They further assert that
this issue should be resolved by reference to the factors set forth in
Gardner. See Gardner, 334 N.C. at 666, 435 S.E.2d at 327. We disagree
with both of these assertions.

The factors set out in Gardner logically apply only when a
plaintiff brings a negligent infliction of emotional distress claim
based on concern for the welfare of another. In addition, the Court
stated in Gardner that these factors were “neither requisites nor
exclusive determinants in an assessment of foreseeability” and
stressed that “‘[qluestions of foreseeability and proximate cause
must be determined under all the facts presented’ in each case.” Id.
(quoting Johnson, 327 N.C. at 305, 395 S.E.2d at 98). Here, we con-
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clude that a jury could legitimately find it reasonably foreseeable that
plaintiffs would suffer severe emotional distress as a result of pub-
lic statements by defendants, given their positions as public health
officials, that “someone” at the Colonial House has AIDs or is HIV
positive.

In their NIED claims, plaintiffs allege that defendants Byrd and
Reaves, individually and as agents of the County, negligently
breached a duty to take reasonable steps to ascertain the truth of the
statements made, that injury to plaintiffs was foreseeable, and that
plaintiffs suffered severe emotional distress, mental anguish, and
ridicule as a proximate result of the statements. We hold that these
allegations are sufficient to satisfy the pleading requirements set
forth in Johnson and that the trial court therefore erred by dismissing
plaintiffs’ NIED claims.

We affirm the trial court’s dismissal of plaintiffs’ defamation and
Section 1983 claims and reverse its dismissal of their [IED and NIED
claims.

Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded.

Judges EAGLES and McGEE concur.

THE NORTH CAROLINA STATE BAR, PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE V. ROBERT MAGGIOLO,
ATTORNEY, DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

No. COA95-1232
(Filed 1 October 1996)

1. Attorneys at Law § 78 (NCI4th)— disbarment—conflict of
interest—evidence sufficient

The findings and conclusions made by the Disciplinary
Hearing Commission of the North Carolina State Bar in disbarring
appellant were supported by substantial evidence where the
interests of a real estate buyer, Oak Hollow Development
Corporation, in which appellant was a shareholder, conflicted
with those of a seller, the Laws; appellant failed to advise the
Laws to seek the advice of independent counsel; appellant stipu-
lated that an attorney-client relationship existed between himself
and the Laws at least to the extent of preparing the deed; appel-
lant failed to advise the Laws regarding the consequences of
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accepting an unsecured note; appellant answered the Laws’ ques-
tions and therefore advised them concerning the sales agreement;
and the DHC found that the interest of appellant’s client, the
buyer, conflicted with the interests of the seller.

Am Jur 2d, Attorneys at Law §§ 48-50.

What constitutes representation of conflicting inter-
ests subjecting attorney to disciplinary action. 17 ALR3d
835.

Disciplinary proceeding based upon attorney’s direct or
indirect purchase of client’s property. 35 ALR3d 674.

. Attorneys at Law § 78 (NCI4th)— disbarment—conflict of
interest—evidence sufficient

The Disciplinary Hearing Commission of the North Carolina
State Bar did not err in finding that appellant had knowledge that
promissory notes prepared by a realtor would be used to perpe-
trate a fraud or deceit on the Real Estate Commission where the
parties stipulated that appellant advised a realtor, Darst, to pre-
pare notes for a purchaser to sign to indicate that earnest money
had been paid by promissory notes; the parties stipulated that
the realtor gave copies of the backdated promissory notes to
an investigator with the intent to deceive the Real Estate
Commission; and testimony from the realtor supports the finding
that copies were given to the investigator with knowledge and
advice from appellant, although appellant presented contrary
testimony.

Am Jur 2d, Attorneys at Law § 43.

What constitutes representation of conflicting inter-
ests subjecting attorney to disciplinary action. 17 ALR3d
835.

Conduct in connection with malpractice claim as merit-
ing disciplinary action. 14 ALR4th 209.

. Attorneys at Law § 78 (NCI4th)— disbarment—conflict of
interest—evidence sufficient

There was sufficient evidence to support findings by the
Disciplinary Hearing Commission of the North Carolina State Bar
that appellant did not disclose to a bank the existence of a sales
agreement and notes prior to the bank advancing funds to a
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development company in which appellant was a shareholder and
that the misrepresentation was of a material fact which was nec-
essary for the bank’s consideration in determining whether to
advance funds. The record indicates that appellant was under a
duty to update the information he provided to the bank and, addi-
tionally, appellant stipulated that although he represented to the
bank that the loan would be used to purchase and develop the
Laws Farm property, none of the amount advanced was paid as
the purchase price. Appellant’'s contention that the bank was not
harmed by his statements and that DHC erred in finding that the
misrepresentations were material is directly contradicted by the
testimony of a loan officer for the bank.

Am Jur 2d, Attorneys at Law §§ 31, 48.

False statement as to existing encumbrance on chattel
in obtaining loan or credit as criminal false pretense. 53
ALR2d 1215.

Appeal by defendant from order of the Disciplinary Hearing
Commission entered 15 June 1995. Heard in the Court of Appeals 27
August 1996.

A. Root Edmonson, Deputy Counsel for the North Carolina State
Bar, plaintiff-appellee.

Browne, Flebotte, Wilson and Horn, PL.L.C., by Daniel R.
Flebotte, for defendant-appellant.

WALKER, Judge.

On 24 February 1994, the North Carolina State Bar filed a com-
plaint against defendant, Robert Maggiolo, alleging that Maggiolo had
violated the North Carolina Code of Professional Responsibility. The
allegations stem from Maggiolo’s involvement in a series of real prop-
erty transactions as a fifty percent (560%) shareholder and Vice
President of Oak Hollow Development Corporation, a real estate
development company. The other shareholder was Glenn A. Darst,
President of Oak Hollow Development Corporation.

Evidence presented by stipulation of the parties tended to show
the following: On 11 August 1989, Oak Hollow entered into a sales
agreement with Thomas F. Laws to purchase approximately 70 acres
of real estate owned by the Laws. The purchase price for the Laws
Farm was $199,810.00. The sales agreement required $2,500.00 of the
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purchase price to be paid at the signing of the agreement and the
remaining amount to be paid pursuant to an unsecured promissory
note.

An attorney-client relationship existed between Maggiolo and the
Laws at least to the extent of preparing the deed for the Laws to
sign. However, at the closing, Maggiolo did not advise the Laws
regarding the consequences of failing to have their promissory note
secured. In addition, Maggiolo failed to advise the Laws to consult
with an independent attorney for advice concerning the terms of the
sales agreement.

In September 1989, Maggiolo applied for a loan at The Village
Bank in Chapel Hill, North Carolina. Maggiolo represented to the
bank that the loan was going to be used to purchase the Laws Farm
property and prepare the property for development. The loan amount
was a maximum of $175,000.00 of which $132,500.00 was represented
to be the purchase price of the property.

As a guarantor of the loan, Maggiolo presented a financial state-
ment to the bank which did not disclose the unsecured promissory
note to the Laws in the schedule relating to the assets and liabilities
of Oak Hollow. On 20 September 1989, Maggiolo signed a promissory
note to the bank and executed a deed of trust for the $175,000.00 loan.
None of the $132,500.00 advanced by the bank was paid to the Laws
as part of the purchase price.

Prior to the purchase of the Laws Farm property, Oak Hollow
owned property known as Rougemont Retreat in Durham County. On
12 December 1988, Rick Ladd signed an Offer to Purchase property
from Oak Hollow located at 3510 Moriah Road and 3617 Red
Mountain Road in Rougemont Retreat subdivision. Each Offer to
Purchase indicated that Ladd paid $1,000.00 as an earnest money
deposit, although no earnest money deposit was required. Maggiolo
prepared closing statements indicating that Ladd paid $1,000.00 in
earnest money for each of the lots and mailed copies of the state-
ments to Ladd’s lender, Financial First Federal.

On 12 January 1989, Ladd signed another Offer to Purchase prop-
erty from Oak Hollow located at 3623 Red Mountain Road. The con-
tract indicated that Ladd paid $2,500.00 as an earnest money deposit
when in fact no deposit was received. On 17 March 1989, Maggiolo
prepared the closing statement for the property and listed $2,500.00
as having been paid in earnest money.
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Between March 1991 and June 1991, the North Carolina Real
Estate Commission questioned Darst about the handling of the Ladd
earnest money deposits. Darst sought advice from Maggiolo who
advised him to prepare notes for Ladd to sign indicating that the
earnest money in each of the transactions had been paid by promis-
sory notes. Darst had his secretary prepare three promissory notes
for Ladd’s signature which were back dated to the dates that the Offer
to Purchase contracts were signed. In order to obtain Ladd’s signa-
ture, Darst agreed to mark Ladd’s copies “satisfied in full.” However,
the copies which Darst turned over to the Real Estate Commission
were not marked satisfied.

The Disciplinary Hearing Commission (DHC) made findings of
fact and concluded that:

(a) By reading the Sales Agreement to the Laws and answering
their questions about the document, and by advising the Laws to
sign the Sales Agreement, the promissory note, and the deed he
had prepared for them to sign at the August 11, 1989 closing with-
out advising the Laws to seek independent counsel, Maggiolo
gave advice to a person who was not represented by counsel,
other than the advice to seek counsel, when the interest of that
person were [sic] in conflict with the interest of Maggiolo’s client,
Oak Hollow, in violation of Rule 7.4(B).

(b) By advising the bank’s representatives that $132,500.00 of the
loan proceeds were to be used to purchase the Laws Farm prop-
erty when it was not, by failing to advise the bank’s representa-
tives about the transaction that Oak Hollow had already entered
into with the Laws for the purchase of the Laws Farm property,
and by failing to advise the bank’s representatives about the
promissory note that had been entered into with the Laws prior
to the bank advancing the $132,500.00 on the loan, Maggiolo
engaged in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, and mis-
representation in violation of Rule 1.2 (C); and knowingly made a
false statement of fact in violation of Rule 7.2(A)(4).

(¢) By advising Darst to create back-dated promissory notes to
give the commission’s investigator with the intent to deceive the
investigator, Maggiolo counseled or assisted a client in conduct
he knew was fraudulent in violation of Rule 7.1(A)(4) and
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7.2(A)(8) and participated in the creation of evidence when he
knew the evidence was false in violation of Rule 7.2(A)(6).

Upon concluding that Maggiolo violated certain provisions of the
Rules of Professional Conduct, the DHC entered an order of disci-
pline disbarring Maggiolo from the practice of law.

[1] On appeal, Maggiolo does not assign error to any of DHC’s con-
clusions and as such our inquiry will be limited to whether the find-
ings are supported by substantial evidence. By way of his first assign-
ment of error, Maggiolo argues that Finding of Fact No. 7 is not
supported by adequate evidence. DHC found as follows:

7. At the closing, the interests of Maggiolo’s client, Oak Hollow,
conflicted with the interests of the Laws. Maggiolo read the Sales
Agreement to the Laws and answered their questions about it.
Maggiolo did not advise the Laws to consult with an independent
attorney for advice concerning the terms of the Sales Agreement.
The Laws expected the documents prepared by Maggiolo to pro-
tect their interests.

Review of disciplinary hearing decisions of the Commission is
governed by the “whole record” test. N.C. State Bar v. DuMont, 304
N.C. 627, 642, 286 S.E.2d 89, 98 (1982).

In applying the whole record test to the facts disclosed by the
record, a reviewing court must consider the evidence which in
and of itself justifies or supports the administrative findings and
must also take into account the contradictory evidence or evi-
dence from which conflicting inferences can be drawn. . . . Under
the whole record test there must be substantial evidence to sup-
port the findings, conclusions and result. G.S. § 150A-51 (5). The
evidence is substantial if, when considered as a whole, it is such
that a reasonable person might accept as adequate to support a
conclusion.

Id. at 643, 286 S.E.2d at 98-99. The whole record test does not permit
a reviewing court to replace the DHC’s judgment as between two rea-
sonably conflicting views, even though the Court may have justifiably
reached a different decision. North Carolina State Bar v. Nelson, 107
N.C. App. 543, 550, 421 S.E.2d 163, 166 (1992), affirmed, 333 N.C. 786,
429 S.E.2d 716 (1993).
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Here, it is apparent that the interests of the buyer, Oak Hollow,
and the seller, the Laws, were conflicting. Yet, it is undisputed that
Maggiolo failed to advise the Laws to seek the advice of independent
counsel. The record shows that Maggiolo stipulated to this fact prior
to the disciplinary hearing and that he is bound by this stipulation on
appeal. Moore v. Richard West Farms, Inc., 113 N.C. App. 137, 141,
437 S.E.2d 529, 531 (1993) (holding that once a stipulation is made a
party is bound by it). Maggiolo also stipulated that an attorney-client
relationship existed between him and the Laws, at least to the extent
of preparing the deed. However, Maggiolo failed to advise Mr. Laws
regarding the consequences of accepting an unsecured note.

In addition, the record supports the DHC’s finding that Maggiolo
answered the Laws questions and therefore advised them concerning
the sales agreement. Mr. Darst, who was present at the closing, testi-
fied in part as follows:

MRr. SmiTH: Now, who read to the Laws, this sales agreement
that’s Plaintiff's Exhibit Number 1?

THE WITNESS: Bob [Maggiolo].

MR. SMITH: As he read the document, would he read it paragraph
by paragraph and look up to see whether or not they understood
what he was reading?

THE WITNESS: Yes. And he had asked them if they had any
questions.

Mr. SmiTH: During that process, would the Laws occasionally ask
questions?

THE WITNESS: Right.
MR. SmiTH: And would Mr. Maggiolo answer those questions?

Tue WITNESs: Right. And they would say—well, like I said, this
means that we won't have to pay any more taxes on it, like that
was one of the things. But if they had any questions, then Bob
would respond.

Mr. Laws testified that Maggiolo explained to them “what it [the
sales agreement} was about. . . .” Mr. Laws expected Maggiolo to pre-
pare documents that would protect his interests and “thought every-
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thing would be done as it should be.” In sum, we find substantial evi-
dence to support DHC’s Finding of Fact No. 7.

[2] Maggiolo combines Assignments of Error Nos. 7, 8 and 9 with his
next argument that DHC erred in finding that the appellant had
knowledge in fact that the promissory notes prepared by Darst would
be used to perpetrate a fraud or deceit on the Real Estate
Commission. Specifically, Maggiolo contends that DHC erred by mak-
ing the following findings:

22. After being advised by Darst that Darst needed something to
get the commission “off his back,” Maggiolo assisted Darst in
preparing notes for Ladd to sign to indicate that the earnest
money in each of the transactions described above had been paid
by promissory notes.

23. On or about July 10, 1991, upon Maggiolo’s advice, Darst had
his secretary prepare three promissory notes for Ladd’s signature
which were back dated to the dates that the Offer to Purchase
contracts had been entered into.

25. On or about July 12, 1991, Darst gave copies of the back-
dated promissory notes to an investigator for the commission.
Copies of the notes were given to the investigator for the com-
mission by Darst with the intent to deceive the commission. The
copies were given to the investigator with the knowledge and
advice of Maggiolo.

Again, DHC’s findings were supported by the parties’ stipula-
tions and by the testimony of Mr. Darst. The parties stipulated
that “Maggiolo advised Darst to prepare notes for Ladd to sign to indi-
cate that the earnest money in each of the transactions described
above had been paid by promissory notes.” Furthermore, it was stip-
ulated that “Darst gave copies of the back-dated promissory notes to
an investigator . . . with the intent to deceive the [Real Estate]
[Clommission.”

Testimony from Mr. Darst supports DHC’s finding that copies
were given to the investigator with knowledge and advice from
Maggiolo. Darst testified te the following:

Q. Well, prior to making the new notes, did you discuss that with
Mr. Maggiolo?
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A. Well, we knew that the notes were not available. So I asked
Bob how to make new notes.

Q. Did you tell him what it was for?
A. Yes.

Q. And did you tell him that the Real Estate Commission was ask-
ing you about the Rick Ladd situation?

A. Yes, sir.
Q. And what did he tell you as a result of your inquiry to him?
A. Well, we made the new notes. . ..

Q. And the purpose of doing these notes was to give them to the
Real Estate Commission?

A. Correct.

Q. To show them that you hadn’t received money that should
have been in a trust account?

A. Correct.

While Maggiolo presented contrary testimony, Darst’s testimony
is sufficient for a reasonable person to conclude that the notes were
given to the Real Estate Commission with knowledge and advice of
Maggiolo. It would have served Darst no purpose to present the
Commission with notes dated July 1991 in response to its inquiry
regarding whether Darst had received earnest money from Ladd some
two years earlier. Accordingly, we find sufficient evidence to support
the DHC’s Findings of Fact Nos. 22, 23 and 25.

[3] By way of his last argument, Maggiolo contends that there was
insufficient evidence to support DHC’s Findings of Fact Nos. 12 and
13. Paragraphs 12 and 13 of the DHC’s Findings of Fact are as follows:

12. Maggiolo’s failure to disclose to the bank the existence of the
Sales Agreement between Oak Hollow and the Laws and his fail-
ure to disclose Oak Hollow’s note to the Laws prior to the bank
advancing $132,500.00 for the purchase of the Laws Farm prop-
erty was a misrepresentation of material fact necessary for the
bank’s consideration in determining whether to advance those
funds.

13. Maggiolo’s representation to the bank that the $132,500.00
advance would be used to purchase the Laws Farm property,
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when it was not so used, was a misrepresentation of material fact
necessary for the bank’s consideration in determining whether to
advance those funds.

Maggiolo concedes in his brief that he did not disclose Oak
Hollow’s obligation to the Laws when he submitted a financial state-
ment to Village Bank. Defendant contends Oak Hollow had not
incurred the obligation to the Laws at the time he submitted the finan-
cial statement.

The record demonstrates, however, that Maggiolo was under a
duty to update the information he provided to the bank. Just above
the signature line, the financial statement form provides:

Each undersigned understands that you are relying on the infor-
mation provided herein (including the designation made as to
ownership of property) in deciding to grant or continue credit.
Each undersigned represents and warrants that the information
provided is true and complete and that you may consider this
statement as continuing to be true and correct until a written
notice of a change is given to you by the undersigned. . . .

In addition, Maggiolo stipulated that although he represented to
Village Bank that the loan would be used to purchase and develop the
Laws Farm property, none of the $132,500.00 advanced by the bank
was paid to the Laws as part of the purchase price. Based on the
record, there is sufficient evidence for a reasonable person to con-
clude that Maggiolo made such misrepresentations.

Maggiolo, however, contends that the bank was not harmed by his
statements and as such DHC erred in finding that the misrepresenta-
tions were material. Maggiolo’s argument is directly contradicted by
the testimony of Glenn Wheless, a loan officer for Village Bank.
Wheless testified:

Q. Was it your understanding that the $132,500 advanced by the
bank on September the 20th was going to be for acquisition?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Would it have made any difference to The Village Bank in
deciding whether to make this work-out loan had you known that
he also had obligated himself to pay Mr. Laws—Mr. and Mrs. Laws
197,000—plus dollars?
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A. Yes, sir. I don’t even think Mr. Roupas would have made the
loan under those conditions with that type of debt on the prop-
erty. And considering Mr. Maggiolo’s nonpayment history with us
within the last year or so, I think that would have been even more
of a foolish choice to do. And we would not have—I would not
have done it, as senior loan officer. Mr. Roupas could override
me. I can’t speak for him.

But normal banking practices, we have to answer to the reg-
ulators and to the board of directors. And I could not recommend
that type loan to be made.

Wheless’ testimony is sufficient for a reasonable person to conclude
that Maggiolo’s misrepresentations were material.

In sum, after careful review of the whole record, we hold that the
findings and conclusions made by DHC are fully supported by sub-
stantial evidence. Accordingly, the trial court’s order is

Affirmed.

Judges EAGLES and McGEE concur.

RALPH DAVID BANKS, JR. aNp CATHERINE BANKS, PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS V. DEBRA
ANN McGEE, DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

No. COA95-1274
(Filed 1 October 1996)

Automobiles and Other Vehicles § 766 (NCI4th)— sudden
emergency—defendant not entitled to instruction

Defendant was not entitled to a sudden emergency instruc-
tion where the evidence showed that she lost control of her auto-
mobile on a rainy day after striking a puddle of water on the road
and that she was aware that water tended to puddle on that road.

Am Jur 2d, Automobiles and Highway Traffic §§ 421,
1117; Negligence § 1214,

Instructions on sudden emergency in motor vehicle
cases. 80 ALR2d 5.
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Sudden emergency as exception to rule requiring
motorist to maintain ability to stop within assured clear
distance ahead. 75 ALR3d 327.

Appeal by plaintiffs from judgment entered 15 August 1996 in
Surry County Superior Court by Judge Judson D. DeRamus, Jr. Heard
in the Court of Appeals 27 August 1996.

Lewis & Daggett, PA., by Michael J. Lewis and David D.
Daggett, for plaintiff-appellants.

Canady, Thornton, Brown & Laws, by Robert B. Laws, for
defendant-appellee.

GREENE, Judge.

Ralph David Banks, Jr. (David), and Catherine Banks (Catherine)
(collectively plaintiffs) appeal from a jury verdict in favor of Debra
Ann McGee (defendant).

The plaintiffs seek damages for injuries sustained by David in an
automobile collision which occurred on 28 May 1992 when an auto-
mobile driven by the defendant collided with the automobile driven
by David. Catherine claims a loss of consortium.

The evidence presented to the jury further reveals that it was
raining at the time of the collision and that defendant lost control of
her automobile after hitting a “puddle of water” on the road. After
hitting the water the defendant’s automobile “started hydroplaning,
[and] crossed into [the] other lane” and struck David’s automo-
bile. The defendant testified that she was aware that “it was rainy”
on the day of the collision, that the “roads were slick,” and that
“water tended to puddle” at different places on the road she was
traveling.

At the close of all the evidence, the defendant requested that the
Jjury be instructed to evaluate the defendant’s conduct in light of the
sudden emergency doctrine. The trial court agreed and instructed the
jury that “a person’s conduct which might otherwise be negligent in
and of itself would not be negligent if it results from a sudden emer-
gency that is not of that person’s own making.” The jury answered the
first issue in favor of the defendant in determining that she was not
negligent.

The issue is whether the defendant is entitled to a sudden emer-
gency instruction when she loses control of her automobile on a rainy
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day after striking a puddle of water on a road when she is aware that
water tends to puddle on that road.

“The doctrine of sudden emergency applies when one is con-
fronted with an emergency situation which compels him or her to act
instantly to avoid a collision or injury.” Colvin v. Badgett, 120 N.C.
App. 810, 812, 463 S.E.2d 778, 780 (1995), aff'd, 343 N.C. 300, 469
S.E.2d 553 (1996). The sudden emergency doctrine is not available to
a defendant if the defendant’s own negligence or wrongful act caused
the emergency in whole or in material part. Bryant v. Winkler, 16
N.C. App. 612, 613, 192 S.E.2d 686, 687 (1972). There are two essential
elements that must be found to warrant the submitting of a sudden
emergency instruction: first, the alleged emergency situation must be
unanticipated, and second, the defendant’s own negligence arising
from an independent source other than the emergency in question
must not be a substantial factor in causing the accident. Keiik v.
Polier, 109 N.C. App. 94, 98-99, 425 S.E.2d 723, 726-27 (1993). If there
is substantial evidence of these two elements, a sudden emergency
instruction is proper. See State v. Roten, 115 N.C. App. 118, 122, 443
S.E.2d 794, 797 (1994). “Substantial evidence is such relevant evi-
dence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a
conclusion.” State v. Smith, 300 N.C. 71, 78, 265 S.E.2d 164, 169
(1980).

In this case, all the evidence shows that it had been raining on the
day of the collision, the defendant was aware that the roads were
slick and that water had a tendency to puddle on the road she was
traveling. Her automobile did hit a puddle of water causing her to skid
into the path of David's automobile. This evidence simply cannot
support a conclusion that the defendant’s contact with the puddle of
water was an unanticipated event. Thus there is no substantial evi-
dence to support submitting the sudden emergency instruction to the
jury. In so holding, we reject the argument of the defendant that
because she did not see the puddle she was confronted with an unan-
ticipated situation. The question is not what she saw but instead what
a reasonable person in her situation should have seen. See Yokely v.
Kearns, 223 N.C. 196, 198-99, 25 S.E.2d 602, 603-04 (1943); see also
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 283 (1964).

New trial.

Judges JOHN and MARTIN, Mark D., concur.
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FRANKLIN ALLEN MOORE, PLAINTIFF v. T. H. EVANS, INDIVIDUALLY AND IN HIS OFFICIAL
CAPACITY AS POLICE OFFICER IN THE AYDEN, NORTH CAROLINA POLICE DEPARTMENT, AND
ROGER PAUL, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS CHIEF OF POLICE OF THE AYDEN, NORTH
CAROLINA POLICE DEPARTMENT AND CITY OF AYDEN, NoORTH CAROLINA, ET AL.,
DEFENDANTS

No. COA95-862
(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Appeal and Error § 118 (NCI4th)— denial of partial sum-
mary judgment—appealable—immunity claim

The denial of a partial summary judgment for defendants
Evans and Paul in an action arising from an alleged false impris-
onment by officers was appealable where defendants had raised
immunity. When the moving party claims sovereign, absolute or
qualified immunity, the denial of a motion for summary judgment
is immediately appealable.

Am Jur 2d, Appellate Review § 170.

2. Municipal Corporations § 446 (NCI4th); Sheriffs, Police,
and Other Law Enforcement Officers § 13 (NCI4th)— false
arrest and malicious prosecution—officer and chief—offi-
cial immunity not available—liability insurance

Officer Evans and Chief Paul were not entitled to govern-
mental and/or official immunity on claims of false imprisonment
and malicious prosecution arising from an arrest. Police officers
share in the immunity of their governing municipalities and are
not entitled to the defense of governmental immunity to the
extent that the municipality waived sovereign immunity by pur-
chasing liability insurance. The city here had purchased liability
insurance and the trial court properly denied summary judgment
on state claims against defendants in their official capacities.

Am Jur 2d, Municipal, County, School, and Tort
Liability §§ 43, 45.

3. Arrest and Bail § 136 (NCI4th); Malicious Prosecution § 19
(NCI4th)— probable cause—issue of fact—summary judg-
ment denied

The trial court properly denied defendant Evans’ motion for
partial summary judgment in his individual capacity with respect
to claims of false imprisonment and malicious prosecution aris-
ing from an arrest. A common element of each of these claims is
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the absence of probable cause and there was a genuine issue of
material fact as to whether Officer Evans had probable cause to
arrest plaintiff.

Am Jur 2d, Arrest § 144; Summary Judgment § 27.

4. Sheriffs, Police, and Other Law Enforcement Officers § 23
(NCI4th)— false arrest—civil rights claim—summary judg-
ment for police chief in official capacity

Summary judgment should have been granted for defend-
ant Paul in his official capacity as Chief of Police on a 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 claim arising from an arrest where the only allegations
against defendant Paul relate to his official duties as the Chief of
Police and plaintiff made no allegations that defendant Paul was
present or participated in any manner in his arrest or post-arrest
detention, or that defendant Paul acted corruptly, maliciously, or
outside the scope of his employment. As plaintiff seeks monetary
damages for alleged violations of his constitutional rights, he can-
not recover against defendant Paul in his official capacity.

Am Jur 2d, Sheriffs, Police, and Constables § 90;
Summary Judgment § 26.

5. Sheriffs, Police, and Other Law Enforcement Officers § 23
(NCI4th)— false arrest—civil rights claim against officer—
summary judgment proper in official capacity, not in indi-
vidual capacity

In an action arising from plaintiff’s arrest by defendant Evans,
summary judgment should have been granted for defendant
Evans in his official capacity on plaintiff’s action under 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 because plaintiff sought monetary damages for alleged vio-
lations of his constitutional rights, but was properly denied in
Evans’ individual capacity because there was a genuine issue of
fact as to whether the facts as presented were such as to lead a
discreet and prudent person to believe that a criminal offense had
been committed by plaintiff.

Am Jur 2d, Sheriffs, Police, and Constables § 90;
Summary Judgment § 27.

Judge WALKER concurring in part and dissenting in part.
Appeal by defendants T. H. Evans and Roger Paul from order

entered 7 June 1995 by Judge David Q. LaBarre in Pitt County
Superior Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 18 April 1996.
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Steven M. Fisher and Mark A. Ward for plaintiff-appellee.

Ward and Smith, PA., by Kenneth R. Wooten and Cheryl A.
Marteney, for defendants-appellants T. H. Evans and Roger
Paul.

JOHNSON, Judge.

On 15 May 1993, Officers K. S. Stewart and T. H. Evans (defend-
ant Evans) of the Ayden Police Department responded to a call
regarding a possible breaking and entering at 205 Edge Road in
Ayden, North Carolina. Upon arriving at the Edge Road address,
Officer Stewart searched the surrounding area and discovered stereo
speakers and other household items in the backyard of the residence,
behind a fence. At the same time, Officer Evans spoke with Mable
Sumpter, the neighbor who had called the Ayden Police Department
after hearing noises coming from the 205 Edge Road residence and
seeing someone in the backyard. As Mrs. Sumpter knew that her
neighbors were out of town, she called the police department.

When Officer Evans questioned Mrs. Sumpter about her call to
the police department, she explained that she had seen a black male,
“wearing white clothing,” in her neighbors’ backyard. Mrs. Sumpter
noted that she had not seen the suspect’s face, and told Officer Evans
that she could not identify the person. Officer Evans subsequently left
Mrs. Sumpter’s home, only to return moments later with plaintiff
Franklin Allen Moore in the backseat of a patrol car. Officer Evans
had Mr. Moore get out of the vehicle and stand approximately thirty
(30) to forty (40) yards from Mrs. Sumpter, in front of the neighboring
residence. A row of hedges separated Mrs. Sumpter and Mr. Moore.
Mrs. Sumpter nodded her head at Officer Evans to indicate that the
person was similarly attired to the person she had seen in her neigh-
bors’ backyard earlier.

Thereafter, Officer Evans put Mr. Moore into his patrol car and
questioned him about his activities on the evening in question.
Although Mr. Moore insisted upon his innocence, Officer Evans
encouraged him to confess. Mr. Moore notes that at one point, the
officer threatened to hold him in the car all night until he confessed;
however, Mr. Moore would not confess. Subsequently, Officer Evans
took Mr. Moore to the Ayden Police Department, where Officer Evans
and another officer interrogated him. Although the officers insisted
that things would go lighter for him if he would confess, Mr. Moore
maintained his innocence. In fact, he told the officers that one of their
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fellow officers had seen him at a nightclub at the time that the offi-
cers were insisting that he broke into the Edge Road residence.

After interrogating Mr. Moore, Officer Evans took him to a mag-
istrate, and requested that the magistrate “[pJut him under a high
bond, I do not want him to get out.” In response, the magistrate issued
a warrant, charging Mr. Moore with felonious breaking and entering,
and felonious larceny, and placing Mr. Moore under a $20,000.00
secured bond. Notably, the recommended minimum bond pursuant to
the Pretrial Release Policies in the Three-A Judicial District for these
charges is $7,500.00. Further, no inquiry was made into Mr. Moore’s
prior criminal record, nor his risk of flight, his finances, family ties,
character, length of residence in the community, etc.—factors set
forth in North Carolina General Statutes section 15A-534(b) and (c),
which may justify such an excessive bond.

Since Mr. Moore could not post bail, he remained in jail. Although
Officer Evans’ testimony indicates otherwise, once Mr. Moore was
arrested, the Ayden Police Department made a determination that
no further investigation was necessary in the 15 May 1993 breaking
and entering at 205 Edge Road.

On 20 May 1993, four days after Mr. Moore’s arrest, an informant
told Officer Evans that John Eric Ellis had committed the 15 May
crime for which Mr. Moore had been arrested. Thereafter, on 21 May
1993, Ellis confessed to this crime, and indicated to Officer Evans
that he had been wearing white shorts and a white shirt on the
evening of 15 May 1993. Consequently, Officer Evans arrested Ellis for
the 15 May break-in, and although he had a previous criminal record,
Ellis was only placed under a $7,500.00 unsecured bond. However,
Mr. Moore was not released from jail.

Mr. Moore’s probable cause hearing was set for 8 June 1993—
some twenty-three (23) days after his arrest and eighteen (18) days
after Ellis’ confession to the crime for which Mr. Moore had been
charged. Officer Evans was not present for the hearing, and there-
fore, the trial judge continued Mr. Moore’s case until 22 June 1993.
Mr. Moore’s attorney requested a bond reduction for his client at the
8 June hearing, and the judge continued this request until 9 June 1993,
so that the assistant district attorney conld contact Officer Evans and
discuss the logistics of the case. Upon calling Officer Evans, the pros-
ecutor was told that another person had been arrested, and that the
case against Mr. Moore should be dismissed. The charges against Mr.
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Moore were consequently dismissed and he was released on 8 June
1993.

On 16 May 1994, Mr. Moore filed this action in Pitt County
Superior Court against defendants T. H. Evans, individually and in his
official capacity as a police officer with the City of Ayden Police
Department, Roger Paul, in his official capacity as Chief of Police of
the City of Ayden Police Department, and the City of Ayden, alleging
false imprisonment, malicious prosecution and deprivation of his
civil rights under the Fourth, Fifth, Eighth and Fourteenth
Amendments to the United States Constitution in violation of 42
U.S.C. § 1983. Defendants answered, denying the material allegations
of the complaint and raising the defenses of qualified and official
immunity. Thereafter, defendants Evans and Paul moved for partial
summary judgment, contending that they were entitled to such relief
on the grounds of qualified and official immunity. By order entered 7
June 1995, Judge David Q. LaBarre denied the motion. Defendants
Evans and Paul appeal.

[1] At the outset, we must note that an order which does not com-
pletely dispose of a case is interlocutory and generally not appeal-
able. Liggett Group v. Sunas, 113 N.C. App. 19, 23, 437 S.E.2d 674, 677
(1993). The purpose of this rule prohibiting interlocutory appeals is to
“ ‘prevent fragmentary, premature and unnecessary appeals by per-
mitting the trial court to bring the case to final judgment before it is
presented to the appellate courts.”” Jeffreys v. Raleigh Oaks Joint
Venture, 115 N.C. App. 377, 379, 444 S.E.2d 252, 253 (1994). “The
denial of a motion for summary judgment is not a final judgment and
is generally not immediately appealable, even if the trial court has
attempted to certify it for appeal under Rule 54(b) of the North
Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.” Henderson v. LeBauer, 101 N.C.
App. 255, 264, 399 S.E.2d 142, 147 (citing Lamb v. Wedgewood South
Corp., 308 N.C. 419, 302 S.E.2d 868 (1983)), disc. review denied, 328
N.C. 731, 404 S.E.2d 868 (1991).

However, when the moving party claims sovereign, absolute or
qualified immunity, the denial of a motion for summary judgment is
immediately appealable. See, e.g., Davis v. Town of Southern Pines,
116 N.C. App. 663, 449 S.E.2d 240 (1994), disc. review denied, 339
N.C. 737, 4564 S.E.2d 648 (1995); Herndon v. Barrett, 101 N.C. App.
636, 400 S.E.2d 767 (1991); Corum v. University of North Carolina,
97 N.C. App. 527, 389 S.E.2d 596, aff’d in part and rev'd in part on
other grounds, 330 N.C. 761, 413 S.E.2d 276, cert. denied, 506 U.S.
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985, 121 L. Ed. 2d 431 (1992). In fact, the United States Supreme Court
has previously held that a claim of qualified immunity to the extent
that it is based on legal questions of whether a violation of clearly
established law occurred is immediately appealable since it is immu-
nity from suit rather than a defense to liability. Mitchell v. Forsyth,
472 U.S. 511, 525, 86 L. Ed. 2d 411, 424 (1985). As such, defendants’
appeal is properly before this Court.

I. State Claims

[2] On appeal, defendants Evans and Paul first contend that the trial
court erred in denying their motion for partial summary judgment
regarding Mr. Moore’s claims for malicious prosecution and false
imprisonment (collectively referred to as “state claims” herein).
Specifically, defendants contend that they were entitled to govern-
mental and/or official immunity on these claims. We do not agree.

Summary judgment is properly granted if the “pleadings, deposi-
tions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together
with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to
any material fact and that any party is entitled to a judgment as a mat-
ter of law.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c¢) (1990). The moving party
has the burden of “positively and clearly” establishing the absence of
any genuine issue of material fact. James v. Clark, 118 N.C. App. 178,
180, 454 S.E.2d 826, 828, disc. review denied, 340 N.C. 359, 458 S.E.2d
187 (1995). A movant may meet this burden by showing that (1) an
essential element of the nonmovant’s case is nonexistent; or (2) based
upon discovery, the nonmovant cannot produce evidence to support
an essential element of his claim; or (3) the movant cannot surmount
an affirmative defense which would bar the claim. Waits wv.
Cumberland County Hosp. System, 75 N.C. App. 1, 6, 330 S.E.2d 242,
247 (1985), rev’d on other grounds, 317 N.C. 321, 345 S.E.2d 201
(1986). In making its decision on the motion, the trial court must con-
sider the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmovant,
drawing all inferences of fact from the evidence presented at the
hearing in his favor. Rouse v. Pitt County Memorial Hospital, 116
N.C. App. 241, 244, 447 S.E.2d 505, 507 (1994), aff’d, 343 N.C. 186, 470
S.E.2d 44 (1996).

We note that defendant City of Ayden is not a party to this appeal
from Judge LaBarre’s order denying defendants Evans and Paul’s
motion for partial summary judgment. In fact, it is well established
that a municipality is not liable for the torts of its officers and
employees if committed in the performance of a governmental func-
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tion. Moore v. City of Creedmoor, 120 N.C. App. 27, 45-6, 460 S.E.2d
899, 910 (1995), disc. review allowed, 342 N.C. 658, 467 S.E.2d 718
(1996). “ ‘A police officer in the performance of his[/her] duties is
engaged in a governmental function.” ” Mullins v. Friend, 116 N.C.
App. 676, 680, 449 S.E.2d 227, 230 (1994) (quoting Galligan v. Town
of Chapel Hill, 276 N.C. 172, 175, 171 S.E.2d 427, 429 (1970)). A
municipality which purchases liability insurance waives governmen-
tal immunity, thereby subjecting itself to liability for the tortious acts
of its officers and employees. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-485 (1994).

In the instant action, Mr. Moore presented evidence that defend-
ant City had purchased liability insurance; and defendants admit to
such. Thus, defendant City has waived any defense of governmental
immunity with respect to Mr. Moore’s state claims to the extent that
Mr. Moore’s damages do not exceed the amount of insurance cover-
age. Id.

A. Defendant Paul

Mr. Moore sues defendant Paul in his official capacity as Chief of
Police of the City of Ayden. Police officers, as public officers, share
in the immunity of their governing municipalities. Taylor v. Ashburn,
112 N.C. App. 604, 607, 436 S.E.2d 276, 279 (1993), cert. denied, 336
N.C. 77, 445 S.E.2d 46 (1994). However, where as in the case presently
before us, the municipality waives its sovereign immunity by pur-
chasing liability insurance, public officers such as defendant Paul are
not entitled to the defense of governmental immunity, at least as to
the extent of coverage purchased by the municipality. Moore, 120 N.C.
App. at 46-7, 460 S.E.2d at 911. Accordingly, the trial court properly
denied defendant Paul’s motion for partial summary judgment regard-
ing Mr. Moore’s state claims against him in his official capacity as
Chief of Police.

B. Defendant Evans

Mr. Moore sues defendant Evans in both his official and individ-
ual capacities. Like defendant Paul, defendant Evans is not entitled to
the defense of governmental immunity because defendant City has
waived its sovereign immunity by purchasing liability insurance. Id.
Therefore, the trial court properly denied this motion as to defendant
Evans in his official capacity as police officer with the City of Ayden
Police Department.

[3] As to Mr. Moore’s claims against defendant Evans in his individ-
ual capacity, we find that there was an issue of fact as to whether
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defendant Evans was entitled to the use of the official immunity
defense. To maintain a suit against a public official in his/her individ-
ual capacity, the plaintiff must make a prima facie showing that the
official’s actions (under color of authority) are sufficient to pierce the
cloak of official immunity. Epps v. Duke University, 122 N.C. App.
198, 468 S.E.2d 846 (1996), disc. review denied, No. 230P96 (N.C.
Supreme Court Sep. 5, 1996). Actions that are malicious, corrupt or
outside of the scope of official duties will pierce the cloak of official
immunity, thus holding the official liable for his acts like any private
individual. Gurganious v. Simpson, 213 N.C. 613, 616, 197 S.E. 163,
164 (1938); Golden Rule Insurance Co. v. Long, 113 N.C. App. 187,
194, 439 S.E.2d 599, 603, disc. review denied, 335 N.C. 555, 439 S.E.2d
145 (1993).

“False imprisonment” has been defined as “the illegal restraint of
a person against his will.” Marlowe v. Piner, 119 N.C. App. 125, 129,
458 S.E.2d 220, 223 (1995) (citing Fowler v. Valencourt, 334 N.C. 345,
348, 435 S.E.2d 530, 532 (1993)). A restraint is illegal if it is unlawful
or not consented to. Id. Specifically, a warrantless arrest without
probable cause lacks legal authority and is therefore unlawful. State
v. Zuniga, 312 N.C. 251, 259, 322 S.E.2d 140, 145 (1984). “A false
arrest is an arrest without legal authority and is one means of com-
mitting a false imprisonment.” Marliowe, 119 N.C. App. at 129, 458
S.E.2d at 223 (citing Myrick v. Cooley, 91 N.C. App. 209, 212, 371
S.E.2d 492, 494, disc. review denied, 323 N.C. 477, 373 S.E.2d 865
(1988)).

In order to maintain an action for malicious prosecution, the
plaintiff must demonstrate that the defendant “(1) instituted, pro-
cured or participated in the criminal proceeding against [the] plain-
tiff; (2) without probable cause; (3) with malice; and (4) the prior
proceeding terminated in favor of [the] plaintiff.” Williams wv.
Kuppenheimer Manufacturing Co., 105 N.C. App. 198, 200, 412
S.E.2d 897, 899 (1992) (citing Cook v. Lanier, 267 N.C. 166, 147 S.E.2d
910 (1966)). “[M]alice can be inferred from the want of probable
cause alone.” Fowler v. Valencourt, 108 N.C. App. 106, 111, 423 S.E.2d
785, 788 (1992) (citing Cook, 267 N.C. at 170, 147 S.E.2d at 914; Wright
v. Harris, 160 N.C. 543, 550, 76 S.E. 489, 492 (1912)), rev’d in part on
other grounds, 334 N.C. 345, 435 S.E.2d 530 (1993). As it is undisputed
that defendant Evans initiated the criminal prosecution against Mr.
Moore and that the prosecution ended with a dismissal of the charges
against him, the only issue as to Mr. Moore’s claim for malicious pros-
ecution is whether defendant Evans had probable cause to initiate the
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criminal prosecution against him. Hence, a common element of each
of the state claims alleged (false imprisonment and malicious prose-
cution) is the absence of probable cause.

The test for whether probable cause exists is an objective one—
whether the facts and circumstances, known at the time, were such
as to induce a reasonable police officer to arrest, imprison, and/or
prosecute another. See Fowler, 108 N.C. App. at 112, 423 S.E.2d at 788
(quoting Pitts v. Pizza, Inc., 296 N.C. 81, 87, 249 S.E.2d 375, 379
(1978)). In Pitts, our Supreme Court stated:

The existence or nonexistence of probable cause is a mixed ques-
tion of law and fact. If the facts are admitted or established it is a
question of law for the court. Conversely, when the facts are in
dispute the question of probable cause is one of fact for the jury.

296 N.C. at 87, 249 S.E.2d at 379 (citations omitted), quoted in
Fowler, 108 N.C. App. at 112, 423 S.E.2d at 788.

In the case sub judice, Mr. Moore brought claims against de-
fendant Evans for false imprisonment, as well as malicious prosecu-
tion. In his complaint, Mr. Moore alleges that Evans’ actions “consti-
tuted both an intentional and reckless disregard for the legal rights
of plaintiff.”

After close examination of the record, we find that there is indeed
genuine issue of material fact as to whether defendant Evans had
probable cause to arrest Mr. Moore. A review of the record tends to
show conflicting evidence, thereby creating this question of material
fact for the jury as fact finder. In an affidavit, Mrs. Mable Sumpter
stated in pertinent part:

On May 16, [sic] 1993 I was in my home and heard a knocking
noise outside . . . I saw a black male in the Williams’ backyard. He
was wearing white clothing but I could not see his face. I knew
that the Williams were out of town so [ went back inside my home
and called the police. I then continued to watch out my window
until the police arrived. Sergeant Evans of the Ayden Police
Department came to my home to speak with me concerning the
call that I made. I told him what I had seen and told him the per-
son had on white clothing. I also told him that I did not see the
person’s face and that I could not identify the person. ... A few
moments later Sergeant Evans returned in his patrol car with an
individual in the backseat. Sergeant Evans had the individual get
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out of the patrol car and stand beside it directly in front of the
Williams’ house. . . . [ walked out of my front door and stood by
the hedge row at the front of my house and observed the individ-
ual standing in front of the patrol car. I nodded to Sergeant Evans
indicating that the individual had on the same color clothing as
the person that I had seen in the Williams’ backyard. I had previ-
ously told Sergeant Evans that I would not be able to identify
anyone other than to say that they had similar colored clothing
because I did not see the persons face. . . . After I nodded to
Sergeant Evans, he placed the individual back in the patrol car.
He did not speak with me anymore about this suspect on the night
of this incident and neither Sergeant Evans nor anyone from the
Ayden Police Department has spoken to me since regarding the
incident.

(emphasis added). This evidence directly conflicts with the affidavit
and testimony of defendant Evans that Mrs. Sumpter made a “pos-
itive identification” of Mr. Moore. Defendant Evans stated in his
affidavit:

Mrs. Sumpter was told to go into her house while [the offi-
cers| were getting Plaintiff out of the car. Plaintiff then was posi-
tioned so that his profile was facing Mrs. Sumpter. Mrs. Sumpter
indicated that Plaintiff looked like the black male she had seen
standing on the porch who ran from the house, but she wanted
Plaintiff to turn around because she had seen him from the back
standing on the porch. Plaintiff was turned around, and Mrs.
Sumpter viewed him from the back, and then positively identi-
fied Plaintiff as the man she had seen next door.

(emphasis added). Such converse testimony certainly creates issues
of fact to be determined by a jury as to whether probable cause
existed to arrest Mr. Moore.

Further, contrary to the dissenting opinion, we find the cases of
State v. Joyner, 301 N.C. 18, 269 S.E.2d 125 (1980), and State v.
Wrenn, 316 N.C. 141, 340 S.E.2d 443 (1986), to be inordinately dis-
tinguishable from the facts herein. First, in Joyner, the North
Carolina Supreme Court found that probable cause to arrest existed
where an officer observed the defendant approximately three and
one-half (3 1/2) blocks from the rape victim’s apartment, approxi-
mately seven (7) to ten (10) minutes following the commission of the
offenses of burglary, rape and larceny; the officer had earlier been
alerted by police radio concerning the commission of the offenses
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and had been given a description of the suspect as a “black male with
Sacial hair, wearing a toboggan and a green or blue jogging sutl
with white strips down the sides of the trousers”; when the officer
observed defendant, he reconfirmed this description by radio; and
the officer noted that defendant matched the description and placed
him under arrest. Id. at 22, 269 S.E.2d at 129 (emphasis added).

Thus, the description of the suspect in Joyner was patently more
detailed than the bare bones description of the suspect in the subject
case as a “black male in white clothing.” Moreover, Mrs. Sumpter, the
eye witness herein, specifically stated that she told the arresting offi-
cer that she could not identify the suspect.

Similarly in Wrenn, our Supreme Court found probable cause for
arrest to exist when the facts indicated that the defendant’s vehicle
was stopped exiting the apartment complex in which the crimes
occurred, during the early moming hours, just moments after the
crimes were committed; defendant was ordered to step out of the
vehicle, was “patted down” and his car was searched; a loaded
revolver was found in the unlocked console in the front seat of the
vehicle; and defendant matched the description given by the wit-
ness—“a white male, dressed in a dark sweatsuit and possibly wear-
ing a knit hat” and “possibly armed.” 316 N.C. 141, 340 S.E.2d 443.

In the instant case, Mr. Moore was some five (5) blocks away
from the crime scene when he was seen by a police officer. Upon
being approached by the officer, defendant was cooperative when
told about the breaking and entering at 205 Edge Road and asked
about his activities on that evening. He denied any knowledge of the
crime, but agreed to accompany the officer to the crime scene.
Significantly, the record does not indicate whether Mr. Moore was
leaving the vicinity of the crime scene or approaching that area.
Additionally, none of the other determinative factors found in Wrenn
are present herein—Mr. Moore had neither weapon nor stolen items
in his possession when approached. Undoubtedly, any black male
wearing white clothing in the City of Ayden on 15 May 1993 would
have matched the general description given to defendant Evans on
that evening. Regrettably, we are left with the tragic conclusion that
notwithstanding his innocence, any such male may well have been
arrested and subjected to the same indignities faced by Mr. Moore.

The record further shows that following Mr. Moore’s arrest, the
magistrate set bond at $20,000.00, ostensibly in response to defendant
Evans’ request that Mr. Moore be placed under a “high bond” so that
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he would be unable to get out of jail. On or about 20 May 1993,
another officer told Officer Evans that an informant had revealed that
John Eric Ellis had broken into the house on Edge Road. Thereafter,
police officers questioned Ellis and obtained his admission that he
had been wearing white clothing on the night of 15 May 1993 and that
he had committed the crime for which Mr. Moore had been charged.
However, Deputy Evans stated that he “had encountered Mr. Ellis on
prior occasions and knew that he had a propensity for not telling the
entire truth.” And that based on that perception and “due to the vol-
ume of items that had been taken from the house . . . , [he] still
believed that two persons were involved in the break-in at Edge Road,
so Plaintiff was not immediately released from custody.”

Significantly, evidence was also presented which tended to con-
flict with defendant Evans’ statement that he did not release Mr.
Moore from jail after Ellis’ arrest, because he “believed that two per-
sons were involved in the break-in at Edge Road.” First, the public
defender representing Ellis, the person who confessed to committing
the 15 May break-in at 205 Edge Road, noted in his affidavit that no
mention had been made to him of an accomplice, co-defendant, or
second party being involved in the 15 May break-in. Moreover, the
Incident/Investigation Report of the crime indicates that no further
investigation was needed of the crime after Mr. Moore’s arrest—indi-
cating a belief that the one person who had perpetrated the break-in
at the Edge Road residence was in custody.

In the light most favorable to Mr. Moore, defendant Evans has
failed to meet his burden of showing that there is no genuine issue of
material fact and that he is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.
Indeed, the evidence tends to show that there was genuine issue of
material fact as to whether defendant Evans had probable cause to
arrest Mr. Moore. As such, the trial court properly denied defend-
ant Evans’ motion for partial summary judgment with respect to
Mr. Moore’s state claims against him in his individual and official
capacities.

II. Federal Constitutional Claims

[4] Defendants next contend that they were entitled to summary
judgment regarding Mr. Moore’s federal constitutional claims. In his
complaint, Mr. Moore alleges that defendants deprived him of his
rights under the Fourth, Fifth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to
the United States Constitution in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.
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Section 1983 provides in part:

Every person who, under color of any statute, ordinance, regula-
tion, custom or usage of [the United States}, subjects . . . any cit-
izen of the United States or other person within the jurisdiction
thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities
secured by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party
injured in an action at law, suit in equity, or other proper pro-
ceeding for redress. . ..

42 U.S.C. § 1983. Our Supreme Court has previously held,

“when an action is brought under section 1983 in state court
against the State, its agencies, and/or its officials acting in their
official capacities, neither a State nor its officials acting in their
official capacities are ‘persons’ under section 1983 when the rem-
edy sought is monetary damages.”

Messick v. Catawba County, 110 N.C. App. 707, 713, 431 S.E.2d 489,
493, quoting Corum, 330 N.C. at 771, 413 S.E.2d at 282-83, disc.
review denied, 334 N.C. 621, 435 S.E.2d 336 (1993). In Messick, the
Court interpreted this rule to preclude a § 1983 action against a
county, its commissioners, as well as the sheriff and police officers in
their official capacity. 110 N.C. App 707, 431 S.E.2d 489.

A. Defendant Paul

In his complaint, Mr. Moore makes no allegations that defendant
Paul was present or participated in any manner in his arrest or post-
arrest detention, nor does Mr. Moore allege that defendant Paul acted
corruptly, maliciously, or outside of the scope of his employment.
Rather, Mr. Moore’s only allegations against defendant Paul relate to
his official duties as the Chief of Police of the Ayden Police
Department. As such, we must treat Mr. Moore’s claims against
defendant Paul in his official capacity.

As Mr. Moore herein seeks monetary damages for alleged viola-
tions of his constitutional rights, he cannot recover against defendant
Paul in his official capacity under § 1983. See id. Hence, summary
judgment is proper in regards to Mr. Moore’s § 1983 claims against
defendant Paul in his official capacity.

B. Defendant Evans

[5] Similarly, Mr. Moore is also precluded from recovering against
defendant Evans in his official capacity under § 1983. Id. In addition,
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the United States Supreme Court has held that public officials who
perform discretionary functions are entitled to qualified immunity
from suit against them personally in their individual capacity under
42 U.S.C. § 1983. However, a public official, like defendant Evans,
may still be personally liable for damages under § 1983 where quali-
fied immunity is not available. Lenzer v. Flaherty, 106 N.C. App. 496,
506, 418 S.E.2d 276, 282 (citing Corum, 330 N.C. at 772, 413 S.E.2d at
283), disc. review denied, 332 N.C. 345, 421 S.E.2d 348 (1992).

Generally, qualified immunity protects public officials from
personal liability for performing discretionary functions to the extent
that such conduct “ ‘does not violate clearly established statutory or
constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have
known.”” Corum, 330 N.C. at 772-73, 413 S.E.2d at 284 (quoting
Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 818, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396, 410 (1982)),
quoted in Lenzer, 106 N.C. App. at 508, 418 S.E.2d at 284. Clear-
ly, “ ‘the doctrine of qualified immunity does not extend protection to
those law enforcement officials who . . . knowingly violate the law.” ”
Fowler, 108 N.C. App. at 113-14, 423 S.E.2d at 789-90 (quoting Malley
v. Briggs, 475 U.S. 335, 341, 89 L. Ed. 2d 271, 278 (1986)).

In order to establish the existence of an official’s right to the
defense of qualified immunity, one must (1) identify the specific right
allegedly violated; (2) determine whether that right was clearly estab-
lished; and (3) if clearly established, determine whether a reasonable
person in the officer’s position would have known that his/her actions
would violate that right. Pritchett v. Alford, 973 F.2d 307, 312 (4th Cir.
1992). “The first two determinations are questions of law for the court
and should always be decided at the summary judgment stage.” Davis
v. Town of Southern Pines, 116 N.C. App. 663, 670, 449 S.E.2d 240,
244 (1994) (citing Pritchett, 973 F.2d at 313; Lee v. Greene, 114 N.C.
App. 580, 585, 442 S.E.2d 547, 550 (1994)), disc. review denied, 339
N.C. 737, 454 S.E.2d 648 (1995). The third determination, however,
“ ‘requires the factfinder to make factual determinations concerning
disputed aspects of the officer[’s] conduct.’” Id. (quoting Lee, 114
N.C. App. at 585, 442 S.E.2d at 550).

As to Mr. Moore’s alleged Fourth Amendment violation, we find
that Mr. Moore’s right to be free from unconstitutional arrests to war-
rant legal protection. Unquestionably, a police officer may be held
liable for an unconstitutional arrest made without probable cause in
violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution.
See Malley, 475 U.S. 335, 89 L. Ed. 2d 271.



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 49

MOORE v. EVANS
[124 N.C. App. 35 (1996)]

While it is true that the Fourth Amendment to the United States
Constitution allows an officer to briefly detain a suspect if there is a
reasonable, articulable suspicion that the suspect committed a crime,
Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968), an officer must have
probable cause to arrest that suspect. Myrick, 91 N.C. App. 209, 371
S.E.2d 492. Probable cause to arrest has been found to exist where a
suspect is found in the general area of the crime and fits the descrip-
tion given by a witness to the crime. Wrenn, 316 N.C. 141, 340 S.E.2d
443; Joyner, 301 N.C. 18, 269 S.E.2d 125. See also State v. Harrell, 67
N.C. App. 57, 312 S.E.2d 230 (1984) (recognizing that a description of
either a person or an automobile may furnish reasonable grounds for
arresting and detaining a criminal suspect); in accord State wv.
Phillips, 300 N.C. 678, 268 S.E.2d 452 (1980); State v. Tippett, 270 N.C.
588, 1565 S.E.2d 269 (1967), rev’'d on other grounds, State v. Worsley,
336 N.C. 268, 443 S.E.2d 68 (1994).

The facts in the instant case tend to show that defendant Evans
told other officers, who arrived at the scene after defendant Evans
and Officer Stewart, that Mrs. Sumpter had seen a black male, wear-
ing a white shirt and white shorts, at her neighbors’ house. Notably,
however, Mrs. Sumpter stated in her affidavit that she had identified
the suspect only as being a black male, wearing white clothing. In
response to this description, Officer Vance Head left the scene and
drove around the neighborhood, where he observed Mr. Moore—a
black male, wearing white shorts and a white shirt, riding a bicycle
approximately four (4) to five (5) blocks from the crime scene. In
light of the description given by defendant Evans, the officer stopped
Mr. Moore and questioned him about his knowledge of the break-in at
205 Edge Road. Although Mr. Moore denied any knowledge of the
incident, he was asked to accompany Officer Head to the scene,
which he did.

Officer Head subsequently returned to the scene with Mr. Moore,
where Mrs. Sumpter allegedly “positively identified” him. However,
according to Mrs. Sumpter, she never positively identified Mr.
Moore—she only nodded her head that Mr. Moore was wearing white
clothing, as she had previously stated. Mrs. Sumpter specifically told
defendant Evans that she could not identify the suspect, because he
had been so far away when she had seen him in her neighbors’ back-
yard. There is, therefore, a genuine issue of material fact as to
whether Mrs. Sumpter’s “identification” was positive and could serve
to give defendant Evans probable cause to arrest Mr. Moore.
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Defendants contend that absent Mrs. Sumpter’s identification,
probable cause still existed for Mr. Moore's arrest. If this were true,
then as stated previously, on 15 May 1996, any black male, with white
clothing, in the city of Ayden would have been subject to arrest. This
we cannot countenance. Absent any other circumstantial evidence,
we simply cannot say that as a matter of law defendant Evans had
probable cause to arrest Mr. Moore. In this case, factual determina-
tions regarding defendant Evans’ conduct and its circurastances are
in question. As the Supreme Court stated in Corum,

“[A] purely ‘objective’ test cannot in the end avoid the necessity
to inquire into official motive or intent or purpose when such
states of mind are essential elements of the constitutional right
allegedly violated.”

Corum, 330 N.C. at 773, 413 S.E.2d at 284 (quoting Collinson v. Golt,
895 F2d 994, 1001-02 (4th Cir. 1990) (Phillips, J. concurring)).
Moreover,

“Where the defendant’s subjective intent is an element of the
plaintiff’s claim and the defendant has moved for summary judg-
ment based on a showing of the objective reasonableness of his
actions, the plaintiff may avoid summary judgment . . . by point-
ing to specific evidence that the officials’ actions were improp-
erly motivated.

Id. at 774, 413 S.E.2d at 285 (quoting Pueblo Neighborhood Health
Ctrs., Inc. v. Losavio, 847 F.2d 642, 649 (10th Cir. 1988)).

In the instant action, in the light most favorable to Mr. Moore, the
evidence tends to show that defendant Evans requested the magis-
trate to set Mr. Moore’s bond high; that even after another person was
questioned and confessed to the crime, admitting that he wore white
clothing on that evening, defendant Evans failed to release Mr. Moore;
that defendant Evans failed to question a key alibi witness, a fellow
police officer, about Mr. Moore’s whereabouts on the evening of 15
May 1993; that defendant Evans failed to appear in court for Mr.
Moore’s probable cause hearing; and that only after being questioned
about the case by the assistant district attorney did the officer tell her
that another person had been charged with the crime for which Mr.
Moore had been arrested and imprisoned. Defendant Evans defends
his actions, contending that he was still investigating the crime as he
suspected that there were at least two persons who participated in
the 15 May break-in, due to the amount of personal property removed
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from the Edge Road residence. Defendant Evans also noted that he
questioned the credibility of Mr. Ellis’ confession to the crime
because of his reputation for dishonesty.

As all evidence presented by Mr. Moore at this stage of the pro-
ceedings must be considered “indulgently,” Fowler, 108 N.C. App. at
114, 423 S.E.2d at 790 (citing Page v. Sloan, 281 N.C. 697, 190 S.E.2d
189 (1972)), and “as the slightest doubt as to the facts entitles plain-
tiff to a trial,” 2d. (citing Snipes v. Jackson, 69 N.C. App. 64, 316
S.E.2d 657, disc. review denied, 312 N.C. 85, 321 S.E.2d 899 (1984)),
summary judgment on the issue of defendant Evans’ qualified immu-
nity was properly denied.

Mr. Moore also contends that his bail was excessive in violation
of his Eighth Amendment rights, and consequently § 1983. However,
it is the magistrate, and not defendant Evans, who is responsible for
setting Mr. Moore’s bail; therefore, this contention is without merit.

In a related argument, Mr. Moore further contends that defend-
ants violated his Eighth Amendment right to be free from cruel and
unusual punishment. The United States Supreme Court stated in
Ingraham v. Wright, “An examination of the history of the
Amendment and the decisions of this Court construing the proscrip-
tion against cruel and unusual punishment confirms that it was
designed to protect those convicted of crimes.” 430 U.S. 651, 664, 51
L. Ed. 2d 711, 725 (1977). Therefore, we find that the Eighth
Amendment is inapplicable to the present case, as Mr. Moore was
never formally adjudicated guilty of any crime.

Mr. Moore also alleges that defendant Evans violated § 1983 by
depriving him of “life, liberty or property without due process of law,”
in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. To successfully assert a
§ 1983 claim based upon the violation of the Fourteenth Amendment,
a plaintiff “must assert facts that, at a minimum, demonstrate
Defendants acted with deliberate or reckless intent.” Romero v. Fay,
45 F.3d 1472, 1478 (10th Cir. 1995).

As noted herein, in the light most favorable to Mr. Moore, we find
that there is an issue of fact as to whether defendant Evans acted with
reckless indifference to Mr. Moore’s constitutional rights. Contrary to
defendant Evans’ contention that the police department believed two
people to be involved in the break-in, the Incident/Investigation
Report of the crime indicated that no further investigation was
needed of the crime after Mr. Moore’s arrest. Further, contrary to
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defendant Evans’ assertion that he attempted in good faith to verify
Mr. Moore’s alibi witnesses, defendant Evans makes no mention of
ever trying to speak with the Ayden police officer who Mr. Moore had
specifically indicated had seen him at a nightclub at the time that the
break-in occurred. Moreover, Mr. Moore indicates that he never saw
Rabbit Forbes on the evening in question—in spite of defendant
Evans’ insistence that it was Mr. Forbes who confirmed that Mr.
Moore was at the Ayden Lounge on 15 May, at the time of the break-
in. In addition, defendant Evans states that he contacted the District
Attorney’s office with this information, while the assistant district
attorney assigned to prosecute Mr. Moore notes in her affidavit that it
was she who contacted defendant Evans regarding the status of the
case, after he failed to appear in court for Mr. Moore’s probable cause
hearing. We conclude that there is genuine issue of fact as to whether
the facts as presented were such as to lead a discreet and prudent
person to believe that a criminal offense had been committed by Mr.
Moore. Accordingly, summary judgment was properly denied as to
Mr. Moore’s § 1983 claim against defendant Evans in his individual
capacity.

III. Conclusion

In light of the foregoing, the trial court’s denial of defendant
Evans and Paul’s motion for partial summary judgment is affirmed as
to Mr. Moore’s state claims against defendant Evans in his official and
individual capacities; and as to Mr. Moore’s federal constitutional
claims against defendant Evans in his individual capacity. The trial
court’s denial of partial summary judgment must, however, be
reversed as to Mr. Moore’s federal constitutional claims against
defendant Evans and Paul in their official capacities.

Affirmed in part, and reversed in part.
Judge WYNN concurs.
Judge WALKER concurs in part, and dissents in part.

Judge WALKER concurring in part and dissenting in part.

I concur with the majority’'s decision to reverse the trial court’s
denial of summary judgment as to plaintiff’s federal constitutional
claims against defendant City, and defendants Paul and Evans in their
official capacities. However, I respectfully dissent from the majority’s
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opinion affirming the trial court’s denial of defendants’ motion for
summary judgment as to plaintiff’s state claims against defendant
City and defendant Evans in his official and individual capacity and
federal constitutional claims against defendant Evans in his individ-
ual capacity.

I. State Claims

In the present case, plaintiff brought claims against defendant
City and defendant Evans individually and in his official capacity for
false imprisonment and malicious prosecution. Defendants contend
that they are entitled to summary judgment because plaintiff cannot
prove an essential element of each offense nor can plaintiff surmount
the affirmative defense of governmental immunity. A common ele-
ment of each claim is the requirement that plaintiff demonstrate that
defendant acted without probable cause.

a. Probable Cause

The majority concludes that “there is indeed a genuine issue of
material fact as to whether defendant Evans had probable cause to
arrest, imprison, and prosecute plaintiff.” The majority relies on Mrs.
Sumpter’s affidavit in which she states:

I nodded to Sergeant Evans indicating that the individual had on
the same color clothing as the person that I had seen in the
Williams’ backyard. I had previously told Sergeant Evans that 1
would not be able to identify anyone. . . .

This affidavit conflicts with the affidavits from Officers K.S. Stewart,
Vance Head, and defendant Evans which state that they were present
when Mrs. Sumpter “positively identified” the plaintiff as the man she
had seen in the neighbor’s backyard. However, I disagree that a gen-
uine issue of material fact exists so as to preclude summary judgment
in favor of defendants.

Notwithstanding the question of whether Mrs. Sumpter “posi-
tively identified” the plaintiff, probable cause existed to justify the
warrantless arrest of the plaintiff. In its opinion the majority recog-
nizes the line of cases holding that probable cause to arrest exists
where a suspect is found in close proximity to the place where the
offense occurred and where the similarity of the suspect’s appear-
ance fits the description given by the witness. See e.g., State v.
Joyner, 301 N.C. 18, 22, 269 S.E.2d 125, 129 (1980) (holding that prob-
able cause existed to arrest the suspect where the suspect described
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as a bearded black male, wearing a toboggan and a jogging outfit was
located approximately three and one-half blocks from the scene of
the crime).

Our Supreme Court was asked to determine if sufficient evidence
existed to support a finding of probable cause in the case of State v.
Wrenn, 316 N.C. 141, 340 S.E.2d 443 (1986). I interpret the holding in
Wrenn to be different from that of the majority opinion. The majority
states that probable cause was found “when the facts indicated that
the defendant’s vehicle was stopped exiting the apartment complex in
which the crimes occurred; defendant was ordered to step out of the
vehicle, was ‘patted down’ and his car was searched; [and] a loaded
revolver was found in the unlocked console in the front seat of the
vehicle . . ..” However, the finding of a weapon in the vehicle was not
a factor considered by the Supreme Court in finding that probable
cause existed for the arrest of defendant. Rather, such evidence was
admissible because the search of defendant’s vehicle was incident to
a lawful arrest. Thus, probable cause must have existed to justify a
warrantless arrest prior to the search of defendant’s vehicle.
Accordingly, the Supreme Court held:

We find that the officers had probable cause to arrest defendant.
Defendant was apprehended almost immediately after the
reported felony had been committed as he exited victim’s apart-
ment complex at an early morning hour when there was no other
vehicular or pedestrian traffic in the area. Defendant’s appear-
ance at the time of the arrest fit victim’s general description of
her assailant, i.e., white male wearing dark clothing. Under these
circumstances, we find that the proximity of defendant to the
location where the offenses were committed and the similarity of
defendant’s appearance to the description which had been
reported to the police provided the arresting officer with the ele-
ment of probable cause necessary to effectuate the [warrantless]
arrest. See State v. Joyner, 301 N.C. 18, 22 269 S.E.2d 125, 129.

Wrenn, 316 N.C. at 147, 340 S.E.2d at 447-48.

In the present case, the police were alerted on 15 May at 11:10
p-m. by Mrs. Sumpter that a break-in was in progress at 205 Edge
Road. Officers Evans, K.S. Stewart, and Vance Head arrived on the
scene. Officer Evans forwarded the description of the suspect given
by Mrs. Sumpter. Within minutes of when the crime had been
reported, Officer Vance Head located plaintiff four or five blocks
from the crime scene. Considering the late hour, the proximity of the



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 55

MOORE v. EVANS
[124 N.C. App. 35 (1996)]

suspect to the crime scene, and the similarity of plaintiff’s appearance
to the description of the suspect provided by Mrs. Sumpter, I would
find that there was sufficient evidence to support a finding of prob-
able cause.

b. Malice

Additionally, the plaintiff’s malicious prosecution claim for puni-
tive damages is deficient. In order to maintain an action for punitive
damages, plaintiff must demonstrate actual malice. Moore v. City of
Creedmoor, 120 N.C. App. 27, 43, 460 S.E.2d 899, 909 (1995), appeal
dismissed and disc. review granted, 342 N.C. 658, 467 S.E.2d 718
(1996). Actual malice is defined as ill-will, spite, or desire for revenge.
Id. As there is no showing of actual malice in this case, plaintiff’s
claim for punitive damages on the claim of malicious prosecution
necessarily must fail.

c¢. Immunities

Defendant Evans is also entitled to summary judgment regarding
plaintiff’s state claims against him in his individual capacity on the
basis of official immunity. The majority correctly states that to main-
tain a suit against a public official in his/her individual capacity, plain-
tiff must demonstrate that the official’s actions were malicious, cor-
rupt, or outside the scope of his/her official duties. Epps v. Duke
Univ., Inc., 122 N.C. App. 198, 211, 468 S.E.2d 846, 851 (1996). In his
complaint, plaintiff alleges that Evans’ actions “were grossly and
wantonly negligent, or intentional.” “An act is wanton when it is done
of wicked purpose, or when it is done needlessly, manifesting a reck-
less indifference to the rights of others.” Mariowe v. Piner, 119 N.C.
App. 125, 128, 458 S.E.2d 220, 223 (1995).

In the present case, plaintiff alleges that defendant Evans prose-
cuted and imprisoned him without probable cause. A similar argu-
ment was made by the plaintiffs in Marlowe v. Piner, 119 N.C. App.
125, 128, 458 S.E.2d 220, 223 (1995). In Marlowe, the plaintiffs
brought an action against defendant Piner, individually and in his offi-
cial capacity as sheriff, for false arrest and false imprisonment. Id. at
126-27, 458 S.E.2d at 221-22. Although the plaintiffs alleged that
defendant’s actions were malicious in that the defendant arrested
plaintiffs without probable cause, the trial court granted the defend-
ant’s motion for summary judgment based on official immunity. Id. at
128, 458 S.E.2d at 223. This Court affirmed the trial court’s decision
stating:
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Plaintiffs have made no forecast of evidence which would tend to
show that defendant intended his actions to be prejudicial or inju-
rious to them. At most, plaintiffs’ evidence tends to show that
defendant negligently believed he had probable cause to arrest
plaintiffs.

Id. Similarly, based on plaintiff’s forecast of the evidence, I would
reverse the trial court’s decision denying defendants’ motion for
summary judgment with respect to plaintiff’s state claims against
defendant City and defendant Evans in his official and individual
capacity.

II. Federal Constitutional Claims

I also disagree with the majority’s holding that defendant Evans
was not entitled to qualified immunity regarding plaintiff’s federal
constitutional claims. In determining whether a defendant is entitled
to qualified immunity, the plaintiff’s right must be established so
clearly that a reasonable official would know that his action violates
that right. Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 640, 97 L. Ed. 2d 523,
531 (1987). While the majority correctly states the test for determin-
ing whether a defendant is entitled to qualified immunity, 1 disagree
with their application in the present case.

The United States Supreme Court established that “[g]overnment
officials performing discretionary functions are shielded from civil
liability to the extent their conduct ‘does not violate clearly estab-
lished statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person
would have known.”” Slattery v. Rizzo, 939 F.2d 213, 216 (4th Cir.
1991) (quoting Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 4567 U.S. 800, 818, 73 L. Ed. 2d
396, 410 (1982)). Accordingly, qualified immunity is intended to
remove most cases from the legal process prior to submission to the
jury except in cases where the official clearly violated the law. Id. The
purpose of qualified immunity is to allow officials to perform their
duties without the fear of impending lawsuits. “[Plermitting damages
suits against government officials can entail substantial social costs,
including the risk that fear of personal monetary liability and harass-
ing litigation will unduly inhibit officials in the discharge of their
duties.” Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 638, 97 L. Ed. 2d 523,
530 (1987).

Qualified immunity is particularly appropriate for police officers
who must make quick decisions in an atmosphere of great uncer-
tainty. As the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit
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noted, “[h]olding police officers liable in hindsight for every injurious
consequence of their actions would paralyze the functions of law
enforcement.” Pinder v. Johnson, 54 F.3d 1169, 1173 (4th Cir.), cert.
denied, — U.S. —, 133 L. Ed. 2d 436 (1995). Furthermore,

[i1]f every mistaken seizure were to subject police officers to per-
sonal liability under § 1983, those same officers would come to
realize that the safe and cautious course was always to take no
action. The purposes of immunity are not served by a police force
intent on escaping liability to the cumulative detriment of those
duties which communities depend upon such officers to perform.

Gooden v. Howard County, 954 F.2d 960, 967 (4th Cir. 1992).

Plaintiff contends that defendant Evans violated his Fourth
Amendment right to be free from unwarranted searches and seizures.
Having concluded that there was sufficient evidence for probable
cause, I cannot say that Evans’ conduct in arresting plaintiff violated
his rights under the Fourth Amendment.

Even if Evans wrongly believed that there was probable cause to
arrest defendant, he would be entitled to qualified immunity. As the
Fourth Circuit explained:

The “meaning” of the fourth amendment, at least when stated in
broad philosophical terms, is relatively clear. The precise action
or combination of actions, however, which will infringe a partic-
ular suspect’s fourth amendment rights is often difficult for even
the constitutional scholar to discern. . . . [T]here is often a “legit-
imate question” whether an officer’'s particular conduct consti-
tuted an improper search or seizure. When such a “legitimate
question” exists, the principle of qualified immunity gives police
officers the necessary latitude to pursue their investigations with-
out having to anticipate, on the pain of civil liability, future refine-
ments or clarifications of constitutional law.

Tarantino v. Baker, 825 F.2d 772, 775 (4th Cir. 1987) (citation omit-
ted). Accordingly, I would hold that defendant Evans is entitled to
qualified immunity as to this claim.

Plaintiff also argues that he had a clearly established right to be
released from jail when John Erick Ellis confessed to the commission
of the crime. The existence of an additional suspect, albeit one who
confesses, does not automatically negate probable cause for plain-
tiff’s arrest and detention. See e.g., In re Moss, 295 S.E.2d 33, 39
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(W.Va. 1982) (holding that evidence showing that another individual
confessed to the crime and was charged does not dictate a finding of
no probable cause).

Finally, plaintiff alleges that defendant Evans violated 42 U.S.C.
§ 1983 by depriving him of “life, liberty, or property without due
process of law,” in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment. To suc-
cessfully assert a 1983 claim in violation of the Fourteenth
Amendment, a plaintiff “must assert facts that, at a minimum, demon-
strate [d]efendants acted with deliberate or reckless intent.” Romero
v. Fay, 45 F.3d 1472, 1478 (10th Cir. 1995).

Here, the plaintiff alleged that defendant Evans acted with delib-
erate and reckless intent when conducting his post-arrest investiga-
tion. The issue of whether an officer's post-arrest investigation rises
to the level of deliberate or reckless intent has been addressed by the
United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit in Simmons v.
McFElveen, 846 F.2d 337 (56th Cir. 1988). In Simmons, plaintiff filed a
§ 1983 action against police officers alleging that their post-arrest
investigation violated his constitutional rights. Following plaintiff’s
arrest for armed robbery, the police failed to disclose exculpatory
fingerprint evidence to the district attorney’s office and failed to con-
duct a physical line-up and fingerprint comparison of another suspect
who was implicated by a “crime stoppers” program tip. Id. at 338.
Eight months after the arrest, defendant was released after his attor-
ney located a witness who exonerated and conclusively implicated
the “crime stoppers” suspect. Id. at 338-39. The Fifth Circuit affirmed
the trial court’s decision to award summary judgment to the defend-
ant officers holding that the officers’ conduct “simply [did] not
exceed the level of negligence.” Id. at 339.

Similarly, in Romero v. Fay, 45 F.3d 1472 (10th Cir. 1995), the
plaintiff brought a § 1983 action against police alleging that their post-
arrest investigation violated his constitutional rights. In Romero,
plaintiff was arrested for the murder of David Douglas and was
imprisoned for approximately three months before he was released
from jail. Id. at 1474. Following his arrest, the police failed to contact
plaintiff’s alibi witnesses and failed to interview individuals who
allegedly saw another man threaten and attempt to fight David
Douglas approximately two hours before he was murdered. Id. at
1479. The Tenth Circuit held that the plaintiffs failed to allege conduct
which amounted to a constitutional violation. Id. at 1478, The Court
reversed the district court’s decision denying defendants’ qualified
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immunity upon concluding that defendants’ conduct did not exceed
negligence even though in hindsight investigation of plaintiff’s alibi
witnesses and other individuals would have been fruitful. Id. at 1479.

In sum, while I do not condone the post-arrest investigation per-
formed by defendant Evans, plaintiff has failed to allege that de-
fendant acted with “deliberate or reckless intent” and he is therefore
entitled to qualified immunity. Accordingly, I would reverse the trial
court’s decision and remand this case for an entry of summary judg-
ment in favor of all defendants.

TONY B. NICHOLSON, PrainTIFF v. AMERICAN SAFETY UTILITY CORPORATION,
DUKE POWER COMPANY anp NORTH HAND PROTECTION, a pivisioN oF SIEBE
NORTH, INC., SIEBE NORTH HOLDINGS CORP, SIEBE, INC., SIEBE INDUS-
TRIES, INC., anp SIEBE PLC, DEFENDANTS

No. COA95-554
(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Products Liability § 28 (NCI4th)— safety gloves—failure
to inspect and warn—summary judgment improper

Summary judgment was improperly entered for defendants in
plaintiff electrical lineman’s product liability action based upon
negligence against the manufacturer and seller of safety gloves
worn by plaintiff when he was injured by electricity from an ener-
gized line where there was a genuine issue of material fact as to
the alleged failure of defendants to properly test and inspect the
gloves and to convey adequate warning of potential deficiencies
in the gloves.

Am Jur 2d, Products Liability §§ 305, 324; Summary
Judgment § 27.

Manufacturer’s or seller’s duty to give warning regard-
ing product as affecting his liability for product-caused
injury. 76 ALR2d 9.

Manufacturer’s duty to test or inspect as affecting his
liability for product-caused injury. 6 ALR3d 91.

Failure to warn as basis of liability under doctrine of
strict liability in tort. 53 ALR3d 239.
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Products Liability § 9 (NCI4th)— manufacturer and
seller—privity—buyer’s employee

While the privity requirement has been eliminated for a
buyer’s employee to bring an action against the manufacturer of
an allegedly defective product for breach of implied warranty,
N.C.G.S. § 99B-2(b), a buyer’s employee is still barred by lack of
privity from suit against a seller grounded upon breach of implied
warranty.

Am Jur 2d, Products Liability §§ 602, 613.

Privity of contract as essential to recovery in action
based on theory other than negligence, against manufac-
turer or seller of product alleged to have caused injury. 75
ALR2d 39.

Privity of contract as essential in action against re-
mote manufacturer or distributor for defects in goods not
causing injury to person or to other property. 16 ALR3d
683.

. Products Liability § 9 (NCI4th)— testing by seller—seller

not manufacturer—buyer’s employee—privity required

A seller’s testing and inspection of safety gloves sold to plain-
tiff’s employer did not render the seller a “manufacturer” of the
gloves, and an action by the buyer’s employee against the seller
for breach of implied warranty was barred by a lack of privity.

Am Jur 2d, Products Liability §§ 569, 596.

. Products Liability § 28 (NCI4th)— safety gloves—breach

of implied warranty—issue of fact

A genuine issue of material fact was presented regarding the
existence of a defect in plaintiff electrical lineman’s safety gloves
at the time they left defendant manufacturer’s possession so that
summary judgment was improperly entered for defendant manu-
facturer in plaintiff’s action for breach of implied warranty.

Am Jur 2d, Products Liability §§ 224, 228; Summary
Judgment § 27,

. Products Liability § 18 (NCI4th)— contributory negli-

gence—use of defective product

Assuming arguendo that contributory negligence bars a prod-
uct liability action based upon either negligence or breach of war-
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ranty, N.C.G.S. § 99B-4(3) requires that the contributory negli-
gence be in the use of the allegedly defective product.

Am Jur 2d, Products Liability §§ 933, 947.

Contributory negligence or assumption of risk as
defense to action for personal injury, death, or property
damage resulting from alleged breach of implied warranty.
4 ALR3d 501.

6. Products Liability § 18 (NCI4th)— safety gloves—contrib-
utory negligence not shown

Plaintiff electrical lineman’s product liability action against
the manufacturer and seller of safety gloves was not barred by
plaintiff’s contributory negligence where (1) defendants’ con-
tention that plaintiff relied exclusively upon his gloves and
failed to employ other safety measures to protect himself from
electrocution did not relate to his use of the allegedly defective
gloves, and (2) defendants did not establish that plaintiff was con-
tributorily negligent as a matter of law in his use of the gloves by
damaging the gloves, failing to store them properly, or failing to
examine the gloves for damage prior to use.

Am Jur 2d, Products Liability § 932, 933.

Appeal by plaintiff from judgment entered 21 February 1995 by
Judge Robert L. Farmer in Wake County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 22 February 1996.

Twiggs, Abrams, Strickland & Trehy, PA., by Douglas B.
Abrams and Jerome P. Trehy, Jr., for plaintiff-appellant.

Wankser and Lindler, by H. Bright Lindler, for plaintiff-
appellant.

Hedrick, Eatman, Gardner & Kincheloe, by Linda Ambrose, for
Harrison-Wright.

Smith Helms Mulliss & Moore, L.L.P., by Richard W. Ellis and
Leslie C. O'Toole, for defendant-appellees Siebe North, Inc. and
Siebe Holdings Corp.

Cranfill, Sumner & Hartzog, L.L.P., by Robert W. Sumner and
H. Lee FEvans, Jv, for defendant-appellee American Safety
Utility Corp.
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JOHN, Judge.

Plaintiff contends the trial court erred by granting defendants’
motions for summary judgment and by denying his motion for partial
summary judgment. We agree in part.

Pertinent facts and procedural information are as follows: On 26
January 1990, plaintiff, an electrical lineman for Harrison-Wright,
Inc., was working on a Duke Power project to connect high-voltage
overhead power lines to an underground cable. On the date in ques-
tion, plaintiff was standing in an elevated, two-person aerial utility
bucket located beneath energized overhead lines. At that time, plain-
tiff was connecting a de-energized conductor to a de-energized under-
ground cable. The overhead energized lines carried approximately
7,200 volts of electricity, “phase-to-ground.” In accordance with Duke
Power regulations, plaintiff or his helper placed rubber hoses over
the energized lines to shield them from the close proximity of the
lines, and in addition the men wore protective helmets and thick rub-
ber lineman’s safety gloves.

Plaintiff’s helmet had blown off at least twice prior to the incident
at issue, and each time he had lowered the utility bucket to retrieve
it. However, after a gust of wind blew the helmet off a third time,
plaintiff continued tightening a “split bolt.” An energized line there-
upon either touched or came within an extremely short distance of
plaintiff’s unprotected head. Electricity raced from the overhead line
to plaintiff’s head and through his body, exiting via his gloved hands
which were holding a de-energized, grounded cable. Plaintiff suffered
severe and permanent brain and nervous system injuries.

The gloves worn by plaintiff at the time of his injury were pur-
chased by defendant American Safety Utility Corporation (ASU) on
18 March 1989 from defendant Siebe North (Siebe); thereafter, the
gloves were sold and delivered by ASU to plaintiff’s employer in
January 1990. Siebe sold the gloves as Class II lineman’s gloves, safe
for use with energized lines up to 17,000 volts. Plaintiff obtained the
gloves from his employer 23 January 1990 and suffered the subject
accident 26 January 1990.

Plaintiff commenced the instant products liability action by filing
a complaint 9 December 1992 and an amended complaint 19 January
1993. Suit was brought against Siebe as manufacturer of the gloves
worn by plaintiff at the time of the accident, as well as against seller
ASU and Duke Power, the latter not a party to this appeal.
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Contending he was injured “when electrical current completed as
a direct result of the dangerously defective condition of the subject
safety gloves,” plaintiff alleged claims of negligence against Siebe and
ASU based upon their failure, inter alia, to “exercise due care in the
testing, inspection, marketing, promotion, sale and/or delivery of the
subject safety gloves.” Plaintiff’s complaint also contained claims of
breach of express and implied warranties, including specifically “the
failure to provide necessary warnings.”

All defendants answered denying liability and asserting numerous
affirmative defenses, including contributory negligence, lack of priv-
ity, and alteration or damage to the gloves subsequent to defendants’
release of possession and control thereof.

Defendants Siebe and ASU moved for summary judgment on all
issues, and plaintiff sought summary disposition of the issues of
breach of implied warranty and contributory negligence. Following a
hearing 13 February 1995, the trial court granted defendants’ motions
and denied that of plaintiff. From these orders, plaintiff appeals.

We note at the outset that plaintiff has assigned error to the
denial of his motion for summary judgment on the issues of breach of
implied warranty and contributory negligence. Denial of a motion for
summary judgment is interlocutory and non-appealable. See Lamb v.
Wedgewood Corp., 308 N.C. 419, 424, 302 S.E.2d 868, 871 (1983).
Except as may arise in dealing with arguments properly before this
Court, therefore, we decline to consider plaintiff’s assignment of
error directed to denial of his motion for summary judgment.

It is well-established that

[t]o succeed in a summary judgment motion, the movant has the
burden of showing, based on pleadings, depositions, answers,
admissions, and affidavits, that there is no genuine issue of mate-
rial fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of
law.

Taylor v. Ashburn, 112 N.C. App. 604, 606, 436 S.E.2d 276, 278 (1993),
cert. denied, 336 N.C. 77, 445 S.E.2d 46 (1994). Summary judgment is
appropriate only when it appears that “even if the facts as claimed by
[the non-movant] are taken as true, there can be no recovery,” Lowder
v. Lowder, 68 N.C. App. 505, 506, 315 S.E.2d 520, 521, disc. review
denied, 311 N.C. 759, 321 S.E.2d 138 (1984), with the non-movant’s
materials being “indulgently regarded” and the movant’s “closely
scrutinized,” Burrow v. Westinghouse Electric Corp., 88 N.C. App.
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347, 350, 363 S.E.2d 215, 217, disc. review denied, 322 N.C. 111, 367
S.E.2d 910 (1988).

A summary judgment movant may meet its burden of showing the
lack of a triable issue of fact by demonstrating the non-existence of
an essential element of plaintiff’s claim or by establishing an affirma-
tive defense as a matter of law. Green v. Wellons, Inc., 52 N.C. App.
529, 532, 279 S.E.2d 37, 40 (1981). If a movant is successful in its
showing, the burden shifts to the non-movant to produce a forecast of
evidence sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact.
Cockerham v. Ward and Astrup Co. v. West Co., 44 N.C. App. 615,
618, 262 S.E.2d 651, 654, disc. review denied, 300 N.C. 195, 269 S.E.2d
622 (1980).

Plaintiff’s action, brought pursuant to the Products Liability Act
(the Act), see N.C. Gen. Stat. Chapter 99B (1989), is based on two sep-
arate theories—negligence and breach of warranty, both express and
implied. We discuss each separately.

I. Negligence

Summary judgment is generally inappropriate in a negligence
action, Brown v. Power Co., 45 N.C. App. 384, 386, 263 S.E.2d 366,
368, disc. review denied, 300 N.C. 194, 269 S.E.2d 615 (1980),

even when there is no dispute as to the facts, because the issue of
whether a party acted in conformity with the reasonable person
standard is ordinarily an issue to be determined by a jury.

Surrette v. Duke Power Co., 78 N.C. App. 647, 650, 338 S.E.2d 129, 131
(1986). See also Green, 52 N.C. App. at 532, 279 S.E.2d at 39 (because
of “peculiarly elusive nature of the term ‘negligence’, the jury gener-
ally should pass on the reasonableness of conduct in light of all the
circumstances of the case”). Notwithstanding, summary judgment
may be proper in a negligence action

where there is no question as to the credibility of witnesses and
the evidence shows either (1) a lack of any negligence on the part
of the defendant, or (2) that plaintiff was contributorily negligent
as a matter of law.

Surrette, 78 N.C. App. at 650-51, 338 S.E.2d at 131 (citations omitted).

The essential elements of a products liability action predicated
upon negligence are: “(1) evidence of a standard of care owed by the
reasonably prudent person in similar circumstances; (2) breach of
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that standard of care; (3) injury caused directly or proximately by the
breach, and; (4) loss because of the injury.” Ziglar v. Du Pont Co., 53
N.C. App. 147, 150, 280 S.E.2d 510, 513, disc. review denied, 304 N.C.
393, 285 S.E.2d 838 (1981) (citation omitted). In addition, a plaintiff
must present evidence the product was in a defective condition at the
time it left the defendant’s control. See Cockerham, 44 N.C. App. at
619, 262 S.E.2d at 655.

A manufacturer must use reasonable care in the design and man-
ufacture of products, and this includes the duty to perform “reason-
able tests and inspections to discover latent hazards.” Id. at 619, 262
S.E.2d at 654. Moreover, a manufacturer must exercise “the ‘highest’
or ‘utmost’ caution, commensurate with the risks of serious harm
involved, in the production of a dangerous instrumentality or sub-
stance.” Ziglar, 53 N.C. App. at 154, 280 S.E.2d at 515. See Corum v.
Tobacco Co., 205 N.C. 213, 216-17, 171 S.E. 78, 80 (1933) (dangerous
product is one which puts life and limb in great peril when negligently
made).

In addition, a manufacturer is under an obligation to provide
warnings of any dangers associated with the product’s use “suffi-
ciently intelligible and prominent to reach and protect all those who
may reasonably be expected to come into contact with {the product].”
Id. at 155, 280 S.E.2d at 516. Failure to warn adequately renders the
product defective. Ziglar, 53 N.C. App. at 155, 280 S.E.2d at 516.

A non-manufacturing seller acting as a “mere conduit” of the
product, on the other hand, ordinarily has no affirmative duty to
inspect and test a product made by a reputable manufacturer. See
Sutton v. Major Products Co., 91 N.C. App. 610, 614, 372 S.E.2d 897,
900 (1988). However, this rule does not stand where the seller knows
or has reason to know of a product’s dangerous propensity. Id.
Moreover, where the seller acts as more than a “mere conduit,” such
as in the case sub judice where seller performed product tests and
inspections, it must do so with reasonable care. See Crews v. W.A.
Brown & Son, 106 N.C. App. 324, 329-30, 416 S.E.2d at 924, 928 (1992)
(seller not mere conduit if it performs “auxiliary functions in connec-
tion with sale” such as assembling and installing product); see also
Baker v. Dept. of Correction, 85 N.C. App. 345, 346, 354 S.E.2d 733,
734 (1987) (“law imposes upon every [entity which] enters upon an
active course of conduct a positive duty to exercise ordinary care to
protect others from harm and a violation of such duty constitutes
negligence”).
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Further, the exercise of due care requires a seller to warn of any
hazard associated with use of a product if: (1) the seller has “actual
or constructive knowledge of a particular threatening characteristic
of the product;” and (2) the seller “has reason to know that the pur-
chaser will not realize the product’s menacing propensities for him-
self.” Ziglar, 53 N.C. App. at 151, 280 S.E.2d at 513.

[1] Review of the record in light of the foregoing principles reveals
the existence of a genuine issue of material fact as to the alleged fail-
ure of defendants Siebe and ASU to test and inspect the gloves prop-
erly and to convey adequate warning of potential deficiencies in the
gloves.

At the summary judgment hearing, defendants presented evi-
dence tending to show their compliance with industry inspection
procedures for lineman safety gloves, including the subject gloves
herein. Each defendant presented evidence it had conducted indus-
try standard visual inspections and dielectric safety tests on the
gloves used by plaintiff on 26 January 1990, the Siebe test taking place
on or about 17 February 1989 and the ASU test on or about 12 January
1990.

Dielectric testing is a process of immersing and filling a glove in
a vat of water, and then subjecting the inside and outside of the glove
to increasing voltage. If the glove fails to insulate, a circuit is com-
pleted and the failure is recorded by the testing machine. Siebe’s evi-
dence indicated the gloves withstood dielectric testing of 20,000 volts
for three minutes; ASU indicated it utilized a dielectric test of 20,000
volts for one and one-half minutes.

Defense counsel for ASU argued plaintiff had failed to present
evidence of a discoverable defect, and Siebe’s counsel contended
there was no proof a defect existed when the gloves left Siebe’s pos-
session approximately 10 months prior to the accident. Ultimately,
both defendants maintained the gloves must have been damaged by
plaintiff in use or storage during the three days prior to the accident,
and further argued that plaintiff’s post-accident tests, which revealed
defects in both gloves, had been improperly performed.

In contrast, plaintiff presented evidence, including his cross-
examination at deposition of defense witnesses, that (1) there were
no signs plaintiff had abused or misused the gloves or that the gloves
had been improperly stored subsequent to leaving defendants’ pos-
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session, (2) that line workers, including plaintiff, were expected to
rely on rubber safety gloves such as those at issue for protection from
electrocution, and were permitted to do so by the National Electrical
Safety Code and OSHA, and (3) that plaintiff had been electrocuted at
approximately 7,200 volts—far less than the rated “use” voltage of
17,000 for the gloves.

Plaintiff also presented evidence that the right and left hand
gloves each failed dielectric testing subsequent to the accident.
According to statistical evidence developed from Siebe’s own pro-
duction reports and presented by plaintiff’s expert, failure of this test
by both gloves was a virtual impossibility if both Siebe and ASU had
indeed properly tested the gloves as they asserted. In addition, the
expert countered defendants’ claims that plaintiff’s test results were
unreliable due to failure to wash the gloves prior to testing, and pre-
sented an explanation of why the right hand glove failed in the field
at approximately 7,200 volts, but a failure did not register during sub-
sequent testing until 10,000-15,000 volts were administered. Further,
record evidence tended to show that despite defendant Siebe’s knowl-
edge that a certain percentage of gloves would fail in the field due to
manufacturing defects, Siebe warned neither ASU nor line workers
such as plaintiff of the potential for failure.

Finally, regarding the less-contested element of proximate cause,
plaintiff presented evidence that burns on plaintiff’s right hand corre-
lated precisely with the area of the gloves which failed during post-
accident testing.

Viewing the record in the light most favorable to plaintiff, see
Lowder, 68 N.C. App. at 506, 315 S.E.2d at 521, we conclude plaintiff
produced a forecast of evidence sufficient to create a genuine issue
of material fact in response to defendants’ attempted showing of the
non-existence of an essential element of plaintiff’s negligence claim.
See Green, 52 N.C. App. at 532, 279 S.E.2d at 40. Most notably, evi-
dence of the electrocution of plaintiff at 7,200 volts, far less than the
“use” rating of the gloves, evidence of certain manufacturing defects
in the gloves, and the testimony of plaintiff’s expert calling into ques-
tion defendants’ assurances of testing and inspecting the gloves, work
to offset defendants’ showing. Questions of fact therefore remain
regarding whether defendants “acted in conformity with the reason-
able person standard,” see Surrette, 78 N.C. App. at 650, 338 S.E.2d at
131, in testing and inspecting the gloves and, particularly as to
defendant Siebe, in providing adequate warmnings.
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II. Breach of Warranties

Because plaintiff did not assign as error the trial court’s entry of
summary judgment for defendants on the issue of express warranty,
this issue is not properly before the Court, see N.C. R. App. P. 10(a),
and we do not address it.

ASU and Siebe first attack plaintiff’s claim of breach of implied
warranty by asserting lack of privity. As to ASU, which sold the
gloves, we find this argument persuasive.

[2] Privity via a contractual relationship between the plaintiff and
the seller or manufacturer of an allegedly defective product is
required to maintain a suit for breach of implied warranty, “[e]xcept
where the barrier of privity has been legislatively or judicially
removed.” Crews, 106 N.C. App. at 331, 416 S.E.2d at 929. Regarding
an action against a “manufacturer” under the Act, our General
Assembly in G.S. § 99B-2(b) has eliminated the privity requirement
for employees of the buyer. See id. at 332, 416 S.E.2d at 929-30.
However, a buyer’s employee nonetheless is barred from suit against
a seller grounded upon breach of implied warranty in that neither the
Act, see G.S. Chapter 99B, nor the U.C.C. provisions regarding implied
warranties, see N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 25-2-314 to 25-2-318 (1986), abolish
the privity requirement in such instance. See Crews, 106 N.C. App. at
332-33, 416 S.E.2d at 930.

[38] The involvement of ASU as seller in testing and inspecting the
gloves does not fulfill the definitional requirements of a “manufac-
turer” under the Act. See G.S. § 99B-1(2). Plaintiff’s products liability
claim against ASU predicated upon breach of implied warranty was
therefore barred, and entry of summary judgment in favor of ASU on
this issue was not error.

[4] However, it is undisputed that Siebe qualifies as a manufacturer
under G.S. § 99B-1(2), and plaintiff’s implied warranty claim against it
thus is not precluded by lack of privity. See G.S. § 99B-2(b).
Notwithstanding, Siebe further argues summary judgment in its favor
was proper because it demonstrated the absence of an essential ele-
ment of plaintiff’s implied warranty claim. We disagree.

A successful plaintiff in a breach of implied warranty of mer-
chantability action under G.S. § 25-2-314 and, by reference, under the
Act, see Morrison v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 319 N.C. 298, 303, 354
S.E.2d 495, 498 (1987), must prove (1) the goods bought and sold
were subject to an implied warranty, (2) the goods did not comply
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with the warranty in that they were defective at the time of sale, (3)
the defective nature of the goods caused injury; and (4) that damages
resulted. Id. at 301, 354 S.E.2d at 497. Moreover, an action for breach
of implied warranty of merchantability may be based upon the manu-
facturer’s failure to warn. Bryant v. Adams, 116 N.C. App. 448, 465,
448 S.E.2d 832, 841 (1994), disc. review denied, 339 N.C. 736, 454
S.E.2d 647 (1995).

Specifically, Siebe contends it is entitled to summary judgment by
virtue of having demonstrated a failure of the evidence relating to the
second element—proof of defect at the time of sale. However, having
determined above there exists a genuine issue of material fact regard-
ing the existence of a defect in the gloves at the time they left Siebe’s
possession, we similarly conclude those issues of fact to be present
with reference to plaintiff’s claim of breach of implied warranty
against Siebe.

III. Contributory Negligence

Finally, both Siebe and ASU argue summary judgment was in any
event proper on grounds plaintiff was contributorily negligent as a
matter of law. Assuming arguendo contributory negligence acts as a
bar to products liability actions based upon either negligence or
breach of warranty, see Charles E. Daye & Mark W. Morris, North
Carolina Law of Torts, § 26.42 (1991) (contributory negligence nor-
mally not a bar in action for breach of warranty, because “the
defenses set out in section 99B-4 protect the manufacturer or seller
from liability in ‘any products liability action;’ ” presumably contribu-
tory negligence available no matter what the theory of recovery); see
also Gillespie v. American Motors Corp., 69 N.C. App. 531, 533, 317
S.E.2d 32, 33 (1984) (contributory negligence acted as bar to recovery
of damages “whether plaintiff’s claim [was] based on negligence or
breach of warranty”), defendants’ argument fails.

We note initially that the burden of proof on the issue of contrib-
utory negligence rests with defendants, and that

[w]hen the party with the burden of proof moves for summary
judgment [it] must show that there are no genuine issues of fact,
that there are no gaps in [its] proof, [and] that no inferences
inconsistent with [its] prevailing on the motion] arise from the
evidence. . ..

Parks Chevrolet, Inc. v. Watkins, 74 N.C. App. 719, 721, 329 S.E.2d
728, 729 (1985). Further, as with ordinary negligence actions, sum-
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mary judgment is appropriate on issues of contributory negligence
only where “no other reasonable conclusion may be reached.”
Bryant, 116 N.C. App. at 472, 448 S.E.2d at 845 (citation omitted).

In N.C. Gen. Stat. § 99B-4, the Act codifies contributory negli-
gence as it applies to product liability actions and additionally “sets
out or explains more specialized fact patterns which would amount to
contributory negligence in a products liability action.” Champs
Convenience Stores v. United Chemical Co., 329 N.C. 446, 452-53, 406
S.E.2d 856, 860 (1991). The section provides:

No manufacturer or seller shall be held liable in any product
liability action if:

(3) The claimant failed to exercise reasonable care under the cir-
cumstances in his use of the product, and such failure was a prox-
imate cause of the occurrence that caused injury or damage to
the claimant.

G.S. § 99B-4(3) (1989) (emphasis added).

[5] Defendants maintain that plaintiff’s action should be barred as a
matter of law because he “failed to exercise reasonable care under
the circumstances” as required by the statute. In the main, defendants
point to plaintiff’s failure to secure or monitor adequately the position
of the hoses placed over the energized lines, his failure to keep his
helmet properly secured and to retrieve it immediately after it blew
off, and his performance of the job in the proximity of energized lines
when it could have been completed after de-energizing the lines.

On the other hand, plaintiff emphasizes that

[s]ection 99B-4(3) requires that the failure of the Plaintiff to
exercise reasonable care must be in his use of the product
involved in the case.

(emphasis in original). Therefore, plaintiff continues, contributory
negligence does not apply unless plaintiff’s use of the gloves was
unreasonable under the circumstances, regardless of any alleged
failure otherwise to employ safety devices and act in an appropriate
manner.

In resolving the question raised by plaintiff, our duty is to con-
strue G.S. § 99B-4(3) in context with other provisions of the Act, or as
a “composite whole” so as to harmonize the sections in order to effec-
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tuate legislative intent. Duke Power Co. v. City of High Point, 69 N.C.
App. 378, 387, 317 S.E.2d 701, 706, disc. review denied, 312 N.C. 82,
321 S.E.2d 895 (1984). See also Turlington v. McLeod, 323 N.C. 591,
594, 374 S.E.2d 394, 397 (1988) (“In the construction of statutes, [the
court’s] primary task is to determine legislative intent while giving
the language of the statute its natural and ordinary meaning unless
the context requires otherwise.”).

A manufacturer or seller can avoid liability under the Act if, under
G.S. § 99B-4(1), plaintiff was negligent in his “use of the product . . .
contrary to any express and adequate instructions or warnings,” or
additionally, under G.S. § 99B-4(2), if plaintiff “use[d] . . . the product”
even after his discovery of a “defect or unreasonably dangerous con-
dition.” Interpreting G.S. § 99B-4(3) in context with these neighboring
subsections, we conclude it likewise requires the negligence of a
plaintiff to be in the “use of the [allegedly defective] product.”

Indeed, research reveals that in the cases before our Courts in
which contributory negligence under G.S. 99B-4 has been alleged, all
have involved the plaintiff’s use of the alleged defective product. See,
e.g., Champs, 329 N.C. 446, 406 S.E.2d 856 (1991); Finney v. Rose’s
Stores, Inc., 120 N.C. App. 843, 463 S.E.2d 823 (1995), cert. denied,
343 N.C. 306, 471 S.E.2d 70 (1996); Bryant, 116 N.C. App. 448, 448
S.E.2d 832 (1994); Morgan v. Cavalier Acquisition Corp., 111 N.C.
App. 520, 432 S.E.2d 915, disc. review denied, 335 N.C. 238, 439
S.E.2d 149 (1993); Smith v. Selco Products, Inc., 96 N.C. App. 151, 385
S.E.2d 173 (1989), disc. review denied, 326 N.C. 598, 393 S.E.2d 883
(1990). See also Sexton by and through Sexton v. Bell Helmets, Inc.,
926 F.2d 331, 338-39 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 820, 116 L. Ed. 2d
52 (1991) (although plaintiff’'s negligence in operating unlighted
motorcycle at sundown while traveling too close to center line and
not watching road may have contributed to collision, “no evidence
has been advanced to show that he negligently used the helmet or
that the negligent use of the helmet was a cause of his injuries;” plain-
tiff’s product liability action against helmet manufacturer thus not
barred by applicable contributory negligence statute, Ky. Rev. Stat.
Ann. § 411.320(3), nearly identical to G.S. § 99B-4(3) herein).

[6] In the event G.S. §99B-4 requires, as we have held, lack of rea-
sonable care by plaintiff in use of the gloves, defendants contend
plaintiff’s exclusive reliance upon his gloves to protect himself from
electrocution constitutes contributory negligence as a matter of law.
This argument is unavailing in that it comprises a circular reassertion
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of defendants’ contention that plaintiff was negligent in general—as
opposed to in his use of the product—by failing to employ other
means of ensuring his safety from electrocution.

Defendants further assert plaintiff damaged the gloves or failed to
store them properly during the three day period of his possession,
and that he failed to examine the gloves for damage prior to use.
Assuming arguendo such contentions find support in the evidence,
we cannot say “no other reasonable conclusion may be reached,”
Bryant, 116 N.C. App. at 472, 448 S.E.2d at 845, and hence defendants
likewise do not establish as a matter of law plaintiff’s negligent use of
the gloves “under the circumstances.” See also Smith v. Fiber
Controls Corp., 300 N.C. 669, 673, 268 S.E.2d 504, 507 (1980)
(“Plaintiff may be contributorily negligent if his conduct ignores
unreasonable risks or dangers which would have been apparent to a
prudent person exercising ordinary care for his own safety.”).

Based on the foregoing, we affirm the entry of summary judgment
in favor of ASU on the issue of breach of implied warranty and in
favor of both defendants on the issue of breach of express warranty.
However, regarding the issues of the defendants’ negligence, Siebe's
breach of implied warranty, and plaintiff’s contributory negligence,
the grant of summary judgment is reversed.

Affirmed in part; reversed in part.

Judges EAGLES and WALKER concur.

JOSEPH M. KISIAH, EMPLOYEE, PLAINTIFF v. W.R. KISIAH PLUMBING, INCORPO-
RATED, EMPLOYER; SELF-INSURED, (CONSOLIDATED ADMINISTRATORS), CARRIER,
DEFENDANT

No. COA95-878
(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Workers’ Compensation § 420 (NCI4th)— disability com-
pensation—defendant’s unilateral modification

The issue of plaintiff’s disability compensation was remanded
to the Industrial Cormmission for rehearing where plaintiff was
injured at a work site; a Form 21 Agreement was entered into by
plaintiff and defendant and approved by the Industrial
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Commission; plaintiff received temporary total disability pay-
ments and undertook treatment; he returned to work on 6
January 1993 on a part-time basis in a different capacity earning
less; defendant discontinued payment of disability compensation
beginning 6 January 1993, despite having received no approval to
do so by the Commission; plaintiff was fired because he refused
to discuss a pending lawsuit related to the injury; defendant
unilaterally mailed plaintiff a check in April which ostensibly rep-
resented an amount the employer-defendant deemed proper as
payment for temporary partial disability; after the lump sum pay-
ment, defendant began paying plaintiff a sum it decided was
appropriate as temporary partial disability; and the full
Commission concluded that plaintiff failed to establish that he
continued after 6 January to suffer a loss of wage earning capac-
ity, that plaintiff had the burden of proving disability and its
extent, that plaintiff was not entitled to benefits, and that defend-
ant was entitled to a credit for all temporary partial disability paid
after 6 January 1993. A Form 21 agreement has long been
regarded as constituting an award by the Commission and a pre-
sumption of disability exists to the benefit of the employee when-
ever a disability award is made by the Commission. Challenges to
an award must thereafter be made pursuant to the processes
mandated by the Act.

Am Jur 2d, Workers’ Compensation § 431.

Tort liability of worker’s compensation insurer for
wrongful delay or refusal to make payments when due. 8
ALR4th 902.

. Workers’ Compensation § 290 (NCI4th)— disability—
employer’s unilateral modification of benefits—credits for
payments

It was improper for the Industrial Commission to conclude
that credit should be given to defendant for disability payments
made to plaintiff after defendant unilaterally and therefore
improperly determined that plaintiff’s return to work modified a
Form 21 agreement. Credits should be given only if they were not
due and payable when made and plaintiff was presumptively due
payments pursuant to the Form 21 agreement until a contrary
determination was made be the Commission.

Am Jur 2d, Workers’ Compensation §§ 416, 545.
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Tort liability of worker’s compensation insurer for
wrongful delay or refusal to make payments when due. 8
ALR4th 902.

3. Workers’ Compensation § 301 (NCI4th)— disability—
unilateral modification—penalty

The Industrial Commission erred by determining that no
basis existed upon which to assess a penalty against defendant
where defendant voluntarily ceased making disability payments
without the permission of the Commission, then decided to
resume payments at a level it deemed proper. This is the exact
behavior N.C.G.S. § 97-18 was enacted to prevent.

Am Jur 2d, Workers’ Compensation §§ 226, 480, 684.

Tort liability of worker’s compensation insurer for
wrongful delay or refusal to make payments when due. 8
ALR4th 902.

Appeal by plaintiff from opinion and award entered 29 April 1995
by the Full Commission. Heard in the Court of Appeals 27 March
1996.

Waggoner, Hamrick, Hasty, Monteith and Kratt, PL.L.C., by
S. Dean Hamrick, for plaintiff appellant.

Teague, Rotenstreich and Stanaland, L.L.P, by Laurie R.
Stegall, for defendant appellee.

SMITH, Judge.

Plaintiff appeals from the opinion and award of the Full
Commission, whereby the Full Commission, inter alia, concluded
that plaintiff failed to prove continuing entitlement to either tempo-
rary total or partial disability payments after 6 January 1993, and that
defendant was entitled to a credit for all temporary partial disability
benefits paid plaintiff after 6 January 1993. Due to the Full
Commission’s (Commission) failure to apply the proper presumption
of disability in favor of plaintiff, we reverse.

The facts necessary to resolution of this case are as follows.
Plaintiff Joseph M. Kisiah, a construction worker, was burned by
scalding water while attempting to turn off a valve attached to a rup-
tured pipe at a work site in Charlotte, North Carolina. Pursuant to
this injury, a Form 21 Agreement was entered into by plaintiff and
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defendant, and approved by the Industrial Commission. The Form 21
Agreement stated “[t]hat said employee sustained an injury by acci-
dent arising out of and in the course of said employment on the fol-
lowing date: 4/27/92.”

Thereafter, plaintiff began to receive temporary total disability
payments. Plaintiff undertook treatment for first- and second-degree
burns to his legs and feet, and treatment for “diagnosed post-
traumatic and abductor tendinitis due to deep partial thickness scald-
ing burns of both legs.” Following this treatment and a rehabilitative
regimen, plaintiff was released for light duty work by his physician.

On 6 January 1993, plaintiff returned to work on a part-time basis
for defendant, not in his former capacity as a construction superin-
tendent at a weekly wage of $582.96, but as a shop foreman earning
$10.00 an hour. At the start of plaintiff’s third week back at work, at
which time he was scheduled to begin full-time duties, he was fired by
defendant. Plaintiff was fired because he refused to discuss a pending
lawsuit related to the instant injury with defendant. Beginning 6
January 1993, defendant discontinued payment of disability compen-
sation to plaintiff, despite having received no approval to do so by the
Commission.

Plaintiff, on 2 February 1993, filed a Form 33 request for a hear-
ing before the Commission. Plaintiff’s Form 33 request alleged that
defendant had “terminated all compensation payments without secur-
ing Industrial Commission approval.” On or about 20 April 1993,
defendant unilaterally mailed plaintiff a check in the amount of
$3,462.97. This payment ostensibly represented an amount the
employer-defendant deemed proper as payment for temporary partial
disability compensation. According to defendant, the $3,462.97 check
was intended to serve as a temporary partial disability payment for
the period during which defendant had ceased all payments to plain-
tiff; after this lump sum payment, defendant began paying plaintiff a
sum it decided was appropriate as “temporary partial disability.”

On 24 May 1993, defendant submitted a Form 33R response
admitting termination of benefits and noting plaintiff “ha[d] received
all compensation to which he was entitled.” Defendant’s unilateral
change in compensation to plaintiff was never approved by the
Commission. After a hearing before the Deputy Commissioner of the
Industrial Commission, plaintiff appealed to the Full Commission.
The Full Commission’s opinion and award included the following con-
clusions of law:
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1. Plaintiff returned to work for defendant and the pre-
sumption of disability ended. After he was terminated by
defendant, he failed to make any effort to look for employment
suitable to his capacity, given his very limited work restriction
regarding safety shoes. By failing to look for suitable employ-
ment, plaintiff failed to establish that he continued after 6
January 1993 to suffer a loss of wage earning capacity as a result
of the injury of 27 April 1992. See Russell v. Lowes, 108 N.C. App.
762 (1993). It is well established that plaintiff has the burden of
proving disability and its extent. Therefore, plaintiff is not enti-
tled to benefits under either G.5. §97-29 or G.S. §97-30 after 6
January 1993.

2. Pursuant to G.S. §97-42, defendant is entitled to a credit
for all temporary partial disability benefits paid to plaintiff after 6
January 1993.

* ook ok %k

5. There is no basis to assess attorney fees pursuant to G.S.
§97-88.1 or other penalties.

(Emphasis added.) These conclusions of law are erroneous, and we
address each, in seriatim.!

I. The Form 21 Presumption of Disability

[1] At the onset, we note that, if findings of fact made by the
Industrial Commission “‘are predicated on an erroneous view of
the law or a misapplication of the law, they are not conclusive on
appeal.’ " Radica v. Carolina Mills, 113 N.C. App. 440, 446, 439 S.E.2d
185, 190 (1994) (quoting Simon v. Triangle Materials, Inc., 106 N.C.
App. 39, 41, 415 S.E.2d 105, 106 (1992)). The Full Commission’s
Conclusion of Law No. 1 contains at least two independent legal
misapprehensions. First, under the facts of this case, the burden of
proof was on the employer, not the employee, to demonstrate that
plaintiff was no longer entitled to his disability award. Second, an
employee’s presumption of disability may not be defeated merely by
a return to work.

1. The statutory law applicable to this case is that which was in effect at the time
liability for temporary total disability was admitted by the employer, 19 May 1992. After
this date plaintiff’s claim was not “pending.” See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-18.1 (Cum. Supp.
1995) (indicating amendments to the Workers’ Compensation Act effective 1 October
1994 and/or 1 January 1995 applicable only to claims “pending on or filed” after these
dates).
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This Court has repeatedly held that a Form 21 agreement
(approved by the Commission) represents an admission of liability by
the employer for disability compensation pursuant to the Workers’
Compensation Act (the “Act”). Dalton v. Anvil Knitwear, 119 N.C.
App. 275, 282-83, 458 S.E.2d 251, 256-57, disc. review denied and cert.
denied, 341 N.C. 647, 462 S.E.2d 507 (1995); see also Radica, 113 N.C.
App. at 447, 439 S.E.2d at 190 (Form 21 agreement is an admission by
employer of liability, entitling employee to continuing presumption of
disability). In this case a Form 21 was entered into by the parties and
approved by the Commission. Once this Form 21 agreement was in
place, a concomitant presumption of disability attached in favor of
the employee. Dalton, 119 N.C. App. at 283-84, 458 S.E.2d at 257, The
Form 21 presumption of disability is a rule of law at least 25 years old,
Watkins Central v. Motor Lines, Inc., 279 N.C. 132, 137-38, 181 S.E.2d
588, 592 (1971), and is the equivalent of proof that plaintiff is dis-
abled. Dalton, 119 N.C. App. at 283-84, 458 S.E.2d at 257. After the
presumption attached, “the burden shift[ed] to [the employer-defend-
ant] to show that plaintiff is employable.” Id. at 284, 458 S.E.2d at 257.

The instant Form 21 agreement “ ‘for the payment of compensa-
tion, [once] approved by the Commission, [was] as binding on the par-
ties as an order, decision or award of the Commission unappealed
from.”” Id. at 282, 458 S.E.2d at 257 (quoting Brookover v. Borden,
100 N.C. App. 754, 756, 398 S.E.2d 604, 606 (1990)). Once the Form
21 agreement was reached and approved, “ ‘no party . . . [could]
thereafter be heard to deny the truth of the matters therein set
forth . ... ” Dalton, 119 N.C. App. at 282, 458 S.E.2d at 257 (citation
omitted).

In its Conclusion of Law No. 1 the Commission incorrectly enun-
ciates the burden of proof, and strips plaintiff of his Form 21 pre-
sumption of disability. Needless to say, proper placement of the pre-
sumption and the burden of proof in a change of (disability) condition
situation, can be, and often is, outcome determinative. In fact, the
instant matters pivot entirely on these two factors. Here, the
Commission straightforwardly noted where it placed the burden of
proof and why—as Conclusion of Law No. 1 speaks for itself:
“Plaintiff returned to work for defendant and the presumption of dis-
ability ended. . . . See Russell v. Lowes, 108 N.C. App. 762, {425 S.E.2d
454] (1993). It is well established that plaintiff has the burden of
proving disability and its extent. Therefore, plaintiff is not entitled to
benefits under either G.S. § 97-29 [total incapacity] or G.S. § 97-30
[partial incapacity] after 6 January 1993.” (Emphasis added.)
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Defendant’s argument runs much the same line. Citing 1.C. Rule
404 (1996) (1.C. Rule or Rule) as authority, defendant argues that once
“the plaintiff returned to work with the defendant-employer, the
defendant-employer was entitled to suspend compensation without
the requirement of a Form 24 [request to terminate benefits].” On the
basis of Rule 404, defendant unilaterally cancelled its obligations to
plaintiff under the existing Form 21 agreement, and the Commission
agreed that defendant was entitled to do so.

Indeed, a facial reading of Rule 404 and Russell might lead an
arbiter of law to conclude that a return to work reallocates the bur-
den of proof upon challenge by an employer. Defendant’s reallocation
theory apparently originates from this Court’s seemingly unqualified
recitation of law in Russell, 108 N.C. App. at 765, 425 S.E.2d at 457, to
wit: “The burden is on the employee to show that he is unable to earn
the same wages he had earned before the injury, either in the same
employment or in other employment.” (Emphasis added.) 1.C. Rule
404 appears to tack the same course; it instructs that “in cases where
the award is to pay compensation during disability, there is a rebut-
table presumption that disability continues wntil the employee
returns to work.” (Emphasis added.) The underlying assumption of
these statements, when viewed in isolation, is that a return to work
exacts a transformative effect on the burdens of proof and entitle-
ment to disability between the employer and disabled employee. Such
an assumption is unfounded.

Pursuant to the above authority, the Commission approved
defendant’s self-asserted cancellation of plaintiff’s benefits. The prob-
lem with the Commission’s reliance on Russell, and defendant’s
corresponding Rule 404 argument, is that such actions misread the
holding of Russell, and thereby overextend Russell’s intended perime-
ter. “Russell only addresses the burdens of the parties in the context
of a hearing where there has been no previous determination that the
employee is disabled.” Stone v. G & G Builders, 121 N.C. App. 671,
675, 468 S.E.2d 510, 512-13, disc. review allowed, 343 N.C. 757, 473
S.E.2d 627 (1996). At the time of the Full Commission’s ruling in the
instant case, there had already been a determination that the
employee was disabled—that was the purpose and effect of the Form
21 agreement. Thus, the rule enumerated in Russell is inapplicable to
an employee entitled to rely on a Form 21 presumption.

The second part of defendant’s (and the Commission’s) analysis
also fails. Defendant’s argument is thus: Employee returns to work,
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therefore the employee’s presumptive right to continued disability
payments ends, so defendant has no further obligation to pay—and
may cancel the Form 21 disability award without further ado. If this
is what defendant and the Commission apprehend Rule 404 and
Russell to stand for, then they are in error.

The viability of I.C. Rule 404 has been questioned before. In
Martin v. Piedmont Asphalt & Paving Co., 113 N.C. App. 121, 124,
437 S.E.2d 696, 698 (1993) (Martin I), this Court voided the use
of a Form 24 as a means to administratively terminate disability
awards under I.C. Rule 404; in other words the employee was not
afforded an opportunity for a hearing pursuant to §§ 97-83 or 97-84.
This Court’s decision in Martin I was subsequently overruled on pro-
cedural grounds by our Supreme Court in Martin v. Piedmont
Asphalt and Paving, 337 N.C. 785, 788-89, 448 S.E.2d 380, 382 (1994)
(Martin II) (vacating Martin I as, inter alia, an advisory opinion).
Although Martin I has no precedential effect, it is nonetheless
instructive.

At the time of the Martin I decision, the Commission had estab-
lished a practice of allowing employers to stop disability payments by
filing a Form 24. Martin I, 113 N.C. App. at 124, 437 S.E.2d at 698.
Once filed, a Commission administrator would “process” the forms by
stamping them “approved” or “denied.” Id. The Martin Court held
that disability awards could be changed only as provided by statute,
id. at 125-26, 437 S.E.2d at 699, and disavowed any “administrative
[Commission] procedure which allows and condones the termination
of compensation by an employer and the employer’s insurance carrier
by the mere filing of an Industrial Commission form (Form 24) ....”
Id. at 124, 437 S.E.2d at 697-98.

In the instant case, the Commission not only failed to honor the
presumption of disability to which plaintiff was due, it also sanc-
tioned the equivalent of an administrative termination, by holding:
“Plaintiff returned to work for defendant and the presumption of dis-
ability ended. . . . Therefore, plaintiff is not entitled to benefits under
either G.S. §97-29 [total incapacity] or G.S. §97-30 [partial incapac-
ity] after 6 January 1993.” In this case, defendant decided it owed no
more to plaintiff, and cancelled the Commission’s Form 21 award.
Thus, the Commission’s Conclusion of Law No. 1 is tantamount to a
holding that an employee’s return to work is a per se change in dis-
ability, allowing an employer to terminate an award. This position is
incorrect.
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It appears from the instant Commission’s opinion, and defend-
ant’s arguments, that each has misconstrued the determinative factor
underlying disability, which is “post-injury earning capacity . 7
Tyndall v. Walter Kidde Co., 102 N.C. App. 726, 730, 403 SE2d
548, 550, disc. review denied 329 N.C. 505, 407 S.E.2d 553 (1991)
(emphasis added). “An employee’s release to return to work is not
the equivalent of a finding that the employee is able to earn the same
wage earned prior to the injury, nor does it automatically deprive an
employee of the [Form 21} presumption.” Radica, 113 N.C. App. at
447, 439 S.E.2d at 190 (emphasis added). For instance, even if an
employee returns to work at a pre-injury wage level, this evi-
dence alone may “‘be an unreliable basis for estimating [earn-
ing] capacity.” ” Tyndall, 102 N.C. App. at 730, 403 S.E.2d at 550
(quoting 2 Larson’s Workmen’s Compensation Law § 57.21(d) at
10-125).

For referential purposes, we also note that our rules of evidence,
though not technically binding on the Commission, “impose[] on the
party against whom [the presumption] is directed the burden of going
forward with evidence to rebut or meet the presumption . . ..” N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 301 (1992) (emphasis added); and see Maley v.
Thomasville Furniture Co., 214 N.C. 589, 594-95, 200 S.E. 438, 441-42
(1939) (Industrial Commission not bound to strict adherence to the
Rules of Evidence).

Needless to say, only a duly authorized body may make a “find-
ing,” or take “evidence,” and in the workers’ compensation context,
an employer is not such a body. This Court has long recognized
that the Industrial Commission is the sole fact finding agency in
workers’ compensation cases. Vieregge v. N.C. State University, 105
N.C. App. 633, 638, 414 S.E.2d 771, 774 (1992). Determinations of dis-
ability under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-2(9) require application of law
to fact, or otherwise put, the making of findings and conclusions of
law. See Radica, 113 N.C. App. at 446-47, 439 S.E.2d at 189-90;
Hilliard v. Apex Cabinet Co., 305 N.C. 593, 595, 290 S.E.2d 682, 683
(1982); West v. J.P. Stevens Co., 12 N.C. App. 456, 460, 183 S.E.2d 876,
879 (1971).

Thus, absent a settlement with the employee, an award of tempo-
rary total disability cannot be undone without resort to a lawful deter-
mination by the Commission that the employee’s disability no longer
exists—which will require the application of law to fact and, there-
fore, a hearing. Radica, 113 N.C. App. at 446-47, 439 S.E.2d at 189-90
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(the Act requires the Commission to make findings when passing on
disability issues). N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-83 is unequivocal about the
need for a hearing; it states

if [the employer and employee] have reached such an agreement
[for disability payments] which has been signed and filed with the
Commission, and compensation has been paid or is due in
accordance therewith, and the parties thereto then disagree as to
the continuance of any weekly payment under such agreement,
either party may make application to the Industrial Commis-
sion for a hearing in regard to the matters at issue, and for a
ruling thereon.

(Emphasis added.)

Given the requirement of a hearing, it necessarily follows that
only the Commission can ascertain whether an employer has pre-
sented evidence rebutting a Form 21 presumption of disability. See
Franklin v. Broyhill Furniture Industries, 123 N.C. App. 200, 209,
472 S.E.2d 382, 388 (1996) (Walker, J., concurring) (discussing ways
an employer may rebut the presumption of total disability). Unless
the presumption is waived by the employee, no change in disability
compensation may occur absent the opportunity for a hearing.
Radica, 113 N.C. App. at 447-48, 439 S.E.2d at 190; see also, Martin,
113 N.C. App. at 124-25, 437 S.E.2d at 699-700. We note that one such
way a waiver might occur is when an employee and employer settle
their compensation dispute in a manner consistent with N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 97-17, and that settlement is subsequently approved by the
Commission. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-17.

Once (or if) a hearing occurs, the existence of a Form 21 agree-
ment entitles the employee to rely on the “benefit of [the] presump-
tion that she is totally disabled.” Franklin, 123 N.C. App. at 205, 472
S.E.2d at 386. The employee need not present evidence at the hearing
unless and until the employer “claim[ing] that the plaintiff ¢s capable
of earning wages . . . come(s] forward with evidence to show not only
that suitable jobs are available, but also that the plaintiff is capable of
getting one, taking into account both physical and vocational limita-
tions.” Kennedy v. Duke University Med. Ctr., 101 N.C. App. 24, 33,
398 S.E.2d 677, 682 (1990) (emphasis supplied) (emphasis added).
Again, capacity to earn is the benchmark test of disability, so mere
proof of a return to work is insufficient to rebut the Form 21 pre-
sumption. Radica, 113 N.C. App. at 447, 439 S.E.2d at 190. Necessarily
then, the Commission’s conclusion that plaintiff “returned to work for
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defendant and the presumption of disability ended . . . [t]herefore,
plaintiff is not entitled to benefits . . .” cannot stand.

In summary, the presumption of disability inures to the benefit of
an employee whenever a disability award is made by the Commission.
Dalton, 119 N.C. App. at 282, 283, 458 S.E.2d at 256, 257; Watkins, 279
N.C. at 137, 181 S.E.2d at 592. A Form 21 agreement has long been
regarded by this Court as “constitut{ing] an award by the
Commission, enforceable if necessary, by a court decree.” Watkins,
279 N.C. at 138, 181 S.E.2d at 593; Dalton, 119 N.C. App. at 282, 458
S.E.2d at 256; see also N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-82. Such an award is “con-
clusive and binding as to all questions of fact.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-86
(1991). Challenges to an award must thereafter be made pursuant to
the processes mandated by the Act.

In this case, defendant made its own determination that a change
of condition had occurred, to wit, that plaintiff had returned to work;
therefore defendant’s obligation to continue disability payments had
ceased. Given the precedent directly contradicting this proposition,
we remand the issue of plaintiff’s disability compensation for rehear-
ing to the Full Commission.

II. Credit for Temporary Total Disability Payments

[2] The Commission’s failure to properly apply the presumption of
total disability in favor of plaintiff eviscerates its conclusions regard-
ing a credit for monies paid by the employer for “temporary total
disability.” As we stated above, plaintiff was presumptively due pay-
ments for total disability pursuant to the Form 21 agreement up and
until the date of a contrary determination by the Commission. In the
instant award, the Commission concluded (in Conclusion of Law No.
2) that defendant was due a credit for “all temporary partial disability
benefits paid to plaintiff after 6 January 1993.”

Apparently, the Commission made this determination based on its
Conclusion of Law No. 1. Conclusion of Law No. 1 states that “plain-
tiff is not entitled to benefits under either G.S. § 97-29 [temporary
total disability] or G.S. § 97-30 [temporary partial disability] after 6
January 1993.” This proposition is untenable since plaintiff was pre-
sumptively due payments for total temporary disability until the
Commission held otherwise.

Credits by the Commission for payments made by an employer
should be given only if they “were not due and payable when made.”
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 9742 (1991 & 1994 Cum. Supp.). Given the
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Commission’s failure to apply the Form 21 presumption in this case,
it was improper for a credit to have been entered. We do not mean to
imply that defendant will or will not qualify for a credit once the
issues are reheard, only that at this stage of the proceedings no credit
should have been given.

I1I1I. Penalties

[38] The Full Commission determined that “no basis” existed upon
which to assess a penalty against defendant in its Conclusion of Law
No. 5. This is also incorrect. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-18(e) states: “If any
installment of compensation . . . is not paid within 14 days after it
becomes due . . . there shall be added to such unpaid installment[s]
an amount equal to ten per centum (10%) thereof . . . unless such non-
payment is excused by the Commission after a showing by the
employer that owing to conditions over which he had no control such
installment[s] could not be paid within the period prescribed for the
payment.”

In this case, defendant voluntarily ceased making payments with-
out the permission of the Commission. On its own, defendant decided
it was entitled to completely cease temporary total disability pay-
ments to plaintiff. Then defendant decided, again on its own, to
resume payments at a level it deemed proper. Even assuming defend-
ant was confused as to the incongruities between 1.C. Rule 404 and
the existing case law on compensation termination, this does not pro-
vide defendant with an excuse. Rule 404(2) itself allows that “[w]hen
an employer . . . seeks to terminate or suspend compensation being
paid pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-29 . . . the employer or
carrier/administrator shall notify the employee and the employee’s
attorney of record, if any, on a Form 24 rev., Application to Stop
Payment of Compensation.” No such “Form 24 rev.” appears in the
record, and the Commission’s opinion and award does not mention
any receipt of same. Defendant’s actions cannot be countenanced, as
this is the exact behavior N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-18 was enacted to pre-
vent. Foster v. Western-Electric Co., 320 N.C. 113, 116, 357 S.E.2d 670,
673 (1987) (prompt payment of compensation required).

For the foregoing reasons, we reverse and remand to the
Commission for proceedings in accord with this opinion.

Reversed and Remanded.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge MARTIN, John C., concur.
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STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. ADRIAN CARLO RHYNE

No. COA95-1133

(Filed 15 October 1996)

Searches and Seizures § 82 (NCI4th)— drug raid—pat down
for weapons—totality of circumstances—unreasonable
intrusion

The trial court erred in a prosecution for possession with
intent to sell and deliver cocaine by denying defendant’s motion
to suppress cocaine found on his person in a warrantless search
where an officer received an anonymous telephone call from a
caller who reported that several black males were selling drugs in
the breezeway of a building; no further description was given of
the men; officers arrived at the building within ten minutes and
observed several black men in the upper part of a breezeway and
defendant seated on a step in the lowest level of the breezeway;
defendant was approached and produced identification showing
that he was a resident of the building; the officer asked defendant
if he had drugs on him and defendant answered that he did not;
the officer asked if he could search defendant and defendant
refused; the officer asked if he would allow a dog standing 10 to
15 feet away to check him out; defendant refused, stating that he
was afraid of dogs; other officers said that they had found a large
amount of money on the other men; the officer asked defendant
if he had any weapons on him and defendant said that he did not;
the officer decided to return to his car to check for any outstand-
ing warrants for defendant; he frisked defendant before doing
this and felt something which he suspected to be rock cocaine;
and he reached into defendant’s pocket and pulled out a plastic
bag containing what appeared to be crack cocaine. The anony-
mous tip was not specific to defendant; the area was known for
drug activity but was defendant’s residence; defendant was coop-
erative when questioned and did not flee the scene; he was wear-
ing a jersey and shorts, neither of which could easily conceal a
weapon; when asked if he had a weapon he lifted his shirt to
show that he did not; he did not make any sudden or suspicious
gestures which would suggest that he had a weapon; and the find-
ings indicate that other officers were nearby whom the arresting
officer could have asked to cover him while he went to his patrol
car to check for outstanding warrants.
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Am Jur 2d, Searches and Seizures §§ 51, 78.

Modern status of rule governing admissibility of evi-
dence obtained by unlawful search and seizure. 50 ALR2d
531.

Lawfulness of nonconsensual search and seizure with-
out warrant, prior to arrest. 89 ALR2d 715.

Judge MaRTIN, Mark D. dissenting.

Appeal by defendant from judgment and commitment entered 27
April 1995 by Judge Robert P. Johnston in Mecklenburg County
Superior Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 3 June 1996.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Special Deputy Attorney
General Elisha H. Bunting, Jv. and Assistant Attorney General
D. Sigsbee Miller, for the State.

Allen W. Boyer for defendant.

LEWIS, Judge.

The sole issue on appeal is whether the trial court erred in deny-
ing defendant’s motion to suppress evidence obtained in a warrant-
less search of defendant.

On 19 September 1994, defendant was indicted for possession
with intent to sell and deliver cocaine in violation of N.C. Gen. Stat.
section 90-95(a)(1) (1990). The case came on for trial at the 24 April
1995 eriminal session of superior court. On 1 September 1994, defend-
ant moved to suppress evidence obtained from a search performed by
the arresting officer. After making findings of fact and conclusions of
law, the trial court denied defendant’s motion. Defendant gave notice
of appeal. Defendant then pled guilty to the charge as indicted. He
was given a suspended sentence of three (3) years and placed on pro-
bation. Even though defendant entered a plea of guilty to the charges
against him, he preserved his right of appeal pursuant to N.C. Gen.
Stat. section 15A-979(b) (1988) from the denial of his motion to sup-
press the evidence seized in the search.

At the suppression hearing, the State presented evidence showing
the following: On 1 July 1994, Officer D. L. Scheppegrell of the
Charlotte Police Department received an anonymous telephone call
from a caller who reported that several black males were selling
drugs in a breezeway of a building located at 3101 Nobles Avenue.
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However, the caller gave no further description of the men. Officer
Scheppegrell and other officers arrived at the address within ten
minutes and observed several black men in the upper part of a
breezeway. They also observed defendant who was seated on a step
in the lowest level of the breezeway, below where the other men
were.

Officer Scheppegrell approached defendant while other officers
approached the men in the upper breezeway. Defendant was wearing
a Carolina Panthers hat, a jersey, and blue jean shorts. After the offi-
cer asked him for identification, defendant produced identification
showing that he was a resident of an apartment in 3101 Nobles
Avenue. The officer asked defendant if he had any drugs on him;
defendant answered that he did not. The officer then asked if he
could search defendant, but defendant refused.

The officer also asked defendant if he would allow a dog standing
10 to 15 feet away from him to check him out. A canine officer, who
was standing a few feet away with the dog on a leash, explained to
defendant that the dog would not bite him. However, defendant
refused stating that he was afraid of dogs. While the canine officer
was talking to defendant, the other officers told Officer Scheppegrell
that they had found a large amount of money on the other men. The
officer also asked defendant if he had any weapons, and defendant
said that he did not.

Officer Scheppegrell then decided to return to his car to check for
any outstanding warrants for defendant. However, before doing this,
he frisked defendant for weapons by checking his waistband and by
feeling the outside of his pockets. In the right pocket, the officer felt
something which he immediately suspected to be cocaine rocks. He
reached into the pocket and pulled out a plastic bag containing a sub-
stance appearing to be crack cocaine. Defendant was then arrested. A
further search revealed a small plastic bag of powder in defendant’s
left pocket.

Officer Scheppegrell testified that this incident occurred in a high
drug trafficking area and that, in his experience, drug suspects often
carry weapons. He stated that he did not want to turn his back on
defendant before going to his car to check for warrants, without first
checking for weapons. He also testified that defendant appeared ner-
vous while he was being questioned. He further testified that, while
he was questioning defendant, other officers were in the upper
breezeway questioning the other young men. He also stated, that in
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his experience with drug dealers, one person would have the money
and another would have the drugs.

Defendant’s account of the events is similar to that given by
Officer Scheppegrell. However, defendant testified, that when asked
if he had weapons he said “no” and then pulled up his shirt and turned
around to show that he had no guns near his back. He also testified
that he did not hear the other officers say that they had found money
on the other men.

The trial court made the following findings of fact:

1. On oraboutJuly 1, 1994, Officer D. L. Scheppegrell received an
anonymous telephone call reporting that there were several black
males selling drugs in the breezeway of an apartment complex
located at 3101 Nobles Avenue. The anonymous caller provided
no description of the black males reportedly involved in the drug
transactions.

2. Shortly after receiving the call, Officer Scheppegrell and other
police officers went to the address in question. Officer
Scheppegrell observed several black males, including the
Defendant, in the vicinity of the breezeway. He arrived between
3:00 and 4:00 p.m.

3. On the occasion in question, Officer Scheppegrell had been a
police officer in excess of ten years and had received training in
identifying controlled substances and had felt and touched
cocaine and its derivatives on hundreds of occasions.

4. When he arrived at 3101 Nobles Avenue, he approached a
black male and spoke with Adrian C. Rhyne, the Defendant. Mr.
Rhyne was sitting in the area of a stairwell between the first and
second floors and Officer Scheppegrell asked him for identifica-
tion, which the Defendant produced.

5. The Defendant lived in the complex involved.

6. While he was talking with the Defendant, Officer Scheppegrell
did not observe any money, beeper or weapon on the Defendant.
When he spoke with the Defendant, however, the Defendant did
appear to be nervous. Defendant was dressed in blue jean shorts
and wore a Panthers hat and a Panthers jersey.

7. In his conversation with the officer, the Defendant said he had
no drugs. Officer Scheppegrell asked the Defendant if he minded
the officer’s searching him; and the Defendant said, “Yes,” he did
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mind. Officer Scheppegrell thereafter asked the Defendant if it
would be agreeable for the drug dog to sniff about him for drugs.
The Defendant indicated he was afraid of dogs and did not want
the dog sniffing him. Officer Scheppegrell asked the Defendant if
he had weapons and the Defendant said, “No,” and lifted his
Jjersey to show the officer the area around his waistband.

8. Officer Scheppegrell, after talking with the Defendant, decided
to return to his patrol car and to determine whether or not there
were any outstanding warrants against the Defendant. He did not
want to turn his back on the Defendant without searching him, in
that the complex in question was across from Boulevard Homes
and in an area with a reputation for high drug activity. Officer
Scheppegrell felt that individuals involved in drug activities
sometimes carry weapons.

9. There were several other police officers in the complex at the
time Officer Scheppegrell was speaking with the Defendant and
at the time that he made his determination to search the
Defendant. Exactly where in relationship to Officer Scheppegrell
and the Defendant the other officers were located when the con-
versation and subsequent search took place cannot be deter-
mined from the evidence.

10. Officer Scheppegrell commenced patting the Defendant
down and when he touched the outside pockets of the
Defendant’s pants, he felt something he immediately believed to
be crack cocaine. His determination was based on the way crack
is typically packaged. He pulled out a plastic bag from the right
pocket of the Defendant in which there were 10 rocks of crack.
He thereafter placed the Defendant under arrest and found
smaller portions of cocaine powder on the Defendant’s person.

Based on these findings, the trial court concluded, inter alia, that
the investigative stop and pat-down were reasonable considering the
totality of the circumstances and that defendant’s constitutional
rights were not violated.

On appeal, defendant asserts that the trial court erred in denying
his motion to suppress the seized evidence because it was seized in
violation of his rights under the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments
of the United States Constitution.

If supported by competent evidence, the trial court’s findings of
fact are binding on appeal. See State v. Brooks, 337 N.C. 132, 140-41,
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446 S.E.2d 579, 585 (1994). Although defendant assigned error to the
sufficiency of evidence to support the court’s findings, he has aban-
doned this issue on appeal by not presenting argument in his brief.
See N.C.R. App. P. 28(a) (1996). Even so, we conclude that there is
competent evidence to support the findings. Our task, then, is to
determine whether the findings support the trial court’s conclusions
of law. See State v. West, 119 N.C. App. 562, 565, 459 S.E.2d 55, 57,
appeal dismissed and disc. review denied, 341 N.C. 656, 462 S.E.2d
524 (1995).

The Fourth Amendment provides that “[t]he right of the people to
be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unrea-
sonable searches and seizures shall not be violated.” U.S. Const.
amend. IV. A warrantless search is unconstitutional unless there is
probable cause to search and the government demonstrates that the
exigencies of the situation made a search without a warrant impera-
tive. State v. Allison, 298 N.C. 135, 141, 257 S.E.2d 417, 421 (1979)
(citing Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 23 L. Ed. 2d 685 (1969)).

The State does not contend that the officer had probable cause to
search defendant. The issue here is whether, absent probable cause,
the officer was justified in searching defendant for weapons. The U.S.
Supreme Court has held that a protective pat-down search for
weapons may be performed by an officer, even without probable
cause, if he has reason to believe, based on objective facts, that he is
dealing with an armed and dangerous individual. Terry v. Ohio, 392
U.S. 1, 27, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889, 909 (1968). The officer must have acted
“upon ‘specific and articulable facts’ that led him to conclude that
[the] defendant was, or was about to be, engaged in criminal activity
and that [the] defendant was ‘armed and presently dangerous.” ” State
v. Butler, 331 N.C. 227, 233, 415 S.E.2d 719, 722 (1992) (quoting Terry,
392 U.S. at 21, 24, 20 L. Ed. 2d at 906, 908). “The officer need not be
absolutely certain that the individual is armed; the issue is whether a
reasonably prudent man in the circumstances would be warranted in
the belief that his safety or that of others was in danger.” Terry, 392
U.S. at 27, 20 L. Ed. 2d at 909.

The State relies on State v. Wilson, 112 N.C. App. 777, 437 S.E.2d
387 (1993). In Wilson, the officers stopped and searched the defend-
ant after receiving an anonymous tip that several individuals were
dealing drugs in the breezeway of an apartment building but gave no
description of the alleged dealers. Id. at 778, 437 S.E.2d at 387. We
upheld the search. Id. at 779, 437 S.E.2d at 388.
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However, this case is distinguishable from Wilson. In Wilson, the
defendant and the other suspects attempted to flee when the squad
car drove into the parking lot. Id. Here, the defendant did not flee, but
simply remained sitting on the breezeway outside his apartment
building and cooperated generally with the officer. Other than being
nervous, he exhibited no other behavior that would indicate that he
was engaged in criminal activity. In addition, here, unlike Wilson, the
officer had time to question and observe defendant and to ascertain
that he lived in the complex.

Defendant asserts that this case is more akin to State v. Fleming,
106 N.C. App. 165, 415 S.E.2d 782 (1992). In Fleming, we followed
Brown v. Texas, 443 U.S. 47, 61 L. Ed. 2d 357 (1979), and held uncon-
stitutional the stop and frisk of a defendant who was simply standing
and walking around an apartment complex in a high drug area at
twelve o’clock midnight. Fleming, 106 N.C. App. at 170-71, 415 S.E.2d
at 785-86.

The facts of this case actually lie somewhere between those in
Wilson and Fleming. Unlike the defendant in Wilson, defendant did
not flee, and unlike Fleming, there was an anonymous tip that several
men were dealing drugs in the breezeway in which the defendant was
sitting. Unlike either Wilson or Fleming, the facts here show that the
officer was aware that the defendant lived in the building where he
was searched.

This case is also distinguishable from In re Whitley, 122 N.C. App.
290, 468 S.E.2d 610, disc. review denied, 344 N.C. 437,476 S.E.2d 132
(1996), a recent decision in which this Court upheld a similar search.
In Whitley, officers responded to a report that two black males were
selling drugs on Merrick Street in Durham. Id. at 292, 468 S.E.2d at
612. Upon arriving at the scene, the officers found two black men in
the location indicated by the caller and searched the men. Id. In
Whitley, the caller referred to two black men, whereas here, the
caller referred to a group of black men. In addition, in Whiiley, the
officer observed that the defendant’s legs “were very tight.” Id. Here,
defendant was not engaged in any suspicious activity or gestures
when approached by the officer. Furthermore, the defendant in this
case was sitting on the steps outside his apartment; whereas, in
Whitley, the defendant was standing with another man under a tree
near a street. See id. at 291, 468 S.E.2d at 611.

In light of the totality of circumstances, we conclude that this pat-
down search was not justified. The anonymous tip referred simply to
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several black men located in the apartment complex breezeway; it
was not specific to defendant. Furthermore, although defendant was
in an area known for drug activity, this area was also his residence, a
fact known to the officer prior to the search. When questioned,
defendant was cooperative and did not flee the scene. He was wear-
ing a jersey and shorts neither of which could easily conceal a
weapon. In fact, when asked if he had a weapon, defendant lifted his
shirt to show that he did not. Defendant also did not make any sud-
den or suspicious gestures which would suggest that he had a
weapon. In addition, the court’s findings indicate that other officers
were nearby. Officer Scheppegrell could have asked one of these
officers to cover him while he went to his patrol car to check for
outstanding warrants.

This pat-down search was an unreasonable intrusion upon
defendant’s Fourth Amendment right to personal security and pri-
vacy. The trial court erred in denying defendant’s motion to suppress
the evidence thereby obtained.

The order denying defendant’s motion to suppress is reversed,
and the judgment is vacated.

Judge JOHNSON concurs.
Judge MARTIN, Mark D. dissents.

Judge MarTiN, Mark D., Judge, dissenting.

As recently articulated by Judge McGee in In re Whitley, 122 N.C.
App. 290, 468 S.E.2d 610, disc. review denied, 344 N.C. 437, 476
S.E.2d 132 (1996), it is well settled “ ‘[a] brief investigative stop of an
individual must be based on specific and articulable facts as well as
inferences from those facts, viewing the circumstances surrounding
the seizure through the eyes of a reasonable and cautious police offi-
cer on the scene, guided by his experience and training.” ” Id. at 292,
468 S.E.2d at 612 (quoting State v. Allen, 90 N.C. App. 15, 25, 367
S.E.2d 684, 689 (1988)). Put simply, an officer must have reasonable
suspicion, based on specific and articulable facts, that an individual
is involved in criminal activity before performing a pat down search
or Terry stop. State v. Fleming, 106 N.C. App. 165, 169-170, 415 S.E.2d
782, 785 (1992).

In Whitley, the officers received a telephone call stating drug
sales were occurring “between two black males on Merrick Street.”
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Whitley, 122 N.C. App. at 291, 468 S.E.2d at 611. The officers found
two black males standing in the alleged location of the drug sales. Id.
at 292, 468 S.E.2d at 612. This Court upheld the subsequent Terry
stop because “the telephone call, later corroborated once the officers
arrived at the scene, coupled with the nervous body reflexes of
respondent are articulable facts which gave rise to a reasonable
suspicion that respondent might be armed, dangerous and involved
in criminal activity and justified the officer’s search of respondent.”
Id.

Likewise, in the present case, Officer Scheppegrell was dis-
patched to 3101 Nobles Avenue based on an anonymous telephone tip
that several black men were selling drugs in the breezeway. At the
scene, Officer Scheppegrell, and his fellow officers, noticed three
black males, including the defendant, in the breezeway. Officer
Scheppegrell approached defendant, who was sitting alone in the
stairwell between the first and second floors, while the other officers
went upstairs to question the remaining two men.

At Officer Scheppegrell’s request, defendant produced identifica-
tion indicating he was a resident of the building. Nevertheless,
defendant appeared nervous. Officer Scheppegrell testified the other
officers informed him the two men in the upper part of the breezeway
had a large amount of money, but no drugs. In his experience with
drug dealers, Officer Scheppegrell has found one person often holds
the money while another person carries the drugs.

Before returning to his car to check for outstanding warrants,
Officer Scheppegrell asked defendant if he was carrying any
weapons. Defendant responded in the negative and pulled up his
shirt to show Officer Scheppegrell his waistband. Officer
Scheppegrell proceeded to pat down defendant because, in his expe-
rience, drug dealers often carry weapons, some of which are very
small and easy to conceal. During this search, Officer Scheppegrell
discovered what he readily identified as cocaine.

When considered through “the eyes of a reasonable and cautious
police officer on the scene, guided by his experience and training,”
Whitley, 122 N.C. App. at 292, 468 S.E.2d at 612 (quoting Allen, 90
N.C. App. at 25, 367 S.E.2d at 689), the telephone call corroborated by
observations at the scene, defendant’s nervousness, and the discov-
ery of a large amount of money on the two other men in the breeze-
way are articulable facts which establish a reasonable suspicion
defendant “might be armed, dangerous and involved in criminal activ-
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ity and justified the officer’s search of [defendant].” See Whitley, 122
N.C. App. at 292, 468 S.E.2d at 612. Further, when, as here, an officer
is engaged in a lawful search for weapons and he discovers an item
which he can immediately identify as contraband, it is lawful for the
officer to seize such item. State v. Wilson, 112 N.C. App. 777, 780, 437
S.E.2d 387, 388 (1993).

Because there is no legal, much less constitutional, distinction
between Whitley and the present case, this Court is required to af-
firm the trial court’s denial of defendant’s motion to suppress. See
In re Civil Penalty, 324 N.C. 373, 384, 379 S.E.2d 30, 36-37 (1989).

Accordingly, I respectfully dissent.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. ROBERT L. DAVIS

No. COA96-12

(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Evidence and Witnesses § 1252 (NCI4th)— confession—
right to counsel

The trial court did not err in a prosecution for rape, burglary,
and assault by denying defendant’s motion to suppress his con-
fession where, before being questioned, defendant was apprised
of his Miranda rights, including his right to have counsel present
during questioning; defendant clearly understood his rights and
indicated that he did not wish to have counsel present; after mak-
ing a telephone call, defendant asked if he needed a lawyer and
was told that it was his decision to make; and defendant volun-
tarily continued answering questions, ultimately confessing to the
crime. After defendant was advised that the decision to have an
attorney present was his to make, nothing in his words or actions
indicated his unwillingness to answer further questions in the
absence of counsel, nor could be interpreted as a request for
counsel.

Am Jur 2d, Evidence §§ 633, 713.

Admissibility of pretrial confession in criminal case. 4
L. Ed. 2d 1833.
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2. Criminal Law § 1291 (NCI4th Rev.)— sentencing—miti-
gating factor—acknowledgement of wrongdoing—motion
to suppress confession—acknowledgement thereby
repudiated

The trial court did not err when sentencing defendant for
rape, burglary, and assault by failing to find as a mitigating factor
that defendant voluntarily acknowledged his wrongdoing where
defendant moved to suppress his confession and thereby repudi-
ated it.

Am Jur 2d, Criminal Law § 527; Trial §§ 572, 841, 1760.

3. Criminal Law §§ 1158, 1159 (NCI4th Rev.)— sentencing—
aggravating factors—victim sleeping—husband away

The trial court did not err when sentencing defendant to a
greater than presumptive term for second-degree rape and first-
degree burglary by finding the nonstatutory aggravating factors
that defendant knew that the victim’s husband was away on mili-
tary duty and that the victim was asleep in her bed just prior to
the attack.

Am Jur 2d, Trial §§ 841, 1760.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 5 May 1995 by Judge
Jay D. Hockenbury in Onslow County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 9 September 1996.

Michael F. Easley, Attorney General, by Jill Ledford Cheek,
Assistant Attorney General, for the State.

Malcolm Ray Hunter Jr., Appellate Defender, by Mark D.
Montgomery, Assistant Appellate Defender, for defendant-
appellant.

WYNN, Judge.

On the night of 16 April 1993, the prosecuting witness, hereinafter
referred to as Ms. Doe because the identity of the victim is not an
issue in this case, was attacked and raped in the bedroom of her home
in Onslow County, North Carolina. The evidence in the record on
appeal tends to show that the defendant, who was living next door,
approached Ms. Doe at her home several days before the rape and
introduced himself. During the course of their conversation defend-
ant ascertained that Ms. Doe was at home alone and her husband,
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who was deployed overseas with a branch of the military service, was
due back the following Friday. While Ms. Doe was sleeping the night
before her husband was due home, a man dressed in black, wearing a
ski mask and gloves broke into the house and assaulted and raped
her. The next day, defendant was taken to the police station for
questioning. Detective Sergeant John Matthews of the Onslow County
Sheriff’s Department advised defendant of his Miranda rights, and
defendant declined to have an attorney present. When Detective
Joseph Graham arrived, he confirmed that defendant still understood
his rights. Before questioning began, defendant requested and was
allowed to make a phone call. Following the phone call, defendant
told Detective Graham that “somebody at his office told him he
needed a lawyer.” Detective Graham responded, “Well, that's your
decision.” Defendant then asked, “Do I need a lawyer?” and Detective
Graham replied: “That is your decision; I can’'t make that decision for
you.” Defendant did not respond, and followed Detective Graham into
an office to be questioned.

The guestioning was interrupted by the arrival of a friend and co-
worker who was allowed to meet with defendant alone, after which
the questioning resumed. Defendant initially denied any misconduct,
stating that he only remembered certain portions of the night on
which the rape occurred. After further questioning, defendant con-
fessed to the rape and was placed under arrest.

At trial, the trial judge denied defendant’s motion to suppress his
confession. A jury found defendant guilty of second degree rape, first
degree burglary, assault on a female, and assault inflicting serious
bodily injury. After making findings of aggravating and mitigating cir-
cumstances, the trial judge sentenced defendant beyond the pre-
sumptive sentence to consecutive terms of imprisonment of 30 years
for second degree rape and life for first degree burglary. Defendant
appeals from the judgment and sentence entered against him.

The issues presented on appeal are whether the trial court erred
in (T) denying the defendant’s motion to suppress his pretrial confes-
sion, (I) failing to find as a mitigating circumstance that the defend-
ant voluntarily acknowledged his wrongdoing, and (III) finding two
non-statutory aggravating factors. We find no error.

L

[1] Defendant first contends that his confession was taken in viola-
tion of both the state and federal constitutions, and therefore the trial
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court erroneously denied his motion to suppress. More specifically,
defendant alleges his question to Detective Graham, “Do I need a
lawyer?” was an equivocal invocation of his right to have counsel
present during interrogation. He argues that since police officers con-
tinued to question him after he had invoked his right to counsel, in
violation of his constitutional rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth
Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections
19 and 23 of the North Carolina Constitution, his confession must be
deemed involuntary and inadmissible. We disagree.

Prior to ruling on defendant’s motion to suppress, the trial court
held a voir dire hearing. “The trial court’s findings of fact following a
votr dire hearing on the voluntariness of a confession are conclusive
on appeal if they are supported by competent evidence in the record.”
State v. Massey, 316 N.C. 558, 573, 342 S.E.2d 811, 820 (1986). In the
case before us the trial court made the following relevant findings of
fact:

The defendant was orally advised of his constitutional rights oth-
erwise known as Miranda Rights by Detective Matthews. . . . The
defendant verbally answered that he understood his rights.
Detective Matthews asked the defendant verbally “do you under-
stand all these rights?” The defendant verbally answered “yes”.
And then the defendant wrote in the words “yes” on the form after
that “yes” and put his initials above the word “yes” indicating that
he understood all of his rights. Detective Matthews asked the
defendant “do you want a lawyer now?” At first the defendant
answered by shaking his head in a negative manner.

Detective Matthews told the defendant the defendant would
have to verbalize the answer at which time the defendant said
“no” and then the defendant wrote “no” in the space provided in
the form and put his initials “R.D.” over the answer; otherwise
he’d initially put his “R.D.” over his answer “yes” indicating he
understood all of his rights. The defendant then signed his name
“Robert L. Davis” to the interview sheet.

6. After completing the interview sheet, the defendant remained
in the Detective Division office in the presence of Detective
Matthews waiting for the arrival of Detective Graham. Even
though the defendant was free to walk around the room, he was
always under surveillance by Detective Matthews. The defendant
was “in custody” for Miranda purposes beginning from the time
that he came in the presence of Detective Matthews.
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7. Detective Graham arrived at the Sheriff’s office Detective
Division at approximately 9:45 a.m. and was told by Detective
Matthews that the defendant had been advised of his Miranda
warnings. Detective Graham asked the defendant if he still under-
stood his rights, and the defendant stated that he did. Detective
Graham and Lieutenant O’Malley took the defendant into
Lieutenant O’Malley’s office. The defendant request [sic] to make
a phone call, which was allowed. The defendant called . . . a co-
worker with the defendant at [his place of employment] and a
person with whom he had been dating for nine months. The
defendant told [his co-worker] that he did not need a lawyer. [The
co-worker] advised him to get a lawyer.

After the phone conversation, the defendant asked Sergeant
Graham if he, (Sergeant Graham), thought that the defendant
needed a lawyer. Sergeant Graham told the defendant that that
was a decision the defendant would have [sic] make on his own.
The defendant never again mentioned anything about a lawyer.
Sergeant Graham did not ask any additional questions to the
defendant to clarify what the defendant meant by asking the ques-
tion if Sergeant Graham thought whether the defendant needed a
lawyer. The defendant was not again advised of his Miranda
Rights. The statement of the defendant to Sergeant Graham was
an ambiguous or equivocal reference to an attorney. It was not a
clear assertion of the right to counsel. The defendant did not
actually request an attorney.

8. Sergeant Graham and Lieutenant O’Malley questioned the
defendant for approximately ten minutes in Lieutenant Q’Malley’s
office. The defendant was not handcuffed or restrained in
any way. The defendant denied having anything to do with the
rape.

Sheriff Brown after this ten minute period came to the door
of the office and was told that the defendant had been advised of
his rights. The defendant was taken to the Sheriff’s office where
his employer . . . and his co-worker and friend . . . were waiting.

The defendant was allowed by the officers to talk alone with
[his friend] for ten or fifteen minutes inside the Sheriff’s office.

The defendant was then questioned by Sergeant Graham and
Sheriff Brown with Sheriff Brown doing most of the interrogat-
ing. The defendant’s friend and co-worker . . . was present. This
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interrogation went on for approximately twenty to thirty minutes.
The defendant made statements to the officers that he remem-
bered right up to the point of breaking into the house and right
after the incident. Sheriff Brown, among other comments that he
made to the defendant, stated to the defendant that memory does
not come and go. That if a person remembers some things they
should remember them all. The defendant paused and then he
gave his confession. The confession essentially was that he was
jogging. That he stopped in front of the victim’s house. That he
went behind her house and raised her rear window. That he went
into her house, kicked down the bedroom door. There was a
struggle; that he may have hit the victim. That he raped her and
then he went home and had trouble sleeping. That it was like a
dream and that the defendant could not believe he did anything
like that.

After the confession, the defendant placed his face in his
hands and he and [his friend] were both crying, allowed by the
officers to console one another. The defendant was then arrested,
defendant was then placed under arrest and taken away.

9. At the time of the confession, the defendant was not hand-
cuffed and was under no restraint. The defendant had been ques-
tioned a total of 30 to 40 minutes first by Sergeant Graham for
approximately ten minutes and then by Sergeant Graham and
Sheriff Brown. There were no promises, offers of reward or
inducement by the law enforcement officers for the defendant to
make a statement. There were no threats, suggestion of violence
or show of violence by any law enforcement officer to persuade
or induce the defendant to make a statement. There was no indi-
cation that the defendant had any desire to end the questioning.
The defendant was in control of his mental faculties on April
16th, 1993. The defendant was 24 years old.

After examining the record, we find competent evidence to support
the foregoing findings of fact.

Based on the findings of fact, the trial court concluded as a mat-
ter of law that “[t]he defendant was in full understanding of his con-
stitutional right to remain silent and his right to counsel and all other
rights and he freely, voluntarily, and intelligently and voluntarily
waived each of these rights and thereupon made the statement.” The
trial court also concluded that:
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The defendant's question to Sergeant Graham as to whether he
{Sergeant Graham) thought the defendant needed a lawyer was
not an actual or clear assertion of the right to counsel. It was not
a request for counsel. It was an ambiguous or equivocal statement
that did not preclude further questioning by the officers.

The trial court’s conclusions of law are fully reviewable on appeal.
State v. Barber, 335 N.C. 120, 129, 436 S.E.2d 106, 111 (1993), cert.
denied, 129 L. Ed. 2d 865 (1994). In determining the appropriateness
of the trial court’s conclusion that the defendant’s confession was
voluntary and admissible, we note that “[t]here are no ‘magic words’
which must be uttered in order to invoke one’s right to counsel. . . . In
deciding whether a person has invoked her right to counsel, there-
fore, a court must look not only at the words spoken, but the context
in which they are spoken as well.” State v. Torres, 330 N.C. 517, 528,
412 S.E.2d 20, 26 (1992).

The record in the case before us indicates that before being ques-
tioned, the defendant was appraised of his Miranda rights, including
his right to have counsel present during questioning; that he clearly
understood his rights; and that he indicated he did not wish to have
counsel present. This was evidenced by his responses, initials, and
signature on the interview sheet. After making a phone call, the
defendant asked if he needed a lawyer and was told that it was his
decision to make. Thereafter, defendant voluntarily continued
answering questions, ultimately confessing to the crime. After
defendant was advised that the decision to have an attorney present
was his to make, nothing in the defendant’s words or actions indi-
cated his unwillingness to answer further questions in the absence of
counsel, nor could be interpreted as a request for counsel. Thus,
under the facts of this case, and considering all the circumstances, we
hold that the defendant did not invoke his right to counsel. See
Barber, 335 N.C. 120, 436 S.E.2d 106. Accordingly, we affirm the trial
court’s denial of defendant’s motion to suppress his statement.

II.

[2] Defendant next contends that the trial court erred by fail-
ing to find as a mitigating circumstance that the defendant voluntar-
ily acknowledged his wrongdoing. We find this argument without
merit.

The Supreme Court of North Carolina has clearly stated the rule
as to whether a defendant may use evidence that he voluntarily
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acknowledged wrongdoing as a mitigating circumstance after he
moves to suppress the confession:

In State v. Hayes, this Court held that a defendant could not use
a confession to prove the mitigating circumstance after he had
repudiated the confession. In State v. Robbins, we said, “[D]e-
fendant made a motion to suppress these statements. This Court
has held that if a defendant repudiates his incriminatory state-
ment, he is not entitled to a finding of this mitigating cir-
cumstance.” We hold that when a defendant moves to suppress a
confession, he repudiates it and is not entitled to use evidence
of the confession to prove this mitigating circumstance.

State v. Smith, 321 N.C. 290, 362 S.E.2d 159 (1987) (emphasis added)
(citations omitted).

The defendant in this case moved to suppress his confession and
has thereby repudiated it; accordingly, that repudiated confession
cannot be used as the basis of a mitigating circumstance. Therefore,
we uphold the trial court’s refusal to find as a mitigating circumstance
that defendant voluntarily acknowledged wrongdoing.

I1I.

[3] Defendant lastly contends that the trial court erred by finding two
non-statutory aggravating factors. We disagree.

In addition to finding the statutory factor that defendant has
applicable prior convictions, the trial judge sentenced the defendant
to a term beyond the presumptive sentence for the charges of second
degree rape and first degree burglary based on the following non-
statutory aggravating factors:

1. The victim’s husband was away on miltary [sic] duties and the
defendant was specifically aware of this vulnerability and pro-
ceeded with the commission of this offense as a result of this
knowledge.

2. The victim was especially vulnerable [in] that she was asleep
in her bed just prior to the attack.

Defendant questions the propriety of these non-statutory factors as
not authorized under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1340.4 (1988). The trial
court is not limited to a consideration of statutory factors only. Non-
statutory aggravating factors are permitted so long as they are “rea-
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sonably related to the purposes of sentencing.” N.C.G.S. § 15A-1340.4.
Defendant alleges that the non-statutory factors found by the trial
judge do not comport with the primary purposes of sentencing set out
in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-1340.3 (1988).

A. Second Degree Rape

In the context of second degree rape, this Court addressed both
of the non-statutory aggravating factors at issue in this case in State
v. Davy, 100 N.C. App. 551, 397 S.E.2d 634, disc. review denied and
appeal dismissed, 327 N.C. 638, 398 S.E.2d 871 (1990). In Davy, the
defendant raped the victim after he broke into the victim’s house
while she was asleep, knowing that the victim’s husband was away on
military duty. Id. Among other aggravating factors, the trial court
found that “[t]he victim was particularly and especially vulnerable in
that she was asleep,” and “[h]er husband was away on military duties
and that the defendant was specifically aware of this vulnerability
and made a calculative decision to proceed with the commission of
this offense.” Id. at 559-60, 397 S.E.2d at 638-39. This Court addressed
the propriety of each factor in turn and upheld both aggravating fac-
tors. Id. In that case, we said: “[T]he trial court properly aggravated
the defendant’s sentence because the victim was asleep and was
therefore ‘impeded from fleeing or fending off the attack.’ ” Id. at 559,
397 S.E.2d at 638 (citation omitted). We also found that “the trial
court properly aggravated the defendant’s sentence based upon a
finding that the defendant knew that the victim’s husband was away
on military duty and proceeded to target her because of this knowl-
edge.” Id. at 560, 397 S.E.2d at 639.

Similarly, in the present case, the defendant raped the victim after
breaking into her house while she was sleeping and knowing that the
victim was alone because her husband was away on military duty. As
in Davy, we find that the trial court properly aggravated the defend-
ant’s sentence based upon both of the non-statutory aggravating
factors at issue.

B. First Degree Burglary

In the context of a first degree burglary charge, the Supreme
Court of North Carolina has considered the non-statutory aggravating
factors at issue.

In State v. Thompson, 328 N.C. 477, 402 S.E.2d 386 (1991), the
trial court aggravated the defendant’s sentence on the charges of first
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degree burglary and robbery by finding that “defendant took advan-
tage of the victims being helpless and defenseless.” Id. at 494, 402
S.E.2d at 395. The State contended and the Court agreed that “a per-
son who is attacked while asleep is in a more vunerable [sic] position
than one who is conscious of his surroundings.” Id. at 495, 402 S.E.2d
at 395. In upholding the use of this aggravating factor, the Court over-
ruled State v. Underwood, 84 N.C. App. 408, 352 S.E.2d 898 (1987),
which had held that “the fact that the victim was asleep when defend-
ant committed an assault with a deadly weapon inflicting serious
injury was not a proper aggravating factor because the victim was in
no worse position than any other unsuspecting victim.” Thompson,
328 N.C. at 494, 402 S.E.2d at 395.

Moreover, in State v. Taylor, 322 N.C. 280, 367 S.E.2d 664 (1988),
our Supreme Court upheld the trial court’s finding of the non-statu-
tory aggravating factor for defendant’s burglary conviction that
defendant “had inside information, knowing when that lady was alone
in a rural area and took advantage of it with the keys.” Id. at 286, 367
S.E.2d at 668. In Taylor, the defendant had talked with the victim
earlier in the day and ascertained that she would be alone because
her daughter would not be at home that night. Id. at 282, 367 S.E.2d
at 665. In upholding the use of this aggravating factor, the Court
noted:

Here, the trial court aggravated defendant’s sentence on the basis
of defendant’s use of information gained as a result of his inquiry
to determine whether the victim would be alone and defendant’s
use of keys surreptitiously copied while they were entrusted to
his wife. It is certainly reasonable to conclude that this is the type
of behavior from which the public should be protected and from
which possible future offenders should be deterred. Thus, the
trial court’s finding of the nonstatutory aggravating factor in ques-
tion was clearly related to the purposes of sentencing.

Id. at 287, 367 S.E.2d at 668.

In the case before us, the defendant committed the burglary by
breaking into the victim’s house while she was asleep and after hav-
ing ascertained that she would be in the house alone that night.
Following the reasoning of the Supreme Court in Thompson and
Taylor, we find that the trial court properly aggravated the defend-
ant’s sentence on the burglary charge based on the non-statutory
factors at issue here.
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For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that the defendant had a
fair trial, free of prejudicial error.

No error.

Judges JOHNSON and LEWIS concur.

JAMES E. HENDERSON anp wiFe, GLENDA J. HENDERSON, PLAINTIFF-APPELLEES V.
UNITED STATES FIDELITY & GUARANTY COMPANY, GLENDA LINTON AND
GREAT AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, DEFENDANT-APPELLANTS

No. COA95-1206

(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Insurance § 895 (NCI4th)— indemnity policy for builder—
sale of residence—unfair practice—common law definition

The trial court erred by granting partial summary judgment
for plaintiffs and should have granted summary judgment for
defendants where plaintiffs brought an action against a builder
which arose from the sale of a residence in a drainage area
subject to severe flooding; a jury found that the builder had
engaged in unfair and deceptive practices and awarded damages;
the trial court trebled the jury’'s award for unfair and deceptive
practices; plaintiffs brought this action alleging that defendant
insurance companies had issued policies agreeing to indemnify
the builder and that they were third party beneficiaries; defend-
ants asserted that the policies provide no coverage; and the trial
court determined that coverage exists under the advertising
injury coverage of the USF&G policy and the advertising liability
coverage of the Great American Policy. If coverage exists under
these provisions of the policies, it exists only if the builder’s acts
constituted unfair competition, which is not defined in either
policy. The statutory definition of unfair competition cannot be
equated with the common law definition, and the term “unfair
competition” appears in both policies alongside a host of readily
identifiable common law torts. Given the context, it is reasonable
to construe the term as a reference to the common law tort of
unfair competition. The builder’s actions do not parallel any of
the definitions of common law unfair competition and neither
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the advertising liability nor the advertising injury provisions pro-
vide coverage.

Am Jur 2d, Insurance §§ 703 et seq.

2. Insurance § 896 (NCI4th)— indemnity—unfair practice in
sale of residence—not an occurrence

The trial court did not err by granting partial summary judg-
ment for defendants on the issue of whether their insurance poli-
cies provide coverage where plaintiffs brought an action against
a builder which arose from the sale of a residence in a drainage
area subject to severe flooding; a jury found that the builder had
engaged in unfair and deceptive practices and awarded damages;
plaintiffs brought this action alleging that defendant insurance
companies had issued policies agreeing to indemnify the builder
and that they were third party beneficiaries; defendants asserted
that the policies provide no coverage; and the trial court deter-
mined that no coverage exists under the property damage, bodily
injury, and personal injury provisions of either policy. Both
policies refer to injury or damage caused by an “occurrence”;
however, if an intentional act is either intended to cause injury or
substantially certain to result in injury, it is not an occurrence and
no coverage is provided. The builder’s purposeful and intentional
acts here were so substantially certain to cause injury and dam-
age as to infer an intent to injure as a matter of law. Finally,
although the USF&G policy also provided coverage for personal
injury, the jury in the underlying action did not find that the
insured had committed any of the acts named in the policy defin-
ition of “personal injury.”

Am Jur 2d, Insurance §§ 703 et seq.

Event triggering liability insurance coverage as occur-
ring within period of time covered by liability insurance
policy where injury or damage is delayed—modern cases.
14 ALR5th 695.

Appeal by defendants from judgment entered 28 July 1995 by
Judge Narley L. Cashwell in Wake County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 21 August 1996.

McM:illan, Smith & Plyler, by James M. Kimzey and Katherine
E. Jean, for plaintiff-appellees.

Wilson & Iseman, L.L.P, by G. Gray Wilson and Elizabeth
Horton, for defendant-appellant US Fidelity & Guaranty
Company.
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Patterson, Dilthey, Clay & Bryson, L.L.P., by Ronald C. Dilthey
and G. Lawrence Reeves, Jr., for defendant-appellant Great
American Insurance Company.

MARTIN, John C., Judge.

In September 1989, plaintiffs brought a civil action against Clifton
Hicks Builder, Inc., (“Hicks”) and others, alleging multiple claims for
relief, including claims for negligence, breach of implied warranty,
and unfair and deceptive practices in violation of G.S. § 75-1.1 ef seq.
The action arose out of a real estate transaction in which plaintiffs
purchased from Hicks a residence situated in a drainage area subject
to severe flooding. At the trial of the case in March 1993, the jury was
unable to reach a verdict as to the issues involving negligence and
breach of warranty, but found that Hicks had engaged in unfair and
deceptive practices as follows: (1) Hicks falsely represented to the
Hendersons that they would not have any water problems on Lot 82
(the lot the Hendersons purchased from Hicks); (2) Hicks concealed
from the Hendersons the existence of a surface water flooding prob-
lem on Lot 82; and (3) Hicks concealed from the Hendersons the
existence and location of a drainage grate and piping system which he
had installed on Lots 83 and 84, and which piped water through Lot
82. The jury awarded damages in the amount of $500,000. The trial
court declared a mistrial as to the negligence and breach of warranty
issues and trebled the jury’s award for unfair and deceptive practices
pursuant to G.S. § 75-16.1. After applying a credit for a settlement
which plaintiffs had reached with parties other than Hicks, the trial
court entered judgment for plaintiff against Hicks in the amount of
$1,375,000, plus costs and attorneys’ fees. Hicks appealed and this
Court found no error. Henderson v. Clifton Hicks Builder, Inc., 117
N.C. App. 731, 453 S.E.2d 877, (unpublished), disc. review denied,
340 N.C. 112, 456 S.E.2d 314 (1995).

Plaintiffs also brought the present action alleging, inter alia, that
defendant insurance companies had issued policies of insurance
agreeing to indemnify Hicks for the damages and costs awarded
plaintiffs in the underlying action. Plaintiffs alleged they are entitled,
as third party beneficiaries under the insurance policies, to recover
from defendant insurance companies the amount of the judgment,
costs and attorneys’ fees awarded them against Hicks.

The insurance policies at issue are (1) a comprehensive gen-
eral liability policy issued by United States Fidelity & Guaranty
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Company (USF&G) with limits of $1,000,000 per occurrence, and
(2) an excess “catastrophe liability policy” issued by Great Ameri-
can Insurance Company (“Great American”) with limits of $1,000,000
per occurrence. The USF&G policy provides coverage for “bodily
injury,” “property damage,” “personal injury” and “advertising injury”;
the policy issued by Great American provides excess insurance cov-
erage for “property damage,” “personal injury” and “advertising lia-
bility.” In their answers, both USF&G and Great American asserted,
based on definitions and exclusions contained in their respective
policies, that the policies provide no coverage for Hicks’ liability to
plaintiffs.

”» i«

Plaintiffs moved for summary judgment as to both defendants on
the issue of coverage. The trial court granted partial summary judg-
ment for plaintiffs, determining that coverage exists for plaintiffs’
damages, costs, attorneys’ fees, and interest under the “advertising
injury” coverage of the USF&G policy and the “advertising liability”
coverage of the Great American policy. The trial court also deter-
mined that no coverage exists under the “property damage,” “bodily
injury,” and “personal injury” provisions of either policy. Both USF&G
and Great American appeal.

L

[1] By their assignments of error, defendants assert the trial court
erred in determining that they provide any coverage for the pay-
ment of damages awarded plaintiffs against Hicks in the underlying
lawsuit. They specifically argue that the “advertising injury” and
“advertising liability” provisions of their respective policies afford
no coverage for Hicks’ liability. We agree.

The rules for determining the meaning of words used in an insur-
ance policy are well established; where the words used are ambigu-
ous or their meaning is uncertain, they must be construed in favor of
the insured or beneficiary. Trust Co. v. Insurance Co., 276 N.C. 348,
172 S.E.2d 518 (1970). Where non-technical words are not defined,
they “are to be given a meaning consistent with the sense in which
they are used in ordinary speech, unless the context clearly requires
otherwise.” Id. at 354, 172 S.E.2d at 522. Those provisions which
extend coverage to the insured must be construed liberally so as to
afford coverage whenever possible by reasonable construction;
exclusionary provisions are not favored and, if ambiguous, will be
construed against the insurer and in favor of the insured. State
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Capital Ins. Co. v. Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co., 318 N.C. 534, 350
S.E.2d 66 (1986). Where, however, no ambiguity exists, the court may
not rewrite the contract and find coverage where none was con-
tracted for. Trust Co., 276 N.C. 348, 172 S.E.2d 518.

The USF&G policy provides coverage for “advertising injury” as
follows:

The Company will pay on behalf of the insured all sums which the
insured shall become legally obligated to pay as damages because
of . .. advertising injury to which this insurance applies, sustained
by any person or organization and arising out of the conduct of
the named insured’s business, within the policy territory, . . . .

The policy defines an “advertising injury” as

injury arising out of an offense committed during the policy
period occurring in the course of the named insured’s advertising
activities, if such injury arises out of libel, slander, defamation,
violation of right of privacy, piracy, unfair competition, or
infringement of copyright, title or slogan (emphasis added).

The Great American policy provides coverage for damages which the
insured is legally obligated to pay because of “advertising liability.”
The policy defines an “advertising liability” as

liability arising out of the named insured’s advertising activities
for libel, slander or defamation of character; invasion of rights of
privacy; infringement of copyright, title or slogan; and piracy or
unfair competition or idea misappropriation committed or
alleged to have been committed during the policy period (empha-
sis added).

All parties seem to agree that if coverage exists under the “adver-
tising injury” and “advertising liability” provisions of the USF&G and
Great American policies, it exists only if Hicks’ acts constituted
“unfair competition.” Plaintiffs contend coverage exists because the
acts committed by Hicks were found by the trial court in the underly-
ing action to have been “unfair or deceptive practices” in violation of
G.S. § 75-1.1 et seq.

Neither policy defines “unfair competition.” Thus, the issue is
whether an insured’s civil liability for violating North Carolina’s
unfair and deceptive practices statutes constitutes “unfair competi-
tion” as that term is used in defining “advertising injury” and “adver-
tising liability” in the policies. Although the issue is one of first
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impression in North Carolina, a majority of courts of other jurisdic-
tions which have considered the issue have concluded that the phrase
“unfair competition” means those claims which constitute unfair
competition under the common law and does not include claims aris-
ing under statutory unfair trade or business practices acts. See
Graham Resources, Inc. v. Lexington Insurance Co., 625 So.2d 716
(La. App. 1 Cir., 1993), cert. denied, 631 So.2d 1164 (La. 1994) (mis-
representations in advertising materials, held no coverage under
advertising injury); Bank of the West v. Superior Court, 2 Cal.4th
1254, 833 P.2d 545, 10 Cal. Rptr.2d 538 (1992) (misrepresentations to
customers, held no coverage under advertising injury); Curtis
Universal v. Sheboygan Ewmergency Medical Services, Inc., 844
F.Supp. 492 (E.D. Wis. 1994) (held no coverage under advertising
injury).
In Bank of the West, the California Court of Appeals noted:

The common law tort of unfair competition is generally
thought to be synonymous with the act of “passing off” one’s
goods as those of another. The tort developed as an equitable
remedy against the wrongful exploitation of trade names and
common law trademarks that were not otherwise entitled to legal
protection. According to some authorities, the tort also includes
acts analogous to “passing off,” such as the sale of confusingly
similar products, by which a person exploits a competitor’s repu-
tation in the market.

Expansion of legal remedies against deceptive business
practices occurred not so much through the common law as
through the enactment of statutes . . . .

Bank of the West at 1263, 833 P.2d at 551, 10 Cal. Rptr.2d at 544. The
primary purpose of these statutes was to extend to the consuming
public the protection once afforded only to business competitors
through the common law tort of unfair competition, which required a
showing of competitive injury and hence was not an effective remedy
for consumers. On the other hand, statutory unfair competition
extends to all unfair and deceptive practices. For this reason, the
statutory definition of “unfair competition” cannot be equated with
the common law definition. Id.

The terms of an insurance policy cannot be read in isolation but
“must be construed in the context of [the] instrument as a whole.”
Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Dynasty Solar, Inc., 753 F. Supp. 853,
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856 (N.D. Cal. 1990) (quoting Producers Dairy Delivery Co. v. Sentry
Ins. Co., 718 P.2d 920 (1986)). The term “unfair competition” appears
in both policies alongside a host of readily identifiable common law
torts, including libel, slander, defamation and piracy. These named
torts describe legal rights at common law among business rivals, not
statutory legal rights between consumers and businesses. The Court
in Curtis Universal, 844 F. Supp. at 501-02, found that the placement
of the term within a list of specific common law torts negates a defi-
nition of the term that would include statutory claims. Given the con-
text in which “unfair competition” appears in the policies at issue
here, it is reasonable to construe the term as a reference to the com-
mon law tort of unfair competition, long recognized in North
Carolina. See Extract Co. v. Ray, 221 N.C. 269, 20 S.E.2d 59 (1942)
(unfair competition includes a party advertising that his products are
identical with those of a competitor, if his statements are untrue, and
it includes taking advantage of the good will and business reputation
of a competitor by unfair means); Steak House v. Staley, 263 N.C. 199,
139 S.E.2d 185 (1964) (unfair competition amounts to a person selling
goods as the goods of another or doing business as the business of
another); Foods Corp. v. Tuesday’s, 29 N.C. App. 519, 225 S.E.2d 122,
disc. review denied, 290 N.C. 660, 228 S.E.2d 451 (1976) (palming off
one’s goods as those of another is unfair competition). Hicks’ actions
do not parallel any of the definitions of common law unfair competi-
tion. Accordingly, we hold that the term “unfair competition” as
contained in the “advertising injury” and “advertising liability” cover-
ages of the USF&G and Great American policies does not include
statutory unfair and deceptive practices prohibited by G.S. § 756-1.1, et
seq. Thus, neither the “advertising injury” coverage of the USF&G pol-
icy nor the “advertising liability” coverage of the Great American
excess policy affords liability insurance coverage to Hicks for the
damages awarded plaintiffs in the underlying suit.

IL.

[2] By cross-assignments of error pursuant to N.C.R. App. P. 10(d),
plaintiffs contend the trial court erred in concluding that neither the
USF&G policy nor the Great American policy provide coverage to
Hicks under the “bodily injury,” “property damage,” or “personal
injury” provisions of the respective policies, for the damages awarded
them in the underlying suit. We disagree.

The USF&G policy provides coverage on behalf of the insured
for
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all sums which the insured shall become legally obligated to pay
as damages because of

A. bodily injury or
B. property damage
to which this insurance applies, caused by an occurrence, . . . .

“Occurrence” is defined in the policy as “an accident, including con-
tinuous or repeated exposure to conditions, which results in bodily
injury or property damage neither expected nor intended from the
standpoint of the insured . . . .” Great American’s umbrella policy pro-
vides similar coverage for personal injury or property damage
“caused by or arising out of an occurrence happening anywhere.”
“Occurrence” is defined as “an event or happening, including contin-
uous or repeated exposure to conditions, which results in personal
injury, property damage or advertising liability neither expected nor
intended from the standpoint of the insured.”

The dispositive issue with regard to this coverage is whether
plaintiffs’ damages arose out of an “occurrence”; if the plaintiffs’
injuries were either expected or intended by Hicks, no coverage is
provided by either policy.

In North Carolina Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co. v. Stox, 330 N.C.
697, 700, 412 S.E.2d 318, 320-21 (1992), the Supreme Court interpreted
a policy which, similarly to the policies at issue here, defined “occur-
rence” as “an accident, including exposure to conditions, which
results during the policy period in: (a) bodily injury; or (b) property
damage,” and excluded coverage for bodily injury or property damage
“which is expected or intended by the insured . . . .” The evidence
showed that defendant-insured intentionally pushed a fellow
employee, who fell and was injured. The Court held that the policy
provided coverage because the act of the insured was not such that
an intent to injure could be inferred from the act and the insurer had
not shown that the injury itself was intended. Id. at 706, 412 S.E.2d at
324. Under Stox, then, injury or damage caused by an intentional act
may constitute an occurrence, as defined by the instant policies,
unless the intentional act is either (1) intended to cause injury or
damage, or (2) substantially certain to cause injury or damage. Put in
other words, if an intentional act is either intended to cause injury or
substantially certain to result in injury, it is not an occurrence under
the policy definitions recited above, and no coverage is provided.
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In Commercial Union Ins. Co. v. Mauldin, 62 N.C. App. 461, 303
S.E.2d 214 (1983), the insured argued with his wife, fired shots into
the car in which she and a friend were riding, and killed the friend.
The insured stipulated that he intended to shoot his wife and shot the
friend by mistake. The policy excluded coverage for injuries which
were “expected or intended” by the insured. This Court found that the
injury was intentional and denied coverage, on the basis that the
insured should have anticipated the likelihood that one of the bullets
would hit the friend. In Russ v. Great American Ins. Companies, 121
N.C. App. 185, 464 S.E.2d 723 (1995), disc. review denied, 342 N.C.
896, 467 S.E.2d 905 (1996), we held that sexual harassment is sub-
stantially certain to cause injury and therefore “intent to injure may
be inferred as a matter of law from the intent to act for the purpose
of determining coverage under an insurance policy.”

The trial court in the underlying action determined that Hicks’
unfair and deceptive practices were intentional acts. Intent to injure
may be inferred as a matter of law from the intent to act, Russ, 121
N.C. App. 185, 464 S.E.2d 723, and such is a reasonable inference in
this case. Flooding problems had already occurred on Lot 82; Hicks
intentionally misrepresented and omitted information regarding
these problems, even after inquiry by plaintiffs. Notwithstanding
Hicks' assertions that he did not intend or anticipate his misrepre-
sentations to injure or damage plaintiffs, such purposeful and inten-
tional acts were so substantially certain to cause injury and damage
as to infer an intent to injure as a matter of law. Accordingly, we hold
that any bodily injury or property damage sustained by plaintiff as a
result of Hicks’ intentional conduct was not caused by an occurrence
within the insuring agreements contained in the USF&G and Great
American policies. Thus, no coverage is provided for “bodily injury”
or “property damage” under USF&G’s insurance policy, nor is there
coverage for “personal injury” or “property damage” under Great
American’s excess policy.

The USF&G policy also provides coverage for “personal injury”
which is defined in the policy as:

injury arising out of one or more of the following offenses com-
mitted during the policy period:

(1) false arrest, detention, imprisonment, or malicious
prosecution;

(2) wrongful entry or eviction or other invasion of the right of
private occupancy;
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(3) a publication or utterance

(a) of a libel or slander of other defamatory or disparaging
material, or

(b) in violation of an individual’s right of privacy;

except publications or utterances in the course of or related to
advertising, broadcasting, publishing or telecasting activities con-
ducted by or on behalf of the named insured shall not be deemed
personal injury.

The jury in the underlying action did not find that the insured had
committed any of the acts named in the policy definition of “personal
injury.” Therefore, there is no coverage under USF&G’s policy for
“personal injury.”

In view of our holding that no coverage is provided by the in-
suring agreements of the policies, it is unnecessary to consider the
arguments of the parties with respect to the applicability of various
policy exclusions. The judgment of the trial court is reversed and this
matter is remanded for the entry of summary judgment in favor of
defendants USF&G and Great American.

Reversed and remanded.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge SMITH concur.

TOYA JORDAN, EMPLOYEE, PLAINTIFF v. CENTRAL PIEDMONT COMMUNITY
COLLEGE, EmpLoYER; NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY
COLLEGES, SELF-INSURER; DEFENDANTS

No. COA94-1184
(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Workers’ Compensation § 282 (NCI4th)— mental injuries
by accident—compensability
Mental as well as physical injuries by accident are compen-
sable under the Workers’ Compensation Act as long as the result-
ing disability meets statutory requirements.

Am Jur 2d, Workers’ Compensation §§ 368, 369.
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2. Workers’ Compensation § 282 (NCI4th)— witnessing
inmates fighting—resulting PTSD—compensable injury

The Industrial Commission’s decision that a vocational
instructor at a correctional center suffered a compensable mental
injury by accident arising out of and in the course of her employ-
ment was supported by evidence and findings that she suffered
from post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of witnessing a
fight between two prison inmates in her classroom.

Am Jur 2d, Workers’ Compensation §§ 368, 369.

Appeal by both parties from an Industrial Commission decision in
favor of plaintiff entered 9 August 1994 by a panel of the Full
Commission. Heard in the Court of Appeals 29 August 1995.

Tania L. Leon, PA., by Tania L. Leon, for plaintiff-appellee.

Attorney General Michael F. Fasley, by Assistant Attorney
General D. Sigsbee Miller, for defendant-appellants.

McGEE, Judge.

Plaintiff, Toya Jordan, was employed by defendant, Central
Piedmont Community College, as a cooking instructor. She was
assigned to provide vocational training to inmates at a minimum
custody facility at the Mecklenburg II Correctional Center in
Huntersville, North Carolina. Before the cooking classes began,
prison officials conducted an orientation session with plaintiff during
which they explained the type of prison facility where she would be
working. She was informed she was subject to searches and that
there was a potential for her to be involved in a hostage situation.
However, she was also advised she should feel well-protected at the
prison and that there had been no incidents where anyone had been
hurt or harassed by the inmates. She was told that if a conflict should
arise, she should allow a staff member to handle the matter.

During the first two years plaintiff taught at the correctional facil-
ity, she held classes in the cafeteria. Later, she was assigned to a
classroom trailer that was fenced off from the rest of the facility
and located approximately one hundred feet from the facility. Other
than the inmates enrolled in her class, there were no other people in
the classroom trailer. There were no guards present and the trailer
was not equipped with a telephone, intercom, or other means of
communication.
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On 26 June 1991, plaintiff was present when a fight broke out
between two inmates in the classroom. There was testimony that the
inmates began arguing and plaintiff requested the inmates separate
and leave each other alone. The inmates ignored plaintiff’s directions,
and the argument escalated from gesturing to grabbing chairs and
brooms. Since the classroom had no communication equipment,
plaintiff left the room to summon help. She went outside to the steps
of the trailer and called out to a couple of officers within earshot, “I
need an officer’s assistance, please.” The officers were unresponsive,
so she returned to the classroom where she found the inmates on the
floor fighting. Again, she went outside and called for officers and
again, she received no response. When she returned to the classroom
for the second time, she found some of the other inmates breaking
up the fight. There was blood on the floor and a window had been
broken. When officers finally arrived, the fight had already ended.
The inmates were taken to the prison infirmary for treatment of the
injuries from the fight.

Plaintiff testified that prior to the 26 June 1991 incident, she had
never experienced an inmate fight in her classroom. During the three
years she had taught at this correctional facility, she never feared for
her safety because she felt that the prison staff was available to assist
her if a conflict arose. Plaintiff testified that even though she was
never directly threatened during the fight, the result of the incident
caused her to feel unsafe and insecure in that she could no longer rely
on officer or staff protection. Plaintiff communicated her concern to
the front office prison personnel and to her supervisor at Central
Piedmont.

Soon after the inmate fight, plaintiff began suffering debilitating
anxiety attacks as she drove to work in the mornings. She experi-
enced insomnia and when she could sleep, she had nightmares about
the fight. She began to avoid arguments and confrontations and she
withdrew from other people. Plaintiff sought treatment from psy-
chologist Alice Sudduth beginning 14 August 1991. Ms. Sudduth diag-
nosed plaintiff as suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder as a
direct result of the 26 June 1991 inmate fight. Ms. Sudduth treated
plaintiff with relaxation therapy and supportive psychotherapy.

Plaintiff filed a claim for workers’ compensation benefits alleging
a psychological injury by accident as a consequence of the 26 June
1991 inmate fight. The case was heard by Deputy Commissioner
Lawrence B. Shuping, Jr. and on 17 March 1993, he concluded plain-
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tiff had sustained an injury by accident arising out of and in the
course of her employment and he awarded her temporary total dis-
ability benefits until May 1992, when she began working for a new
employer. Defendants appealed and on 9 August 1994, the Full
Commission revised the deputy’s opinion, but agreed plaintiff had
sustained an injury by accident and was therefore eligible for tem-
porary total disability benefits until May 1992.

After receiving the Full Commission’s Opinion and Award, plain-
tiff’s attorney filed a motion for interest on the award, pursuant to
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-86.2 and for attorney fees under N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 97-88. The Full Commission denied plaintiff’s motion on 27
September 1994.

On 8 September 1994, defendants gave notice of appeal to this
Court from the Full Commission’s Opinion and Award of 9 August
1994. Plaintiff gave notice of a cross appeal on 7 October 1994 from
the Full Commission’s decision to deny interest on the award and
payment of attorney fees. On 26 January 1995, this Court dismissed
plaintiff’s cross appeal for failure to pay the bond required under
Rule 6(c) as well as the docketing fee and the printing deposit as
required under Rule 12(c) of the North Carolina Rules of Appellate
Procedure.

Defendants’ primary argument is that because plaintiff only sus-
tained a mental injury and not a physical injury, she is not entitled to
compensation under our Workers’ Compensation Act (Act).

1. Mental Injuries and General Principles of Negligence

Defendants argue that when the Act was created, “the common
law did not provide a remedy for mental conditions” and therefore,
the General Assembly “would not possibly have intended to provide a
remedy that was not even provided by tort law until the 1980’s [sic]
and 1990’s [sic].” In support of this proposition, defendants cite
Johnson v. Ruark Obstetrics, 327 N.C. 283, 395 S.E.2d 85, reh’y
denied 327 N.C. 644, 399 S.E.2d 133 (1990) among other cases.
However, Ruark stands for the opposite proposition. Indeed, Ruark
provides a clear, concise and thorough review of the history of the
acceptance by North Carolina courts of the negligence issue of com-
pensability of mental injury as opposed to physical injury. Ruark, 327
N.C. at 290-304, 395 S.E.2d at 89-97. Contrary to defendants’ argu-
ment, our courts have compensated plaintiffs for mental injuries
since the late nineteenth century:
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In our earliest consideration, this Court thus held that “mental
injury” is simply another type of “injury”—Ilike “physical” and
“pecuniary” injuries—for which the plaintiff could recover in tort
upon showing that his injury was proximately and foreseeably
caused by the defendant’s negligence . . . .

Id. at 292-93, 395 S.E.2d at 90. According to the Ruark Court, our tra-
ditional and earliest holdings that “mental anguish is as real as phys-
ical, and recovery in proper cases is allowed of just compensation
when anguish, whether physical or mental, is caused by the negli-
gence, default or wrongful act of another” were later mischaracter-
ized. Id. at 293, 395 S.E.2d at 91 (quoting Bowers v. Telegraph Co., 135
N.C. 504, 505, 47 S.E. 597, 597 (1904)). Later courts “characterize[d],
unfortunately, emotional injury as a type of physical injury—albeit
injury for which plaintiffs could recover in emotional distress
actions.” Id. at 294, 395 S.E.2d at 91. Consequently, the Ruark Court
said:

[W]e disapprove the unnecessary and erroneous terminology . . .
which apparently led many lawyers and some scholars away from
the underlying reasoning of our well settled law allowing recov-
ery for emotional distress, not connected with or growing out of
a physical injury, in negligence actions.

Id. at 295, 395 S.E.2d at 92.
II. Mental Injuries and the Act

The broad intent of the Workers’” Compensation Act is to provide
compensation for employees who sustain an injury arising out of and
in the course of their employment. The Act is to be liberally construed
and no technical or strained construction should be given to defeat
this purpose. Abels v. Renfro Corp., 108 N.C. App. 135, 141, 423 S.E.2d
479, 482 (1992), affirmed in part, reversed in part on other grounds,
335 N.C. 209, 436 S.E.2d 822 (1993); See also Johnson v. Hosiery
Company, 199 N.C. 38, 40, 153 S.E. 591, 593 (1930). When construing
a statute, the words are given their ordinary meaning, unless it
appears from the context that they should be used in a different
sense. Transportation Service v. Counly of Robeson, 283 N.C. 494,
500, 196 S.E.2d 770, 770-71 (1973).

The General Assembly has defined the word “injury” in the Act as:

(6) Injury.—“Injury and personal injury” shall mean only injury
by accident arising out of and in the course of the employment,
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and shall not include a disease in any form, except where it
results naturally and unavoidably from the accident. With respect
to back injuries, however, . . . “injury by accident” shall be con-
strued to include any disabling physical injury to the back arising
out of and causally related to such incident. . . .”

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-2(6) (Supp. 1995). The definition specifically
includes personal injuries and excludes diseases, except those which
result from an on-the-job accident. The only injury which the General
Assembly’s definition specifically characterizes as physical in nature
is a back injury. The General Assembly went no further in defining
injury. Except for back injuries, the Act makes no distinction between
physical and psychological injuries. Black’s Law Dictionary defines
personal injury as “a hurt or damage done to a man’s person” versus
his property or reputation. Black’s Law Dictionary 786 (Sixth ed.
1990). “In worker’s compensation acts, ‘personal injury’ means any
harm or damage to the health of an employee, however caused,
whether by accident, disease or otherwise, which arises in the course
of and out of his employment, and incapacitates him in whole or in
part.” Id. (emphasis added).

Recent cases from this Court have recognized depression, a men-
tal condition, as an occupational disease and compensable under the
Act. In Baker v. City of Sanford, 120 N.C. App. 783, 463 S.E.2d 559
(1995), disc. review denied, 342 N.C. 651, 467 S.E.2d 703 (1996), the
Industrial Commission found that plaintiff suffered from work-
related depression which it stated was an occupational disease.
However, the Commission concluded the plaintiff’s disability was not
the result of this occupational disease, but was a consequence of an
intervening event. This Court reversed and remanded the case stat-
ing, among other things, the Commission erred in denying benefits to
plaintiff because it did not employ the proper, three-part analysis in
concluding plaintiff’s depression was not compensable. (For a dis-
ease to be occupational, it must be (1) characteristic of claimant’s
trade or occupation; (2) the disease must not be an ordinary disease
of life to which the general public is equally as exposed; and (3) the
disease must be causally connected to the claimant’s employment.
Rutledge v. Tultex Corp., 308 N.C. 85, 93, 301 S.E.2d 359, 365 (1983)).

The Baker Court pointed to an earlier case, Harvey v. Raleigh
Police Dept., 85 N.C. App. 540, 355 S.E.2d 147, disc. review denied,
320 N.C. 631, 360 S.E.2d 86 (1987), appeal after remand, 96 N.C. App.
28, 384 S.E.2d 549, disc. review denied, 325 N.C. 706, 388 S.E.2d 454
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(1989), as recognizing depression as an occupational disease. Baker,
120 N.C. App. at 788, 463 S.E.2d at 563. In Harvey, a police officer
committed suicide and his wife filed for workers’ compensation ben-
efits under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 97-38 alleging Harvey suffered from the
occupational disease of depression due to his employment with the
Raleigh Police Department. The Full Commission denied plaintiff’s
claim, but this Court reversed and remanded the case concluding the
Industrial Commission made inadequate findings of fact to support its
conclusions of law.

More recently, this Court upheld an award for compensation to a
plaintiff who was suffering from depression and post-traumatic stress
syndrome caused by her work as a police and public safety officer.
Pulley v. City of Durham, 121 N.C. App. 688, 694, 468 S.E.2d 506, 510
(1996). In upholding the award, this Court used the three-part test for
determining if an occupational disease is compensable under N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 97-53(13). The Court then reviewed the Full Commis-
sion’s findings of fact and conclusions of law and determined plaintiff
had presented sufficient evidence to satisfy the test for a compen-
sable occupational disease.

The approach in Harvey, Baker, and Pulley was to apply to each
plaintiff the three-part test for occupational disease to determine
whether compensation was proper. See Harvey, 85 N.C. App. at 543,
355 S.E.2d at 150; Baker, 120 N.C. App. at 787, 463 S.E.2d at 562-63;
Pulley, 121 N.C. App. at 693, 468 S.E.2d at 510 (all three cases apply-
ing the test outlined in Rutledge, 308 N.C. at 93, 301 S.E.2d at 365).
These cases do not make a distinction between mental and physical
occupational diseases. The question for each Court was simply
whether plaintiff’s condition met the test for compensable occupa-
tional disease.

[1] While the claim in this case involves an injury by accident as
opposed to an occupational disease, we do not read or interpret the
Act as limiting compensation for mental conditions to only occupa-
tional diseases, excluding mental injuries by accident. As the
Supreme Court in Ruark pointed out, our courts have recognized the
compensability of mental injuries under tort law since the late nine-
teenth century. Ruark, 327 N.C. at 292-93, 395 S.E.2d at 90.
Furthermore, mental conditions have been acknowledged and com-
pensated as occupational diseases under our Workers’ Compensation
Act. See Pulley, 121 N.C. App. 688, 468 S.E.2d 510 (1996). We cannot
conclude that mental injuries by accident are not covered under the
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Act when we have clearly awarded workers’ compensation for men-
tal conditions as occupational diseases. Such a holding would lead to
harsh results and would be incongruous in light of our well estab-
lished history of compensating mental injuries under general princi-
ples of tort law. Our decision is in keeping with the purposes of the
Act and is supported by a majority of other states’ courts. See 1
Arthur Larson, The Law of Workmen’s Compensation, § 42.23 (1996).
We conclude that as long as the resulting disability meets statutory
requirements, mental, as well as physical impairments, are compen-
sable under the Act.

III. Consideration of the Commission’s Opinion and Award

[2] Since the Act is not limited to physical injuries, we now consider
whether there was competent evidence to support the Commission’s
findings of fact and whether these findings of fact support the
Commission’s conclusions of law that plaintiff suffered a compen-
sable injury by accident. McLean v. Roadway Express, 307 N.C. 99,
102, 296 S.E.2d 456, 458 (1982) (setting forth the Court of Appeals’
standard of review for Industrial Commission cases).

Injury by accident has been defined as “[a]n unexpected, unusual
or undesigned occurrence.” Edwards v. Publishing Co., 227 N.C. 184,
186, 41 S.E.2d 592, 593 (1947) (quoting Black). It has also been
described as “an unlooked for and untoward event which is not
expected or designed by the injured employee.” Gabriel v. Newton,
227 N.C. 314, 316, 42 S.E.2d 96, 97 (1947). “An accidental cause will be
inferred, however, when an interruption of the work routine and the
introduction thereby of unusual conditions likely to result in unex-
pected consequences occurs.” Gunter v. Dayco Corp., 317 N.C. 670,
673, 346 S.E.2d 395, 397 (1986).

After reviewing the transcript of the proceedings before Deputy
Commissioner Shuping and examining the evidence in the record, the
Full Commission found as fact that as a result of the 26 June 1991
inmate fight:

6. [P]laintiff experienced an interruption of her normal work rou-
tine, and the introduction thereby of unusual conditions likely to
result in unexpected consequences when two inmates began
arguing in a classroom and a fight subsequently broke out
between them . . . result[ing] in plaintiff developing a post-
traumatic stress disorder and thereby the otherwise compensable
injury for which compensation is claimed.



120 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
JORDAN v. CENTRAL PIEDMONT COMMUNITY COLLEGE
[124 N.C. App. 112 (1996)]

The post-traumatic stress disorder involved is an anxiety con-
dition that results following an event that is outside the normal
range of human events. This condition causes the person wit-
nessing the event or directly affected by the event to experience
anxiety symptoms such as being fearful or a sense of being
unsafe, difficulty sleeping and breathing, nightmares, distrustful-
ness of others and withdraw [sic] from family. These are the very
symptoms plaintiff developed following and as a result of her 26
June 1991 injury.

The Full Commission then concluded:

1. [P]laintiff sustained an injury by accident arising out of and in
the course of her employment, and as a result thereof was tem-
porarily totally disabled from 9 August 1991 through the date cer-
tain in May 1992 when plaintiff returned to alternate employment
at Carolinas Medical Center. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to com-
pensation at a rate of $300.00 per week, subject to defendant’s
deduction against the same for unemployment compensation
benefits plaintiff received in the interim. . . .

In making its findings of fact, the Commission had before it
competent evidence, including a deposition from plaintiff’s treating
psychologist, plaintiff’s own testimony, testimony of the program
director for the correctional facility, and the officer who investigated
the 26 June 1991 inmate fight. While there may have been conflicting
evidence as to plaintiff’s degree of psychological impairment, it was
for the Commission to weigh the credibility of the witnesses and to
decide the issues. See Harrell v. Stevens & Co., 45 N.C. App. 197, 205,
262 S.E.2d 830, 835, disc. review denied 300 N.C. 196, 269 S.E.2d 623
(1980), appeal after remand 54 N.C. App. 582, 284 S.E.2d 343 (1981),
disc. review denied 305 N.C. 152, 289 S.E.2d 379 (1982). We find there
was competent evidence in the record to support the Commission’s
findings of fact and conclusions of law.

The opinion and award of the Full Commission is affirmed.

Judges COZORT and WALKER concur.
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MEMBERS INTERIOR CONSTRUCTION, INC., PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT V. LEADER
CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INCORPORATED, HARTFORD FIRE INSURANCE
COMPANY, DEFENDANT-APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

No. COA95-1279

(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Pleadings §§ 405, 390 (NCI4th)— amendment of complaint
at close of plaintiff’s evidence—pre-trial motion not
heard—evidence also supported alleged facts

The trial court did not err by denying plaintiff’s motion to
amend its complaint at the close of its case-in-chief under
N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 15 (1990) in an action arising from a dis-
puted construction debt where plaintiff failed to cause its pre-
trial motion to amend to be heard, so that defendant Hartford
could have justifiably concluded that plaintiff had abandoned
this issue. Furthermore, the allegedly extraneous evidence intro-
duced by plaintiff also supports operational facts alleged in the
complaint, so that it cannot be said that defendant Hartford
understood that the alleged extraneous evidence was aimed at
establishing a violation of N.C.G.S. § 58-63-15(11) rather than
proving an issue actually raised by the pleadings.

Am Jur 2d, Pleading §§ 315, 322.

2. Judgments § 654 (NCI4th)— prejudgment interest—offer
of undisputed portion of claim

The trial court erred in its calculation of prejudgment interest
against an insurance company on a construction claim where the
trial court decreased the amount of principal being taxed with
interest to account for unconditional payment offers by defend-
ant Hartford where Hartford had offered to pay undisputed por-
tions of the alleged debt without prejudice to plaintiff’s rights to
further prosecute its claim against defendant. An aggrieved party
may, without prejudice to its right to recover prejudgment inter-
est, decline unconditional payment offers. The trial court’s award
was reversed and remanded with instructions to award interest
on the verdict from the date of the breach of contract.

Am Jur 2d, Interest and Usury § 59; Judgments § 257.

Judge GREENE concurring.
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Appeal by plaintiff and defendant from judgment entered 31 May
1995 by Judge Julius A. Rousseau, Jr., in Iredell County Superior
Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 27 August 1996.

Eisele & Ashburn, PA., by Douglas G. FEisele, for plaintiff-
appellant.

Ogletree, Deakins, Nash, Smoak and Stewart, L.L.P., by
C. Hamilton Jarrett and Robin Adams Anderson, for defendani-
appellee/cross-appellant.

MARTIN, Mark D., Judge.

On 10 March 1992 the Iredell-Statesville Board of Education
(Board) executed a contract with Leader Construction (Leader) for
the construction of East Iredell Middle School (project). On the same
day Leader and Hartford Fire Insurance (Hartford) executed a labor
and material payment bond (bond). On 2 June 1992 Leader subcon-
tracted out a portion of the project to Members Interior Construction
(Members). The original subcontract price was $225,000. Leader sub-
sequently issued three change orders which increased the subcon-
tract price to $271,075.

On 12 October 1993 Members filed a proof of claim with Hartford
alleging Leader was $68,350 in arrears to Members. By letter dated 29
October 1993, Hartford contacted Leader regarding Members’ claim.
The 29 October letter stated, in pertinent part:

Hartford calls upon Leader . . . to pay any undisputed amount to
Members . . . within 5 (five) days of the date of this letter. Should
Leader contend that the entire amount claimed or any portion of
it is disputed, Leader should provide sufficient documentation of
the amount disputed by Leader to The Hartford within 5 (five)
calendar days.

Leader’s failure to pay any undisputed amount within five calen-
dar days and/or Leader’s failure to provide sufficient documenta-
tion to The Hartford of the amount disputed by Leader . . . shall
constitute an acknowledgement [by] Leader that the amount
claimed is valid . . . and authorization by Leader to The Hartford
to pay the amount claimed.

On 1 December 1993 Members admitted overstating its arrearages by
$1000 leaving an actual claim of $67,350. On the same day Hartford
notified Members that only $16,845.75 of the claimed $67,350 was
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presently owed because certain work had not yet been accepted by
the architect, the original contract was not entirely completed, and
certain areas were improperly constructed. The 1 December letter
also noted that further funds would be released after Hartford
received “written certification from the architect that the three
change orders are complete and acceptable and the additional work
on the original contract is complete.”

On 1 December 1993 Members instituted the present action alleg-
ing Leader’s nonpayment breached the subcontract and Hartford was
liable for Leader’s debt under the bond. On 26 August 1994 Hartford
offered Members $49,817.50 as payment of the undisputed portion of
Leader’s debt “without prejudice to Members’ rights to further prose-
cute its claim against Hartford.” On 11 May 1995 Hartford made an
offer of judgment, pursuant to N.C.R. Civ. P. 68, for $64,000 plus
allowable costs. Members rejected both settlement offers. On 31 May
1995 the trial court entered a jury verdict awarding Members $59,150
plus accrued interest of $3,599.15.

Noting the total award was less than the Rule 68 offer of judg-
ment, the trial court further ordered that the $62,749.15 award “be
subject to a set off in the amount of said defendant’s costs incurred
after making said Offer of Judgment as may be awarded by the Court
and shall be subject to an award, if any, of said defendant’s attorney’s
fees pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 44A-35.” The trial court, by order filed 26
June 1995, subsequently denied Hartford’s motion for costs and
attorneys fees.

PLAINTIFF'S APPEAL

On appeal Members contends the trial court erred by: (1) denying
Members’ motion to amend its pleadings; (2) excluding testimony on
whether Hartford reasonably investigated Members’ claim; (3) dis-
missing Members’ claim of Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices,
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1, et seq.; (4) failing to calculate interest on the
full amount of the verdict from 19 October 1993; and (5) signing an
erroneous judgment.

L

[1] We first consider whether the trial court erred by denying
Members’ motion to amend its complaint at the close of its case-in-
chief, pursuant to N.C.R. Civ. P. 15(b), to allege a violation of N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 58-63-15(11) (1994).
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Motions to amend are governed by the provisions of N.C.R. Civ. P.
15. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 15 (1990). Generally, Rule 15 is to be
construed liberally to allow amendments where the defense will not
be materially prejudiced. Mauney v. Morris, 316 N.C. 67, 72, 340
S.E.2d 397, 400 (1986). Nevertheless, a motion to amend is addressed
to the sound discretion of the trial court and denial of such a motion
will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing the trial court
abused its discretion. North River Ins. Co. v. Young, 117 N.C. App.
663, 670, 453 S.E.2d 205, 210 (1995). Reasons justifying denial of a
motion to amend include (a) undue delay, (b) undue prejudice, and
(c) futility of amendment. Martin v. Hare, 78 N.C. App. 358, 361, 337
S.E.2d 632, 634 (1985).

When, as here, evidence is introduced without objection, a Rule
15(b) motion should be granted only if the parties understand the evi-
dence is aimed at an issue not expressly pleaded. See J. M. Westall &
Co. v. Windswept View of Asheville, 97 N.C. App. 71, 76, 387 S.E.2d
67, 69-70, disc. review denied, 327 N.C. 139, 394 S.E.2d 175 (1990).
Where the evidence which supports an unpleaded issue also tends to
support an issue properly raised by the pleadings, however, failure to
object does not amount to implied consent to try the unpleaded issue.
Tyson v. Ciba-Geigy Corp., 82 N.C. App. 626, 630, 347 S.E.2d 473, 476
(1986).

In the present case, Members moved to amend its complaint,
pursuant to Rule 15(b), to state a claim for violation of section
58-63-15(11). Members argues the trial court erred by denying this
motion because Hartford understood, and consented to, Members
developing its section 58-63-15(11) claim. Specifically, Members con-
tends Hartford understood Members was adducing evidence to sup-
port its section 58-63-15(11) claim because Members filed a written
motion to amend its complaint alleging a violation of that section
prior to trial.

Because Members failed to cause its pre-trial motion to amend to
be heard, however, Hartford could have justifiably concluded
Members abandoned this issue. Further, the allegedly extraneous evi-
dence introduced by Members at trial also supports operational facts
alleged in Members’ complaint. It follows, therefore, that we cannot
say Hartford understood the alleged extraneous evidence was aimed
at establishing a violation of section 58-63-15(11) rather than proving
an issue actually raised by the pleadings. Accordingly, under J. M.
Westall & Co. and Tyson, we conclude the trial court did not err in
denying Members’ Rule 15(b) motion.
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IL.

[2] We next consider Members’ allegation the trial court erred by fail-
ing to award interest on the full amount of the verdict from 19
October 1993.

In breach of contract actions, N.C, Gen. Stat. § 24-5 authorizes the
award of pre-judgment interest on damages from the date of the
breach at the contract rate, or the legal rate if the parties have not
agreed upon an interest rate. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 24-5 (1991). See also
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 24-1 (1991) (legal rate is eight percent). “ ‘Interest is
the compensation allowed by law, or fixed by the parties, for the use,
or forbearance, or detention of money.”” Thompson-Arthur Paving
Co. v. Lincoln Battleground Assoc., 95 N.C. App. 270, 282, 382 S.E.2d
817, 824 (1989) (quoting Parker v. Lippard, 87 N.C. App. 43, 49, 359
S.E.2d 492, 496, modified in part on reh’g, 87 N.C. App. 487, 361
S.E.2d 395 (1987)). See also Craftique, Inc. v. Stevens and Co., Inc.,
321 N.C. 564, 568, 364 S.E.2d 129, 132 (1988) (interest compensates
recovering party “for retention of the principal of the debt”). Put sim-
ply, “interest . . . means compensation allowed by law as additional
damages for the lost use of money during the time between the
accrual of the claim and the date of the judgment.” 22 Am. JUR. 2D
Damages § 648 (1988) (emphasis added). See also Baxley v.
Nationwide Mutual Ins. Co., 334 N.C. 1, 9, 430 S.E.2d 895, 900 (1993);
Ledford v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 118 N.C. App. 44, 49-50, 453
S.E.2d 866, 868-869 (1995).

Although the accrual of interest is tolled when defendant makes
a “valid tender of payment for the full amount [of plaintiff’s claim],
plus interest to date,” Thompson-Arthur Paving Co., 95 N.C. App. at
282, 382 S.E.2d at 824, we recognize Hartford’s unconditional pay-
ment offers are, by definition, not tender offers as tender offers are
made in full and final settlement of a claim, see id., Ingold wv.
Assurance Co., 230 N.C. 142, 147-148, 52 S.E.2d 366, 369-370 (1949).
Rather, the instant situation presents the novel issue of whether inter-
est should be tolled when a defendant offers to pay the aggrieved
party undisputed portions of the alleged debt without prejudice to the
aggrieved party’s rights to further prosecute its claim against the
defendant.

The trial court, here, awarded Members $59,150.00 in damages,
plus accrued interest of $3,599.15, for a total judgment of $62,749.15.
In calculating the accrued interest, the trial court followed Hartford’s
proposed computation method by decreasing the amount of principal



126 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

MEMBERS INTERIOR CONSTRUCTION v. LEADER CONSTRUCTION CO.
[124 N.C. App. 121 (1996)]

being taxed with interest on 1 December 1993 and again on 26 August
1994 to account for the unconditional payment offers made by
Hartford on those dates—$16,845.75 on 1 December 1993; and
$49,817.50 on 26 August 1994,

Hartford contends the trial court’s interest computation is proper
because it is unreasonable to refuse unconditional payment offers.
Further, Hartford maintains that reversing the trial court’s interest
award would remove any incentive a defendant has to pay undisputed
portions of an alleged debt prior to trial.

Members, on the other hand, asserts the trial court erred because
an aggrieved party should not be required to accept less than the fuil
amount of its claim. Indeed, according to Members, the rule
employed by the trial court here impermissibly limits the autonomy of
an aggrieved party by foreclosing its opportunity to refuse uncondi-
tional payment offers for tactical reasons without losing a portion of
its prejudgment interest.

While both positions have merit, we conclude an aggrieved party
may, without prejudice to its right to recover prejudgment interest,
decline unconditional payment offers for three reasons. First, requir-
ing defendant to pay pre-judgment interest on the full amount of the
verdict, without adjusting for unconditional payment offers, is appro-
priate because defendant has the opportunity to invest the money
during the pendency of the suit. See Baxley, 334 N.C. at 9, 430 S.E.2d
at 900 (reaching same conclusion on prejudgment interest for under-
insured motorist carriers). To hold otherwise, as urged by Hartford,
would impose a penalty on an aggrieved party for a discretionary tac-
tical decision, see Rorrer v. Cooke, 313 N.C. 338, 358, 329 S.E.2d 355,
367-368 (1985) (certain trial tactics are discretionary), Applegate v.
Dobrovir, Oakes & Gebhardt, 628 F. Supp. 378, 383 (D.D.C. 1985)
(generally trial tactics are discretionary), aff’d, 809 F.2d 930 (D.C.
Cir.), cert. denied, 481 U.S. 1049, 95 L. Ed. 2d 837 (1987), and, in fact,
result in a windfall for the defendant. Such a rule also clearly contra-
venes the intent behind awarding interest—compensation for lost use
of principal. Thompson-Arthur Paving Co., 95 N.C. App. at 282, 382
S.E.2d at 824; Craftique, Inc., 321 N.C. at 568, 364 S.E.2d at 132,

Second, by making an offer of judgment based upon a good faith
determination of the actual value of plaintiff’s claim, defendant will
be entitled to “costs incurred after the making of the offer” “{i}f the
judgment finally obtained by . . . [plaintiff] is not more favorable than
the offer.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 68(a) (1990). Further, in some
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instances, as here, the trial court is authorized by statute to award
reasonable attorneys fees to the prevailing party. See, e.¢g., N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 44A-35 (1995). Defendant can thus insulate itself from many of
the expenses attending frivolous and useless litigation.

Third, we reject Hartford’s contention that there will be no incen-
tive for defendants to make unconditional payment offers if this
Court does not adopt Hartford's proposed interest calculation
method. In fact, under certain circumstances, a defendant’s failure to
offer payment of an undisputed debt may rise to the level of a bad
faith refusal to settle claim. See, e.g., Dailey v. Integon Ins. Corp., 75
N.C. App. 387, 331 S.E.2d 148, disc. review denied, 314 N.C. 664, 336
S.E.2d 399 (1985). Therefore, contrary to Hartford’s allegation, we
believe an incentive remains—potential liability for punitive dam-
ages—for insurers to make unconditional payment offers regarding
undisputed portions of an alleged debt.

Accordingly, we reverse the trial court’s award of $3,599.15 in
accrued interest and remand to the trial court with instructions to
award interest on the verdict from the date of Hartford’s breach of
contract.

Finally, after careful consideration, we conclude Members’
remaining assignments of error are entirely without merit.

DEFENDANT’'S APPEAL

Hartford, on cross appeal, alleges the trial court erred by denying
Hartford’s motion for: (1) costs pursuant to N.C.R. Civ. P. 68; and (2)
attorneys’ fees pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 44A-35.

To recover either costs under Rule 68 or attorneys fees pursuant
to section 44A-35, the amount of Hartford’s offer of judgment must
exceed Members’ total recovery including interest. Poole v. Miller,
342 N.C. 349, 353-355, 464 S.E.2d 409, 411-412 (1995), reh’g denied,
342 N.C 666, 467 S.E.2d 722 (1996). See also N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1,
Rule 68(a) (“[i]f the judgment finally obtained by the offeree is not
more favorable than the offer, the offeree must pay the costs incurred
after the making of the offer.”); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 44A-35 (1995) (“the
presiding judge may allow a reasonable attorneys’ fee to the attorney
representing the prevailing party. . . . [A] ‘prevailing party’ is . . . an
offeror against whom judgment is rendered in an amount less favor-
able than the last offer.”) (emphasis added). Accordingly, as the
present judgment has been remanded to the trial court for recalcula-
tion of the accrued interest, we decline to consider Hartford's appeal.
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Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded.
Judge JOHN concurs.
Judge GREENE concurs with separate opinion.

Judge GREENE concurring.

I write separately with respect to the calculation of interest. Our
statute provides that in actions for breach of contract, “the amount
awarded on the contract bears interest from the date of the breach.”
N.C.G.S. § 24-5(a) (1991). If, however, there is a “valid tender of pay-
ment for the full amount” due under the contract, the amount
awarded does not bear interest from the date of the breach.
Thompson-Arthur Paving Co. v. Lincoln Battleground Assoc., 95
N.C. App. 270, 282, 382 S.E.2d 817, 824 (1989). It follows that a “ten-
der in an amount less than the amount due” does not suspend the
accrual of interest on the debt. 47 C.J.S. Interest & Usury § 62, at 149
(1982). For these reasons I agree with the majority that the trial court
erred in computing the interest inconsistent with section 24-5(a).

ROBERT D. JACOBSEN, GuarDpiaN ADp LITEM FOr ERIC JOEL CAMPBELL, AND
ANTHONY CAMPBELL, PLAINTIFF-APPELLANTS V. ARTHUR HOUSTON McMILLAN,
DEFENDANT-APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

No. COA95-1273
(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Negligence § 95 (NCI4th); Automobiles and Other Vehicles
§ 433 (NCI4th)— offer of ride to child—duty of due care—
failure to stop—child jumping from truck—breach of duty

When defendant offered the seven-year-old plaintiff a ride to
his grandparents’ home, he voluntarily assumed the duty to exer-
cise due care in delivering plaintiff safely to his grandparents’
home. The jury could properly find that defendant breached this
duty of care where plaintiff’s evidence tended to show that he
rode in the open bed of defendant’s truck; defendant failed to
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stop at the grandparents’ home but maintained a constant speed
as he passed the home; and plaintiff jumped from the truck as it
passed the home and was injured.

Am Jur 2d, Automobile and Highway Traffic § 572;
Negligence § 144.

. Damages § 113 (NCI4th)— medical expenses—mandatory
presumption of reasonableness

The rebuttable presumption of reasonableness of medical
expenses established by N.C.G.S. § 8-58.1 when testimony of the
amount of such expenses by the injured party or his guardian is
accompanied by records or copies of those charges is a manda-
tory rather than a permissive presumption. Thus, when plaintiff
proffers the evidence required by § 8-58.1, the fact-finder must
find that the total amount of the alleged medical charges is rea-
sonable unless defendant carries its burden of going forward with
evidence rebutting the presumed fact of reasonableness.

Am Jur 2d, Damages §§ 918 et seq.

. Damages § 113 (NCI4th)— medical expenses—burden of
proof

In order to recover medical expenses, plaintiff bears the ulti-
mate burden of proving that the claimed medical expenses were
(1) reasonably necessary and (2) reasonable in amount.

Am Jur 2d, Damages §§ 918 et seq.

. Damages § 113 (NCI4th)— medical expenses—statutory
presumption of reasonableness—jury finding that treat-
ment not necessary

The statutory presumption that medical expenses were rea-
sonable in amount does not preclude the jury from finding that
those medical expenses were not reasonably necessary for the
proper treatment of plaintiff’s injuries. Therefore, even though
the minor plaintiff’s father testified that his son’s medical
expenses were nearly $50,000, the medical records were admitted
into evidence, and defendant failed to rebut the presumption of
reasonableness, the jury did not err as a matter of law in award-
ing only $20,000 for medical expenses since the jury could have
found that all of the treatment was not reasonably necessary.

Am Jur 2d, Damages §§ 918 et seq.
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5. Judgments § 445 (NCI4th)— relief from judgment—oppor-
tunity to move for new trial
A party cannot seek relief from a judgment under Rule
60(b)(2) where such party had the opportunity, through the exer-
cise of due diligence, to make a motion for a new trial pursuant
to Rule 59(a)(4). N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rules 59(a)(4) and 60(b)(2).

Am Jur 2d, Judgments § 820.

Appeal by plaintiffs and defendant from judgment filed 6 April
1995 by Judge James R. Strickland in Robeson County Superior
Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 27 August 1996.

Duffus & Associates, by J. David Duffus, Jr. and D. Christopher
Hyland, for plaintiff-appellants.

Anderson, Johnson, Lawrence, Butler & Bock, by Steven C.
Lawrence, for defendant-appellee/cross-appellant.

MARTIN, Mark D., Judge.

On 4 November 1993 Robert Jacobsen, guardian ad litem for the
minor child Eric Campbell (Campbell), instituted the present action
to recover damages for injuries incurred when Campbell jumped from
the bed of defendant’s truck. By order filed 28 April 1994 the com-
plaint was amended to add Anthony Campbell, Campbell’s father, as
a party plaintiff seeking recovery for medical expenses.

It is undisputed that in September 1991 Campbell was seven years
old and lived at his grandparents’ home in St. Pauls, North Carolina.
On 7 September 1991 Campbell walked from his grandparents’ house
to the local convenience store to purchase tire patches for his bi-
cycle. On his way home from the store, defendant stopped and
offered Campbell a ride home. Because two passengers were already
in the cab of defendant’s truck, Campbell rode in the open truck bed.
At a point near his home, Campbell jumped from the bed of defend-
ant’s truck and was injured. At trial, the parties stipulated to
Campbell’s medical records and Anthony Campbell testified the med-
ical expenses incurred for Campbell’s treatment totalled $49,820.59.

The jury returned a verdict in favor of plaintiffs and awarded
Campbell $10,000 for personal injuries and Anthony Campbell $20,000
for medical expenses. On 31 March 1995 defendant made a motion for
judgment notwithstanding the verdict. On 10 April 1995 plaintiffs
made a motion, pursuant to N.C.R. Civ. P. 59(a), to set aside the ver-
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dict and award a new trial. On 18 April 1995 plaintiffs moved for relief
from the judgment under N.C.R. Civ. P. 60(b). The trial court, by order
filed 14 September 1995, denied all post-trial motions.

On appeal plaintiffs contend the trial court erred by: (1) failing to
set aside the jury verdict and grant a new trial because the present
verdict is contrary to the evidence in that it awards inadequate dam-
ages; and (2) denying plaintiffs’ motion for relief from judgment when
a previously unknown witness came forward the night before the trial
court charged the jury.

Defendant, on cross-appeal, alleges the trial court erred by deny-
ing his motions for directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding
the verdict because plaintiffs failed to establish their prima facie
case of negligence.

[1] We first consider defendant’s contention that, under the present
facts and circumstances, plaintiffs failed to present sufficient evi-
dence that defendant breached a legal duty owed to Campbell.

A motion for a directed verdict and a motion for judgment
notwithstanding the verdict (JNOV) both test the legal sufficiency of
the evidence to go to the jury. Everhart v. LeBrun, 52 N.C. App. 139,
141, 277 S.E.2d 816, 818 (1981). Indeed, courts apply the same stand-
ard when considering a directed verdict motion and a motion for
INOV. Moon v. Bostian Heights Volunteer Fire Dept., 97 N.C. App.
110, 111, 387 S.E.2d 225, 226 (1990).

When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, and likewise a
JNOV motion, the evidence must be taken in the light most favorable
to the non-movant. Bryant v. Nationwide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 313
N.C. 362, 369, 329 S.E.2d 333, 337-338 (1985). Specifically, the trial
court must grant the non-movant the benefit of every reasonable
inference while also resolving all conflicts and inconsistencies in
favor of the non-movant. Id.

In the present case, it is undisputed the defendant, an adult,
offered to take Campbell, a seven-year-old child, back to his grand-
parents’ house. The cab of defendant’s truck was full and, conse-
quently, Campbell had to ride in the bed of defendant’s truck.
Plaintiffs presented evidence, which must be considered true,
Bryant, 313 N.C. at 369, 329 S.E.2d at 337, that defendant maintained
a constant speed as he passed Campbell's house. While passing in
front of his house, Campbell jumped from defendant’s truck.
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Defendant argues, under the above detailed facts, that he did not
breach a legal duty owed to Campbell. To the contrary, defendant, by
offering Campbell a ride, voluntarily assumed the duty to exercise
due care in delivering Campbell safely to his grandparent’s home. 57A
AM. JUR. 2D Negligence § 112 (1989) (“one who undertakes to act, even
though gratuitously, is required to act carefully and with the exercise
of due care and will be liable for injuries proximately caused by fail-
ure to use such care.”); 1 WiLLIaM S. HAYNES, NORTH CAROLINA TORT Law
§ 19-6(D) (1989) (The law imposes an obligation on everyone who
attempts to do anything, even gratuitously for another, to exercise
some degree of skill and care in the performance of those acts and
imposes liability where the one performing the acts has done so neg-
ligently). Further, a reasonable jury could find that defendant’s failure
to stop at Campbell’s house was a breach of defendant’s duty to exer-
cise reasonable care in transporting a minor in the back of his truck.
See Anderson v. Butler, 284 N.C. 723, 729, 202 S.E.2d 585, 589 (1974)
(higher duty of care necessary to protect young children); Arnett v.
Yeago, 247 N.C. 356, 361, 100 S.E.2d 855, 859 (1957) (“children and
particularly [] young children have less judgment and capacity to
avoid danger than adults . . . ."); Johnson v. Clay, 38 N.C. App. 542,
545, 248 S.E.2d 382, 384 (1978) (“law imposes a higher standard of
care when one either knows or should know that one’s actions pose
a grave risk to the safety of {a child]”) Therefore, as a jury could rea-
sonably conclude defendant breached a duty of care he owed to
Campbell, we affirm the trial court’s denial of defendant’s motions for
directed verdict and JNOV.

Plaintiffs, in their first assignment of error, contend the trial court
erred by denying their motion to set aside the verdict and award a
new trial pursuant to N.C.R. Civ. P. 59(a).

[2]1 At the outset we note the denial of a motion to set aside the ver-
dict is within the trial court’s discretion and will not be reversed on
appeal absent a showing the trial court abused that discretion. State
v. Peterson, 337 N.C. 384, 397, 446 S.E.2d 43, 51 (1994). In the instant
situation, plaintiffs argue the trial court abused its discretion in fail-
ing to grant their Rule 59 motion because of the presumption created
by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8-68.1.

Section 8-58.1 provides:

Whenever an issue of hospital, medical, dental, pharmaceutical,
or funeral charges arises in any civil proceeding, the injured party
or his guardian . . . is competent to give evidence regarding the
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amount of such charges, provided that records or copies of such
charges accompany such testimony. The testimony of such a per-
son establishes a rebuttable presumption of the reasonableness

of the amount of the charges.

Id. (1986) (emphasis added). At trial, Campbell’'s medical records
were admitted into evidence and Anthony Campbell testified that his
son’s medical expenses totalled $49,820.59. Therefore, plaintiffs
clearly satisfied the prerequisites of section 8-58.1 and were entitled
to invoke the statutory presumption as to “the reasonableness of the
amount of the [medical] charges.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8-58.1.

By definition, a presumption is merely an evidentiary rule which
requires or allows the jury to assume a fact (presumed fact) because
another fact (basic fact) was proved during the trial. See KENNETH S.
Broun, BranDpis & BROUN ON NORTH CAROLINA EVIDENCE § 44 (4th ed.
1993); N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 301 (1992). Thus, as the weight a
finder-of-fact must accord any presumption depends on whether the
presumption is conclusive, mandatory, or permissive, BRANDIS &
BroUN ON NORTH CAROLINA EVIDENCE § 44, we must ascertain the
nature of the medical expenses presumption.

It is axiomatic the medical expenses presumption, which is rebut-
table, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8-58.1, does not constitute a conclusive pre-
sumption. See Branpis & BROUN ON NORTH CAROLINA EVIDENCE § 44
(conclusive presumptions are not rebuttable). Indeed, relying on the
plain language of section 8-58.1, Burgess v. Your House of Raleigh,
326 N.C. 205, 209, 388 S.E.2d 134, 136-137 (1990), we conclude the
medical expenses presumption is mandatory, rather than permissive,
for two reasons.

First, section 8-58.1, after a prima facie showing by plaintiff,
“establishes a rebuttable presumption of the reasonableness of the
amount of the [medical] charges.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8-58.1. “Establish”
means “[t]o settle, make or fix firmly; . . . put beyond doubt or dis-
pute . . . .” BLACK'S Law DICTIONARY 546 (6th ed. 1990). See Wells
Lamont Corporation v. Bowles, 149 F.2d 364, 366 (Emer. Ct. App.)
(establish means “to settle firmly or to fix unalterably™), cert. denied,
326 U.S. 730, 90 L. Ed. 434, reh’g denied, 326 U.S. 808, 90 L. Ed. 492
(1945). Therefore, we believe the use of “establish” in section 8-58.1
connotes a mandatory presumption rather than a permissive infer-
ence or permissive presumption. See State v. Martin, 7 N.C. App. 532,
533, 173 S.E.2d 47, 48 (1970) (courts may resort to dictionaries to
ascertain common and ordinary meaning).



134 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

JACOBSEN v. McMILLAN
[124 N.C. App. 128 (1996)]

Second, the General Assembly expressly stated the medical
expenses presumption is a “rebuttable presumption.” N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 8-58.1. This language would be rendered superfluous if the medical
expenses presumption were categorized as a permissive presumption
because, by definition, it is not necessary to rebut a permissive pre-
sumption for the trier-of-fact to disregard the presumed fact. BRANDIS
& BROUN ON NORTH CAROLINA EVIDENCE § 44. Therefore, as rendering
any portion of a statute superfluous clearly contravenes well settled
principles of statutory construction, State v. Coffey, 336 N.C. 412,
417, 444 S.E.2d 431, 434 (1994), Hall v. Simmons, 329 N.C. 779, 784,
407 S.E.2d 816, 818-819 (1991), it naturally follows the medical
expenses presumption constitutes a mandatory presumption. See
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 301 commentary (1992) (a judicial or
statutory presumption should be considered a mandatory presump-
tion unless there is clear language to the contrary).

As a general rule, a mandatory presumption:

imposes on the party against whom it is directed the burden of
going forward with evidence to rebut or meet the presumption,
but does not shift to such party the burden of proof in the sense
of the risk of nonpersuasion, which remains throughout the trial
upon the party on whom it was originally cast. The burden of
going forward is satisfied by the introduction of evidence suffi-
cient to permit reasonable minds to conclude that the presumed
fact does not exist.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 8C-1, Rule 301. Thus, when plaintiff proffers the evi-
dence required by section 8-58.1, the finder-of-fact must find the total
amount of the alleged medical charges is reasonable, unless defend-
ant carries its burden of going forward by rebutting the presumed fact
of reasonableness. Id. See also BRaNDIS & BROUN ON NORTH CAROLINA
EVIDENCE § 44.

[3] Nonetheless, to recover medical expenses plaintiff bears the ulti-
mate burden of proving “both that the medical attention [plaintiff]
received was reasonably necessary for proper treatment of [plain-
tiff’s] injuries and that the charges made were reasonable in amount.”
Ward v. Wentz, 20 N.C. App. 229, 232, 201 S.E.2d 194, 197 (1973). See
also N.C.P1,, Civ. 106.15-106.20.1 Put simply, an aggrieved party must

1. The trial court, here, instructed the jury:

Medical expenses include all hospital, doctor, drug and psychologist bills
reasonably paid or incurred by the Plaintiff, Anthony Campbell, as a conse-
quence of the minor Plaintiff’s injury.
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satisfy a two-prong test—the claimed medical charges were (1) rea-
sonably necessary, and (2) reasonable in amount.

[4] When, as here, defendant fails to rebut the medical expenses pre-
sumption, the second prong—medical expenses are reasonable in
amount—is conclusively established. The medical expenses pre-
sumption does not, however, operate to preclude the jury from find-
ing that Campbell’s medical expenses were not reasonably necessary
for the proper treatment of his injuries. In fact, to hold otherwise
would infringe on the unassailable right of the jury to weigh evidence
and assess the credibility of witnesses. See Booher v. Frue, 98 N.C.
App. 570, 577-578, 394 S.E.2d 816, 819-820, disc. review denied, 327
N.C. 426, 395 S.E.2d 674 (1990). Therefore, as it remains entirely
within the province of the jury to determine whether certain medi-
cal treatment was reasonably necessary, we cannot say, under the
present record, that the jury erred, as a matter of law, in awarding
only $20,000 for medical expenses. Accordingly, we conclude the trial
court did not abuse its discretion by denying plaintiffs’ motion for a
new trial under N.C.R. Civ. P. 59(a).

[5] Plaintiffs next contend the trial court erred by denying their
motion for relief from judgment pursuant to N.C.R. Civ. P. 60(b)(2).

Rule 60(b) provides, in pertinent part:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve
a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or
proceeding for the following reasons:

(2) Newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not
have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under
Rule 59(b);

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 60(b) (1990). N.C.R. Civ. P. 59(b) estab-
lishes that a motion for new trial under subsection (a) must be made
“not later than 10 days after entry of the judgment.” N.C. Gen. Stat.

So, finally, as to this fourth issue on which the [Plaintiffs] have the burden
of proof, if you find, by the greater weight of the evidence . . . the amount of
actual medical expenses of Eric Joel Campbell, proximately caused by the neg-
ligence of the Defendant, then it would be your duty to write that amount in
the blank space provided, if you find the amount of [$49,820.59] to be reason-
able and necessary.

(emphasis added). See N.C.P.L, Civ. 810.20.
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§ 1A-1, Rule 59(b). Thus, according to the plain language of Rule
60(b)(2), the moving party cannot seek relief from judgment where
the movant had the opportunity, through the exercise of due dili-
gence, to make a motion for new trial pursuant to Rule 59(a)(4).
Therefore, under the present facts and circumstances, this assign-
ment of error must fail.

No error.

Judges GREENE and JOHN concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. CEDRICK L. WILDER

No. COA95-1227
(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Narcotics, Controlled Substances, and Paraphernalia § 141
(NCI4th)— trafficking in cocaine—constructive posses-
sion—substantial movement

The trial court did not err by denying defendant’s motion to
dismiss charges of trafficking in cocaine for insufficient evidence
where the evidence showed that an officer observed defendant
throw an object into bushes when the car in which he was a pas-
senger was stopped by the police; defendant entered his house
and remained for approximately 30 seconds while the officer was
waiting for backup; several non-law enforcement individuals
were seen searching the bushes where defendant had thrown the
package after the police left the area; defendant’s neighbor dis-
covered a bag which matched the description given by an officer
approximately ten feet from where defendant had stopped and
gotten out of the car; and the bag was later determined by the SBI
lab to contain 990.3 grams of cocaine. A reasonable mind could
rationally conclude that defendant possessed the cocaine, that he
gave instructions to the occupants of his house to retrieve it after
the police left, and that there was a substantial movement of the
cocaine when defendant threw it into the bushes, thus avoiding
being caught with the cocaine and making it possible to later
retrieve it.

Am Jur 2d, Drugs and Controlled Substances § 188.
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2. Narcotics, Controlled Substances, and Paraphernalia § 196
(NCI4th)— trafficking in cocaine by possession —amount
not in dispute—no charge on lesser offense of possession

The trial court did not err in a prosecution for trafficking in
cocaine by not instructing the jury on the lesser included offense
of possession of cocaine. Trafficking in cocaine by possession
requires the possession of at least 28 grams; the uncontradicted
evidence here indicated that the bag recovered from the bushes
contained 990.3 grams. The only question for the jury was
whether defendant had possessed the bag.

Am Jur 2d, Drugs and Controlled Substances § 188.

3. Criminal Law § 429 (NCI4th Rev.)— trafficking in
cocaine—prosecutor’s argument—defendant’s failure to
offer evidence

Defendant’s right to due process in a cocaine trafficking pros-
ecution was not denied where defendant did not present evidence
and the prosecutor argued that the people who could have told
the jury the most about the case did not testify. The trial court
properly sustained defendant’s objections and gave adequate
curative instructions when the prosecutor’s remarks implicated
the defendant’s right not to testify, and the prosecutor’s com-
ments regarding the failure of the defendant to call certain wit-
nesses were permissibly directed toward the defendant’s failure
to offer evidence to rebut the State’s case and not toward the
defendant’s failure to testify.

Am Jur 2d, Trial §§ 705, 707, 709.

4. Criminal Law § 475 (NCI4th Rev.)— trafficking in
cocaine—prosecutor’s argument—comment on not guilty
plea

The prosecutor’s closing argument in a prosecution for traf-
ficking in cocaine did not rise to the level of gross impropriety
where the prosecutor’s remarks were clearly improper in that
they implied that by pleading not guilty in order to put the State
to its burden of proving the charge against him, the defendant
was really guilty. However, the prosecutor twice noted during
closing arguments that defendant was entitled to a presumption
of innocence and the trial court after closing arguments properly
instructed the jury on the law regarding reasonable doubt, pre-
sumption of innocence, and a plea of not guilty.

Am Jur 2d, Trial §§ 554 et seq.
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Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 29 June 1995 by
Judge Jerry Cash Martin in Surry County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 20 August 1996.

Michael F. Easley, Attorney General, by Robin P. Pendergraft,
Special Deputy Attorney General, for the State.

Malcolm Ray Hunter, Jr., Appellate Defender, by Constance H.
FEverhart, Assistant Appellate Defender, for defendant-
appellant.

WYNN, Judge.

On 30 November 1994, Elkin police officer Chris Cave stopped
the vehicle in which the defendant, Cedrick L. Wilder, was a pas-
senger approximately 150 to 200 feet from defendant’s home. The
defendant was suspected of being involved in a shooting incident.
From approximately 100 to 150 feet behind the defendant’s
stopped car, Officer Cave observed the defendant throw a rough-
shaped, predominantly white object from the car into the bushes. The
defendant then exited the car and approached Officer Cave’s car
yelling and waving his arms. Officer Cave, concerned that the defend-
ant might have a weapon, moved his patrol car away from defendant
and called for back up. The defendant then entered his house and
remained inside for approximately thirty seconds. Upon exiting the
house, he again began shouting, waving his arms and walking to-
ward Officer Cave and Officer Collins, who had arrived as back-up.
Officer Easter arrived after obtaining a search warrant for defend-
ant’s house and any vehicles on the premises. He calmed the defend-
ant and asked him what was going on. The defendant responded
“Dope. It’s all over dope.” A number of items were seized in a search
of the defendant’s house including razor blades and plastic bags, one
of which was later determined to contain cocaine residue. From
their patrol car, Officer Cave and Sergeant Chris Swaim used a flash-
light and the vehicle’s spot lights to search the bushes for the package
the defendant had thrown; however, they were unable to find the
package.

A neighbor, James Edward Vestal, saw the police searching along
the road. After the police abandoned their search, Mr. Vestal searched
the bushes himself and found a white plastic bag, approximately five
inches wide and eight inches long, wrapped with duct tape, which he
took into his home. He later observed several people, not police offi-
cers, searching the same bushes. Mr. Vestal telephoned Officer Roger
Smith who drove to Mr. Vestal’s house and retrieved the package. The
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SBI lab later determined that the bag contained 990.3 grams of
cocaine.

The defendant was indicted for trafficking in cocaine by trans-
porting more than 400 grams of cocaine and trafficking in cocaine by
possessing more than 400 grams of cocaine. At trial, the defense
rested without presenting any evidence and the defendant’s motion to
dismiss due to insufficient evidence was denied. A jury convicted the
defendant of two counts of trafficking in more than 400 grams of
cocaine, as charged. The defendant appeals from that judgment.

The issues before this Court are: (I) Whether the trial court erred
in denying defendant’s motion to dismiss based upon the insuffi-
ciency of the evidence, (II) Whether the trial court erred by failing to
instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of possession of
cocaine, and (III) Whether the defendant was denied his right to due
process by the prosecutor’s comments during closing argument. We
find no prejudicial error.

L

[1] Defendant first contends the trial court erred in denying his
motion to dismiss based upon the insufficiency of the evidence. In
ruling on a motion to dismiss, the trial court must consider the evi-
dence in the light most favorable to the State, and allow the State the
benefit of every reasonable inference. State v. Brown, 310 N.C. 563,
566, 313 S.E.2d 585, 587 (1984). The State must offer substantial evi-
dence of defendant’s guilt on every essential element of the crime
charged. Id. “Substantial evidence is such relevant evidence as a rea-
sonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” Id.

The defendant was charged with drug trafficking by possessing
more than 400 grams of cocaine and drug trafficking by transporting
more than 400 grams of cocaine. Under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 90-95(h)(3)
(1993), a person who sells, manufactures, delivers, transports, or pos-
sesses 28 grams or more of cocaine commits the felony of trafficking
in cocaine. It is a Class D felony if the quantity of cocaine is 400 grams
or more. N.C.G.S. § 90-95(h)(3). Defendant maintains that the evi-
dence was insufficient to show that he either possessed or trans-
ported the cocaine recovered by the police.

A conviction for trafficking in cocaine by possession requires that
the State prove either actual or constructive possession. See State v.
Harvey, 281 N.C. 1, 12, 187 S.E.2d 706, 714 (1972). Constructive pos-
session occurs when a person lacks actual physical possession, but
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nonetheless has the intent and power to maintain control over the
disposition and use of the substance. State v. Givens, 95 N.C. App. 72,
76, 381 S.E.2d 869, 871 (1989).

In the subject case, the evidence showed that Officer Cave
observed the defendant throw an object into the bushes when the car
in which he was a passenger was stopped by the police. Mr. Vestal,
defendant’s neighbor, discovered a bag, which matched the descrip-
tion given by Officer Cave, in the bushes approximately ten feet from
where defendant had stopped and gotten out of the car. This bag was
later determined by the SBI lab to contain 990.3 grams of cocaine.
Considering this evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a
reasonable mind could rationally conclude that the defendant pos-
sessed the cocaine.

A conviction for trafficking in cocaine by transportation requires
that the State show a “substantial movement.” State v. Greenidge, 102
N.C. App. 447, 451, 402 S.E.2d 639, 641 (1991). Determining whether
there has been a “substantial movement” involves a consideration of
all the circumstances surrounding the movement, including its
purpose and the characteristics of the areas involved. Id.

In this case, the evidence showed that while Officer Cave was
waiting for back-up, defendant entered his house and remained for
approximately 30 seconds. The evidence also showed that after the
police left the area, several non-law enforcement individuals were
seen by Mr. Vestal searching the bushes where the defendant had
thrown the package. A reasonable mind could conclude that when the
defendant entered his house, he gave instructions to the occupants to
retrieve the cocaine from the bushes after the police left. A reason-
able mind could further conclude that there was a “substantial move-
ment” of the cocaine when the defendant threw the cocaine into the
bushes thus avoiding being caught with the cocaine and making it
possible to later retrieve it for his subsequent use and benefit.

Since there was substantial evidence of each element of the
offense when considered in the light most favorable to the State, the
trial court properly denied the motion to dismiss and submitted
the charge to the jury.

II.

[2] Defendant next contends the trial court erred by failing to
instruct the jury on the lesser included offense of possession of
cocaine. The trial court must instruct the jury regarding a lesser
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included offense when “the evidence would permit a jury rationally to
find [the accused] guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the
greater.” State v. Strickland, 307 N.C. 274, 286, 208 S.E.2d 645, 6564
(1983) (quoting Beck v. Alabama, 447 U.S. 625, 635, 65 L. Ed. 2d 392,
401 (1980)). Trafficking in cocaine by possession requires the posses-
sion of at least 28 grams of cocaine. N.C.G.S. § 90-95(h)(3).
Possession of cocaine is a lesser included offense of trafficking in
cocaine. See State v. King, 99 N.C. App. 283, 289, 393 S.E.2d 152, 156
(1990).

The evidence presented in this case indicated that the white bag
recovered from the bushes contained 990.3 grams of cocaine. This
evidence was uncontradicted. Since the quantity of cocaine in the bag
was not in dispute, the only question for the jury to resolve was
whether the defendant had possessed that bag. Therefore, the trial
court was correct in refusing to instruct the jury on the lesser
included offense of possession.

1.

[38] Defendant also contends he was denied his right to due process
by the prosecutor’s comments during closing argument. During clos-
ing argument, the prosecutor stated, “[a]lso please take note that
people who can tell us most about this, they didn’t have them brought
in. You haven't heard from the defendant’s wife, Adrian Wilder.” The
defendant’s objection was overruled. The prosecutor went on to say,
“Ms. Wilder is here in the courtroom. You didn’t hear from them. You
didn’t hear from anyone.” The defendant again objected and the judge
sustained the objection saying:

The jury is to disregard the argument of counsel for the state that
you did not hear it from anyone. The Court rules counsels
remarks are improper comment on the defendant’s right not to
testify. The defendant in this case has not testified. The law of
North Carolina gives him this privilege. The same law also
assures him his decision not to testify creates no presumption
against him. Therefore, his silence is not to influence your deci-
sion in any way.

While it is constitutionally impermissible for a prosecutor to com-
ment on the failure of a defendant to testify at trial, “it is permissible
for the prosecutor to bring to the jury’s attention ‘a defendant'’s fail-
ure to produce exculpatory evidence or to contradict evidence pre-
sented by the State.”” State v. Williams, 341 N.C. 1, 13, 459 S.E.2d
208, 216 (1995) (citations omitted), cert. denied, 133 L. Ed. 2d 870
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(1996). In this case, the trial court properly sustained the defendant’s
objections and gave adequate curative instructions to the jury when
the prosecutor’s remarks implicated the defendant’s right not to tes-
tify. The prosecutor’s comments regarding the failure of the defend-
ant to call certain witnesses were permissibly directed toward the
defendant’s failure to offer evidence to rebut the State’s case and not
toward the defendant’s failure to testify. See Williams, 341 at 14, 459
S.E.2d at 216. Therefore, the trial court properly overruled the
defendant’s objections.

[4] Although the defendant did not object at trial, he also assigns
as error the following remarks by the prosecutor during closing
argument:

Now, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, you know, when you walk
into this courtroom and you hear a defendant plead not guilty
what do you automatically think? T remember the first time I
walked in a courtroom and a defendant did that. Hair stood up on
the back of my neck and I said, the man said he didn’t do it. You
have a right to know this. And the defense counsel has pointed
this out to you. And I'm sure they will again. This defendant has
the right to presumption of innocence. You have a right to under-
stand what that really means. There are two ways you plead not
guilty in this country. One of them is you say, I didn’t do it. But
there’s another way the. [sic] [o]ther way says, let's see if the
people of the State of North Carolina can prove I did it. Unless
and until they can turn through all the hoops, jump though all the
hurdles, do all the things that need to be done, I'm still presumed
innocent. He has a right to that. But you have a right to know
which way is this defendant going. Ask yourselves back in the
Jjury room, which way is this defendant going? Is he really say-
ing, I didn’t do it, or is he saying, can the State of North Carolina
prove it?

To properly preserve for appeal an alleged error in the prosecu-
tor's closing argument to the jury, an objection should be made before
the verdict. State v. Sanders, 327 N.C. 319, 342, 359 S.E.2d 412, 427
(1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1051, 112 L. Ed. 2d 782 (1991). “In the
absence of such objection, [the appellate court] will review the pros-
ecutor’s argument to determine only whether it was so grossly
improper that the trial court abused its discretion in failing to inter-
vene ex mero motu to correct the error.” Id. (quoting State v. Allen,
323 N.C. 208, 226, 372 S.E.2d 855, 865 (1988)).
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In this case, the prosecutor’s remarks were clearly improper in
that they implied that by pleading not guilty in order to put the State
to its burden of proving the charge against him, the defendant was
really guilty. Such an argument undermines the presumption of inno-
cence which the defendant is guaranteed. Therefore, we must deter-
mine whether, considering all the circumstances, the prosecutor’s
argument rose to the level of gross impropriety.

In State v. Corbin, 48 N.C. App. 194, 198, 268 S.E.2d 260, 263, disc.
review denied, 301 N.C. 97, 273 S.E.2d 301 (1980), this Court found
that a prosecutor’s argument to the jury that a juror could not believe
a person was guilty without also believing it beyond a reasonable
doubt, was an erroneous statement of the law, and was improper.
However, this Court held that since the trial court properly instructed
the jury as to reasonable doubt, the error was not so prejudicial as to
require a new trial. Id. In State v. Hardy, 299 N.C. 445, 453, 263 S.E.2d
711, 717 (1980), the Supreme Court held that a prosecutor’s remark
during closing argument which implied that the defendant had to
prove his innocence, was not “so extreme or clearly calculated to
prejudice the jury so that the trial judge should have ex mero motu
instructed the jury to disregard the remark.” The Court went on to
note that:

Whatever error there may have been, it was cured when the trial
judge instructed the jury during his charge at the close of the final
arguments that the jury was to understand and apply the law as
the judge gave it to them. He then immediately, completely and
accurately instructed the jury regarding the defendant’s presump-
tion of innocence.

Id. at 453-54, 263 S.E.2d at 717.

In the case before us, the prosecutor twice noted during closing
arguments that the defendant was entitled to a presumption of in-
nocence. More importantly, after closing arguments the trial court
properly instructed the jury on the law regarding reasonable doubt,
presumption of innocence, and a plea of not guilty. Considering all
the circumstances, we find that the prosecutor’s argument, while
admittedly improper, did not rise to the level of gross impropriety.
Accordingly, we find no prejudicial error.

No error.

Judges JOHNSON and LEWIS concur.
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CAROL J. PULLIAM, PrLaINTIFF v. FREDERICK J. SMITH, DEFENDANT

No. COA95-1220
(Filed 15 October 1996)

Divorce and Separation § 370 (NCI4th)— homosexual rela-
tionship—adverse effect on children—unsupported find-
ings—custody change not warranted

The trial court’s findings that the father’s homosexual rela-
tionship will expose the children to unfit and improper influ-
ences, is detrimental to the best interest and welfare of the
children, and will cause one of the children emotional difficulties
were not supported by the evidence in the record but reflected
only the opinions of the trial court, and the evidence and findings
thus did not support the trial court’s conclusion that the father’s
homosexual relationship constitutes a substantial change in cir-
cumstances which warrants a change of custody of the children
from the father to the mother.

Am Jur 2d, Divorce and Separation § 1014.

Custodial parent’s sexual relations with third person as
justifying modification of child custody order. 100 ALR3d
625.

Initial award or denial of child custody to homosexual
or lesbian parent. 6 ALR4th 1297.

Judge JOHN concurring in the result only.

Judge MARTIN, MARK D., joins in this concurring opinion.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 30 June 1995 in
Henderson County District Court by Judge Deborah M. Burgin. Heard
in the Court of Appeals 23 August 1996.

Jackson & Jackson, by Frank B. Jackson and Phillip T. Jackson,
Jor plaintiff-appellee.

N.C. Gay and Lesbian Attorneys, by Sharon A. Thompson, Ellen
W. Gerber and John H. Boddie, and Lambda Legal Defense and
Education Fund, Inc., by Beatrice Dohrn and Steven M.
Tannenbaum, for defendant-appellant.
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GREENE, Judge.

Frederick J. Smith (defendant) appeals the judgment entered 30
June 1995 which modifies a previous custody order and grants exclu-
sive custody of the parties’ two minor children to Carol J. Pulliam
(plaintiff).

This matter came on for hearing before the trial court on the
plaintiff’s complaint seeking modification of a California judgment
granting primary physical custody of the parties’ two minor children,
Frederick Joseph Smith, II (Joey) and Kenneth August Smith (Kenny),
to the defendant.

The evidence reveals the plaintiff and the defendant were married
in November 1982 and Joey was born on 8 August 1985 and Kenny
was born on 20 May 1988. The parties separated in 1990 and the plain-
tiff moved to Kansas to live with William Pulliam. A divorce was
granted in November 1991 and simultaneously the parties entered
into a consent decree with regard to the custody of the children. After
the divorce and until August 1994, the children resided in North
Carolina with defendant and his grandmother. In February 1993 the
plaintiff married William Pulliam and they are living in Wichita,
Kansas. In August 1994 Tim Tipton (Tipton) moved into defendant’s
home and defendant’s grandmother moved out of the home. Each
summer since the divorce, the children have lived with the plaintiff
about two months.

The plaintiff is employed as a waitress/cook in Kansas and earns
approximately $250.00 per week. The defendant is employed with
General Electric in Hendersonville, North Carolina and earns approx-
imately $449.00 per week. The children are both enrolled in school,
have good attendance records and above average grades. The defend-
ant coached Kenny and Joey’s tee ball team and helps coach Joey’s
baseball team. Tipton assists the defendant in the care of the children.
Both Tipton and the defendant help the children with their school
homework. There was testimony from the plaintiff that she had seen
the defendant “slap Joey on two different occasions across the face
very hard.”!

1. The plaintiff does not assert and the trial court did not find that the hitting of the
child was a change of circumstance justifying modification of the custody order. This
evidence, therefore, becomes relevant only if the plaintiff satisfies her burden of show-
ing a substantial change of circumstances. Because we hold that this record does not
support a conclusion of a substantial change of circumstances, we do not address the
issue of the hitting of the child. We do note that the record is silent on whether this inci-
dent occurred before or after the separation of the parties.



146 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

PULLIAM v. SMITH
[124 N.C. App. 144 (1996)]

Both Tipton and the defendant are gay. They sleep in the same
bed which is located in a bedroom across the hall from the children’s
bedroom. Although they occasionally openly embrace and Kkiss each
other, sexual activity occurs in the privacy of their bedroom. Tipton
had, in a box on the top shelf in the defendant’s bedroom closet, four
photographs of “men dressed as women.” After the defendant
informed Joey, at the request of the plaintiff, of his sexual orientation,
Joey became “visibly upset” and began to cry.

The defendant has had two parties since Tipton began living with
him. At one party there were six homosexual men, not including the
defendant and Tipton, and a “woman couple” who are also homosex-
ual. During the party, which lasted from 8:00 p.m until 11:00 p.m., the
boys stayed at their great-grandmother’s house because the defend-
ant thought there may be drinking and didn’t think that was a proper
atmosphere for the boys.

Joey testified that Tipton does not make him nervous and he feels
comfortable around him. He likes Tipton and his cooking. Joey had no
preference as to who he would like to live with. When asked why she
thought the children would be better off in her custody, the plaintiff
stated that it was the “impact of the homosexual thing.”

In addition to findings of fact supported by the above reviewed
evidence, the trial court made the following additional pertinent find-
ings of fact:

49. That from the evidence presented the Court would find that
the Defendant’s conduct is not fit and proper and will expose
the (2) minor male children to unfit and improper influences.

50. That there is a possibility of exposing children to embarrass-
ment and humiliation in public because of the homosexuality
of the Defendant and his relationship with Tim Tipton.

52. That based on the foregoing findings of fact the Defendant is
not providing a fit and proper environment for the rearing of
the two minor children. Living daily under conditions stem-
ming from active homosexuality practiced in the Defendant’s
home may impose a burden upon the two minor children by
reason of the social condemnation attached to such an
arrangement, which will inevitably afflict the two children’s
relationships with their peers and with the community at
large.
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53. The activity of the Defendant will likely create emotional dif-
ficulties for the two minor children. That evidence was pre-
sented that . . . Joey cried when he was told by the Defendant
that he (Defendant) was homosexual. This evidence leads the
Court to find that the minor child Joey may already be expe-
riencing emotional difficulties because of the active homo-
sexuality of the Defendant. Furthermore the Court finds that

it is likely that . . . Kenny will also experience emotional dif-
ficulties because of the active homosexuality of the
Defendant.

54. That the active homosexuality of the Defendant and his
involvement with Tim Tipton by bringing Tim Tipton into the
home of the two minor children is detrimental to the best
interest and welfare of the two minor children.

The trial court then concluded that the defendant was exposing the
children to conduct that is not “fit and proper” and that there had
been a substantial change of circumstances since the previous cus-
tody order that is “adversely affecting the two minor children or that
will likely or probably adversely affect” them. The trial court finally
concluded that it is in the best interest of the two children to not
reside “under the same roof as [Tipton] or any other person with
whom the Defendant is having a homosexual relationship.” Exclusive
custody of the two children was awarded to the plaintiff.

The issues are (I) whether the conclusion of a substantial change
in circumstances is supported by the findings; and if so, (II) whether
the findings are supported by the evidence.

A judicially determined custody order of the court “cannot be
altered until it is determined that (1) there has been a substantial
change in circumstances affecting the welfare of the child and (2) a
change in custody is in the best interest of the child.” Ramirez-
Barker v. Barker, 107 N.C. App. 71, 77, 418 S.E.2d 675, 678 (1992)
(citations omitted). The party seeking a modification of custody has
the burden of showing a change in circumstances, id. at 78, 418
S.E.2d at 679, and that the change has had an adverse effect on the
child or will likely or probably have such an effect unless custody is
altered. Id. at 77-78, 418 S.E.2d at 678-79. In other words, there must
be “a nexus” between the changes of circumstances and the adverse
effects on the child, Garrett v. Garrett, 121 N.C. App. 192, 196, 464
S.E.2d 716, 719 (1995); see MacLagan v. Klein, 123 N.C. App. 557,
568-69, 473 S.E.2d 778, 586-87 (1996) (religious practices of parent
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properly considered in custody case only if it has “detrimental effect
on the child’s general welfare”), and evidence of “ ‘speculation or con-
jecture that a detrimental change may take place sometime in the
future’ will not support a change in custody.” Ramirez-Barker, 107
N.C. App. at 78, 418 S.E.2d at 679 (quoting Wehlau v. Witek, 75 N.C.
App. 596, 599, 331 S.E.2d 223, 225 (1985)).

The determination of whether a substantial change in circum-
stances has occurred “is unequivocally a conclusion of law.” Garrett,
121 N.C. App. at 197, 464 S.E.2d at 720. A conclusion that a substan-
tial change in circumstances has occurred implies that.“a change has
occurred among the parties, and that change has affected the welfare
of the children involved.” Id. The conclusion must be supported by
findings of fact and the findings must be supported by competent evi-
dence in the record. See Coble v. Coble, 300 N.C. 708, 714, 268 S.E.2d
185, 190 (1980). Findings of fact which are the equivalent of “specu-
lation or conjecture” are not sufficient to support a conclusion.
Benedict v. Coe, 117 N.C. App. 369, 378, 451 S.E.2d 320, 325 (1994).

I

In this case the trial court concluded that there has been a sub-
stantial change of circumstances. There are findings that a change
has occurred since the entry of the prior custody decree, i.e., defend-
ant is living in a homosexual relationship. There are also three find-
ings (Numbers 49, 53 and 54) that this relationship will have adverse
effects on the children: “will expose” the children to “unfit and
improper influences,” “is detrimental to the best interest and wel-
fare of the two minor children,” and “it is likely that the minor child
Kenny will . . . experience emotional difficulties because of the active
homosexuality of the defendant.” The other findings, asserted by the
plaintiff to support detrimental effects on the children, are mere
“speculation and conjecture” and thus are not supportive. Those find-
ings are: “there is a possibility of exposing [the] children to em-
barrassment and humiliation,” “active homosexuality . . . may impose
a burden upon the two minor children by reason of the social
condemnation attached to such an arrangement,” and “Joey may
already be experiencing emotional difficulties because of the active
homosexuality.”

11

The order must nonetheless fail because the findings which do
support the conclusion are not supported by evidence in the record.
All three of these findings reflect nothing more than the opinion of



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 149

PULLIAM v. SMITH
(124 N.C. App. 144 (1996))]

the trial court that the conduct of the defendant necessarily exposes
the children to “improper influences” that will likely cause Kenny
“emotional difficulties” and is generally “detrimental to the best
interest and welfare” of both children. This was error. Our courts
have been consistent in rejecting the opinion that conduct of a parent,
ipso facto, has a deleterious effect on the children. See In re McCraw
Children, 3 N.C. App. 390, 395, 165 S.E.2d 1, 5 (1969) (adulterous con-
duct of parent does not per se render that parent unfit to have cus-
tody); Williford v. Williford, 303 N.C. 178, 179, 277 S.E.2d 515, 515
(1981) (change of custody not mandated when fiancee of custodial
parent “began to live with the family™). There must be evidence that
the conduct has or will likely have a deleterious effect on the chil-
dren. In this case there is no evidence that the defendant’s homosex-
ual relationship with Tipton has or will likely have a deleterious effect
on the children or that the defendant was otherwise an unfit parent.
In fact the evidence reveals that the children are well adjusted, attend
school regularly, make good grades, and participate in after school
athletics.?

This case is thus distinguishable from Bottoms v. Bottoms, 457
S.E.2d 102, 108 (Va. 1995), relied on by the plaintiff, in that in Bottoms
the child “demonstrated some disturbing traits.” As noted by the
Virginia Supreme Court, the child in that case “uses vile language,” he
“screams, holds his breath until he turns purple, and becomes emo-
tionally upset when he must go to visit his [lesbian] mother. He
appears confused about efforts at discipline, standing himself in a
corner facing the wall for no apparent reason.” Id. In this case there
is no evidence of any such demonstrations by the children. Although
there is evidence that Joey did become upset upon learning that his
father is gay, there is no evidence that he was experiencing “emo-
tional difficulties” as suggested by the findings of the trial court.

Because the findings are either speculative or not supported by
evidence in the record, the conclusion that there has been a substan-
tial change in circumstances is not supported.3 Accordingly the judg-
ment of the trial court must be reversed.

2. The plaintiff points to an incident that occurred at Six Flags amusement park in
Atlanta as some evidence that the children have been humiliated as a consequence of
the homosexual relationship. We disagree. The record simply does not support the
inference that the incident that occurred at Six Flags was in any way related to the sex-
ual orientations of the defendant and Tipton.

3. Because the conclusion that there has been a substantial change in circum-
stances is not supported in the record, we do not reach the issue of the best interest of
the children. Ramirez-Barker, 107 N.C. App. at 77, 418 S.E.2d at 678.
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Reversed.

Judge JOHN concurs in the result only with separate opinion and
Judge MARTIN, Mark D., joins in this concurrence in the result only.

Judge JOHN concurring in the result only.

In the present case, significant portions of the trial court’s find-
ings of fact numbered 49, 50, 52, 53 and 54, upon which its determi-
nation of a substantial change of circumstances is based, are unsup-
ported by competent evidence of record. Accordingly, under our law
the court’s order is defective and must be reversed. See Coble v.
Coble, 300 N.C. 708, 714, 268 S.E.2d 185, 190 (1980). I therefore con-
cur in the result reached in Judge Greene’s opinion.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. GRANVILLE L. HENDRICKSON, DEFENDANT

No. COA95-1062
(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Evidence and Witnesses § 653 (NCI4th)— cocaine—motion
to suppress—findings—transposed names—harmless error

There was only harmless error in the denial of defendant’s
motion to suppress cocaine seized from his person in an air-
port where the trial court found that defendant’s bag had been
seized by Agent Weis when it was really Agent Black who seized
the bag. The trial court inadvertently transposed the names of the
agents.

Am Jur 2d, Motions, Rules, and Orders § 26.

2. Searches and Seizures § 80 (NCI4th)— cocaine—airport
stop—reasonable suspicion

The trial court did not err in denying defendant’s motion to
suppress cocaine seized from his person in an airport by con-
cluding that SBI agents had reasonable suspicion based on artic-
ulable facts that defendant was engaged in criminal activity at the
time of seizure where SBI agents identified defendant from a tip
and the drug courier profile, they suspected defendant of con-
cealing contraband in his crotch, they attempted to seize his bag
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for a drug dog sniff and defendant attempted to walk away with
the bag, an agent said “What’s this?” and reached for defendant’s
crotch, defendant attempted to flee, and cocaine was removed
from defendant’s crotch after he was subdued. All of the facts
known to the narcotics agents at the time of the seizure, taken as
a whole, formed a sufficient basis for a reasonable, articulable
suspicion that this particular defendant was transporting
narcotics.

Am Jur 2d, Searches and Seizures §§ 70, 71, 78.

Law enforcement officer’s authority, under Federal
Constitution’s Fourth Amendment, to stop and briefly
detain, and to conduct limited protective search of or
“frisk,” for investigative purposes, person suspected of
criminal activity—Supreme Court cases. 104 L. Ed. 2d
1046.

3. Arrest and Bail § 69 (NCI4th)— drug courier profile—
object under clothes—flight—probable cause

SBI agents had probable cause to arrest defendant for traf-
ficking in cocaine where the evidence reveals that the agents
determined that defendant conformed to the drug courier pro-
file; the agents confirmed by examining defendant’s identification
that he was the person about whom they had received a tip;
defendant made prolonged eye contact with the officers after
deboarding the plane and quickly heading towards an airport exit;
the agent noticed a round, rigid cookie shaped object in the lower
abdomen under defendant’s clothes while asking for defendant’s
identification; the agents were aware of defendant’s past criminal
conduct; and defendant attempted to flee when the agents seized
his bag and again when they tried to arrest him.

Am Jur 2d, Arrest §§ 9, 39, 42; Searches and Seizures
§§ 70, 71.

Propriety of stop and search by law enforcement offi-
cers based solely on drug courier profile. 37 ALR5th 1.

Appeal by defendant from order entered 20 April 1995 by Judge
Jack Thompson in Wake County Superior Court. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 15 May 1996.

On 15 August 1994, Special Agent William Weis with the State
Bureau of Investigation (SBI), was working drug interdiction at the
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Raleigh-Durham Airport in Raleigh, North Carolina with SBI Agent
Bruce Black. Agent Weis has worked for the SBI since 1978 and has
worked with the narcotics section since 1987. He has worked on over
260 drug interdiction cases. Agent Black has experience with 200-300
drug interdiction cases and testified substantially the same as Agent
Weis as to what narcotics agents look for in attempting to intercept
drug couriers.

Agent Weis testified that from his experience he has learned that
drug couriers carry contraband in particular ways. In general, when
carrying less than 10 ounces a male courier will carry it in his crotch
area. On 15 August 1995, Weis received information, a tip, that
defendant, Granville Hendrickson was traveling on American Airlines
flight 863 from New York to Raleigh. Granville Hendrickson had pur-
chased a one-way ticket with cash one hour before the flight and he
had not checked any luggage. Weis confirmed the information
through American Airlines reservations. Prior to the arrival of the
flight Agent Black made inquiries on the U.S. Custom’s Computer and
the FBI's computer about Granville Hendrickson. The Customs com-
puter showed that defendant had recently made a trip from North
Carolina to Puerto Rico. Puerto Rico is also known by agents to be a
source area for cocaine. The FBI computer check showed that he had
been convicted for possession of stolen property in Goldsboro, North
Carolina.

Before the flight arrived the agents positioned themselves near
the arrival gate and watched defendant get off the flight. As defend-
ant walked into the gate, he made prolonged eye contact with Agent
Weis and stared at two other officers. He walked at a rapid pace near
the left hand wall and against the regular flow of pedestrian traffic
towards the airport exit. Defendant made eye contact several more
times with the agents and he put his right hand in his pants pocket in
such a manner as it looked like he was reaching towards the center of
his body and grabbing something and lifting it up as he walked.
Defendant exited the airport terminal building and walked towards
the taxi stand. Weis and Black approached him, identified themselves
as officers, and asked if they could see his airline ticket. He
responded that he did not have a ticket and he proceeded to hail a
taxi. The agents then asked to see some identification and as he
turned to get his passport out of his bag Weis noticed that defendant’s
nylon jogging pants pulled tight across his lower abdomen area
revealing a round, cookie shape that appeared very rigid. Weis
believed the object to be crack cocaine. The agents then asked
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defendant if he had anything on his person or in his bag that he should
not have and he responded no. Weis asked defendant if they could
look in his bag and defendant again said no. Weis then seized the bag
and told defendant that they were going to hold his bag so that a drug
dog could sniff it for contraband. Defendant tugged on the bag as if
he was not going to turn it over to the agents and attempted to walk
away from them. As defendant was attempting to leave, Weis reached
towards defendant’s lower abdomen area and asked him “what’s
this?” Weis felt the bulge that he had seen earlier. The bulge was hard
and it confirmed Weis’ suspicions. Defendant attempted to flee and
the agents subdued him. Defendant was taken to a police substation
at the airport. After defendant was arrested Weis removed cocaine
from defendant’s crotch and found a bag of crumbled crack cocaine
in defendant’s pants pocket.

Defendant was charged with two counts of trafficking more than
200 but less than 400 grams of cocaine, by transportation and by pos-
session. Defendant waived his right to a probable cause hearing and
the Grand Jury of Wake County returned true bills of indictment on
these charges 10 January 1995. On 6 February 1995, defendant filed a
written waiver of arraighment, reserving his right to file a motion to
suppress evidence. On 13 February 1995, defendant filed a motion to
suppress evidence obtained in violation of his state and federal con-
stitutional rights. Defendant appeals from the order denying his
motion to suppress evidence.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Special Deputy Attorney
General Robert T. Hargett, for the State.

Law Offices of George W. Hughes, by George W. Hughes and
John F. Oates, Jr., for defendant appellant.

ARNOLD, Chief Judge.

[1] Defendant first assigns error to the trial court’s denial of his
motion to suppress because the findings of fact are not supported by
competent evidence in the record. We disagree.

“This Court must determine whether these findings of fact sup-
port the trial court’s conclusions of law, and if so, the trial court’s con-
clusions of law are binding on appeal.” State v. West, 119 N.C. App.
562, 565, 459 S.E.2d 55, 57 (citing State v. Brooks, 337 N.C. 132,
140-141, 446 S.E.2d 579, 585 (1994)), disc. review denied, 341 N.C,
656, 462 S.E.2d 524 (1995).
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Defendant specifically assigns error to Finding of Fact 13:

13. Upon refusal to allow agent Weiss [sic] to look into the bag
the Defendant was carrying, agent Weiss [sic] seized the bag from
the Defendant and informed the Defendant that drug sniffing dog
would be called to check out the bag.

Defendant is correct that the trial judge erroneously found in Finding
of Fact 13 that Agent Weis seized defendant’s bag when it was really
Agent Black who seized the bag. However, we find this to be harmless
error. The trial court heard all of the evidence and inadvertently
transposed the names of the agents in the order denying defendant’s
motion to suppress.

[2] Defendant’s second assignment of error is that the trial court
erred by concluding that the agents had reasonable suspicion based
on articulable facts that defendant was engaged in criminal activity at
the time of seizure and that they had probable cause to arrest defend-
ant. We disagree with the defendant and find that reasonable suspi-
cion and probable cause existed.

Defendant argues that the agents conducted an unreasonable
seizure of him which exceeded the scope of a permissible stop and
frisk procedure, and that the arrest was not supported by probable
cause.

We first address whether defendant was seized within the mean-
ing of the Fourth Amendment. The United States Supreme Court
created a limited exception to the general rule that seizures of a per-
son require probable cause in Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 20 L. Ed. 2d
889 (1968). “That approach, adopted by our Supreme Court in State v.
Thompson, 296 N.C. 703, 706, 252 S.E.2d 776, 779 (1979), ‘requires
only that the officer have a “reasonable” or “founded” suspicion as
Jjustification for a limited investigative seizure.’ ” State v. Perkerol, 77
N.C. App. 292, 297, 335 S.E.2d 60, 64 (1985), disc. review denied, 315
N.C. 595, 341 S.E.2d 36 (1986).

Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court detailed a reason-
ableness requirement for seizures after its decision in United States
v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544, 64 L. Ed. 2d 497, reh’g denied, 448 U.S.
908, 65 L. Ed. 2d 1138 (1980).

While the court has recognized that in some circumstances a per-
son may be detained briefly without probable cause to arrest him,
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any curtailment of a person’s liberty by the police must be sup-
ported at least by a reasonable and articulable suspicion that the
person seized is engaged in criminal activity.

Reid v. Georgia, 448 U.S. 438, 440, 65 L. Ed. 2d 890, 893-894 (1980).
This standard “requires that the court examine both the articulable
facts known to the officers at the time they determined to approach
and investigate the activities of [defendant], and the rational infer-
ences which the officers were entitled to draw from those facts.”
State v. Casey, 59 N.C. App. 99, 107, 296 S.E.2d 473, 478 (1982). The
circumstances leading to the seizure “should be viewed as a whole
through the eyes of a reasonable and cautious police officer on
the scene, guided by his experience and training.” State v. Thompson,
296 N.C. 703, 706, 252 S.E.2d 776, 779, cert. denied, 444 U.S. 907, 62
L. Ed. 2d 143 (1979).

Airport search cases based on “drug courier profiles” must be
reviewed on a case by case basis. State v. Grimmett, 54 N.C. App.
494, 498, 284 S.E.2d 144, 148 (1981), disc. review denied, 305 N.C.
304, 290 S.E.2d 706 (1982). Likewise, the Supreme Court of the United
States reversed the Ninth Circuit in United States v. Sokolow, 490
US. 1, 6, 104 L. Ed. 2d 1, 9-10 (1989), because the Ninth Circuit’s
approach was “contrary to the case-by-case determination of reason-
able articulable suspicion based on all the facts.”

A “reasonable, articulable suspicion” is not based on factors that
“taken as a whole, could easily be associated with many travelers and
would therefore subject them to . . . intrusions into their privacy.”
State v. Odum, 119 N.C. App. 676, 681, 459 S.E.2d 826, 829 (1995)
(Greene, dissenting), rev'd, 343 N.C. 116, 468 S.E.2d 245 (1996). A
trained narcotics agent forms a reasonable, articulable suspicion that
an individual is a drug courier on the basis of identifiable behaviors
that are usually associated with drug couriers as opposed to law
abiding citizens. This Court must review all the facts known to the
narcotics agents at the time of the seizure to determine whether,
taken as a whole, those factors formed a sufficient basis for a rea-
sonable, articulable suspicion that this particular defendant was
transporting narcotics. Id.

The facts in the present case show that Agent Weis received a tip
from a source that the following would occur: (1) A man named
Granville Hendrickson would be flying in on American Airlines Flight
863 from New York, a source city for narcotics, to Raleigh-Durham
Airport; (2) he checked no bags and traveled only with a small black
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gym bag; (3) he purchased his ticket within an hour before departure
of his flight from LaGuardia Airport, and (4) he purchased a one-way
ticket with cash. Agent Weis confirmed this information with
American Airlines reservations in Raleigh and Agent Black ran com-
puter background checks on defendant in the U.S. Customs and F.B.L
computers. The agents discovered that defendant had made a recent
trip to Puerto Rico, also a known source for drugs, and that he had a
prior conviction for possession of stolen property in Goldsboro,
North Carolina. Adding to these factors was that once defendant
arrived at the airport: (1) He made prolonged eye contact with Agents
Weis and Black and Alston and appeared to be nervous; (2) upon mak-
ing eye contact he began to walk at a rapid pace through the airport
against the regular flow of traffic; (3) he made eye contact twice with
Agent Weis while on the escalator to go to the baggage claim area;
and (4) Agent Black observed him put his right hand in the pocket of
his nylon jogging pants in such a way as it looked like he was reach-
ing towards the center of his body and grabbing something and lifting
it up as he walked. Other relevant factors in this case are: (1) Agent
Weis has worked with the narcotics division of the SBI since 1987,
started with the SBI in 1978 and has worked on over 260 drug inter-
diction cases; (2) Agent Black has worked with the narcotics division
of the SBI since 1988, started with the SBI in 1977 and has worked on
approximately 200 to 300 drug interdiction cases; (3) both agents tes-
tified that there are two main ways that drug couriers carry drugs,
either on their person, in the crotch area if a male courier, or in their
baggage; (4) the agents identified Miami, the Southern Florida area,
the New York metropolitan area, Los Angeles and Southern Texas as
being main source cities for North Carolina; and (5) Agent Black tes-
tified that New York City is a primary source city for North Carolina
and that 90 percent of drug interdiction arrests made are of people
traveling from New York to the Raleigh-Durham Airport.

When deciding to approach defendant the agents took all of the
above factors, the “totality of the circumstances,” into consideration.
When asked for his identification, defendant turned to open his duf-
fle bag. This caused his jogging pants to pull a little tighter across his
crotch area and allowed Agent Weis to notice a round, cookie shape
that appeared very rigid under the clothes covering defendant’s lower
abdomen area. Agent Weis noted that this looked unnatural and he
believed it to be contraband. At this time, the agents had a reason-
able, articulable suspicion to seize defendant’s bag and to hold it for
a drug dog sniff. Up until the time that Agent Black seized defendant’s
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bag, no seizure had occurred. Defendant was still free to leave and he
even hailed a taxi during his conversation with the agents. Thus we
find that based on the totality of the circumstances summarized
above, the agents had a reasonable, articulable suspicion to stop
defendant and to seize his bag.

[3] The final issue to be addressed is whether the agents had the req-
uisite probable cause to arrest defendant. With regards to the issue of
probable cause, the North Carolina Supreme Court stated that a
reviewing court’s role “is to determine whether the officer has acted
as a man of reasonable caution who, in good faith and based upon
practical consideration of everyday life, believed the suspect com-
mitted the crime for which he [i]s later charged.” State v. Zuniga, 312
N.C. 251, 262, 322 S.E.2d 140, 147 (1984).

Factors which a court may consider in determining whether prob-
able cause to arrest exists include: (1) the time of day; (2) the
defendant’s suspicious behavior; (3) flight from the officer or the
area; (4) the officer’s knowledge of defendant’s past criminal con-
duct, and . . . one’s reputation for relevant criminal conduct may
contribute to probable cause.

State v. Watson, 119 N.C. App. 395, 399, 458 S.E.2d 519, 523 (1995)
(citations omitted). The evidence presented in the instant case
reveals: (1) The agents determined that defendant conformed to the
drug courier profile; (2) the agents confirmed by examining defend-
ant’s identification that he was Granville Hendrickson, the same
person about whom they had received a tip; (3) defendant made pro-
longed eye contact with the officers after deboarding the plane and
quickly heading towards an airport exit; (4) while being asked for his
identification, Weis noticed a round, rigid cookie shaped object under
the clothes covering defendant’s lower abdomen; (5) the agents were
aware of defendant’s past criminal conduct; and (6) defendant
attempted to flee when the agents seized his bag and again when they
tried to arrest him. Accordingly, we find that the agents had probable
cause to arrest defendant.

No error.

Judges JOHN and McGEE concur.
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JAMES E. DUNN, PETITIONER v. NORTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN
RESOURCES, DIVISION OF MEDICAL ASSISTANCE, RESPONDENT

No. COA95-1129
(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Public Officers and Employees § 41 (NCI4th)— State
employment—most qualified applicant—issue not
appealable

Provisions of N.C.G.S. § 126-4, the Intergovernmental
Personnel Act, and federal and state regulations implementing
the Act do not give an unsuccessful applicant for employment by
the Department of Human Resources a right to a contested case
hearing and appeal to the State Personnel Commission on the
issue of whether the most qualified applicant was chosen. Rather,
the Commission has jurisdiction to resolve only those issues
which are specifically defined as contested case issues in
N.C.G.S. § 126-34.1.

Am Jur 2d, Civil Service §§ 79-81.

2. Public Officers and Employees § 47 (NCI4th)— veteran’s
preference—inapplicability to reemployment

The State Personnel Commission did not err by concluding
that the veteran’s preference did not apply to an applicant for
employment by the Department of Human Resources because the
application was not for “initial selection” where the applicant had
previously worked for the Department after leaving military serv-
ice but had left the Department to pursue private employment.
The Commission’s rule that the veteran’s preference applies only
to “initial selection” and “reduction in force” situations is reason-
able and permissible. N.C.G.S. §§ 126-80, 126-82(a) and (¢).

Am Jur 2d, Civil Service §§ 36 et seq.; Veterans and
Veterans’ Law §§ 95 et seq.

Appeal by petitioner from order entered 19 June 1995 by Judge
Robert L. Farmer in Wake County Superior Court. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 23 May 1996.

Janine W. Dunn for petitioner-appellant.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Assistant Attorney
General Robert M. Curran, for respondent-appellee.
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LEWIS, Judge.

In this appeal, petitioner seeks to challenge respondent’s decision
not to hire him.

From October 1977 through January 1986, petitioner, a veteran,
was employed with respondent, first as a Health Standards Offi-
cer IT and later as a Health Standards Officer III. During four of these
years, he was Manager of the Community Alternatives Program
(“CAP”). He voluntarily resigned in January 1986 to pursue private
employment.

On 11 October 1990, as a private citizen, petitioner applied for the
position of Health Standards Officer III, CAP Manager. The State
hired another applicant and informed petitioner of this decision in
May 1991.

On 6 June 1991, petitioner filed a petition for a contested case
hearing. The issues presented at the hearing were: (1) whether the
most qualified applicant was selected and (2) whether the failure to
hire petitioner violated State law provisions establishing a veteran’s
preference. After a hearing, the Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ")
issued a decision recommending that petitioner be given the position
and partial back pay.

On 3 September 1993, the State Personnel Commission
(“Commission”) issued an order in which it declined to adopt the
ALJ's recommended decision, concluded that the veteran’s prefer-
ence did not apply, and dismissed the appeal for lack of jurisdiction.
On review in Superior Court, Judge Narley L. Cashwell remanded
the case to the Commission to enter a final decision with the re-
quired findings of fact and conclusions of law.

On 14 October 1994, the Commission entered a second final
agency decision in which it concluded that the veteran’s preference
did not apply to petitioner’s application and that it did not have juris-
diction to review the issue of whether respondent selected the most
qualified applicant. Petitioner petitioned for judicial review in Wake
County Superior Court. On 19 June 1995, Judge Robert L. Farmer
entered an order affirming the Commission’s decision. Petitioner
appeals.

[1] Petitioner first contends the superior court did have jurisdiction
under Chapter 126 of the General Statutes to determine whether the
most qualified applicant was selected.
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Chapter 126 gives applicants for state employment and desig-
nated state employees specific rights in regard to their employment.
It also creates the State Personnel Commission which is given the
power to establish various policies and rules. See N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 126-2 (1995) (establishing the Commission), N.C. Gen. Stat. § 126-4
(1995) (assigning powers and duties to the Commission).

Petitioner specifically relies on the following subsections of G.S.
section 126-4:

Subject to the approval of the Governor, the State Personnel
Commission shall establish policies and rules governing each of
the following:

(4) Recruitment programs designed to promote public
employment, communicate current hiring activities within State
government, and attract a sufficient flow of internal and external
applicants; and determine the relative fitness of applicants for
the respective positions.

* sk ok

(6) The appointment, promotion, transfer, demotion and
suspension of employees.

® ook

(9) The investigation of complaints and the issuing of such
binding corrective orders or such other appropriate action con-
cerning employment, promotion, demotion, transfer, discharge,
reinstatement, and any other issue defined as a contested case
issue by this Chapter in all cases as the Commission shall find
Jjustified.

G.S. § 126-4 (emphasis added).

Although these subsections give the Commission the power to
make rules and policies regarding the selection of State employees,
they do not give applicants specific hearing and appeal rights. G.S.
section 126-4(9) generally gives the Commission the authority to
investigate complaints concerning employment. However, this
authority is further defined by the phrase “and any other issue
defined as a contested case issue by this Chapter....” G.S. § 126-4(9).
We construe this language to mean that the General Assembly only
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intended to give the Commission the jurisdiction to resolve, through
the appeal and contested case hearing process, those issues which
are specifically defined as contested case issues in Chapter 126.

Other provisions of Chapter 126 directly confer applicants and
employees with specific rights to appeal to the Commission and to
have a contested case hearing under Article 3 of Chapter 150B of the
General Statutes. E.g., N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 126-5(h), 126-36, 126-36.1,
126-36.2 (1995). Since the General Assembly specifically granted
hearing and appeal rights on these other issues, we infer that it did
not intend, by enacting G.S. 126-4 (4), (6), and (9), to grant additional
appeal rights to applicants. Inclusio unius est exclusius alterius. See
Laurel Park Villas Homeowners Assoc. v. Hodges, 82 N.C. App. 141,
143, 345 S.E.2d 464, 465, disc. review denied, 318 N.C. 507, 349 S.E.2d
861 (1986). We conclude that G.S. section 126-4 does not confer peti-
tioner with specific grounds for appeal on the issue of whether the
most qualified applicant was chosen.

This conclusion is consistent with the recent action of the
General Assembly in amending Chapter 126 to add N.C. Gen. Stat.
section 126-34.1. See 1995 N.C. Sess. Laws ch. 141, § 7. This section,
effective on 1 June 1995, was added after the Commission rendered
its decision in this case but prior to entry of the superior court judg-
ment. It is not necessary to determine whether this provision applies
to petitioner because we have held that other provisions of Chapter
126, even absent this provision, do not give the Commission jurisdic-
tion to consider this issue. However, we note that this new provision
reinforces our holding by providing:

(e) Any issue for which appeal to the State Personnel
Commission through the filing of a contested case under Article 3
of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes has not been specifically
authorized by this section shall not be grounds for a contested
case hearing under Chapter 126.

G.S. § 126-34.1(e) (1995). By so legislating, the General Assembly has
indicated its intent to create grounds for appeal to the Commission
through a contested case hearing only on issues for which appeal
has been specifically authorized in G.S. section 126-34.1. G.S. section
126-34.1 does not specifically authorize appeal on the issue raised by
petitioner.

Petitioner also asserts that the requirements of the
Intergovernmental Personnel Act (“Act”), 42 U.S.C. § 4701 et. seq.
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(1995), and federal and state regulations implementing the Act
require the Commission to review whether the most qualified appli-
cant was chosen for the position he sought. We disagree.

Because of its participation in a federally funded Medicaid pro-
gram, respondent is required by the Act to establish and maintain per-
sonnel standards on a merit basis. See 42 U.S.C. 4728(b) (1995); 5
C.FR. §8§ 900.601 to 900.606 (1996); Appendix A to 5 C.F.R., Pt. 900,
Subpt. F (1996). Consequently, the Office of State Personnel has set
forth, in its Personnel Manual, Standards for a Merit System of
Personnel Administration which mirror the federal standards. North
Carolina Office of State Personnel, Personnel Manual, section 13,
33-35 (November 1989) (“Personnel Manual”).

Both the federal and state versions of these standards contain the
following provision:

(b) Resolution of Compliance Issues

* ok ok

(2) The merit principles apply to systems of personnel
administration. The Intergovernmental Personnel Act does not
authorize OPM [federal Office of Personnel Management] to exer-
cise any authority, direction or control over the selection, assign-
ment, advancement, retention, compensation, or other personnel
action with respect to any individual State or local employees.

5 C.F.R. § 900.604(b) (1996); Personnel Manual, 900.604(b)(2), § 13, 34
(emphasis added). The federal and state provisions cited by peti-
tioner simply require the state to implement a system of personnel
administration based on merit. We are not persuaded that any of
these provide petitioner with a right to a contested case hearing and
appeal to the Commission on the issue of whether the most qualified
applicant was selected for the position.

[2] Petitioner next asserts that the superior court erred by upholding
the Commission’s conclusion that the veteran’s preference did not
apply to his application for employment because his application was -
not for an “initial selection.”

N.C. Gen. Stat. sections 126-80 through 126-83 establish a vet-
eran’s preference for employment in State government. G.S. section
126-80 declares the State’s policy in regard to the veteran’s preference
as follows:
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It shall be the policy of the State of North Carolina that, in
appreciation for their service to this State and this country during
a period of war, and in recognition of the time and advantage
lost toward the pursuit of a civilian career, veterans shall be
granted preference in employment for positions subject to the
provisions of this Chapter with every State department, agency,
and institution.

G.S. § 126-80 (1995) (emphasis added).

The Commission has promulgated rules implementing the prefer-
ence. See N.C. Admin. Code tit. 25, r. 1H.0610—1H.0615 (1987). Rule
1H.0614(a) provides that “the preference . . . shall apply in initial
selection and reduction in force situations only.” N.C. Admin. Code
tit. 25, r. 1H.0614(a) (December 1987). The term “initial selection” is
not defined in the rules.

Petitioner argues that the Commission’s interpretation of the
applicable statute and rules is “merely a convenient litigation posi-
tion” and is not reasonable or permissible. We disagree.

G.S. section 126-82 provides for application of the veteran’s pref-
erence when an eligible veteran’s qualifications are evaluated against
the minimum requirements “for obtaining a position” and permits
application of the preference in certain reduction in force situations.
G.8. § 126-82(a) and (c) (1995). Given these provisions, we conclude
that the Commission’s rule that the veteran’s preference applies only
to “initial selection” and “reduction in force” situations is reasonable
and permissible.

In addition, we conclude that the Commission’s decision that
petitioner’s application was not for “initial selection” is also reason-
able and permissible in light of the findings of fact made by the
Commission, findings which we conclude are supported by substan-
tial evidence in the whole record. The policy of the veteran’s prefer-
ence is to recognize veterans for “time and advantage lost toward the
pursuit of a civilian career.” G.S. § 126-80. At the time of petitioner’s
re-application in 1990, he had over eight years of employment with
respondent and its predecessor agency. This period of time was not
interrupted by military service, but by his decision to pursue private
employment. The statutory purpose of compensating veterans for
time and advantage lost toward the pursuit of a civilian career is
given effect by application of the preference to first-time applicants
and to employees in reduction in force situations. The preference
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would have exponential effect if applied each time an eligible veteran
reapplied for employment with the State.

We also disagree with petitioner’s assertion that the definition
of “initial employment” set forth in N.C. Admin. Code tit. 25, r.
01D.0201(a) (1988) controls. We do not find this definition dispositive
because it does not define the term “initial selection” used in the
veteran’s preference regulations.

We hold that the superior court did not err in upholding the
Commission’s conclusion that the veteran’s preference did not apply
to petitioner’s 1990 application for employment with respondent.

In sum, after review of the whole record in accordance with
N.C. Gen. Stat. sections 150B-51(b) (1995) and 150B-52 (1995), we
hold that the Commission’s findings and decision are supported by
substantial evidence, not based on an error of law, not arbitrary
and capricious, and that the superior court did not err by so
concluding.

Given our resolution of these issues, we need not address
petitioner’s other arguments.

Affirmed.

Judges JOHNSON and MARTIN, Mark D. concur.

ROY R. ROBINSON axp HILDA ROBINSON, His wiFg, PLAINTIFFs v. WILLIAM P.
PARKER, JR., M.D., JOHN L. REMINGTON, M.D., axp DELANEY RADIOLOGISTS,
P.A., A NORTH CAROLINA PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION, DEFENDANTS

No. COA95-890
(Filed 15 October 1996)

Actions and Proceedings § 18 (NCI4th); Process and Service
§ 59 (NCI4th)— failure to deliver summons to sheriff—
validity of alias or pluries summons

N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 4 does not require delivery of a sum-
mons to the sheriff within 30 days of its issuance or a showing of
good faith or excusable neglect for failure to promptly deliver the
summons to the sheriff in order for the summons to serve as the
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basis for the issuance of an alias or pluries summons. Therefore,
the trial court erred in allowing defendant’s Rule 12(b) motion to
quash issuance and service of process in a medical malpractice
action on the ground that plaintiffs’ failure to deliver the sum-
mons to the sheriff before the alias or pluries summons was
issued was not done in good faith.

Am Jur 2d, Appellate Review § 149; Process §§ 56, 407;
Prohibition §§ 14, 53.

Tolling of limitation period as affected by statutes
defining commencement of action, or expressly relating to
interruption of running of limitations. 27 ALR2d 236.

Necessity and sufficiency of service of process under
due process clause of Federal Constitution’s Fourteenth
Amendment—Supreme Court cases. 100 L. Ed. 2d 1015.

Judge LEWIS concurring.

Appeal by plaintiffs from order entered 9 May 1995 by Judge W.
Allen Cobb, Jr., in New Hanover County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 16 April 1996.

On 2 April 1993, plaintiffs filed a medical malpractice action alleg-
ing that defendants’ negligence caused plaintiff Roy R. Robinson both
physical and emotional pain and suffering and left him permanently
partially disabled. In answering, defendants generally denied plain-
tiffs’ allegations. Thereafter, plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed their
action without prejudice on 13 August 1993.

On 12 August 1994, plaintiffs commenced the present action by
filing a complaint and obtaining issuance of summonses directed to
defendants. These summonses, however, were not served on defend-
ants, and on 9 November 1994, plaintiffs caused alias and pluries sum-
mons to be issued, directed to defendants. Defendants Parker and
Delaney Radiologists were served with these summonses on 2
December 1994. Defendant Remington was served on 5 December
1994.

On 5 January 1995, defendants Remington and Delaney
Radiologists answered asserting no service, process or jurisdictional
defenses. Thereafter, on 9 January 1995, defendant Parker filed a
motion to quash issuance and service of process, but made no motion
to dismiss pursuant to Rule 41(b) or for sanctions pursuant to Rule
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11(a). On 20 January 1995, defendants Remington and Delaney
Radiologists filed a substantially similar motion to quash issuance
and service of process.

Defendants’ motions were heard on 4 April 1995 and, after hear-
ing, the court took the matters under advisement. On 11 April 1995,
plaintiffs filed and served a request pursuant to Rule 52(a)(2) that the
trial court make findings of fact and conclusions of law. On 9 May
1995, the trial court entered an order including the following findings
of fact and conclusions of law:

FINDINGS OF FACT

4. The Motion to Quash Issuance and Service of Process was
noticed for hearing on January 19, 1995, to be heard on March 13,
1995; this hearing was continued to April 4, 1995. During this time
plaintiffs have failed to show by affidavit or otherwise any reason
or excuse for the delay in obtaining service of process. The Court
further finds that plaintiff violated the statutory requirements for
the service of process by failing to deliver the Complaint and
Summons to the Sheriff, or by otherwise obtaining service within
thirty (30) days as required by N.C.G.S. 1A-1, Rule 4(a). There has
been no showing made by the plaintiff of any reason which would
constitute excusable neglect, and the Court specifically finds that
the failure to deliver the Summons and Complaint to the Sheriff
of the county for service, or to otherwise obtain service as
required by Rule 4 was not done in good faith and was an attempt
to gain unfair advantage over the defendants which warrants the
quashing of the Alias and Pluries Summons issued herein and
service thereon.

5. The Court has carefully considered the holding in Smith v.
Starnes, 317 N.C. 613, 346 S.E.2d 424 (1986) and specifically finds
that the holding in Smith v. Starnes does not apply to the facts of
this case and specifically the Court finds that the failure to deliver
the duly issued Summons to the Sheriff for service within thirty
(30) days was not done in good faith. The Court has also consid-
ered the holding in Sellers v. High Point Memorial Hospital, 97
N.C. App. 299, 388 S.E.2d 197 (1990) and finds same to be con-
trolling and applicable to the facts of this Action
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Plaintiffs irresponsible and dilatory handling of issuance and
service of process was not done in good faith and was an attempt
to delay or gain unfair advantage over the defendants, thereby
prejudicing their cause.

Having so concluded, the trial court granted defendants’ motions to
quash issuance and service of process.

Plaintiffs appeal.

Larry M. Coe and Bailey & Dixon, L.L.P, by Gary S. Parsons
and John M. Kirby, for plaintiff-appellants.

Baker, Jenkins, Jones & Daly, PA., by R.B. Daly, Jr., and Kevin
N. Lewis, for defendant-appellees John L. Remington, M.D., and
Delaney Radiologists, PA.

Harris, Shields & Creech, PA., by Thomas E. Harris and R.
Brittain Blackerby, for defendant-appellee William P. Parker,
Jr., M.D.

EAGLES, Judge.

We note at the outset that each defendant’s “motion to quash
issuance and service of process” fails to cite “the rule number or num-
bers under which [defendants are] proceeding.” General Rules of
Practice for the Superior Court, Rule 6 (1985). While this defect itself
at times may be fatal, Sherman v. Myers, 29 N.C. App. 29, 30, 222
S.E.2d 749, 750, disc. review denied, 290 N.C. 309, 225 S.E.2d 830
(1976), the trial court in its discretion did not find it so here. We treat
each defendant’s motion as one challenging the sufficiency of process
pursuant to Rule 12, and we review the trial court’s ruling accord-
ingly. See Howard v. Ocean Trail Convalescent Center, 68 N.C. App.
494, 494, 315 S.E.2d 97, 98 (1984). We note also that defendants con-
cede in their briefs that we should review their motions to quash as
Rule 12(b) motions.

Plaintiff argues that the trial court erred in quashing plaintiff’s
issuance and service of process. We agree.

G.S. 1A-1, Rule 4, governs the issuance and service of process in
civil cases. In Smith v. Starnes, 317 N.C. 613, 617-18, 346 S.E.2d
424, 427 (1986), our Supreme Court applied G.S. 1A-1, Rule 4, under
facts similar to the instant case and explained as follows:
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We do not believe that a correct interpretation of Rule 4 requires
delivery of the summons to the sheriff within thirty days of its
issuance in order that the summons may later serve as a basis for
the issuance of an alias or pluries summons. Although section (a)
provides that the complaint and summons shall be delivered to
the sheriff of the county where process is to be made, the rule
provides no sanction for a party’s failure to make such a delivery.
Section (c¢) expressly provides that the sheriff’s failure to make
service within the time allowed under the statute shall not invali-
date the summons. Nor will the sheriff’s failure to return an
unserved summons invalidate the summons. N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule
4(c) (1983). Section (e) controls in determining when an action is
discontinued. It provides that a summons is discontinued as to
any defendant not served within the time allowed when there is
“neither endorsement by the clerk nor issuance of alias or pluries
summons within the time specified in Rule 4(d) . . ..” There is no
provision in section (e) concerning a party’s failure to deliver the
summons to the sheriff for service. In light of the clear language
of Rule 4(e) on the discontinuance of a summons, there is no jus-
tification for construing the rule to require delivery of the sum-
mons to the sheriff within thirty days of its issuance to keep the
summons alive.

Id. This language is controlling. The Supreme Court makes no men-
tion of any requirement under Rule 4 that plaintiffs must prove good
faith, excusable neglect or even give any reason at all to justify their
failure to promptly deliver the summons to the Sheriff. In fact, the
Starnes court specifically states that Rule 4 “provides no sanction for
a party’s failure to make such a delivery.” Id. at 617, 346 S.E.2d at 427.
Accordingly, we find no fatal defect in plaintiff’s issuance and service
of process pursuant to Rule 4.

Defendants nonetheless argue that Starnes is distinguishable.
Specifically, defendants argue that the following dicta limits Starnes’
applicability to cases where the trial court made no finding of bad
faith:

There is no evidence or contention in this case that the complaint
and summons were filed or issued in bad faith or that they were
interposed for delay or otherwise subject to dismissal as a sham
and false pleading pursuant to Rule 11(a) of the North Carolina
Rules of Civil Procedure. . . . Nor are we presented with a motion
for involuntary dismissal for failure of the plaintiff to prosecute
an action pursuant to Rule 41(b).
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Starnes, 317 N.C. at 615-16, 346 S.E.2d at 426 (citing Estrada v.
Burnham, 316 N.C. 318, 341 S.E.2d 538 (1986)). We are not persuaded
by defendants’ argument, however, because we conclude that this
dicta serves only to remind us that a different result may be required
where the dispositive motion is one pursuant to either Rule 11(a) or
Rule 41(b). It is clear that the “bad faith” referred to in Starnes relates
only to the Rule 11(a) good faith standard; it does not create a sepa-
rate good faith standard under Rule 4. That this interpretation is cor-
rect is clear upon reading Estrada (the authority cited by the Starnes
court), as Estrada discusses bad faith only in the context of a Rule 11
motion. Estrada v. Burnham, 316 N.C. 318, 324-26, 341 S.E.2d 538,
542-43 (1986)

Defendant’s final argument, and the argument erroneously
adopted by the trial court, is that the instant case is controlled by
Sellers v. High Point Mem. Hosp., 97 N.C. App. 299, 388 S.E.2d 197,
disc. review denied, 326 N.C. 598, 393 S.E.2d 882 (1990), instead of
Starnes. Here again, we are not persuaded because we conclude that
Sellers is distinguishable on its face. In Sellers, we reviewed the trial
court’s grant of defendant’s motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 41(b).
Sellers, 97 N.C. App. at 302-03, 388 S.E.2d at 198-99. Here, no Rule
41(b) motion was ever made and absent a motion pursuant to either
Rule 41(b) or Rule 11(a), we conclude that Starnes is controlling.
Accordingly, we conclude that the order of the trial court quashing
plaintiff’s issuance and service of process must be reversed. We need
not address plaintiff’s remaining assignments of error.

Reversed and remanded.
Judge McGEE concurs.
Judge LEWIS concurs with separate opinion.

Judge LEWIS concurring.

While I feel bound by the decision in Starnes to concur, I do not
believe the result we reach in this case nurtures good practice.
Accordingly, I urge the Supreme Court to reconsider this issue.

Allowing a party to obtain issuance of a summons, make no effort
at service, and then obtain a subsequent alias and pluries summons
and thereby additional months, makes a mockery of the statutes of
limitation. This is true whether the delay be due to negligent over-
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sight or counsel’s tactics. In the present case, defendants were served
four years and seven months after their alleged negligent acts.
Plaintiffs, in effect, tacked on over a year and a half to the original
statute of limitations.

This behavior should not be condoned. I would require some rea-
sonable effort at service be made by one of the statutory methods in
order to keep a summons viable. Only when such reasonable effort is
shown, should an alias and pluries summons be deemed acceptable to
extend the time for service. If no effort at service has been under-
taken, the summons should expire.

FRED G. WILSON, JR. anD RACHEL PATRICIA WESTBROOK, PLAINTIFF-APPELLEES V.
ROBERT SUTTON, ROBERT SUTTON MOTORS, INC., JAMES W. HAM aND
JAMES W. HAM p/B/a HAM'S USED CARS AND HAM'S BODY SHOP, DEFENDANT-
APPELLANTS

No. COA95-824
(Filed 15 October 1996)

Automobiles and Other Vehicles § 227 (NCI4th); Evidence and
Witnesses § 43 (NCI4th)— sale of wrecked van—dam-
age disclosure certificate not supplied—DMYV inspection
certification

The trial court properly denied the Sutton defendants’ motion
for judgment notwithstanding the verdict in an action arising
from the sale of a previously wrecked van where the jury found
for the plaintiffs and the trial court trebled damages for unfair
and deceptive acts and practices and for intent to defraud. A
motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is treated as a
renewal of a prior motion for directed verdict. The evidence, con-
sidered in the light most favorable to plaintiffs, shows that the
van had been appraised as a total loss after a collision; defendant
Sutton received a Damage Disclosure Statement that the van had
been damaged by collision to the extent that the damages
exceeded twenty-five percent of its fair market retail value at the
time of the collision; defendant Sutton did not disclose to plain-
tiffs that the van had been damaged by collision; and the van was
not more than five model years old when plaintiffs purchased it in
March 1992. Although the Sutton defendants argue that the DMV
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inspector’s examination of the van and verification as to the cost
of defendant Ham’s purchase of repair parts and use of those
parts in the repair of the van should create a conclusive pre-
sumption that the repairs did not exceed twenty-five percent of
the van’s fair market value and that the Sutton defendants were
therefore in complete compliance with the statutory process, the
presumption that a public officer has performed his duty cannot
be used as proof of an independent and material fact. Moreover,
the DMV inspector testified that he had no opinion as to whether
the cost of defendant Ham's repairs to the van was reasonable.
N.C.G.S. § 20-71.4.

Am Jur 2d, Judgments §§ 330, 331.

Appeal by defendants Robert Sutton and Robert Sutton Motors,
Inc., from judgment entered 24 January 1995 by Judge Howard R.
Greeson in Wayne County Superior Court. Originally heard in the
Court of Appeals 17 April 1996.

Defendants Robert Sutton and Robert Sutton Motors, Inc., filed a
Petition for Rehearing of our decision filed 6 August 1996, dismissing
their appeal in this case. On 17 September 1996, we withdrew our
original opinion and allowed the Petition for Rehearing pursuant to
Rule 31 of the North Carolina Rules of Appellate Procedure for the
purpose of considering the merits of the appeal.

The case arises out of plaintiffs’ purchase of a 1989 Plymouth
Voyager van from defendant Robert Sutton, owner and operator of
the car dealership Robert Sutton Motors, Inc., in Goldsboro, North
Carolina (hereinafter collectively referred to as “the Sutton defend-
ants™). Defendants, James W. Ham and his businesses, Ham’s Used
Cars and Ham’s Body Shop (hereinafter collectively referred to as
“the Ham defendants”) are in the van’s chain of title.

Plaintiffs filed a complaint seeking compensatory and punitive
damages, alleging that they were not given a written damage disclo-
sure statement that the van had been involved in a collision to the
extent that the cost of the van’s repairs exceeded twenty-five percent
of its fair market retail value in violation of G.S. § 20-71.4. Plaintiffs
also alleged that defendants’ conduct constituted unfair and decep-
tive acts and practices in violation of G.S. § 75-1.1.

After filing answers denying plaintiffs’ allegations, all defendants
moved for summary judgment. The trial court granted the Ham
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defendants’ motion for summary judgment and denied the Sutton
defendants’ summary judgment motion. The trial court also denied
the Sutton defendants’ motion for judgment on the pleadings.

Briefly summarized, the evidence at trial tended to show the fol-
lowing: James A. Heikkila purchased the Plymouth Voyager van as a
new vehicle on 6 July 1989. In June 1991, the van was involved in an
accident. Mr. Heikkila’s insurance company assessed the van’s dam-
ages at $7,500.00, declared it a total loss, and paid Mr. Heikkila
$12,5600.00 for the van. Upon taking ownership of the vehicle, the
insurance company secured in its name a salvage certificate of title
from the North Carolina Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV), and
then assigned ownership of the van to a salvage company. The salvage
company sold the van to Crutchfield Garage, who in turn, sold the van
to defendant Ham.

According to defendant Ham’s records, he rebuilt the van for
$1,518.07 and secured a new certificate of title for the vehicle from
DMV. The certificate of title did not show that the vehicle was a sal-
vage vehicle or that it had been damaged in excess of twenty-five per-
cent of its fair market retail value. After defendant Ham’s wife used
the van for a short period of time, he sold it to defendant Sutton for
$8,500.00. When defendant Sutton purchased the van, he received the
new certificate of title and a Damage Disclosure Statement. On the
Damage Disclosure Statement, defendant Ham certified and defend-
ant Sutton acknowledged that the van had been damaged by collision
to the extent that the damages exceeded twenty-five percent of its
value at the time of the collision.

Thereafter, defendant Sutton sold the van to plaintiffs for
$11,000.00. Both plaintiffs testified that, at the time of their purchase,
no disclosures were made to them as to whether the van had or had
not been damaged. After they had owned the van for approximately a
month, plaintiffs experienced problems with its transmission.
Plaintiff Wilson also testified that the van’s tires wear out faster on
the right side than on the left side; that attempts to have the front-end
of the van “lined up” have been unsuccessful; and that when the van
turns left or right, the right front tire “rubs.”

The Sutton defendants offered evidence, including the testimony
of Robert Sutton and James Ham, tending to show that the damage to
the van did not exceed twenty-five percent of its fair market value.
Robert Sutton also testified that a DMV officer had certified the
repairs to have been properly done, and, therefore, Sutton did not dis-
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close the damage to plaintiffs. The DMV officer testified that he had
inspected the vehicle, had verified that Mr. Ham had purchased parts
necessary for the repairs to the van and that the parts had been used
in the repairs that were made. Based on the officer’s report, DMV had
issued a title which did not indicate that the van was a salvage vehi-
cle. However, the DMV officer did not have an opinion as to whether
the cost of repairs as represented by Mr. Ham was a reasonable price
for the repairs to the van.

The Sutton defendants’ motions for directed verdict at the close
of plaintiffs’ evidence and at the close of all the evidence were
denied. The jury found that: (1) the van had been damaged in excess
of twenty-five percent of its fair market retail value; (2) the Sutton
defendants failed to disclose this fact to plaintiffs in writing, and
intended to defraud plaintiffs; and (3) plaintiffs were injured as a
proximate result of the Sutton defendants’ conduct in the amount of
$3,300.00. The trial court entered judgment for plaintiffs and trebled
the damages awarded, first, for violation of unfair and deceptive acts
and practices under G.S. § 75-1.1, and second, for intent to defraud
under G.S. § 20-348(a). The trial court denied the Sutton defendants’
motion, pursuant to G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 50(b) for judgment notwith-
standing the verdict, and in the alternative, for a new trial. The Sutton
defendants appeal.

Braxton H. Bell, and Coleman and Perez, by Mario E. Perez, for
plaintiff-appellees.

Cecil P. Merritt and Aida Fayar Doss for defendant-appellants.

MARTIN, John C., Judge.

On appeal, the Sutton defendants assert in a single assignment of
error that “[t]he trial court erred and abused its discretion by denying
Defendant’s [sic] motion for summary judgment, motion for judgment
on the pleadings, motion to set aside the verdict, and motion for judg-
ment notwithstanding the verdict because it misinterpreted and mis-
applied N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 20-71.2 through 20-71.4 and 20-109.1.” The
trial court’s denial of the Sutton defendants’ motions for summary
judgment and judgment on the pleadings is not reviewable on appeal
because the trial court rendered a final judgment after a trial on the
merits. Canady v. Cliff, 93 N.C. App. 50, 376 S.E.2d 505, disc. review
denied, 324 N.C. 432, 379 S.E.2d 239 (1989). We find no error in the
other rulings challenged by the Sutton defendants’ assignment of
error.
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A motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is treated as a
renewal of a prior motion for directed verdict. Munie v. Tangle Oaks
Corp., 109 N.C. App. 336, 427 S.E.2d 149 (1993). The standard for
granting a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is the
same as that for granting a motion for directed verdict, which is
whether, as a matter of law, the evidence offered by the plaintiff,
when considered in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, is suffi-
cient for submission to the jury. Northern Nat’l Life Ins., v. Miller
Machine Co., 311 N.C. 62, 316 S.E.2d 256 (1984).

The Sutton defendants contend that the trial court erred in deny-
ing their motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict because
plaintiffs failed to establish a prima facie case that they violated G.S.
§ 20-71.4(a). G.S. § 20-71.4, as it was in effect at all times pertinent to
this case provides in part:

(a) It shall be unlawful and constitute a misdemeanor for any
transferor who knows or reasonably should know that a motor
vehicle has been involved in a collision or other occurrence to the
extent that the cost of repairing that vehicle exceeds twenty-five
percent (25%) of its fair market retail value . . . to fail to disclose
that fact in writing to the transferee prior to transfer of any vehi-
cle up to five model years old. Failure to disclose any of the above
information will also result in civil liability under G.S. 20-348.

In order to establish a prima facie case under G.S. § 20-71.4(a),
plaintiffs must show that: “(1) defendant was a transferor, (2) who
knew or reasonably should have known that the [vehicle] had been
involved in a collision or other occurrence to the extent that the cost
of repair exceeded 25% of its fair market value, and (3) who failed to
disclose that fact in writing to plaintiff prior to the transfer, and that
the vehicle at the time of transfer (4) was not a vehicle more than five
model years old.” Payne v. Parks Chevrolet, Inc., 119 N.C. App. 383,
387, 458 S.E.2d 716, 719 (1995).

Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to plaintiffs,
it shows that the van had been appraised as a total loss after the col-
lision; that when defendant Sutton bought the van from defendant
Ham, he received a Damage Disclosure Statement that the van had
been damaged by collision to the extent that the damages exceeded
twenty-five percent of its fair market retail value at the time of the
collision; that defendant Sutton did not disclose to plaintiffs that the
van had been damaged by collision; and that the van was not more
than five model years old when plaintiffs purchased it in March 1992.
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The Sutton defendants argue, citing Brandis, North Carolina
Evidence, § 235, pp. 255-567 (3d ed. 1988), that the DMV inspector’s
exarnination of the van and verification as to the cost of defendant
Ham’s purchase of repair parts, and his use of those parts in the repair
of the van, should create a conclusive presumption that the certifica-
tion was correct, that the repairs did not exceed twenty-five percent
of the van’s fair market value, and that the Sutton defendants were,
therefore, in complete compliance with the statutory process and
were not required to make the damage disclosure.

The presumption that a public officer has performed his duty can-
not be used as proof of an independent and material fact. Hall v.
Fayetteville, 248 N.C. 474, 103 S.E.2d 815 (1958); see also Civil
Service Bd. v. Page, 2 N.C. App. 34, 162 S.E.2d 644 (1968) (this
Court holding that the presumption of the regularity of official acts is
one of law, and not of fact, and may be rebutted or overthrown by
competent evidence). Not only is the Sutton defendants’ contention
without merit, but the DMV inspector testified that he had no opinion
as to whether the cost of defendant Ham'’s repairs to the van was
reasonable.

We find the evidence, taken in the light most favorable to plain-
tiffs, was sufficient for the jury. Accordingly, the trial court properly
denied the Sutton defendants’ motion for judgment notwithstanding
the verdict.

No error.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge SMITH concur.

TIMES-NEWS PUBLISHING COMPANY, INC., n/B/A TIMES NEWS, PLAINTIFF v. STATE OF
NORTH CAROLINA axDp STEVE A. BALOG Ix His CAPACITY AS DISTRICT ATTORNEY
FOR PROSECUTORIAL DISTRICT 15A OF THE STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA, DEFENDANTS

No. COA95-1321
(Filed 15 October 1996)
Records of Instruments, Documents, or Things § 1 (NCI4th)—

trial exhibits—return to prosecutor for retrial—not public
records subject to disclosure

Even though exhibits may have become public records sub-
ject to disclosure when they were admitted into evidence at a
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criminal defendant’s original murder trial and in the possession of
the clerk of court, the exhibits once again became “records of
criminal investigations” which were exempt from disclosure
under the Public Records Act when they were returned to the dis-
trict attorney for use in the reinvestigation and retrial of defend-
ant for the murders. N.C.G.S. §§ 132-1.4(a) and (c¢).

Am Jur 2d, Records and Recording Laws §§ 27, 29.

Appeal by defendants from order entered 27 September 1995 by
Judge James C. Spencer, Jr. in Alamance County Superior Court,
Heard in the Court of Appeals 27 August 1996.

The Law Firm of John A. Bussian, PA., by John A. Bussian, for
plaintiff-appellee.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Chief Deputy Attorney
General Andrew A. Vanore, Jr. and Assistant Attorney General
K. D. Sturgis, for defendants-appellants.

WALKER, Judge.

In November 1992, Mark E. Crotts was convicted of first degree
murder. Following the Supreme Court’s decision granting Crotts a
new trial, the clerk of court was ordered to return to the parties
the evidence which was introduced at trial, including but not limited
to the murder weapon, blood scrapings, crime scene photographs,
fingerprints, and clothing worn by the victims at the time of their
deaths.

On 30 June 1995, the plaintiff, Times-News Publishing Company,
Inc. (Times News), requested pursuant to the Public Records Act that
“[the District Attorney] make available to the Times-News a transcript
of the original trial, all photographs, documents or other written or
taped correspondence submitted as evidence during the October,
1992 trial and any judgments or other documentation that falls in the
public domain” (collectively referred to as trial exhibits). Crotts’
defense counsel and the district attorney filed motions for a protec-
tive order in the criminal proceeding. Following a hearing, the court
denied both motions for a protective order and ordered the district
attorney to “provide access to the plaintiff of the physical exhibits
introduced at the trial in State v. Crotts, 91 CrS 19956, 19957, now in
his custody. . . .” The court declined to compel disclosure of the copy
of the trial transcript in the district attorney’s possession.
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The sole question presented on appeal is whether the trial court
erred by ordering the district attorney to provide plaintiff access to
previously admitted trial exhibits which were returned to the district
attorney’s office for use in the reinvestigation and preparation for
retrial.

The Public Records Act, N.C. Gen. Stat. § 132-1 to -10 et seq.
(1995) (The Act), affords the public a broad right of access to records
in the possession of public agencies and their officials. “Public
records” as defined by the statute may include the following:

all . . . material, regardless of physical form or characteristics,
made or received pursuant to law or ordinance in connection
with the transaction of public business by any agency of North
Carolina government. . . .

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 132-1(a). Our courts have interpreted The Act to
allow the public access to all public records in an agency’s possession
unless either the agency or the record is specifically exempted from
the statute’s mandate.

The defendants contend that the trial exhibits at issue are specif-
ically exempted from classification as public records pursuant to N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 132-1.4(a) which provides:

(a) Records of criminal investigations conducted by public law
enforcement agencies or records of criminal intelligence infor-
mation compiled by public law enforcement agencies are not
public records as defined by G.S. 132-1. Records of criminal
investigations conducted by public law enforcement agencies or
records of criminal intelligence information may be released by
order of a court of competent jurisdiction.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 132-1.4(a) (1995) (emphasis added). The General
Assembly amended the law to clarify that “[d]isclosure of records of
criminal investigations and criminal intelligence information that
have been transmitted to a district attorney or other attorney author-
ized to prosecute a violation of law shall be governed by this section
and Chapter 15A of the General Statutes [relating to criminal discov-
ery procedures]. See N.C. Gen. Stat. § 132-1.4(g). The Act also clari-
fies that only the following limited materials may be available to the
public from a district attorney'’s case file:

(1) The time, date, location, and nature of a violation or apparent
violation of the law reported to a public law enforcement agency.
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(2) The name, sex, age, address, employment, and alleged viola-
tion of law of a person arrested, charged, or indicted.

(3) The circumstances surrounding an arrest, including the time
and place of the arrest, whether the arrest involved resistance,
possession or use of weapons, or pursuit, and a description of any
items seized in connection with the arrest.

(4) The contents of “911” and other emergency telephone calls
received by or on behalf of public law enforcement agencies,
except for such contents that reveal the name, address, telephone
number, or other information that may identify the caller, victim,
or witness.

(5) The contents of communications between or among employ-
ees of public law enforcement agencies that are broadcast over
the public airways.

(6) The name, sex, age, and address of a complaining witness.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 132-1.4(c). Thus, it is clear from the statute’s plain
language that the criminal investigative materials transmitted to the
district attorney's office in preparation for the initial prosecution of
Crotts were exempted from classification as public records.

Plaintiff, however, contends that the exhibits lost their exemption
when the exhibits were released into the “public domain” upon their
admission into evidence during the first Crotts’ trial. As support for
its argument plaintiff relies on the case News and Observer
Publishing Co. v. Poole, 330 N.C. 465, 474, 412 S.E.2d 7, 12 (1992). In
their brief, plaintiff espouse that “Poole specifically holds that
records once-exempt from the Public Records Act’s mandatory dis-
closure requirement lose their exempt status when introduced into
the public domain.” We decline to adopt such an interpretation of
Poole in the instant case.

Poole involved the issue of whether SBI investigative records
retained their N.C. Gen. Stat. § 114-15 exemption after the SBI sub-
mitted its reports to the Poole Commission, a Commission appointed
by the president of the University of North Carolina. Id. The Supreme
Court held that:

When such reports become part of the records of a public agency
subject to the Public Records Act, they are protected only to the
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extent that agency’s records are protected. When the SBI inves-
tigative reports here became Commission records, they . . .
became subject to disclosure under the Public Records Law to
the same extent as other Commission records.

Id. at 474, 412 S.E.2d at 12-13. Thus, “Poole’s legacy is therefore that
the public records law mandated the release of draft reports and min-
utes from closed meetings of state commissions.” Thomas H. Moore,
Comment, You Can't Always Get What You Want: A Look at North
Carolina’s Public Records Law, 72 N.C.L. Rev. 1527, 1560 (1994).
However, investigative reports by the SBI in the possession of district
attorneys and local law enforcement are still not subject to release.
Id. Thus, the analysis remains primarily a statutory one. To determine
whether particular material is exempted from classification as a
public record depends upon whether the agency or the record is
specifically exempted from the statute’s mandate.

Notwithstanding the fact that the exhibits may have been acces-
sible when they were admitted into evidence and in the possession of
the clerk of court, the trial exhibits were returned to the district attor-
ney’s office at the conclusion of the trial in State v. Crotts, 91 CrS
19956 and 19957 for use in the reinvestigation and preparation of
Crotts’ retrial. Therefore, unlike Poole where exempted materials
were transmitted to an agency whose records were subject to disclo-
sure, here the exempted exhibits have been transmitted to the district
attorney’s office and as such are specifically exempted from disclo-
sure under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 132-1.4(g). Accordingly, based on the
plain meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 132-1.4(a), these exhibits are once
again “records of criminal investigations” and as such are “not public
records.”

To hold otherwise in this case would permit access to files in the
possession of the district attorney thereby creating the potential for
disruption in the reinvestigation and renewed prosecution of a double
murder case. Furthermore, even though plaintiff previously printed
numerous stories about the case and the evidence introduced during
Crotts’ initial murder trial, there are sound policy reasons for denying
public access to criminal investigative materials. It remains important
to minimize the danger that a suspect will be tried in the press before
he/she is tried in court, to assure effective criminal investigations and
prosecutions, and to safeguard the adversarial process from disrup-
tion. Accordingly, we reverse the decision below and remand the case
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to the trial court with instructions to vacate its order requiring
disclosure of the trial exhibits.

Reversed and remanded.

Judges EAGLES and McGEE concur.

R. STANLEY MORGAN, anp A. DEAN BRIDGES, PETITIONERS V. N.C. DEPARTMENT
OF TRANSPORTATION, RIGHT OF WAY BRANCH, RESPONDENT

No. COA95-1208
(Filed 15 October 1996)

Public Officers and Employees § 41 (NCI4th); Costs § 37
(NCI4th)— state employee—posting of position—attor-
ney’s fees

The trial court’s award of attorney’s fees under N.C.G.S.
§ 6-19.1 was reversed where petitioners had been interviewed for
an area negotiator position at DOT but were not selected; a new
area negotiator position was created shortly afterwards which
was not posted because it could be filled from the applicant pool
for the first vacancy; the Administrative Law Judge held that DOT
violated posting requirements but declined to order attorney’s
fees under N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11) since there was no discrimina-
tion, reinstatement, or back pay; the State Personnel Commission
upheld the denial of attorney’s fees; and the Forsyth County
Superior Court allowed attorney’s fees under N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1.
The trial court correctly found no basis for reversing or mod-
ifying the Commission’s denial of an award under N.C.G.S.
§ 126-4(11), but was not authorized to circumvent the application
of N.C.G.S. § 126-41 by looking to N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1. In cases
involving the State Personnel Commission, the legislature has
preempted the application of N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 to matters before
the Commission that arise prior to judicial review; those matters
are specifically provided for by N.C.G.S. § 126-41. A contrary
interpretation would permit the reviewing court to award attor-
ney’s fees that could not be awarded by the Commission for serv-
ices rendered before it.

Am Jur 2d, Civil Service §§ 8 et seq.; Costs §§ 57-70.
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Appeal by respondent from order entered 21 August 1995 by
Judge Julius A. Rousseau in Forsyth County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 22 August 1996.

Pete Bradley and David V. Liner, for petitioners-appellees.

Michael F. Easley, Attorney General, by Robert O. Crawford, 111,
Associate Attorney General and Melanie Lewis Vtipil, Associate
Attorney General, for the State.

WYNN, Judge.

In early 1994, the North Carolina Department of Transportation
(DOT) posted a vacancy notice for the position of area negotiator.
Petitioners R. Stanley Morgan and A. Dean Bridges interviewed for
the position, but were not selected.

Shortly thereafter, DOT created a new area negotiator position;
however, this additional position was not posted because the person-
nel director determined that the position could be filled from the
applicant pool for the first vacancy. In reaching his decision, the per-
sonnel director relied on a memorandum from the Office of State
Personnel which stated:

This is in response to your question concerning the necessity of
posting and/or listing a vacancy which is identical to one previ-
ously announced. We have consistently granted a waiver of the
posting/listing requirement when a second vacancy occurs within
60 days of the listing date of the first vacancy as long as the
vacancies are identical, including the description of the position,
the knowledge and skill requirements, and geographical location.

Petitioners alleged at a hearing before an Administrative Law
Judge (ALJ) that DOT violated the posting requirements of N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 126-7.1(a) (1995) when it failed to post the second vacancy.
The ALJ agreed and ordered DOT to discharge the person selected for
the unposted position. The ALJ declined to order attorney’s fees
under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 126-4(11) (1995) since there was not discrim-
ination, reinstatement, or back pay.

The State Personnel Commission (“Commission”) upheld the
ALJ’s denial of attorney’s fees. The petitioners then appealed to
Forsyth County Superior Court which issued an order allowing attor-
ney’s fees under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 6-19.1 (1986). DOT appeals from
that order.
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The issue is whether the trial court erred in awarding attorney’s
fees under N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 in this case. Finding error, we reverse.

N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11) authorizes the State Personnel Commission
to establish rules regarding the assessment of attorney’s fees “[i]n
cases where the Commission finds discrimination or orders rein-
statement or back pay whether (i) heard by the Commission or (ii)
appealed for limited review after settlement or (iii) resolved at the
agency level.” Acting under that authority, the State Personnel
Commission determined that it may only award attorney’s fees where
there has been discrimination, reinstatement or back pay. N.C.
Admin. Code tit. 25, r. 1B.0414 (February 1996). Since the subject case
involved none of these, the Commission concluded that “GS 126-4(11)
does not authorize the award of reasonable attorney fees in this
case.”

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 126-41 (1995) which provides for judicial review
of the Commission’s decision to award or not award attorney’s fees
under N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11) states:

The decision of the Commission assessing or refusing to assess
reasonable witness fees or a reasonable attorney’s fee as pro-
vided in G.S. 126-4(11) is a final agency decision appealable under
Article 4 of Chapter 150B of the General Statutes. The reviewing
court may reverse or modify the decision of the Commission if
the decision is unreasonable or the award is inadequate. The
reviewing court shall award court costs and a reasonable attor-
ney’s fee for representation in connection with the appeal to an
employee who obtains a reversal or modification of the
Commission’s decision in an appeal under this section. (emphasis
added).

Thus, upon appeal of the Commission’s decision not to award attor-
ney’s fees under N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11), N.C.G.S. § 126-41 constrains the
Superior Court to reverse or modify the Commission’s order only if it
is deemed unreasonable or inadequate.

In the case before us, the record indicates that the trial court
made no findings as to the reasonableness or inadequacy of the
Commission’s decision pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 126-41. Further, the
petitioners make no argument as to why the Commission’s decision
not to award attorney’s fees under N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11) was either
unreasonable or inadequate. In any event, since the Commission had
statutory authority to award attorney’s fees only in cases involving
discrimination, reinstatement or back pay, we conclude that the
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Commission properly denied an award of attorney’s fees to petition-
ers under N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11).

Nonetheless, petitioners contend that N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 offers
another avenue for the award of attorney’s fees for services per-
formed prior to judicial review. The trial court apparently agreed with
that contention holding that “{t]he provisions of GS 6-19.1 regarding
this Court’s authority to award reasonable attorney fees applies in
this case.” We hold that N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 does not empower the trial
court to award attorney’s fees in State Personnel cases for services
rendered prior to judicial review.

N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 provides:

In any civil action, other than an adjudication for the purpose
of establishing or fixing a rate, or a disciplinary action by a li-
censing board, brought by the State or brought by a party who is
contesting State action pursuant to G.S. 1560A-43 or any other
appropriate provisions of law, unless the prevailing party is the
State, the court may, in its discretion, allow the prevailing party
to recover reasonable attorney’s fees to be taxed as court costs
against the appropriate agency if:

(1) The court finds that the agency acted without substantial
justification in pressing its claim against the party; and

(2) The court finds that there are no special circumstances
that would make the award of attorney’s fees unjust.

This statute has a broad application and it provides a punitive type
remedy. However, in cases involving the State Personnel Commis-
sion, the legislature has preempted the application of N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 6-19.1 to matters before the Commission that arise prior to judi-
cial review. Those matters are specifically provided for by N.C.G.S.
§ 126-41 which limits the review of the Commission’s award or denial
of attorney’s fees under N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11). Thus, in reviewing State
Personnel Commission decisions, the trial court’s authority to award
attorney’s fees to a prevailing party under N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 is limited
to services rendered on judicial review if it finds that the agency was
unjustified in pursuing the judicial review of its claim.

Petitioners rely on North Carolina Dept. of Correction v.
Harding, 120 N.C. App. 451, 462 S.E.2d 671 (1995), disc. review
denied, 342 N.C. 658, 467 S.E.2d 720 (1996), as authority for the award
of attorney’s fees under N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 in this case. Their reliance
on Harding is misplaced. In Harding, this Court found that the trial
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court was not reviewing the Commission’s discretionary authority to
award or deny attorney’s fees under N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11). Id. at 455,
462 S.E.2d at 674. We stated:

Since the Commission in this case had not entered an award of
attorney’s fees pursuant to its discretionary powers under
N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11), it follows that the trial court in setting the
hourly rate was not reviewing an award of the Commission.
Rather, it acted under authority granted to it under N.C.G.S.
§ 6-19.1.

Id. Most significantly, Harding limited the application of N.C.G.S.
§ 6-19.1 to the award of attorney’s fees for judicial review of the
Commission’s actions, not for services rendered prior to judicial
review. Id.

In the case before us, the petitioners appealed to the trial court
the Commission’s denial of attorney’s fees under N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11).
Such an appeal is permitted only under N.C.G.S. § 126-41 which
allows the trial court to reverse or modify the Commission’s award if
the award were found to be unreasonable or inadequate. Apparently
the trial court found no basis for reversing or modifying the
Commission’s denial of an award under N.C.G.S. § 126-4(11), and our
examination of the record indicates that the trial court acted cor-
rectly in this regard. However, the trial court was not authorized to
circumvent the application of N.C.G.S. § 126-41 in this case by look-
ing to N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1. From the foregoing discussion, we conclude
that N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 allows for an award of attorney’s fees in State
Personnel Commission cases only for services rendered on judicial
review.

Finally, we note that a contrary interpretion allowing the trial
court to award attorney’s fees under N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1 for services
rendered before judicial review would permit the reviewing court to
award attorney’s fees that could not be awarded by the Commission
for services rendered before it. We do not believe that the Legislature
intended that resuit.

For the foregoing reasons, we reverse the trial court’s award of
attorney’s fees under N.C.G.S. § 6-19.1.

Reversed.

Judges JOHNSON and LEWIS concur.
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BOBBY HOOPER anD wirg, ZELDA HOOPER, PLAINTIFFS V. ALLSTATE INSURANCE
COMPANY, DEFENDANT

No. COA95-1408
(Filed 15 October 1996)

Arbitration and Award § 39 (NCI4th)— motion to confirm
appraisers’ report—simple denial improper
Where defendant homeowners insurer moved for confirma-
tion of the appraisers’ report in an arbitration proceeding, the
trial court could not simply deny the motion but was required to
confirm the arbitration award, to vacate the award after finding
one of the statutory grounds for vacating, or to modify the award
so as to effect the intent of the parties and then confirm the
award as modified. N.C.G.S. §§ 1-567.12, 1-567.13.

Am Jur 2d, Alternative Dispute Resolution §§ 218, 229,
234.

Appeal by defendant from order entered 26 July 1995 by Judge
H.W. Zimmerman, Jr., in Haywood County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 23 September 1996.

Russell L. McLean, 111, for plaintiff appellees.

Roberts & Stevens, PA., by Frank P. Graham and Wyatt S.
Stevens, for defendant appellant.

SMITH, Judge.

On 4 February 1994, plaintiffs filed a complaint against defendant
Allstate Insurance Company (Allstate), alleging that plaintiffs had suf-
fered a fire loss to their residence and personal property on 24
February 1993, which was insured by Allstate under a homeowners’
policy. On 7 April 1994, defendant Allstate filed a Tender of Judgment.
On 8 April 1994, plaintiffs filed a motion to strike, a motion demand-
ing arbitration, a motion to dismiss and a motion for judgment on the
pleadings. Plaintiffs’ motion for arbitration was allowed and all other
motions were stayed pending completion of arbitration. The parties
were ordered to name their appraisers. Allstate named Mr. C. Grayson
Williford, and plaintiffs named Mr. Danny Ferguson. Because the par-
ties’ appraisers could not come to an agreement and resolve the dif-
ferences between the parties, defendant made a motion pursuant to
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the insurance policy for the trial court to appoint an independent
appraiser. The trial court appointed Mr. Fredrick Spenser to serve as
an independent appraiser to resolve the differences between the par-
ties’ two appraisers. However, prior to his being appointed by the
court to serve as an independent appraiser, plaintiffs hired Spenser
for a fee to review the appraisal submitted by the original appraisers
and to provide plaintiffs with his opinion of the appraisal. Spenser
was permitted to withdraw as an independent appraiser in the case,
and the trial court appointed Mr. Jack McKenney to serve as the inde-
pendent appraiser.

On 22 June 1995 defendant filed a motion for order setting loss.
In an order dated 24 July 1995, entered 26 July 1995 and amended 13
August 1995, defendant’s motion for order setting loss was denied.
From the amended order, defendant appeals.

Defendant assigns error to the trial court’s denial of defendant’s
motion to set loss in accordance with the appraisers’ report, which
determined the value of plaintiffs’ residence as $88,693.00. We vacate
the trial court’s order and remand.

Pursuant to Article 45A of the North Carolina General Statutes,
entitled “Arbitration and Award,” the trial court has three options
when presented with an arbitration award. First, the trial court can
confirm the award as it is. Second, upon application of a party, the
court can vacate an award and order a new hearing before the origi-
nal arbitrators, or before newly appointed arbitrators depending upon
the statutory grounds for vacating the award. Finally, upon applica-
tion of a party, the trial court can modify or correct the award so as
to effect the intent of the parties and then confirm the award as mod-
ified and corrected. These three options are set forth in Chapter 1 of
the North Carolina General Statutes. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-567.12 (1983)
(emphasis added) provides:

Confirmation of an award.

Upon application of a party, the court shall confirm an award,
unless within the time limits hereinafter imposed grounds are
urged for vacating or modifying or correcting the award, in
which case the court shall proceed as provided in G.S. 1-567.13
and 1-567.14.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-567.13 (1983) (emphasis added) provides:
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Vacating an award.

(a) Upon application of a party, the court shall vacate an
award where:

(1) The award was procured by corruption, fraud or
other undue means;

(2) There was evident partiality by an arbitrator appointed
as a neutral or corruption in any of the arbitrators or mis-
conduct prejudicing the rights of any party;

(3) The arbitrators exceeded their powers;

(4) The arbitrators refused to postpone the hearing upon
sufficient cause being shown therefor or refused to hear
evidence material to the controversy or otherwise so
conducted the hearing, contrary to the provisions of G.S.
1-667.6, as to prejudice substantially the rights of a party;
or

(5) There was no arbitration agreement and the issue was
not adversely determined in proceedings under G.S.
1-5667.3 and the party did not participate in the arbitration
hearing without raising the objection; but the fact that
the relief was such that it could not or would not be
granted by a court of law or equity is not ground for
vacating or refusing to confirm the award.

(b) An application under this section shall be made within 90
days after delivery of a copy of the award to the applicant except
that, if predicated upon corruption, fraud or other undue means,
it shall be made within 90 days after such grounds are known or
should have been known.

(¢) In vacating the award on grounds other than stated in
subdivision (5) of subsection (a) the court may order a rehearing
before new arbitrators chosen as provided in the agreement, or in
the absence thereof, by the court in accordance with G.S. 1-567.4,
or, if the award is vacated on grounds set forth in subdivisions (3)
or (4) of subsection (a) the court may order a rehearing before
the arbitrators who made the award or their successors
appointed in accordance with G.S. 1-567.4. The time within which
the agreement requires the award to be made is applicable to the
rehearing and commences from the date of the order.
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(d) If the application to vacate is denied and no motion to
modify or correct the award is pending, the court shall confirm
the award.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-5667.14 (1983) (emphasis added) provides:
Modification or correction of award.

(a) Upon application made within 90 days after delivery of a
copy of the award to the applicant, the court shall modify or cor-
rect the award where:

(1) There was an evident miscalculation of figures or an evi-
dent mistake in the description of any person, thing or
property referred to in the award,;

(2) The arbitrators have awarded upon a matter not sub-
mitted to them and the award may be corrected without
affecting the merits of the decision upon the issues sub-
mitted; or

(3) The award is imperfect in a matter of form, not affecting
the merits of the controversy.

(b) If the application is granted, the court shall modify and
correct the award so as to effect its intent and shall confirm the
award as so modified and corrected. Otherwise, the court shall
confirm the award as made.

(¢) An application to modify or correct an award may
be joined in the alternative with an application to vacate the
award.

In the present case the trial court failed to exercise any of these
options. Defendant Allstate made a motion to set the loss which was
in reality a request for confirmation of the appraisers’ report, which
the trial court denied. Pursuant to the North Carolina General
Statutes, the trial judge was required to confirm the award, vacate the
award after finding one of the statutory grounds for vacating, or the
trial court could have modified the award so as to effect the intent of
the parties and then confirm the award as modified. We further note
that it would be helpful to the courts if counsel used the appropriate
terminology, as set forth in the statutes, when making motions.
Instead of filing a “Motion for Order Setting Loss,” defendant should
have filed a “Motion to Confirm the Appraisers’ Report,” and plaintiffs
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should have then requested the trial court to “vacate” or to “modify
and correct” the appraisers’ report, instead of requesting the court to
deny the “Motion for Order Setting Loss.”

While a final arbitration award is not properly before us for our
review, we note that, “[jludicial review of an arbitration award is lim-
ited to the determination of whether there exists one of the specific
grounds for vacating the award under the arbitration statute.” Sentry
Building Systems v. Onslow County Bd. of Education, 116 N.C. App.
442, 443, 448 S.E.2d 145, 146 (1994). We see no evidence in the record
of any of the statutory grounds set forth in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-567.13.
The exclusive grounds for vacating an award are (1) the award was
procured by corruption, (2) there was evident partiality by an arbi-
trator, (3) the arbitrators exceeded their powers, (4) the arbitrators
refused to postpone the hearing upon show of sufficient cause, (5)
they refused to hear evidence material to the controversy, or (6)
there was no arbitration agreement. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-567.13.
Furthermore, “G.S. § 1-567.14 provides the exclusive grounds and
procedure for modifying or correcting an arbitration award.” J.M.
Owen Bldg. Contractors, Inc. v. College Walk, Ltd., 101 N.C. App.
483, 487, 400 S.E.2d 468, 470 (1991) (citing Crutchley v. Crutchley,
306 N.C. 518, 523 n.2, 293 S.E.2d 793, 797 n.2 (1982)).

There is no evidence in the record that plaintiffs made a motion
for the trial court to modify or to correct the award. However, plain-
tiffs argue in their brief that the appraisers improperly calculated the
fair market value of their residence, because the appraisers’ method
of determining the fair market value of the property was inconsistent
with the method set forth in the insurance policy. If upon motion of
plaintiffs the trial court determines that the award should be modified
or corrected pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-567.14, the trial court
should so modify and correct and confirm the award. Otherwise, the
trial court should confirm the award as presented.

Accordingly, we vacate and remand to the trial court for pro-
ceedings consistent with this opinion.

Vacated and remanded.

Judges EAGLES and MARTIN, John C., concur.
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[N THE MATTER OF: TOMMY BROWNING AND ROBERT BROWNING

No. COA95-1405

(Filed 15 QOctober 1996)

Appeal and Error § 89 (NCI4th)— investigation of child
abuse—order for psychological evaluation—religious
objections—appeal not interlocutory

A motion to dismiss an appeal as interlocutory was denied
where respondent had refused to consent to a psychological eval-
uation for his children as a part of a child protective services
investigation, contending that his objection was based upon his
religious beliefs and that he would prefer that his children
undergo counseling through their minister, and the trial court
found that respondent had interfered with the investigation with-
out lawful excuse and prohibited further interference. The order
from which respondent appealed affects a substantial right and
would result in respondent’s loss of that right if erroneous and
not corrected prior to final judgment.

Am Jur 2d, Appellate Review § 120.

. Constitutional Law § 119 (NCI4th); Infants or Minors § 78

(NCI4th)— child protective services investigation—psy-
chological evaluation—religious objections—compelling
state interest

A trial court order prohibiting further interference with a
child protective services evaluation was affirmed where respond-
ent had refused to consent to a psychological evaluation of his
children on religious grounds. The freedom to exercise one’s
religious beliefs is not absolute and the Constitutional provisions
providing freedom of religion do not provide immunity for every
act; however, one may not be compelled to do that which is con-
trary to his religious belief in the absence of a compelling state
interest in the regulation of a subject within the State’s
Constitutional power to regulate. The protection of neglected
and abused children is undeniably a compelling state interest.
Respondent’s rights as custodian of the children are second-
ary and must give way to the protection of his children. N.C.G.S.
§ TA-b44.

Am Jur 2d, Constitutional Law § 484; Infants § 16.
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Validity of guardianship proceeding based on brain-
washing of subject by religious, political, or social organi-
zation. 44 ALR4th 1207.

Power of court or other public agency to order medical
treatment over parental religious objections for child
whose life is not immediately endangered. 21 ALR5th 248.

Appeal by respondent from order entered 7 September 1995 by
Judge Jimmy L. Myers in Davie County District Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 23 September 1996.

Burns, Price & Arneke, L.L.P., by Robert E. Price, Jr., and Gail
C. Arneke, for petitioner-appellee.

Martin, Van Hoy, Smith & Raisbeck, L.L.P, by Tamara A.
Fleming, for respondent-appellant.

MARTIN, John C., Judge.

On 14 February 1995, a report of abuse was made to the Davie
County Department of Social Services concerning Tommy Browning,
the juvenile son of respondent Bobby Daniel Browning. An investiga-
tion was initiated by Lucinda Shay, a social worker, on that same day.
Based upon discussions by Ms. Shay with Tommy Browning and his
juvenile brother, Robert Browning, the investigation was expanded to
include Robert Browning.

After Ms. Shay met with respondent and his two sons, respondent
requested through his attorney that Ms. Shay have no further con-
tact with his sons except as arranged through his attorney. Ms. Shay
continued to meet with the boys at school, but did not seek to have
further contact with Tommy and Robert during the summer school
vacation period.

Ms. Shay requested that respondent sign consent forms for his
sons to undergo a Child Mental Health Evaluation. The evaluation is
conducted by a psychologist and generally involves eight sessions.
Respondent indicated that he would consent for his sons to par-
ticipate in one session, but would not consent to the complete
evaluation.

Ms. Shay filed a petition to prohibit respondent from interfering
with the child protective services investigation. Respondent testified
that his objection to the investigation was based upon his religious
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beliefs. In particular, he said he did not believe in psychologists and
would prefer that his children undergo counseling through their
minister.

The trial court found, based on clear, cogent and convincing evi-
dence, that respondent had interfered with the investigation of the
Davie County Department of Social Services by refusing to allow a
Child Mental Health Evaluation of his two sons. The court also found,
based on clear, cogent and convincing evidence, that respondent had
no lawful excuse for refusing to allow the evaluation. The trial court
entered an order prohibiting respondent from interfering with the
Department of Social Services investigation. Respondent appeals.

[1] Petitioner has moved to dismiss this appeal because the order
appealed from is interlocutory. Ordinarily there is no right of imme-
diate appeal from an interlocutory order; however, where the order
affects a substantial right, the loss of which will injure the party
appealing if not corrected prior to final judgment, it is immediately
appealable. N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 1-277(a) (1983), 7A-27(d) (1995);
Travco Hotels v. Piedmont Natural Gas Co., 102 N.C. App. 659, 403
S.E.2d 593 (1991), affirmed, 332 N.C. 288, 420 S.E.2d 426 (1992). The
order from which respondent has appealed in this case affects a sub-
stantial right and, if erroneous and not corrected prior to final judg-
ment, would result in respondent’s loss of that right. Accordingly, we
deny petitioner’s motion to dismiss the appeal and decide this case on
the merits.

[2] By three assignments of error combined in a single argument,
respondent contends that the trial court erred in its conclusions that
respondent’s religious beliefs are not a lawful excuse for his refusal
to consent to the Child Mental Health Evaluation of his two sons, and
that he had obstructed or interfered with petitioner’s investigation
into allegations that he had abused the children. We reject his argu-
ment and affirm the trial court’s order.

Upon receiving a report of suspected abuse, the director of the
county’s Department of Social Services is required to initiate an
investigation within 24 hours. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7A-544 (1995). Section
7A-544.1(a) specifically authorizes the director to file a petition seek-
ing an order directing any person obstructing or interfering with an
abuse investigation to cease such interference. The statute requires
the DSS to prove by clear, cogent and convincing evidence that the
respondent named in the petition has, without lawful excuse,
obstructed or interfered with a child protective services investiga-
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tion. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7A-544.1(c) (1995). Obstruction of or interfer-
ence with an investigation is defined by the statute as follows:

refusing to disclose the whereabouts of the juvenile, refusing to
allow the director to have personal access to the juvenile, refus-
ing to allow the director to observe or interview the juvenile in
private, refusing to allow the Director access to confidential
information and records upon request pursuant to G.S. 7A-544,
refusing to allow the director to arrange for an evaluation of
the juvenile by a physician or other expert, or other conduct
that makes it impossible for the director to carry out the duty to
investigate.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 7A-544.1(b) (1995). In the present case, respondent
refused to permit the director to arrange a Child Mental Health
Evaluation for his two sons. His refusal meets the statutory definition
of “obstruction of or interference with” the investigation.

The next question is whether respondent’s interference was for
a lawful reason. At the hearing, respondent stated, “I prefer not my
children to go through that sort of thing,” and when asked for his
reason, stated, “Well, first, I do not believe in psychiatrists and
stuff—just the way I believe and the way ['ve been raised—the way
I've been taught by—the way I—in my religion and all that, I feel in
my heart to me myself.” Respondent also denied that he had done
anything to cause himself and his children to be subjected to the
investigation. Assuming his testimony was sufficient to support his
argument that his objection was based on religious grounds, the rea-
sons stated do not constitute a lawful excuse for his refusal to permit
the evaluation.

. The liberties secured by the First Amendment to the United
States Constitution and by Article I § 26 of the Constitution of North
Carolina are basic and fundamental. However, the freedom to exer-
cise one’s religious beliefs is not absolute. In re Williams, 269 N.C.
68, 152 S.E.2d 317, U.S. cert. denied, 388 U.S. 918, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1362
(1967). The Constitutional provisions regarding freedom of religion
do not provide immunity for every act, “nor do they shield the defend-
ant from a command by the State that he do an act merely because he
believes it morally or ethically wrong. It is the right to exercise one’s
religion, or lack of it, which is protected, not one’s sense of ethics.”
Id. at 78, 152 S.E.2d at 325. One may not be compelled by govern-
mental action to do that which is contrary to his religious belief in the
absence of a “compelling state interest in the regulation of a subject
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within the State’s Constitutional power to regulate.” Id. at 80, 152
S.E.2d at 326 (citations omitted).

The intent of the statutes requiring the Department of Social
Services to screen and investigate complaints of child abuse is the
protection of neglected and abused children, G.S. § 7A-542, which is
undeniably a compelling state interest. Respondent’s rights as custo-
dian of the children are secondary and must give way to the protec-
tion of his children. Accordingly, his refusal to permit the evaluation
based upon his beliefs is not constitutionally protected conduct and
cannot afford him a lawful excuse for his interference with the
Department of Social Services investigation. Therefore, the trial
court’s order that respondent cease his interference with the investi-
gation and directing the Department of Social Services to proceed
with the Child Mental Health Evaluation is affirmed.

Affirmed.

Judges EAGLES and SMITH concur.

CHEMIMETALS PROCESSING, INC. PLAINTIFF v. JEFFREY W. MCENENY anp
VIBRA-CHEM COMPANY, DEFENDANTS

No. COA95-1432

(Filed 15 October 1996)

Monopolies and Restraints of Trade § 21 (NCI4th)— agree-
ment not to manufacture competing product—validity

A provision of an exclusive distributorship agreement for a
metal finishing product prohibiting defendant distributor from
directly or indirectly manufacturing or creating a competing
product by using the composition, technology and process uti-
lized by plaintiff manufacturer was not an improper covenant not
to compete or a contract in restraint of trade but was valid and
enforceable as reasonably related to the legitimate business inter-
est of protecting the manufacturer’s confidential information.

Am Jur 2d, Monopolies, Restraints of Trade, and Unfair
Trade Practices § 846.
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Appeal by defendants from order entered 25 October 1995 in
Mecklenburg County Superior Court by Judge Claude S. Sitton. Heard
in the Court of Appeals 27 August 1996.

Perry, Patrick, Farmer & Michaux, PA., by Roy H. Michaux, Jr.
and Richard W. Wilson, for plaintiff-appellee.

Moore & Van Allen, PLLC, by Jeffrey J. Davis and Meredith W.
Holler, and James, McElroy & Diehl, PA., by William K. Diehl,
Jr, John S. Arrowood, and Ann L. Hester, for defendant-
appellants.

GREENE, Judge.

Jeffrey W. McEneny (McEneny) and Vibra-Chem Company (Vibra-
Chem) (defendants), a corporation owned solely by McEneny, appeal
an order granting ChemiMetals Processing, Inc.’s (ChemiMetals)
(plaintiff) motion for a preliminary injunction.

The complaint in this action seeks damages for breach of the 25
April 1986 “Agreement” (Agreement) between ChemiMetals and P.J.
Products, Ltd. (later known as Vibra-Chem). An amended complaint
requests the issuance of a preliminary injunction requiring Vibra-
Chem and McEneny, the president and sole shareholder of Vibra-
Chem, to comply with section 3(b) of the Agreement. Section 3(b) of
the Agreement provides in pertinent part:

[Defendants] shall not directly or indirectly manufacture or oth-
erwise create or recreate (or attempt to) the VC 17/18/19/20
Product Line or Process, or any similar chemical agent or com-
pound, or any chemical agent or compound in direct competition
with the VC 17/18/19/20 Product Line, except as required by this
Agreement or with the express prior written consent and
approval of ChemiMetals.

It was also agreed that ChemiMetals would manufacture the VC
17/18/19/20 Product Line (Product Line) and that Vibra-Chem would
purchase the Product Line from ChemiMetals and be the “exclusive
distributor” of the Product Line. The agreement also provided that
“the makeup or composition of the [Product Line] and the knowledge
or technology of ChemiMetals regarding the [Product Line] and [its]
Process are proprietary to ChemiMetals, highly wvaluable to
ChemiMetals . . . and are confidential to ChemiMetals.” The Product
Line is used to accelerate metal removal in metal finishing processes.
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In August 1995, ChemiMetals demanded that the defendants
pay it $228,836.43, which it claimed was due for the Product Line it
had supplied to the defendants. When full payment was not re-
ceived, ChemiMetals notified the defendants that it would no longer
supply the Product Line to the defendants, as it considered its ob-
ligation to do so terminated. After ChemiMetals refused to supply
the Product Line to the defendants, the defendants began to manu-
facture and distribute the Product Line. Vibra-Chem’s sales of the
Product Line constituted approximately thirty-five percent of its
total sales.

On 25 October 1995, Judge Sitton issued a preliminary injunction
ordering the defendants:

(i) not to manufacture directly or indirectly, or otherwise
create, or recreate or attempt to create or recreate any of the
products or processes within the Product Line or any similar
chemical agent or compound or any chemical agent or com-
pound in direct competition with the products or processes
within the Product Line, or any improvement or enhance-
ments or processes thereto;

(ii) not to supply information and/or trade secrets regarding the
Product Line, VC-3 or any improvements or enhancements
thereto to others who would manufacture such products for
the Defendants; and

(iii) to deliver immediately to the Plaintiff all copies, drawings,
notes, records, manuals, menus, photographs, tapes and all
other information relating to the manufacture and process-
ing of the Product Line, including enhancements.

The issue is whether this Agreement, limiting the defend-
ants’ right to manufacture Product Line, is a contract in restraint of
trade.

The defendants argue that the Agreement imposes restrictions on
their “ability to compete” with ChemiMetals and thus constitutes an
“unenforceable restraint of trade.” ChemiMetals argues that the
Agreement is “not a covenant not to compete such as those imposed
upon an employee or upon someone who sells an existing business
and therefore, is not” properly considered a contract in restraint of
trade. We agree with ChemiMetals.
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Our Courts have a long history of carefully scrutinizing
“covenants that preclude a seller of a business from competing
with the new owner” and covenants that prevent an employee from
competing with his former employer. E.g., United Lab., Inc. wv.
Kuykendall, 322 N.C. 643, 649-50, 370 S.E.2d 375, 380 (1988);
Hartman v. Odell, 117 N.C. App. 307, 311, 450 S.E.2d 912, 916 (1994),
disc. rev. denied, 339 N.C. 612, 454 S.E.2d 251 (1995); Jewell Box
Stores v. Morrow, 272 N.C. 659, 663, 158 S.E.2d 840, 843 (1968). These
covenants, to be valid, are required to be (1) in writing, (2) part of the
contract of employment or sale of the business, (3) based on valuable
consideration, (4) reasonably necessary for the protection of the
promisee’s legitimate business interest, and (5) reasonable as to time
and territory. Professional Liab. Consultants v. Todd, 122 N.C. App.
212 215, 468 S.E.2d 578, 580 (1996). An agreement is not in restraint
of trade, however, if it does not seek to prevent a party from engaging
in a similar business in competition with the promisee, but instead
seeks to prevent the disclosure or use of confidential information.
Glucol Mfyg. Co. v. Schulist, 214 N.W. 152 (Mich. 1927); Hayes-Albion
v. Kuberski, 364 N.W.2d 609, 613 (Mich. 1984); State Farm Mut. Auto.
v. Dempster, 344 P.2d 821, 826 (Cal. Ct. App. 1959); see 14 Williston
on Contracts § 1633 (3d ed. 1972) (defining restraint of trade). Such
agreements may, therefore, be upheld even though the agreement is
unlimited as to time and area, see 17 C.J.S. Contracts § 254, upon a
showing that it protects a legitimate business interest of the
promisee. See Rollins Protective Servs. Co. v. Palermo, 287 S.E.2d
546, 550 (Ga. 1982).

In this case, the purpose of the Agreement is not to preclude the
defendants from competing with ChemiMetals in a similar business.
The Agreement simply prevents the defendants from using the “com-
position,” “technology,” and “[p]jrocess” utilized by ChemiMetals in
the manufacture of the Product Line, which information the defend-
ants acknowledged to be the property of and confidential to
ChemiMetals. It follows that the prohibition against the manufactur-
ing of the Product Line is reasonably related to the protection of the
confidential information and thus serves a legitimate business inter-
est of ChemiMetals.

Because ChemiMetals has made a showing that the defendants
have breached the Agreement, the trial court correctly determined
that ChemiMetals was likely to succeed on the merits of the case and
was thus entitled to a preliminary injunction. A.E.P. Indus., Inc. v.
McClure, 308 N.C. 393, 401, 302 S.E.2d 754, 759 (1983).
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We do not address, because the defendants do not raise this issue
on appeal, whether this record shows that ChemiMetals has made a
showing that it will suffer irreparable loss unless the injunction is
issued, the second requirement necessary for the issuance of a pre-
liminary injunction. Id.

We have considered and rejected the defendants’ argument that
the manufacturing restriction is not binding on them because
ChemiMetals terminated the Agreement. The record reveals that
ChemiMetals, after a dispute arose regarding defendants’ nonpay-
ment for Product Line “already sold,” refused to furnish any addi-
tional Product Line to the defendants. ChemiMetals argues that the
defendants’ nonpayment constituted a material breach of the
Agreement and thus excused it from its obligation to provide Product
Line to the defendants. See 6 Williston, Contracts § 864 (3d ed. 1962).
Although we need not finally determine that issue on this record, we
do hold that ChemiMetals has shown a likelihood of success on this
issue. We also fail to see any error in the order of the trial court
requiring the defendants to deliver to ChemiMetals “all copies, draw-
ings, notes, records, manuals, menus, photographs, tapes, and all
other information relating to the manufacture and processing of the
Product Line.” We agree with the trial court that upon ChemiMetals’
showing of a likelihood of success on the merits it was entitled to
possession of these materials pending resolution of the dispute.

We have reviewed the remaining assignments of error asserted by
the defendants and without discussion overrule them.

Affirmed.

Judges JOHN and MARTIN, Mark D., concur.
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PHILIP T. HOWERTON, M.D., RAY M. ANTLEY, M.D., axp BLUE RIDGE RADIOLOGY
ASSOCIATES, PA., Praintirrs v. GRACE HOSPITAL, INC., axp PIEDMONT
MEDICAL IMAGING, P.C., DEFENDANTS

No. COA95-1414
(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Courts § 19 (NCI4th)— parallel federal action—stay pend-
ing appeal—denied
An appeal from the denial of a motion for a stay of state court
proceedings was dismissed as interlocutory where plaintiffs filed
a complaint in federal court which included state claims; plain-
tiffs filed a complaint in state court; the state claims in the federal
action were voluntarily dismissed without prejudice; defendant
Grace Hospital filed its first motion to stay proceedings in the
state action on the grounds that a final decision in the federal
case would be res judicata and bar all issues in the state case;
summary judgment was granted for defendant Grace Hospital on
the federal claims and plaintiffs appealed; defendants’ motions
for a stay were denied; and defendants brought this appeal. The
denial of a stay did not dispose of any claims or parties, the trial
court did not and could not certify the case for immediate appeal,
and defendants failed to show that a substantial right would be
lost. The state and federal actions do not, at present, have com-
plete identity as to causes of action, no ruling regarding the
applicability of the doctrine of res judicata has been made, and
none of the state claims have been litigated in federal court
because they were voluntarily dismissed without prejudice.

Am Jur 2d, Injunctions § 203.

2. Appeal and Error § 510 (NCI4th)— request for sanctions
—frivolous appeal—denied—issue on appeal not previ-
ously addressed

A request for sanctions for a frivolous appeal was denied
where the appellees did not file a motion for sanctions, the Court
of Appeals declined to impose sanctions on its own initiative, and
the issue on appeal had not been previously addressed by the
appellate courts of this state. N.C. R. App. P. 34(a).

Am Jur 2d, Appellate Review §§ 939, 941.

Appeal by defendants from an order denying a motion to stay pro-
ceedings entered 13 October 1995 by Judge Claude S. Sitton in Burke
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County Superior Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 23 September
1996.

Law Offices of Robert N. Meals, PL.L.C., by Robert N. Meals;
and Wayne M. Martin, for plaintiff appellees.

Tate, Young, Morphis, Bach & Taylor, by Thomas C. Morphis;
and Patton Starnes Thompson Aycock Teele & Ballew, PA., by
Thomas M. Starnes, for defendant appellants.

SMITH, Judge.

On 1 October 1990, plaintiffs filed a complaint in U.S. District
Court, Western District of North Carolina seeking injunctive and mon-
etary relief from defendants on claims for alleged violations of the
Sherman Antitrust Act, Due Process violations and state claims. On
26 January 1993, plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed the pendent state
law claims without prejudice. On 25 February 1993, defendant Grace
Hospital moved for summary judgment. On 13 September 1993, U.S.
Magistrate Judge J. Toliver Davis issued a memorandum and recom-
mendation that defendant’s motion for summary judgment be
allowed. U.S. District Court Judge Lacy H. Thornburg adopted the
recommendation of the magistrate and granted summary judgment
for the defendants on 7 July 1995. Plaintiffs gave notice of appeal to
the U.S. Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals from Judge Thornburg’s
order on 28 July 1995.

On 25 September 1992, plaintiffs filed a complaint in the case sub
Judice in the Superior Court Division of Burke County. Plaintiffs
alleged breach of contract, violation of plaintiffs’ rights of privacy,
wrongful interference with business relationships, unfair and decep-
tive trade practices and civil conspiracy. Plaintiffs sought injunctive
relief, a sum in excess of $10,000.00 in actual damages and a sum in
excess of $10,000.00 in punitive damages. On 31 October 1994,
defendant Grace made its first motion to stay the trial proceedings in
the state action on the grounds that, without final resolution of the
pending federal case, defendant Grace would be prejudiced because
a final decision in the federal case would be res judicata and bar all
issues in the state case. Defendant Piedmont Medical Imaging (PMI)
made a motion to stay on the same grounds as that of defendant
Grace. On 25 September 1995 and 5 October 1995, defendant Grace
and PMI made second motions for stay of the trial proceedings. On 13
October 1995, defendants’ motions were denied. From this denial,
defendants appeal.
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The trial court’s denial of defendants’ motions to stay is an inter-
locutory order from which no right to immediate appeal lies. We dis-
miss this appeal.

An order or judgment is interlocutory if it is made during the pen-
dency of an action and does not dispose of the case but requires fur-
ther action by the trial court in order to finally determine the entire
controversy. Cagle v. Teachy, 111 N.C. App. 244, 247, 431 S.E.2d 801,
803 (1993). There is generally no right to appeal an interlocutory
order. Jeffreys v. Raleigh Oaks Joint Venture, 115 N.C. App. 377, 379,
444 S E.2d 252, 253 (1994). The purpose of this rule is “ ‘to prevent
fragmentary, premature and unnecessary appeals by permitting the
trial court to bring the case to final judgment before it is presented to
the appellate courts.’ ” Id. (quoting Fraser v. Di Santi, 75 N.C. App.
654, 655, 331 S.E.2d 217, 218, disc. review denied, 315 N.C. 183, 337
S.E.2d 856 (1985)). However, there are two avenues by which a party
may immediately appeal an interlocutory order or judgment. First, if
the order or judgment is final as to some but not all of the claims or
parties, and the trial court certifies the case for appeal pursuant to
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 54(b), an immediate appeal will lie.
Jeffreys, 115 N.C. App. at 379, 444 S.E.2d at 253. Second, an appeal is
permitted under N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 1-277(a) and 7A-27(d)(1) if the trial
court’s decision deprives the appellant of a substantial right which
would be lost absent immediate review. Id.

[1] Defendants purportedly appeal the order denying their motion for
a stay of the state court proceedings. Defendants cite no authority for
the proposition that denial of a stay is appealable. We find no such
authority in North Carolina. We do, however, find caselaw in other
jurisdictions holding that the denial of a stay is not immediately
appealable. General Motors Corporation v. Koscielski, 564 A.2d 114
(Md. Ct. Spec. App.) (1989); Grimme Combustion, Inc. v.
Mergentime Corp., 560 A.2d 793 (Pa. Super. Ct.) (1989); Waterbury
Teachers Assoc. v. Freedom of Information Commission et al., 645
A.2d 978 (Conn.) (1994); Federal Land Bank of Spokane v. L.R.
Ranch Co., 926 F.2d 859 (9th Cir. 1991). The denial of defendants’
motions for stay did not dispose of any of the claims or parties, and
the trial court did not and could not certify the case for immediate
appeal pursuant to N. C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 54(b) (1990).
Therefore, defendants must show that the trial court’s decision
deprives them of a substantial right which will be lost absent imme-
diate review.
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Defendants argue that they have the right to appeal from the
interlocutory order, because the result of the federal appeal will have
a preclusive effect in the state case under the doctrine of res judi-
cata. The right to avoid the possibility of two trials on the same issues
can be a substantial right that permits an appeal of an interlocutory
order when there are issues of fact common to the claim appealed
and remaining claims. Green v. Duke Power Co., 305 N.C. 603, 608,
290 S.E.2d 593, 596 (1982). “Ordinarily the possibility of undergoing a
second trial affects a substantial right only when the same issues are
present in both trials, creating the possibility that a party will be prej-
udiced by different juries in separate trials rendering inconsistent
verdicts on the same factual issue.” Id.

The pendency of a prior suit in federal court is not an
absolute bar to a suit in state court by the same plaintiff against
the same defendant for the same cause of action. However, as a
matter of comity and discretion, a state court may stay its pro-
ceedings pending the outcome of related federal litigation, and
will generally do so where the action before it involves the same
parties and the same issues as a previously filed action in federal
court. In the absence of complete identity as to parties, causes
of action, and remedies sought, however, a stay of the state pro-
ceedings may properly be denied.

1 Am. Jur. 2d Actions § 79 (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted)
(1994). The two actions do not, at the present time, have “complete
identity as to . . . causes of action . ...”

No ruling regarding the applicability of the doctrine of res judi-
cata has been made in this case. Moreover, the only claims addressed
in the federal suit were violations of the Sherman Antitrust Act and
violations of Due Process. None of the state claims brought forth by
plaintiffs have been litigated in federal court, because they were vol-
untarily dismissed without prejudice. Thus, defendants improperly
argue that they are going to be deprived of the defense of res judi-
cata. Defendants have failed to show that a substantial right will be
lost.

[2] Appellees request sanctions in their brief because the defendants’
appeal is “frivolous.” Rule 34(a) of the North Carolina Rules of
Appellate Procedure provides:

A court of the appellate division may, on its own initiative or
motion of a party, impose a sanction against a party or attorney
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or both when the court determines that an appeal or any pro-
ceeding in an appeal was frivolous . . . .

(Emphasis added.) The appellees did not file a motion with this Court
for sanctions, and we decline to impose sanctions on our own initia-
tive. Furthermore, we decline to impose sanctions because the issue
of whether denial of a stay is immediately appealable had not been
previously addressed by the appellate courts of this state.

Appeal dismissed.

Judges EAGLES and MARTIN, John C., concur.

LYNWOOD E. SMITH, PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT v. FRED MOODY AND JOHNNIE L.
MOODY, DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES

No. COA95-12567
(Filed 15 October 1996)

1. Appeal and Error § 209 (NCI4th)— IRS sale of property—
action to quiet title—notice of appeal—from directed ver-
dict rather than summary judgment—jurisdictional

Plaintiff’s attempted appeal of summary judgment for defend-
ants as to personal property was dismissed in an action to quiet
title arising from an IRS sale of property where plaintiff had des-
ignated in his notice of appeal a directed verdict as the order from
which appeal was being taken. Appellate Rule 3(d) requires that
a party specify the judgment or order from which appeal is taken
and Appellate Rule 3 is jurisdictional. Even if the issue is properly
raised, the trial court’s ruling that the IRS sale was in accordance
with the law would be upheld.

Am Jur 2d, Appellate Review §§ 325 et seq.

2. Taxation § 178 (NCI4th)— IRS tax sale—notice and sale
sufficient

The trial court correctly ruled that the IRS properly served
plaintiff with notice of seizure of his real property where plaintiff
admitted at trial that a revenue officer personally served him with
notice. Also, both parties agree that a revenue officer posted a
notice of sale on the side of plaintiff’s repair shop and plaintiff
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admits that, even though he no longer conducted business at the
shop, he went to the shop and saw the notice. Finally, although
the public notice advertised that the sale would be conducted on
the front steps of the courthouse and the sale was moved just a
few feet inside the building because of inclement weather, a rev-
enue officer waited outside for approximately twenty minutes to
ensure that interested bidders would know of the new location.
The trial court correctly ruled that the sale was substantially in
compliance with the statute.

Am Jur 2d, Taxation §§ 869, 873.

Appeal by Plaintiff from Judgment entered 29 June 1995 by Judge
James D. Llewellyn in Lenoir County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 26 August 1996.

Lynwood Smith, Plaintiff-Appellant, pro se.

James S. Perry and David F. Turlington for Defendants-
Appellees.

WYNN, Judge.

Plaintiff Lynwood Smith failed to pay approximately $60,000 in
federal taxes for 1984 through 1991. In December 1991, Internal
Revenue Officer Teresa Richardson personally served plaintiff with a
notice of seizure as to the real and personal property that made up
plaintiff’s truck repair business. The shop was padlocked and plaintiff
was forced to cease operations. In February 1992, Internal Revenue
Officer Teresa Varnell posted a notice of sale on the side of the repair
shop in plain view. She also mailed plaintiff a copy by regular and cer-
tified mail. Officer Varnell testified that she chose not to personally
serve plaintiff because she knew him to be a tax protestor and feared
for her safety.

On 25 February 1992, Officer Varnell conducted a sealed bid
sale of plaintiff’s property at the Lenoir County Courthouse. The pub-
lic notice published in the newspaper advertised that the sale would
take place on the front steps of the courthouse at 11:00 a.m. However,
due to the cold weather, Officer Varnell conducted the sale in a
room a few feet inside the courthouse. Officer Varnell testified that
she waited on the front steps of the courthouse from 10:45 a.m. until
11:05 a.m. for potential purchasers. Defendants Fred and Johnnie
Moody were the successful bidders at the tax sale. Officer Varnell
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explained to plaintiff the process through which he could redeem his
property within 180 days. Plaintiff failed to do so and thereafter,
Officer Varnell prepared a certificate of sale and a deed of real estate
naming defendants as the purchasers of plaintiff’s real and personal
property.

In September 1992, plaintiff sued defendants to quiet title to the
truck repair shop alleging that the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS™),
through its agents, failed to strictly comply with the seizure and sale
provisions contained in Title 26 of the United States Code. In March
1994, both parties moved for summary judgment. The trial court
granted defendants’ motion for summary judgment but only as it per-
tained to plaintiff’s personal property. As per the summary judgment
order, the only issue at trial was the sufficiency of the notices of sale
and seizure pertaining to the real property. On 24 April 1995, the trial
court granted defendants’ motion for a directed verdict at the close of
all the evidence. From this order, plaintiff appeals.

The issues on appeal are: (I) Whether the trial court erred in rul-
ing that the IRS’ certificate of sale was conclusive evidence that the
seizure and sale of plaintiff’'s personal property was in accordance
with the law; and (II) Whether the trial court erred in ruling that the
IRS’ seizure and sale of plaintiff’s real property complied with federal
regulations.

We note at the outset that defendants attempted to remove this
suit to federal court; however, the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, in
an unpublished decision, ordered the district court to remand the
case to state court pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 1447(c), declaring that
plaintiff’s claim was “strictly a state law claim to quiet title.”
Notwithstanding that court’s determination, resolution of this matter
requires the application of federal law.

A motion for a directed verdict presents the same question for
both trial and appellate courts: Whether the evidence, taken in the
light most favorable to the nonmovant, is sufficient for submission to
the jury. Alston v. Herrick, 76 N.C. App. 246, 332 S.E.2d 720 (1985),
aff’d, 315 N.C. 386, 337 S.E.2d 851 (1986). “A directed verdict for the
defendant is not properly allowed unless it appears as a matter of law
that a recovery cannot be had by the plaintiff upon any view of the
facts which the evidence reasonably tends to establish.” Kremer v.
Food Lion, Inc., 102 N.C. App. 291, 294, 401 S.E.2d 837, 838 (1991)
(citation omitted).
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L

[1] In his first assignment of error, plaintiff challenges the trial
court’s decision to grant defendants’ motion for summary judgment
regarding the sale of his personal property. Yet, in his notice of
appeal, plaintiff only designates the directed verdict as the order from
which appeal is being taken. Appellate Rule 3(d) requires that a party
specify the judgment or order from which appeal is taken. “Appellate
Rule 3 is jurisdictional and if the requirements of this rule are not
complied with, the appeal must be dismissed.” Currin-Dillehay Bldg.
Supply v. Frazier, 100 N.C. App. 188, 189, 394 S.E.2d 683, 683, appeal
dismissed and cert. denied, 327 N.C. 633, 399 S.E.2d 326 (1990) (cit-
ing Giannitrapani v. Duke University, 30 N.C. App. 667, 228 S.E.2d
46 (1976)). Therefore, we dismiss plaintiff’s attempted appeal of the
personal property issue. Even if the issue was properly before us, we
would still uphold the trial court’s ruling that the IRS’ sale of plain-
tiff’s personal property was in accordance with the law. See 26 U.S.C.
§ 6339(a) (1954) (certificate of sale is conclusive evidence of regular-
ity of proceedings).

I1.

[2] Plaintiff next contends that the trial court erred in granting a
directed verdict in defendants’ favor on the grounds that the IRS’
seizure and sale of plaintiff’s real property complied with the provi-
sions of 26 U.S.C. § 6335. We disagree.

Section 6335 of the Internal Revenue Code provides that a rev-
enue officer is required to (1) personally serve a notice of seizure on
the owner of the real property, or (2) leave the notice at the owner's
home or usual place of business if he has such within the internal rev-
enue district where the seizure is made. 26 U.S.C. § 6335(a) (1954).

At trial, plaintiff admitted that Revenue Officer Richardson per-
sonally served him with a notice of seizure on 6 December 1991.
Therefore, we affirm the trial court’s ruling that the IRS properly
served plaintiff with the notice of seizure as to his real property.

Plaintiff also alleges that the IRS violated Section 6335 in its
service of the notice of sale. We disagree.

Just as with a notice of seizure, the IRS has the option of person-
ally serving a notice of sale or leaving it at the property owner’s home
or usual place of business. See 26 U.S.C. § 6335(b) (1954). In the
instant case, both parties agree that Revenue Officer Varnell posted
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the notice of sale on the side of plaintiff’s repair shop. Plaintiff con-
tends that since he no longer conducted business at the shop, he
should have been personally served with the notice. However, plain-
tiff admits that he went to the shop and saw the notice of sale. Since
plaintiff received the notice in a manner prescribed by the law, we
affirm the trial court’s ruling that the IRS properly served him with
the notice of sale.

The plaintiff’'s final contention is that the trial court should
not have granted defendants’ motion for directed verdict because
the sale of his property was not in compliance with 26 C.FR.
§ 301.6335-1(c)(1) (1991), which provides in pertinent part: “The sale
shall be held at the time and place stated in the notice of sale.” We
disagree.

26 U.S.C. § 6339(b)(2) (1954) provides that:

“[i]f the proceedings of the Secretary as set forth have been sub-
stantially in accordance with the provisions of law, such deed
[of sale] shall be considered and operate as a conveyance of all
the right, title, and interest the party delinquent had in and to the
real property thus sold . . .”

(emphasis added).

Although the public notice advertised that the sale would be con-
ducted on the front steps of the courthouse, the sale was moved just
a few feet inside the building because of the inclement weather. In
addition, Officer Varnell waited outside for approximately twenty
minutes to ensure that interested bidders would know of the new
location. Therefore, the trial court was correct in ruling that the sale
was substantially in compliance with the statute.

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the trial court
granting defendants’ motion for directed verdict is,

Affirmed.

Judges JOHNSON and LEWIS concur.
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EDWARD C. LAURENT, APPELLANT V. USAIR, INC., APPELLEE

No. COA96-19
(Filed 15 October 1996)

Limitations, Repose, and Laches § 157 (NCI4th)— nonresident
plaintiff—injuries received in another state—action
barred under borrowing statute

A nonresident plaintiff’s claim against a foreign airline which
has a place of business in this state for injuries received while in
airspace over California or Arizona was time barred under the
“borrowing statute,” N.C.G.S. § 1-21, where plaintiff’s claim was
barred by the California and Arizona statutes of limitation, and
plaintiff was not a resident of this state at the time his claim
accrued, notwithstanding North Carolina still had long-arm juris-
diction over defendant.

Am Jur 2d, Limitation of Actions §§ 55, 67.

Validity, construction, and application, in nonstatutory
personal injury actions, of state statute providing for
borrowing of statute of limitations of another state. 41
ALR4th 1025.

Appeal by plaintiff from order entered 13 October 1995 by Judge
William Z. Wood, Jr., in Forsyth County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 25 September 1996.

Wilson & Iseman, L.L.P, by Urs R. Gsteiger; and Overbey,
Hawkins & Selz, by Bryan K. Selz, for plaintiff appellant.

Bell, Davis & Pitt, PA., by William K. Davis, Stephen M. Russell
and Alan M. Ruley, for defendant appellee.

SMITH, Judge.

Plaintiff Edward C. Laurent is a resident of Goode, Virginia.
Defendant, USAir, Inc., is a foreign corporation with its headquart-
ers in Virginia, and a place of business in Winston-Salem, North
Carolina. On or about 5 March 1992, plaintiff was a passenger on
USAir flight No. 86, traveling from San Diego, California, to
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Prior to departure, a briefcase was placed
in the storage compartment above plaintiff’s seat by an employee of
defendant. During the flight, at approximately 5:15 Eastern Standard
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Time, another passenger opened the overhead compartment and the
briefcase fell out and struck plaintiff on the head and neck. Plaintiff
lost consciousness and upon regaining consciousness experienced
double vision, dizziness and disorientation. At the time of the acci-
dent, the airplane would have been in either California or Arizona
airspace.

Over two and one-half years later, on 27 December 1994 plaintiff
filed a personal injury and negligence action against USAir in Forsyth
County, North Carolina. At the time plaintiff filed his action in North
Carolina, his claim was barred by the California and Arizona statutes
of limitation. Cal. Civil Procedure Code § 340(3) (West 1982); Ariz.
Rev. Stat. Ann. § 12-542 (1992). Defendant USAir filed a motion for
summary judgment on the grounds that plaintiff’s action was barred
by the applicable statutes of limitation. The motion was granted and
from the order granting summary judgment, plaintiff appeals.

Plaintiff argues that the trial court erred by granting summary
judgment for defendant because plaintiff’s claim is not barred by
virtue of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-21 (1983). Plaintiff contends that N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1-21 does not apply to the case at bar because the second
paragraph of the statute says that N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-21, “shall not
apply to the extent that a court of this State has or continues to have
jurisdiction over the person under the provisions of G.S. 1-75.4.” N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1-21. While we find some merit and logic to plaintiff’s
argument, we must affirm the order of the trial court.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-21 provides:

Defendant out of State; when action begun or judgment
enforced.

If when the cause of action accrues or judgment is rendered
or docketed against a person, he is out of the State, action may be
commenced, or judgment enforced within the times herein lim-
ited after the return of the person into this State, and if, after such
cause of action accrues or judgment is rendered or docketed,
such person departs from and resides out of this State, or remains
continuously absent therefrom for one year or more, the time of
his absence shall not be a part of the time limited for the com-
mencement of the action or the enforcement of the judgment.
Provided, that where a cause of action arose outside of this State
and is barred by the laws of the jurisdiction in which it arose, no
action may be maintained in the courts of this State for the
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enforcement thereof, except where the cause of action originally
accrued in favor of a resident of this State.

The provisions of this section shall not apply to the extent
that a court of this State has or continues to have jurisdiction
over the person under the provisions of G.S. 1-75.4.

Prior to the 1979 amendment to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-21 the second
paragraph addressing long-arm jurisdiction did not exist.

One of the purposes of G.S. 1-21 was said to be to prevent
defendants from having the benefit of the lapse of time—the
statute of limitations—while they remain beyond the limits of the
State and allow their debts to remain unpaid, it not being the pol-
icy of the State to drive its citizens to seek their legal remedies
abroad.

Duke University v. Chestnut, 28 N.C. App. 568, 570, 221 S.E.2d 895,
896 (1976) (citing Armfield v. Moore, 97 N.C. 34, 2 S.E. 347 (1887)).
The issue before this Court in Duke was whether the long- arm provi-
sions of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-75.4 effectively repealed the tolling provi-
sions of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-21 because the tolling statute would oth-
erwise have permitted the plaintiff to start his action against the
individual nonresident defendants more than three years after the
cause of action arose. Duke, 28 N.C. App. at 569, 221 S.E.2d at 896.

[T]he court chose to give effect to both the tolling statute and the
long-arm statute by holding that the enactment of the long-arm
statute making nonresident defendants amenable to process did
not result in the pro tanto repeal of the provision tolling the
statute of limitations, but merely afforded plaintiffs an additional
procedural option. Deferring to what it considered the proper
boundary between judicial and legislative functions, the court
invited the General Assembly to consider the wisdom of allowing
plaintiffs this option.

Reginald Combs, Civil Procedure-Tolled Statute of Limitations v.
Long-Arm Statute Amenability, 12 Wake Forest L. Rev. 1041, 1042-43
(1976) (footnote omitted). In Duke, this Court adopted the minor-
ity position that the statute of limitations was tolled during the time
the defendant was outside the state despite his continued amen-
ability under the provisions of the long-arm statute, but it also
espoused the majority position. Id. at 1049-50. This Court adopted
the minority position because it was reluctant to amend the toll-
ing statute by judicial declaration and left any such amendment for
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the consideration of the General Assembly. Duke, 28 N.C. App. at 572,
221 S.E.2d at 898.

In an attempt to remedy this situation, the General Assembly
amended N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-21 in 1979 by adding the second para-
graph of the statute which provides, “[t]he provisions of this section
shall not apply to the extent that a court of this State has or contin-
ues to have jurisdiction over the person under the provisions of G.S.
1-75.4.” Although unartfully drafted, what the legislature intended
was for the second paragraph to nullify the tolling provision of N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1-21, not to nullify the “borrowing provision” of the
statute.

In Stokes v. Wilson and Redding Law Firm, 72 N.C. App. 107, 323
S.E.2d 470 (1984), disc. review denied, 313 N.C. 612, 332 S.E.2d 83
(1985) this Court stated:

First, we note that the “borrowing statute” [N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-21]
is not applicable if a defendant is subject to long-arm jurisdiction
under G.S. § 1-75.4 (1983). Second, after the cause of action has
been barred in the jurisdiction where it arose, only a plaintiff,
who was a resident of this State at the time the cause of action
originally accrued, has the right to maintain an action in the
courts of this State.

Id. at 113, 323 S.E.2d at 475 (emphasis added) (citations omitted). In
Glynn v. Stoneville Furniture Co., 85 N.C. App. 166, 169, 354 S.E.2d
552, 553, disc. review denied, 320 N.C. 512, 358 S.E.2d 518 (1987),
plaintiff contended that N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-21 did not apply because
defendants were subject to long-arm jurisdiction pursuant to N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1-75.4 at the time that plaintiff brought the action and that
plaintiff was thus entitled to the benefit of the longer North Carolina
statute of limitations. This Court applying N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-21, held
that plaintiff’s action was barred in the courts of North Carolina since
plaintiff was not a resident of this state at the time his cause of action
accrued, and plaintiff’s action was barred by the applicable California
statute of limitations. Id. at 169, 354 S.E.2d at 554. Therefore, plaintiff
could not avail himself of the longer North Carolina statute of limita-
tions. Id.

In the present case plaintiff asserts, pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 1-21, that, because North Carolina has long-arm jurisdiction over
defendant by virtue of the second paragraph of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-21,
the statute does not apply to the case at bar. This is the precise argu-
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ment made by the plaintiff in Glynn which argument was rejected by
this Court.

While plaintiff’s argument is intriguing, we must affirm the order
of the trial court. “Where a panel of the Court of Appeals has decided
the same issue, albeit in a different case, a subsequent panel of the
same court is bound by that precedent, unless it has been overturned
by a higher court.”In the Matter of Appeal from Civil Penalty, 324
N.C. 373, 384, 379 S.E.2d 30, 37 (1989). Accordingly, we hold that N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 1-21 bars plaintiff’s action, and the trial court properly
entered summary judgment in favor of defendant.

Affirmed.

Judges EAGLES and MARTIN, John C., concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. REX ANDREW ROBINETTE
No. COA96-166
(Filed 15 October 1996)

Automobiles and Other Vehicles § 849 (NCI4th)— DWI—car
wash parking lot—public vehicular area—effect of local
ordinance

A town’s adoption of an ordinance making it a misdemeanor
for persons to park on the premises of a specific car wash unless
using the car wash facilities did not convert the car wash park-
ing lot from a “public vehicular area” to “private property” within
the meaning of the driving while impaired statute, N.C.G.S.
§ 20-138.1(a). N.C.G.S. § 20-4.01(32)(b).

Am Jur 2d, Automobiles and Highway Traffic §§ 205,
301.

Applicability, to operation of motor vehicle on private
property, of legislation making drunken driving a criminal
offense. 29 ALR3d 938.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 5 December 1995 by
Judge William C. Griffin, Jr. in Surry County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 10 September 1996.
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Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Assistant Attorney
General Joseph P. Dugdale, for the State.

W. David White, PA., by W. David White, for defendant-
appellant.

WALKER, Judge.

Speedy Car Wash is a business establishment in Elkin, North
Carolina, open year round, twenty four hours a day. At the request of
the owner of the car wash, the Town of Elkin (Town) passed an ordi-
nance making it a misdemeanor for persons to park on the prem-
ises of Speedy Car Wash unless using the car wash facilities. On the
evening of 9 January 1994, Officer Jacob Armstrong of the Town’s
Police Department noticed several cars parked in the Speedy Car
Wash parking lot. Officer Armstrong motioned for the cars to leave
the lot because none of them were using the car wash vacuum
hoses or wash bays. Officer Armstrong then continued on his rou-
tine patrol. When he later returned to the car wash, the defendant was
still parked in the car wash parking lot. Upon seeing Officer
Armstrong pull into the parking lot, the defendant began to move
his car. At this time, Officer Armstrong turned on his blue lights
and the defendant stopped his car, but never left the car wash
parking lot.

Officer Armstrong approached the defendant’s car and noticed a
strong odor of alcohol coming from the car, as well as several par-
tially consumed cans of beer in the car, including one can located
between the passenger seat and the driver’s door. He also observed
passengers in the car. Officer Armstrong arrested the defendant and
charged him with driving while impaired after the defendant per-
formed poorly on a sobriety test. The defendant later submitted to a
chemical analysis of his breath, which measured his blood alcohol
content at .10.

At trial, the defendant’s motion to dismiss was denied. He then
asked for a special jury instruction on the definition of “public vehic-
ular area.” The court refused to give the requested instruction and the
defendant was found guilty by the jury. The defendant contends that
the trial court erred in not giving his requested instruction regarding
the definition of “public vehicular area.”

The issue in this case is whether the Town, by adopting an ordi-
nance prohibiting loitering on the Speedy Car Wash premises,
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changed the Speedy Car Wash parking lot from a “public vehicular
area” to “private property.” If the parking lot is considered private
property, the defendant cannot be convicted of driving while
impaired, because a key element of the offense of driving while
impaired is that the offense take place on a highway, street, or “pub-
lic vehicular area.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-138.1(a) (1993).

The defendant requested that the court give the jury the following
instruction based on the fact that the Town had adopted the ordi-
nance prohibiting loitering on the Speedy Car Wash premises:

“Public Vehicular Area” is defined by North Carolina General
Statute § 20-4.01(32) [as] “any area within the state of North
Carolina that is generally open to and used by the public for
vehicular traffic.” Public Vehicular Area shall not be construed to
mean any private property not generally open to and used by the
public. The court instructs you, if an area is private, or signs pro-
hibit trespassing, loitering, or lack of use for the general public,
then this would not be a public vehicular area.

However, instead of giving the jury the defendant’s requested instruc-
tion on “public vehicular area,” the trial court submitted the complete
statutory definition, including the portion which provides that a “pub-
lic vehicular area” is “[a]ny area within the State . . . generally open to
and used by the public for vehicular traffic, including . . . any drive,
driveway . . . or parking lot upon the grounds and premises of . . . any
business . . . providing parking spaces for customers, patrons, or the
public.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-4.01 (32)(b) (1993).

The recent case of State v. Snyder, 343 N.C. 61, 468 S.E.2d 221
(1996), is instructive in that the Supreme Court clarifies the term
“public vehicular area” to encompass privately owned parking lots. In
Snyder, the defendant was stopped in the parking lot of the Lost
Dimensions Nightclub in Greensboro and charged with driving while
impaired. Id. at 63, 468 S.E.2d at 222. At trial, the club manager testi-
fied that the club was private, that entry to the club was restricted to
members and their guests during the club’s business hours, and that
the club was not open to the public. Id. at 64, 468 S.E.2d at 223. He
further testified that the club did not allow non-members to use the
club parking lot, that club members could use the parking lot only
when they were inside the club, and that the club prohibited loitering
in the parking lot.